The Pennsylvania State University The Graduate School

THE WORLD OF P AND Q:

CONGRUENCES, IDENTITIES AND ASYMPTOTICS

A Dissertation in Mathematics by Xiaohang Chen

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2021 Xiaohang Chen

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

August 2021

The dissertation of Xiaohang Chen was reviewed and approved by the following:

George E. Andrews Evan Pugh Professor of Mathematics Dissertation Advisor, Chair of Committee

Ae Ja Yee Professor of Mathematics

Wen-Ching Winnie Li Distinguished Professor of Mathematics

Donald St. P. Richards Distinguished Professor of Statistics

Carina Curto Professor of Mathematics Head of Graduate Program

Abstract

This thesis is devoted to providing some "travel tips" that arise from my personal visit in the world of p(artitions) and q(-series).

In the first part, we will focus on partition congruences, especially from an elementary perspective. We first give a completely elementary proof of an infinite family of congruences modulo powers of 5 for the number of partitions of n into distinct parts. As a by-product, we also consider some eta-quotient representations concerning the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction.

In the second part, our attention is turned to identities. The first two chapters in this part are devoted to partition identities — one treats weighted partition rank and crank moments and the other investigates partitions with bounded part differences. Then in a series of three chapters, a general theory of span one linked partition ideals will be presented. We start from several conjectures of Kanade and Russell and then link this theory with directed graphs. A comprehensive example on Gleißberg's identity will finally be discussed. The last chapter in this part will be devoted to analytic identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type with manipulations of basic hypergeometric series heavily involved.

In the third part, asymptotic aspects of integer partitions will be investigated. We first use square-root partitions into distinct parts to illustrate a refined Meinardus-type approach. In the next three chapters, we will focus on modular infinite products that concern either Dedekind eta function or Jacobi theta function with the assistance of Rademacher's circle method. Finally, we will study nonmodular infinite products that are related to a conjecture of Seo and Yee.

In the last part, we will leave for another world of p, that is, the world of patterns in inversion sequences. We mainly focus on two recent conjectures, one of which on 0012-avoidance is due to Lin and Ma and the other on the avoidance of triples of binary relations is due to Lin.

Contents

List of Figures			xi
List of Tables			xii
Acknowledgments			xiii
Chapter 1			
Introduction			1
1.1 Notation and Terminology			. 1
1.1.1 The Theory of Partitions			. 1
1.1.2 The Theory of q -Series \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots			. 3
1.1.2.1 Generating Functions			. 5
1.1.3 The Theory of Numbers			. 7
1.1.4 The Theory of Patterns			. 7
1.1.4.1 Kernel Method			. 9
1.2 State of the Art \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots			. 10
1.2.1 Partition Congruences			. 10
1.2.2 Rank and Crank of Integer Partitions			. 12
1.2.3 Identities of Rogers–Ramanujan Type			. 16
1.2.4 Asymptotics			. 18
1.3 References			. 21
I. Congruonaog			26
1 Congruences			20
Chapter 2			
Partitions into Distinct Parts Modulo Powers of 5			28
2.1 Introduction and Main Result		• • • •	. 28
2.2 Preliminaries		• • • •	. 31
2.3 The Work of Baruah and Begum			. 36
2.4 The Modular Equation			. 38
2.5 Some Important Recurrences and Generating Functions	5		. 41
2.6 Proof of the First Part of Theorem 2.1.1 \ldots \ldots			. 46
2.7 Proof of the Second Part of Theorem 2.1.1			. 48

51

2.9	Proof of (2.4.3)	•	. 51
2.10	Endnotes		. 56
2.11	References		. 57

Chapter 3

Eta-	Eta-quotient Representations and Rogers–Ramanujan Continued Frac-													
	tion	58												
3.1	Background and Results	58												
3.2	Proofs of the Recurrences	62												
3.3	Proofs of $(3.1.18)$ and $(3.1.19)$	64												
3.4	Endnotes	66												
3.5	References	67												

II Identities

69

hapt We	er 4 ighted Partition Bank and Crank Moments
4.1	Introduction
1.1	4.1.1 Rank and Crank of an Integer Partition
	4.1.2 Ordinary and Symmetrized Rank and Crank Moments
	4.1.3 Main Results
4.2	Warm-up: The First Moment
4.3	General Odd Moments
	4.3.1 Rank
	4.3.2 Crank
	4.3.3 Remark
4.4	Andrews–Beck Type Congruences
4.5	References
hapt	er 5
Par	titions with Bounded Part Differences
5.1	Introduction
5.2	A General Identity
5.3	Overpartitions
	5.3.1 A Semi-Combinatorial Proof
	5.3.2 A Real Combinatorial Proof
	5.3.2.1 Partition Sets $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ and $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$
	5.2.2.2 Destition Sets $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{R}}$

	5.3.2.2 Partition Sets $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ and $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$	09
5.4	George Beck's Conjecture	10
	5.4.1 An Analytic Proof of $(5.4.3)$	12
	5.4.2 A Combinatorial Proof of $(5.4.3)$	13
5.5	Endnotes	16
5.6	References	16

Chapter 6

\mathbf{Spa}	an One	Linked Partition Ideals: Kanade–Russell Conjectures	-	118
6.1	Introd	luction		118
	6.1.1	Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities and Kanade–Russell Conjec	tures	118
	6.1.2	Span One Linked Partition Ideals		120
	6.1.3	Andrews' Guess		121
6.2	Syster	ns of q -Difference Equations		123
6.3	Kanao	le–Russell Conjectures		127
	6.3.1	Partition Set of Type I		128
	6.3.2	Partition Set of Type II		134
	6.3.3	Partition Set of Type III		137
	6.3.4	Partition Set of Type IV		145
6.4	"Gues	sing" the Generating Functions		153
6.5	Comp	uter Algebra Assistance		157
	6.5.1	The Main Idea		157
	6.5.2	Two Mathematica Packages		158
	6.5.3	Recurrence for $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{r}}}(M)$		158
	6.5.4	Recurrence for $\tilde{q}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{n}}}(M)$		159
	6.5.5	Recurrence for $q_{\mathscr{A}_{T}}(M) - \tilde{q}_{\mathscr{A}_{T}}(M)$		160
	656	Other Identities		161
6.6	Endne	otes		161
6.7	Refere	ences		165
Chapt	${ m er} \ 7$			
\mathbf{Spa}	an One	E Linked Partition Ideals: Directed Graphs and q -Mul	lti-	
	S	summations	-	168
7.1	Main	Result		169
7.2	Direct	ed Graphs		170
	7.2.1	Generating Function for Walks in a Directed Graph		171
	7.2.2	Assigning an Empty Vertex		172
	7.2.3	Proof of Theorem 7.1.1		174
7.3	q-Mul	ti-summations		176
	7.3.1	A q -Difference System and the Uniqueness of Solutions \ldots		176
	7.3.2	Two Examples		178
		7.3.2.1 Example $1 \dots $		178
		7.3.2.2 Example $2 \dots $		180
	7.3.3	A Matrix Factorization Problem		182
7.4	Non-c	omputer-assisted Proofs		184
	7.4.1	A Recurrence Relation		184
	7.4.2	Proof of $(7.3.11)$		185
	7.4.3	Proof of $(7.3.18)$		187
	7.4.4			100
		Binary Trees	•••	109

7.6	References	. 196
Chapte	er 8	
Spa	n One Linked Partition Ideals: Gleißberg's Identity	198
8.1	Main Result	. 198
8.2	In the Setting of Span One Linked Partition Ideals	. 200
8.3	A Refinement of Lemma 7.4.1	. 201
8.4	Generating Functions	. 202
	8.4.1 Partition Set $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}$. 202
	8.4.2 Partition Set $\mathscr{C}_{m,r}$. 206
8.5	Proof of Theorems 8.1.2 and 8.1.3	. 208
8.6	Endnotes	. 209
8.7	References	. 211
Chant	er 9	
Rog	gers–Ramanujan Type Identities: An Analytic Perspective	213
9.1	Introduction	. 213
9.2	Some <i>q</i> -Transformations and Their Applications	. 215
	9.2.1 q -Transformations	. 215
	9.2.1.1 Transformation I	. 215
	9.2.1.2 Transformation II	. 216
	9.2.1.3 Transformation III	. 216
	9.2.1.4 Other Known Transformations	. 217
	9.2.2 Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities	. 218
9.3	Generalized Transformations and Their Applications	. 221
	9.3.1 Multiple Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities	. 222
	9.3.2 Generalized q-Transformations	. 225
	9.3.2.1 Transformation I	. 225
	9.3.2.2 Transformation II	. 228
	9.3.2.3 Transformation III	. 228
9.4	References	. 229
III .	Asymptotics	231
Chapte	er 10	

lapter 10	
The Square-root Partition into Distinct Parts	233
10.1 Introduction	233
10.2 Outline of the Proof	235
10.2.1 Cauchy's Integral Formula	235
10.2.2 The Saddle Point Method	235
10.2.3 The Main Term \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	236
10.2.4 The Error Term \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	238
10.2.5 Remark on the Choice $X^{11/6}$	239

10.3	Part (i) of Theorem 10.2.1	239
	10.3.1 Mellin Transform	240
	10.3.2 Shifting the Path of Integration	240
	10.3.3 Residues	242
10.4	Part (ii) of Theorem 10.2.1	243
10.5	Expansion of X^{-1}	245
10.6	References	246
Chapte	er 11	
The	Method of Rademacher: Background and Preliminaries	247
11.1	Introduction	247
11.2	Dedekind Eta Function and Jacobi Theta Function	250
11.3	Cauchy's Integral Formula and Farey Arcs	251
11.4	Choosing a Suitable Matrix in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$	252
11.5	Some Auxiliary Results	253
	11.5.1 Necessary Bounds	253
	11.5.2 Some Partition-theoretic Results	254
	11.5.3 Evaluating an Integral	256
11.6	References	258
Chapte	er 12	
The	Method of Rademacher: Dedekind Eta Products	261
12.1	Main Result	261
12.2	A Transformation Formula	263
12.3	Outline of the Proof	203
12.4	Minor Arcs	205
12.0 19.6	Major Arcs	207
12.0		209
12.7	References	273
Chapte	er 13 Mothod of Radomacher: Jacobi Theta Products	274
13 1	Main Result	214
13.1	A Transformation Formula	213
13.2	Outline of the Proof	278
13.0	Minor Arcs	282
13.1	Major Arcs	284
13.6	An Application	288
13.7	References	290 290
Chapte	er 14	
Non	modular Infinite Products and a Conjecture of Seo and Yee	291
14.1	Introduction	291
14.2	neorem 14.1.1: Preparation	294

14.3 Theorem 14.1.1: The Integrals
14.3.1 An Auxiliary Function
14.3.2 Estimations Concerning Hurwitz Zeta Function
14.3.3 Bounding the Integrals
14.4 Theorem 14.1.1: The Residues
14.4.1 Some Lemmas
14.4.2 Evaluation of R_1
14.4.3 Evaluation of R_2
14.4.4 Evaluation of R_3
14.4.5 Evaluation of R_4
14.5 Explicit Bounds of $G(q)$
14.5.1 Case 1: $k \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$
14.5.2 Case 2: $k \in 4\mathbb{Z} + 2$
14.5.3 Case 3: $k \in 8\mathbb{Z} + 4$
14.5.4 Case 4: $k \in 8\mathbb{Z}$
14.6 Precise Approximations of $G(q)$ Near the Dominant Poles
14.7 Applying the Circle Method
14.8 References

${\rm IV} \quad {\rm The \ World \ of \ } patterns$

Chapter 15	
Lin and Ma's Conjecture on 0012-Avoiding Inversion Sequences	326
15.1 Introduction \ldots	326
15.2 Combinatorial Observations	327
15.3 Recurrences	329
15.4 001-Avoidance and a Result of Corteel et al.	332
15.5 Proof of Theorem 15.1.1	334
15.6 References	339
Chapter 16	
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Rela-	
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Rela- tion Triples	341
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Rela- tion Triples 16.1 Introduction	341 341
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Rela- tion Triples 16.1 Introduction	341 341 342
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples 16.1 Introduction 16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$	341 341 342 343
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples 16.1 Introduction 16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$	341 341 342 343 344
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples 16.1 Introduction 16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3 Recurrences and Generating Functions 16.1 Sequences	341 341 342 343 344 346
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples 16.1 Introduction 16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3.1 Recurrences and Generating Functions 16.3.1 Recurrences	341 342 343 344 346 346
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples 16.1 Introduction 16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3.1 Recurrences and Generating Functions 16.3.1 Recurrences 16.3.2 Generating Functions 16.3.1 Content for the second se	341 342 343 344 346 346 353
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples16.1 Introduction16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3 Recurrences and Generating Functions16.3.1 Recurrences16.3.2 Generating Functions16.4 Proof of Theorem 16.1.1	341 342 343 344 346 346 353 356
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples16.1 Introduction16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3 Recurrences and Generating Functions16.3.1 Recurrences16.3.2 Generating Functions16.4 Proof of Theorem 16.1.116.4.1 Roots of the Kernel Polynomials	341 342 343 344 346 346 353 356 357
Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples16.1 Introduction16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ 16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ 16.3 Recurrences and Generating Functions16.3.1 Recurrences16.3.2 Generating Functions16.4 Proof of Theorem 16.1.116.4.1 Roots of the Kernel Polynomials16.4.2 Applying the Kernel Method	341 342 343 344 346 353 356 357 358

Bibliog	raphy																								į	362
16.5	Referen	ices		•			•	•		•	•	•	• •	•	•	 •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	360
	16.4.3	Proc	of of	Th	eore	em	16	.1.1	1.	•	•	•		•		 •		•	•					•	•	360

List of Figures

1.1	Ferrers diagram
1.2	Splitting a partition through the Durfee square
7.1	The associated directed graph in Example 7.2.1
7.2	Node $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$ and its children
7.3	The binary tree for $(7.3.11)$
7.4	The binary tree for $(7.3.18)$
7.5	The binary tree for $(7.4.24)$
8.1	Node $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$ and its children (refined) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
8.2	The binary tree for $(8.4.7)$
8.3	The binary tree for $(8.4.16)$
8.4	The binary tree for $(8.6.5)$

List of Tables

1.1	Partitions of $0, 1,, 5$
1.2	Distinct partitions of $0, 1, \ldots, 5$
1.3	Values of $p(n)$ for $1 \le n \le 20$ 10
1.4	Ranks of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6
1.5	Cranks of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6
3.1	Representations of $P(\alpha, \beta)$ in $\mathbb{Z}[K, K^{-1}]$
6.1	Orders of recurrences satisfied by $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$, $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$ and $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$ 161

Acknowledgments

I would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Professor George Andrews. My first meeting with George was on a sunny afternoon in August 2016, at which time I began to feel his wisdom and kindness. I still remember in that afternoon George introduced me to the marvelous world of partitions by explaining the Kanade– Russell conjectures, which later inspired my study of linked partition ideals and lastly resulted in three chapters of this thesis. George is one of the most knowledgeable people I have ever seen. His expertise in partitions, *q*-series and the mathematics of Ramanujan always makes me feel reassuring whenever I struggled with my research projects. It is also my honor to have George as my collaborator. George is also one of the most supportive. He shaped me as a professional graduate student in mathematics by supporting me to attend seminars and conferences, offering me refereeing opportunities and encouraging me to participate in seminar organizations. His assistance with my postdoc applications is also much appreciated. Academically, George is my admired advisor; personally, he is my true friend.

My hearty thanks also go to Professor Ae Ja Yee. Ae Ja is the one who taught my first course, Linear Algebra, at Penn State. I then benefited a lot from her lectures on the special topics of integer partitions in the Spring of 2017. But what should be the most appreciated are the two reading courses Ae Ja offered me in the academic year of 2017–2018. Her patience ensured smooth progress in my research. Ae Ja is also the first one who gave me the chance to present at seminars. That talk subsequently led to our first collaboration on overpartitions with bounded differences. Her passion always inspires me.

I should also convey my appreciation to Professor Winnie Li who introduced me to the magic world of modular forms and to Professor Bob Vaughan who showed me those delicate but ingenious ideas in analytic number theory. These tools have played and will continue to play an important role in my research.

I also want to thank my committee member Professor Donald Richards and former member Professor James Sellers. They together with George, Ae Ja and Winnie make my doctoral committee run smoothly and provide me with consistent guidance and assistance.

Next, I would like to thank my collaborators.

Mike Hirschhorn's communication with me starts by a ResearchGate message in June 2017 on my work concerning 2-colored partition triples. Mike is a person who is always willing to give you feedback in detail whenever you share your work with him.

He masters the power of q from which I benefited a lot. Mike is also one of the most reliable collaborators; working with him is a real enjoyment.

Shishuo Fu, another academic brother of mine, continuously shares his brilliant ideas on partition bijections since our first meeting at George's 80 Birthday Conference. It was also truly my pleasure to visit Shishuo in Chongqing. His hospitality is much appreciated.

Dazhao Tang, Shishuo's student, is the person I collaborated with the most. Dazhao has the ability of locating various research problems on q-series. New findings came out from almost every communication between us.

Ernest Xia first met me in the Partitions Seminar at Penn State when he visited here in 2016. Our lasting collaborations on partition congruences start since then. I was invited by him to Jiangsu University twice. These days in Zhenjiang is unforgettable.

Chun Wang's expertise in basic hypergeometric series helps me a lot in my research on identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type. During her visit to Penn State in 2017, our discussions stimulated many exciting discoveries.

There are many collaborators whom I have not mentioned, but my sincere gratitude should go to them as well.

Furthermore, for their lasting friendships, cordial thanks should go to —

To my friends at Penn State: Shiqi Liu, Hai Chi, Yushuang Luo, He Zhang, Zelin Yi, Simo Wu, Zhengqi Liu, Zheng Zhu, Shiqiu Qiu, Bingyuan Liu and Xiaoran Sun; to my officemates: Michael Francis, Ahmadreza Hajsaeedisadegh and Sonny Arora; and especially to my best friends Qipin Chen, Qing Sun and Zhitai Li who make my life here more colorful — I love this lovely town of State College which will stay in my heart, as a peaceful garden.

To my friends in Hangzhou: Wei Lin, Yucheng Liu, Hao Zhong, Lirui Jia, Liuquan Wang and Yong Zhang — Have those sacred lotuses, accompanying the West Lake year by year, already waken?

To my college buddies: Siyu Chen, Hui Chen, Miao Ding, Jiaxing Cui and my forever Yingxue 2-305 and Haiyun 7-323 — Flame trees will always carry my memories about Xiamen.

And to my high schoolmates: Jin Xu, Wei Liu, Shukai Zhang, Hui Wang, Dongdong Xiao, Yue Yu, Haibin Yang, Cheng Tang and many others — That campbor tree standing next to our classroom is still facing the eastern.

Lastly, I will use this opportunity to express my appreciation to my parents, for your support and love.

State College May, 2021

I met George today in McAllister after a long gap due to the covid pandemic. Thank you for your encouraging inscriptions on your book "The Theory of Partitions." This journey with you is truly a lifetime treasure. It shapes me into who I am and who I will be. Thank you, George!

Added on June 15 in McAllister.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Notation and Terminology

1.1.1 The Theory of Partitions

The theory of partitions was given to birth in a letter [119] from Leibniz to Bernoulli in September 1674, in which Leibniz asked for the number of representations of a positive integer n as a sum of positive integers, which is now called the number of integer partitions of n, usually denoted by p(n), if the order of the summands is not taken into account.

Definition 1.1.1. An *integer partition* of a positive integer n is a non-increasing sequence of positive integers whose sum equals n. These summands are called *parts* of this partition. We usually use p(n) to denote the number of partitions of n. Conventionally, we also put p(0) = 1, which means that 0 has an *empty partition* \emptyset containing no parts.

Notation 1.1.1. Given a partition λ , we denote by $\sharp(\lambda)$ and $|\lambda|$ the number of parts and the sum of parts of λ , respectively.

For example, the partitions of $0, 1, \ldots, 5$ are listed in Table 1.1.

Of course, we may impose or lessen restrictions on the parts of partitions. One important example is that the parts are required to be pairwise distinct.

Definition 1.1.2. A *distinct partition* is a partition such that its parts are pairwise distinct. We will use $p_D(n)$ to denote the number of distinct partitions of n.

In Table 1.2, we will delete those partitions in Table 1.1 with repeated parts and leave all distinct partitions.

Another important variant of partitions is called overpartitions.

Definition 1.1.3. An *overpartition* is a partition where the first occurrence of each distinct part may be overlined. We will use $\overline{p}(n)$ to denote the number of overpartitions of n.

\overline{n}	p(n)	partitions of n
0	1	Ø
1	1	1
2	2	2, 1+1
3	3	3, 2+1, 1+1+1
4	5	4, 3+1, 2+2, 2+1+1, 1+1+1+1
5	7	5, 4+1, 3+2, 3+1+1, 2+2+1, 2+1+1+1,
		1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1

Table 1.1. Partitions of 0, 1, ..., 5

Table 1.2. Distinct partitions of $0, 1, \ldots, 5$

\overline{n}	$p_D(n)$	distinct partitions of n
0	1	Ø
1	1	1
2	1	2,1+1
3	2	3, 2+1, 1+1+1
4	2	$4, 3+1, 2+2, 2+1+1, \underline{1+1+1+1}$
5	3	5, 4+1, 3+2, 3+1+1, 2+2+1, 2+1+1+1,
		1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1

For example, 4 has 14 overpartitions:

$$4, \ \overline{4}, \ 3+1, \ \overline{3}+1, \ 3+\overline{1}, \ \overline{3}+\overline{1}, \ 2+2, \ \overline{2}+2, \\2+1+1, \ \overline{2}+1+1, \ 2+\overline{1}+1, \ \overline{2}+\overline{1}+1, \ 1+1+1+1, \ \overline{1}+1+1+1.$$

The name of overpartitions was given by Corteel and Lovejoy [72] in 2004, but they have already been extensively used by Andrews in 1967 [5], by Joichi and Stanton in 1987 [105] and by Corteel in 2003 [71].

Regarding combinatorial aspects of partitions, an important concept is *Ferrers dia*gram, which is also known as *Young diagram*.

Definition 1.1.4. Given an integer partition λ , its *Ferrers diagram* is a diagram of squares aligned in the upper-left corner such that the *n*-th row has the same number of squares as the *n*-th part of λ .

Using Ferrers diagrams, we are able to define two other important combinatorial objects.

Definition 1.1.5. Given an integer partition λ , its *conjugate* $\overline{\lambda}$ is the partition whose Ferrers diagram can be obtained by flipping the Ferrers diagram of λ along the main diagonal.

Definition 1.1.6. Given an integer partition λ , its *Durfee square* is the largest square contained in its Ferrers diagram.

For example, the Ferrers diagram of 5 + 3 + 3 + 2 + 2 + 1 is shown in Figure 1.1(a). It can be seen from Figure 1.1(b) that its conjugate is 6 + 5 + 3 + 1 + 1. Finally, it has a Durfee square of size 3, which is given in Figure 1.1(c).

Figure 1.1. Ferrers diagram



Of course, the theory of partitions is rather vast. To end this section, I will not hesitate to recommend Andrews' monograph: *The theory of partitions* [12].

1.1.2 The Theory of *q*-Series

Before going into details of the theory of q-series, it is necessary to introduce some notations.

Notation 1.1.2 (q-Pochhammer symbols). Let $q \in \mathbb{C}$ be such that |q| < 1. Let $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

$$(A;q)_n := \begin{cases} \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} (1 - Aq^k) & \text{if } n \ge 0, \\ 1/(Aq^n;q)_{-n} & \text{if } n < 0, \end{cases}$$
$$(A;q)_{\infty} := \prod_{k \ge 0} (1 - Aq^k), \end{cases}$$

$$(A_1, A_2, \dots, A_m; q)_n := (A_1; q)_n (A_2; q)_n \cdots (A_m; q)_n,$$

$$(A_1, A_2, \dots, A_m; q)_\infty := (A_1; q)_\infty (A_2; q)_\infty \cdots (A_m; q)_\infty,$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_1, A_2, \dots, A_{m_A} \\ B_1, B_2, \dots, B_{m_B} \end{pmatrix}_n := \frac{(A_1; q)_n (A_2; q)_n \cdots (A_{m_A}; q)_n}{(B_1; q)_n (B_2; q)_n \cdots (B_{m_B}; q)_n}$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_1, A_2, \dots, A_{m_A} \\ B_1, B_2, \dots, B_{m_B} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty} := \frac{(A_1; q)_{\infty} (A_2; q)_{\infty} \cdots (A_{m_A}; q)_{\infty}}{(B_1; q)_{\infty} (B_2; q)_{\infty} \cdots (B_{m_B}; q)_{\infty}}.$$

With these notations, we may also define the basic hypergeometric (or q-hypergeometric) function $_r\phi_s$ and the bilateral basic hypergeometric (or bilateral q-hypergeometric) function $_r\psi_s$, which lie in the core of the theory of q-series.

Notation 1.1.3 (q-Hypergeometric function $_r\phi_s$).

$${}_{r}\phi_{s}\begin{pmatrix}A_{1},A_{2},\ldots,A_{r}\\B_{1},B_{2},\ldots,B_{s};q,z\end{pmatrix}:=\sum_{n\geq0}\begin{pmatrix}A_{1},A_{2},\ldots,A_{r}\\q,B_{1},B_{2},\ldots,B_{s};q\end{pmatrix}_{n}\left((-1)^{n}q^{\binom{n}{2}}\right)^{s-r+1}z^{n}.$$

Notation 1.1.4 (Bilateral q-hypergeometric function $_r\psi_s$).

$${}_{r}\psi_{s}\begin{pmatrix}A_{1},A_{2},\ldots,A_{r}\\B_{1},B_{2},\ldots,B_{s};q,z\end{pmatrix}:=\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\begin{pmatrix}A_{1},A_{2},\ldots,A_{r}\\B_{1},B_{2},\ldots,B_{s};q\end{pmatrix}_{n}\left((-1)^{n}q^{\binom{n}{2}}\right)^{s-r}z^{n}.$$

Also, the q-binomial coefficients are important.

Notation 1.1.5 (q-Binomial coefficient).

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ m \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ m \end{bmatrix}_q := \begin{cases} \frac{(q;q)_n}{(q;q)_m(q;q)_{n-m}} & \text{if } 0 \le m \le n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Roughly speaking, the theory of q-series deals with identities. It seems that the first important monograph is Bailey's 1935 book [32], but according to Richard Askey, the best monograph should be George Gasper's copy of Bailey's book, which is now published as [83]. For a selection of q-series identities, Andrews' chapter (Chapter 17) of the "NIST handbook of mathematical functions" [16] provides a good reference.

Let me excerpt several important identities as instances.

Theorem 1.1.1 (Eluer's first sum). For |z| < 1,

$${}_{1}\phi_{0}\begin{pmatrix}0\\-;q,z\end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{z^{n}}{(q;q)_{n}} = \frac{1}{(z;q)_{\infty}}.$$
(1.1.1)

Theorem 1.1.2 (Eluer's second sum). For |z| < 1,

$${}_{0}\phi_{0}\begin{pmatrix} -\\ -\\ - \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{(-1)^{n} q^{\binom{n}{2}} z^{n}}{(q;q)_{n}} = (z;q)_{\infty}.$$
(1.1.2)

Theorem 1.1.3 (*q*-Gauß sum). For |c| < |ab|,

$${}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{pmatrix}a,b\\c\\;q,\frac{c}{ab}\end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n\geq 0} \begin{pmatrix}a,b\\q,c\\;q\end{pmatrix}_{n} \left(\frac{c}{ab}\right)^{n} = \begin{pmatrix}c/a,c/b\\c,c/(ab)\\;q\end{pmatrix}_{\infty}.$$
(1.1.3)

Theorem 1.1.4 (q-Binomial theorem). For $N \ge 0$,

$$_{1}\phi_{0}\begin{pmatrix}q^{-N}\\-;q,z\\-\end{pmatrix} = (zq^{-N};q)_{N}.$$
 (1.1.4)

1.1.2.1 Generating Functions

Generating functions create a fantastic kingdom where the worlds of p and q meet. Let us begin with the first deep result (in the 16th century) due to Euler [78].

Theorem 1.1.5 (Generating function of p(n)). We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} p(n)q^n = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}}.$$
(1.1.5)

This identity can be understood as follows.

$$\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{1 - q^k}$$
$$= \prod_{k \ge 1} \left(1 + q^k + q^{2k} + q^{3k} + \cdots \right).$$

Now the term q^{mk} can be treated in the sense that the part k appears m times. Hence, if we expand the infinite product, the coefficient of q^n exactly enumerate the number of partitions of n. It is notable that if we expand the reciprocal of the infinite product in (1.1.5), namely, $(q;q)_{\infty}$, one has

$$(q;q)_{\infty} = 1 - q - q^2 + q^5 + q^7 - q^{12} - q^{15} + \cdots$$

If one pays attention to the powers, then it could be observed that they are simply pentagonal numbers. In [78], Euler conjectured an identity based on this observation, which was proved by himself a couple of years later and is now known as Euler's Pentagonal Number Theorem.

Theorem 1.1.6 (Euler's Pentagonal Number Theorem). We have

$$(q;q)_{\infty} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^n q^{n(3n-1)/2}.$$
(1.1.6)

It follows by multiplying (1.1.5) and (1.1.6) that p(n) can be computed recursively by

$$p(n) = p(n-1) + p(n-2) - p(n-5) - p(n-7) + p(n-12) + p(n-15) - \cdots$$

Next, q-series sometimes help us reduce the difficulty of proving partition identities. The simplest example is still due to Euler [78].

Theorem 1.1.7. For $n \ge 0$, the number of partitions of n into distinct parts is the same as the number of partitions of n into odd parts.

Proof. Let $p_o(n)$ denote the number of partitions of n into odd parts. Then,

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_o(n)q^n = \prod_{k\geq 1} \frac{1}{1-q^{2k-1}}$$
$$= \prod_{k\geq 1} \frac{1}{1-q^{2k-1}} \frac{1-q^{2k}}{1-q^{2k}}$$
$$= \prod_{k\geq 1} \frac{1-q^{2k}}{1-q^k}$$
$$= \prod_{k\geq 1} \frac{(1-q^k)(1+q^k)}{1-q^k}$$
$$= \prod_{k\geq 1} (1+q^k).$$

This is just the generating function for distinct partitions.

Finally, partitions can help us understand or even prove q-series identities. Let us use Euler's first sum as an example. Here we shall prove the special case:

$$\sum_{k\geq 0} \frac{q^k}{(q;q)_k} = \frac{1}{(q;q)_\infty}$$

Proof. We enumerate partitions with exactly k parts. If we take the conjugate of such a partition, then it has the largest part of size k. Below the largest part, we have a partition with largest part not exceeding k. Hence, such partitions can be enumerated by the generating function

$$\frac{q^k}{(q;q)_k}.$$

Finally, we sum up $k \ge 0$ to arrive at the desired identity.

1.1.3 The Theory of Numbers

When studying the asymptotic behavior of certain sequences or complex functions, we require the following traditional notations.

First, we have the Vinogradov notations introduced by I.M. Vinogradov in the 1930s.

Notation 1.1.6 (Vinogradov notations). We say $f(x) \ll g(x)$ if there exists an absolute constant C such that $|f(x)| \leq Cg(x)$. If the constant C depends on some variables, then we attach a subscript and write $f(x) \ll_{\text{variables}} g(x)$. Likewise, we write $f(x) \gg g(x)$ if $g(x) \ll f(x)$.

The Bachmann–Landau notations are also useful.

Notation 1.1.7 (Bachmann-Landau notations). The big-O notation¹ is defined in the usual way: f(x) = O(g(x)) means that $f(x) \ll g(x)$. Again, subscripts are allowed as the Vinogradov notations. Also, we have the small-o notation: f(x) = o(g(x)) means that $\lim f(x)/g(x) = 0$. Further, if $\lim f(x)/g(x) = 1$, then we write $f(x) \sim g(x)$.

1.1.4 The Theory of Patterns

Let $\pi = \pi_1 \pi_2 \cdots \pi_n$ be a permutation of $[n] := \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. One of its most natural encodings is known as its inversion sequence.

¹Here O stands for "Ordnung", which means "order of" in German; see [31].

Definition 1.1.7. The *inversion sequence* of $\pi = \pi_1 \pi_2 \cdots \pi_n$ is a sequence $e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n$ of length n where for each i, e_i is the number of integers larger than i that precede π_i in π . That is,

$$e_i = \#\{1 \le j < i : \pi_j > \pi_i\}.$$

We can see from the above definition that for each i, we always have $0 \le e_i \le i - 1$. Notice that given two permutations, their inversion sequences are different. Since there are exactly n! permutations of [n], we conclude that there is a bijection between \mathfrak{S}_n , the set of permutations of [n], and the set of sequences of length n:

$$\{e_1e_2\cdots e_n: 0\leq e_i\leq i-1 \text{ for all } i\in[n]\},\$$

as the cardinality of the above set is also n!. Therefore, we have the second definition of inversion sequences.

Definition 1.1.8. A sequence $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n$ of natural numbers is called an *inversion* sequence if $0 \le e_i \le i - 1$ for all $i \in [n]$. We usually denote by \mathbf{I}_n the set of inversion sequences of length n.

Let $v, w \in \mathbb{N}^n$ be two words of length n.

Definition 1.1.9. We say v and w are order isomorphic if for eack k, the k-th smallest entries of v and w occur at the same places. Further, we say the reduction of v is a sequence obtained by replacing the k-th smallest entries of v with k - 1. In particular, v and its reduction are order isomorphic.

Example 1.1.1. $(16, 5, 14, 14, 0, 19, 20, 1, 20, 5)^2$ and (5, 3, 4, 4, 1, 6, 7, 2, 7, 3) are order isomorphic. They both reduce to (4, 2, 3, 3, 0, 5, 6, 1, 6, 2).

Now we turn our attention to patterns in sequences.

Definition 1.1.10. We say a sequence e contains a given pattern p if there exists a subsequence of e such that it is order isomorphic to p; otherwise, we say that e avoids the pattern p.

Example 1.1.2. The sequence $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_6 = 002030$ does not avoid the pattern 100 since the subsequence $e_3 e_4 e_6 = 200$ is order isomorphic to 100, but avoids 011 since no subsequences of e are order isomorphic to 011.

²Do you realize this sequence may be converted to "Penn State"?

Notation 1.1.8. Let p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m be given patterns. We denote by $\mathbf{I}_n(p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m)$ the set of inversion sequences of length n that avoid all of the patterns p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_m .

It is known that permutations that avoid given patterns have extensive applications in computer science, biology and many other fields; see the monograph of Kitaev [114]. Considering the close connection between permutations and inversion sequences, there are also flourish trends in the study of pattern avoidance in inversion sequences in recent years.

1.1.4.1 Kernel Method

The *kernel method* is a powerful tool to discover a closed form of a generating function if functional equations concerning it is known. In the perspective of Helmut Prodinger [142], this method originated as an exercise in the first volume of Donald Knuth's book "*The Art of Computer Programming*" [115, Exercise 4, §2.2.1, p. 243]. Then it was turned into a method in the work of Banderier er al. [34] on generating trees.

To briefly illustrate this method, I will use Knuth's exercise with the solution provided by Prodinger [142]. I will omit the combinatorial statements while only focus on the generating function.

Theorem 1.1.8. Let $F(x,q) \in \mathbb{R}[[q]][[x]]$ satisfy the functional equation

$$F(x,q) = xqF(x,q) + \frac{q}{x} \left(F(x,q) - F(0,q) \right) + 1.$$
(1.1.7)

Then,

$$F(x,q) = \frac{\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4q^2}}{2q} - x}{\frac{2q}{qx^2 - x + q}}.$$
(1.1.8)

Proof. We first rewrite the functional equation (1.1.7) as

$$(qx^{2} - x + q)F(x,q) = qF(0,q) - x.$$
(1.1.9)

Here the coefficient $(qx^2 - x + q)$ on the left-hand side is usually called the *kernel* polynomial.

If we treat the kernel polynomial $(qx^2 - x + q)$ as a polynomial in x, it is easy to compute its two roots

$$r_1(q) = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4q^2}}{2q}$$
 and $r_2(q) = \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - 4q^2}}{2q}$.

Now we have

$$F(x,q) = \frac{qF(0,q) - x}{q(x - r_1(q))(x - r_2(q))}$$

Notice that $r_1(q) = q + O(q^2)$. Therefore, $1/(x - r_1(q))$ has no power series expansion around (0,0). However, as F(x,q) is a formal power series in x and q, we must have that $x - r_1(q)$ is a factor of the numerator and thus $qF(0,q) = r_1(q)$. That is,

$$F(0,q) = \frac{r_1(q)}{q} = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4q^2}}{2q^2}$$
(1.1.10)

and the desired result follows by substituting the above into (1.1.9).

1.2 State of the Art

1.2.1 Partition Congruences

The theory of partition congruences, which is now a blooming topic, was given to birth when Ramanujan studied the table of the values of p(n) up to n = 200, which is calculated by Major MacMahon.

n	1	2	3	4	5
p(n)	1	2	3	5	7
\overline{n}	6	7	8	9	10
p(n)	11	15	22	30	42
n	11	12	13	14	15
p(n)	56	77	101	135	176
n	16	17	18	19	20
p(n)	231	297	385	490	627

Table 1.3. Values of p(n) for $1 \le n \le 20$

If one looks at the column where $n \equiv 4 \pmod{5}$ in Table 1.3, it can be seen that p(n) is divisible by 5. With such an observation, Ramanujan [146] announced in 1919 the following congruences.

Theorem 1.2.1. We have

$$p(5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5},$$
 (1.2.1)

$$p(7n+5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}$$
 (1.2.2)

and

$$p(11n+6) \equiv 0 \pmod{11}.$$
 (1.2.3)

The proofs of the first two congruences were given in [146] while the proof of the last was announced one year later in a short note [147] and was finally published in [148], in which indeed a unified proof of all three congruences was presented.

It is also notable that in [146], Ramanujan actually showed an identity which is regarded as his "Most Beautiful Identity" by both Hardy and MacMahon [151, p. xxxv].

Theorem 1.2.2. We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} p(5n+4)q^n = 5 \frac{(q^5; q^5)_\infty^5}{(q; q)_\infty^6}.$$
(1.2.4)

From this identity, (1.2.1) follows as a direct corollary.

There are many directions to generalize Ramanujan's congruences. First, *what happens if one changes the moduli to powers of* 5, 7 *and* 11? Such general families of congruences were indeed conjectured by Ramanujan himself in 1919 [150] in which the conjecture for powers of 7 is incorrect. But this was fixed later by Watson [171].

Theorem 1.2.3. We have, for $\ell \in \{5, 7, 11\}$ and $\alpha \geq 1$,

$$p(\ell^{\alpha}n + \delta_{\alpha,\ell}) \equiv \begin{cases} 0 \pmod{\ell^{\alpha}} & \ell = 5, 11, \\ 0 \pmod{7^{\lceil \frac{\alpha+1}{2} \rceil}} & \ell = 7, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.5)

with $0 \leq \delta_{\alpha,\ell} \leq \ell^{\alpha} - 1$ such that

$$24\delta_{\alpha,\ell} \equiv 1 \pmod{\ell^{\alpha}}.$$

Watson [171] was able to prove the cases of powers of 5 and 7 using modular forms. But for the case of powers of 11, he stated that

"Da die Untersuchung der Aussage über 11^{α} recht langweilig ist, verschiebe

ich den Beweis dieses Falles auf eine spätere Abhandlung."

Nearly thirty years later in 1967, Atkin [28] eventually completed the project of proving the case of powers of 11 with an agreement with Watson's assertion that the proof is "langweilig." Some fifteen years later in the 1980s, elementary proofs of the cases of powers of 5 and 7 were further discovered, respectively by Hirschhorn and Hunt [100] and Garvan [79]. However, elementary proof of the case of powers of 11 is still a mystery.

Another question we could ask about partition congruences is *what happens if one changes the moduli to an arbitrary integer?* This problem was first considered by Atkin in the 1960s with discoveries like

$$p(11^3 \cdot 13n + 237) \equiv 0 \pmod{13}.$$

Along this direction, the most exciting result is obtained by Ono [137] in 2000.

Theorem 1.2.4. For any positive integer m that is coprime to 6, there exists an arithmetic progression $A_m n + B_m$ such that

$$p(A_m n + B_m) \equiv 0 \pmod{m}. \tag{1.2.6}$$

Ono also provided examples like

$$p(107^4 \cdot 31n + 30064597) \equiv 0 \pmod{31}.$$

In 2001, Weaver [172] compiled a list of 76,065 Ramanujan-like congruences while the list was extended by Johansson [104] to 22,474,608,014 congruences in 2012.

1.2.2 Rank and Crank of Integer Partitions

In the previous section, we have introduced partition congruences from the analytic side. A natural question is that can we interpret these congruences, especially (1.2.1), (1.2.2) and (1.2.3), combinatorially? In other words, can we find a combinatorial statistic such that we can split the partitions of, for example, 5n + 4, into five subclasses of equal size with the statistic satisfying a certain property in each subclass? This idea was first raised in 1944 by Dyson [76], who was an undergraduate at that time.

The first statistic Dyson defined is called *rank*.

Definition 1.2.1. The *rank* of an integer partition is the largest part minus the number of parts.

We list the rank of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6 in Table 1.4. From this Table, one may observe that the partitions of 4 and 5 are divided into five and seven equally numerous subclasses according to the rank modulo 5 and 7. Based on this observation, Dyson

Table 1.4. Ranks of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6

partitions of 4	rank	partitions of 5	rank	partitions of 6	rank
4	3	5	4	6	5
3 + 1	1	4 + 1	2	5 + 1	3
2 + 2	0	3 + 2	1	4 + 2	2
2 + 1 + 1	-1	3 + 1 + 1	0	4 + 1 + 1	1
1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-3	2 + 2 + 1	-1	3 + 3	1
		2 + 1 + 1 + 1	-2	3 + 2 + 1	0
		1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-4	3 + 1 + 1 + 1	-1
				2 + 2 + 2	-1
				2 + 2 + 1 + 1	-2
				2 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-3
				1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-5

made the following conjecture, which was proved by Atkin and Swinnerton-Dyer [30] about ten years later.

Theorem 1.2.5. Let N(k, m, n) denote the number of partitions of n whose rank is congruent to k modulo m. Then,

$$N(0,5,5n+4) = N(1,5,5n+4) = \dots = N(4,5,5n+4) = \frac{p(5n+4)}{5}$$
(1.2.7)

and

$$N(0,7,7n+5) = N(1,7,7n+5) = \dots = N(6,7,7n+5) = \frac{p(7n+5)}{7}.$$
 (1.2.8)

Figure 1.2.	Splitting a	partition through	the Durfee square
	1 ()	1 ()	1

Let N(m, n) denote the number of partitions of n whose rank is m. We may define a bivariate generating function

$$\sum_{n\geq 0}\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty}N(m,n)z^mq^n.$$

This generating function can be easily obtained through the Durfee square. In Figure 1.2, we can see that for any partition λ with Durfee square of size n, there is a partition λ_1 with largest part not exceeding n below the Durfee square. Also, to the left of the Durfee square, there is another partition λ_2 with the number of parts not exceeding n. Taking the conjugate of λ_2 , we can see that $\overline{\lambda}_2$ is also a partition with largest part not exceeding n. Finally, the rank of λ of simply the number of parts in $\overline{\lambda}_2$ minus the number of parts in λ_1 . We therefore arrive at the following identity.

Theorem 1.2.6. We have

$$\sum_{n\geq 0}\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} N(m,n) z^m q^n = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (z^{-1}q;q)_n}.$$
(1.2.9)

From this generating function identity, the following symmetry property can be deduced without difficulty.

Theorem 1.2.7. We have

$$N(m,n) = N(-m,n).$$
(1.2.10)

On the other hand, we see from Table 1.4 that partitions of 6 are not divided into eleven subclasses of equal size according to the rank modulo 11. Therefore, Dyson further conjectured in [76] the existence of another statistic called *crank* such that there exists a unified combinatorial interpretation of all three Ramanujan's congruences (1.2.1), (1.2.2)and (1.2.3) through this statistic. Let me quote Dyson's original words:

"One is thus led irresistibly to the conclusion that there must be some analogue modulo $11 \dots$

I hold in fact:

That there exists an arithmetical coefficient similar to, but more recondite than, the rank of a partition; I shall call this hypothetical coefficient the "crank" of the partition, ...

.

... Whatever the final verdict of posterity may be, I believe the "crank" is unique among arithmetical functions in having been named before it was discovered. May it be preserved from the ignominious fate of the planet Vulcan!"

This statistic was found after over four decades by Andrews and Garvan [23] after Garvan's discovery of the vector crank shortly beforehand [80].

Definition 1.2.2. The *crank* of a partition λ is defined by

$$\operatorname{crank}(\lambda) := \begin{cases} \ell(\lambda) & \text{if } \omega(\lambda) = 0, \\ \mu(\lambda) - \omega(\lambda) & \text{if } \omega(\lambda) > 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.11)

where $\mu(\lambda)$ denotes the number of parts in λ larger than $\omega(\lambda)$.

partitions of 4	crank	partitions of 5	crank	partitions of 6	crank
4	4	5	5	6	6
3 + 1	0	4 + 1	0	5 + 1	0
2 + 2	2	3 + 2	4	4 + 2	4
2 + 1 + 1	-2	3 + 1 + 1	-1	4 + 1 + 1	-1
1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-4	2 + 2 + 1	1	3 + 3	3
		2 + 1 + 1 + 1	-3	3 + 2 + 1	1
		1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-5	3 + 1 + 1 + 1	-3
				2 + 2 + 2	2
				2 + 2 + 1 + 1	-2
				2 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-4
				1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1	-6

Table 1.5. Cranks of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6

In Table 1.5, the cranks of all partitions of 4, 5 and 6. One can see how the equally numerous subclasses appear according to the crank modulo 5, 7 and 11.

Let M(m,n) denote the number of partitions of n whose rank is m except for n = 1where M(-1,1) = -M(0,1) = M(1,1) = 1. The following result was due to Andrews and Garvan. Theorem 1.2.8. We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{m = -\infty}^{\infty} M(m, n) z^m q^n = \frac{(q; q)_\infty}{(zq; q)_\infty (z^{-1}q; q)_\infty}.$$
 (1.2.12)

We have a similar symmetry property to the rank case.

Theorem 1.2.9. We have

$$M(m,n) = M(-m,n).$$
 (1.2.13)

Finally, Dyson's crank now is not fabled!

Theorem 1.2.10. Let M(k,m,n) denote the number of partitions of n whose crank is congruent to k modulo m. Then,

$$M(0,5,5n+4) = M(1,5,5n+4) = \dots = M(4,5,5n+4) = \frac{p(5n+4)}{5}, \qquad (1.2.14)$$

$$M(0,7,7n+5) = M(1,7,7n+5) = \dots = M(6,7,7n+5) = \frac{p(7n+5)}{7}$$
(1.2.15)

and

$$M(0,11,11n+6) = M(1,11,11n+6) = \dots = M(10,11,11n+6) = \frac{p(11n+6)}{11}.$$
(1.2.16)

1.2.3 Identities of Rogers-Ramanujan Type

Another ingenious work of Ramanujan [145], which was claimed in 1913 in his first letter to Hardy, is about the Rogers–Ramanujan identities, which should indeed be attributed to Rogers in a paper [156] that was completely ignored.

Theorem 1.2.11 (First Rogers–Ramanujan identity). The number of partitions of a non-negative integer n into parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 5 is the same as the number of partitions of n such that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2.

Theorem 1.2.12 (Second Rogers–Ramanujan identity). The number of partitions of a non-negative integer n into parts congruent to ± 2 modulo 5 is the same as the number of partitions of n such that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2 and such that the smallest part is at least 2.

Their analytic forms, which are in terms of generating functions, also look nice.

Theorem 1.2.13 (Rogers-Ramanujan identities (analytic form)). We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q;q)_n} = \frac{1}{(q,q^4;q^5)_\infty}$$
(1.2.17)

and

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2+n}}{(q;q)_n} = \frac{1}{(q^2,q^3;q^5)_{\infty}}.$$
(1.2.18)

One can observe that in the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, two types of partition sets are considered. One partition set consists of partitions under certain *congruence* conditions. For example, in the first Rogers-Ramanujan identity, we enumerate partitions into parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 5. The other partition set contains partitions under certain *difference* conditions. For example, we require that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2 in the first Rogers-Ramanujan identity.

More identities of the same flavor were discovered by mathematicians including Schur [160], Gleißberg [84], Gordon [86], Göllnitz [85], Andrews [7] and so forth. Let me excerpt Schur's 1926 identity as an example.

Theorem 1.2.14 (Schur). Let A(n) denote the number of partitions of n into distinct parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 3.

Let B(n) denote the number of partitions of n into parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 6.

Let C(n) denote the number of partitions of n such that the difference between two consecutive parts is at least 3 and greater than 3 if the smaller part is a multiple of 3. Then,

$$A(n) = B(n) = C(n).$$
 (1.2.19)

The most standard proof of Schur's 1926 identity is based on recurrences [6], but there are also combinatorial proofs through bijections [40] and weighted words [3].

In the 1970s, George Andrews [8, 10, 11] further started a systematic study of Rogers– Ramanujan type identities and developed a general theory in which the concept of linked partition ideals was introduced. Unfortunately, this theory was then almost ignored. However, three chapters of this thesis are devoted to give a revisit of Andrews' idea and to make it more feasible.

Finally, it is notable that identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type also have deep connections with other branches of mathematics. One instance is with representations of Lie algebras shown in a series of papers of Lepowsky and Wilson [120–123]. For example, they considered level 3 modules for the affine Lie algebra $\widehat{\mathfrak{sl}}_2$, from which they also obtained a proof of the Rogers–Ramanujan identities. Along this line, Kanade and Russell [108] discovered more identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type by experiments, which are now known as Kanade–Russell conjectures.

Further, identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type may even have connections with theories outside of mathematics. For example, in statistical mechanics, the hard hexagon model has the solution, which was due to Baxter [36], involving the Rogers–Ramanujan identities.

1.2.4 Asymptotics

There is a natural injection between partitions of n and n + 1, that is, we can append 1 as a part to each partition of n so that a partition of n + 1 is constructed. This implies that $\{p(n)\}$ is an increasing sequence for $n \ge 1$. The next question is how large p(n) is? In other words, is there an asymptotic formula or even an exact formula for p(n)?

This question was first treated by Hardy and Ramanujan [96] in 1918 using a method which is now called the *Hardy–Littlewood circle method*.

Theorem 1.2.15. As $n \to \infty$,

$$p(n) \sim \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} n^{-1} e^{\frac{2\pi\sqrt{n}}{\sqrt{6}}}.$$
 (1.2.20)

One could imagine how shocked MacMahon was when Ramanujan presented him the value of p(200). Let me simply quote a piece of lines from the movie "*The Man Who Knew Infinity*."

(M stands for MacMahon and R stands for Ramanujan.)

M: Well, here we are. p(200), the moment of truth ... Well, you first. What is your formula given you?

R: Three billion nine hundred and seventy two thousand nine hundred and ninety eight million.

M: My God! You are close [*silent for 5 seconds*] within two percent. Well, I will be damned.

Well, what is the exact value of p(200) then? The answer is

$$p(200) = 3,972,999,029,388.$$

There are a number of ways to study the asymptotic behavior of a sequence, all starting with the generating function. Recall that the generating function of p(n) is

$$P(q) = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} = \frac{1}{(1-q)(1-q^2)(1-q^3)\cdots}$$

The easiest method is Ingham's Tauberian theorem, which is stated as follows.

Theorem 1.2.16 (Ingham [101]). Let $f(q) = \sum_{n\geq 0} a(n)q^n$ be a power series with weakly increasing nonnegative coefficients and radius of convergence equal to 1. If there are constants A > 0 and $\lambda, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$f\left(e^{-t}\right) \sim \lambda t^{\alpha} e^{\frac{A}{t}}$$

as $t \to 0^+$, then

$$a(n) \sim \frac{\lambda}{2\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{A^{\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{1}{4}}}{n^{\frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{3}{4}}} e^{2\sqrt{An}}$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Since p(n) is non-decreasing, it is only necessary to study the asymptotics of P(q) as $q \to 1^-$ along the real line.

But it is not always the case that the non-decreasing condition is satisfied for a given sequence. In such cases, one should continue with some more complicated calculations. Let us still use p(n) to illustrate. The basic idea here is Cauchy's integral formula. Recall that

$$p(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{C}:|q|=r} \frac{P(q)}{q^{n+1}} dq$$

where the contour C is inside the unit disc and the contour integral is taken counterclockwise.

Since

$$P(q) = \frac{1}{(1-q)(1-q^2)(1-q^3)\cdots},$$

one can see that P(q) has a dominant pole at q = 1. Hence, if the radius of the contour C inside the unit disc is taken to approach 1, then the main contribution comes from the arc close to 1. This is essentially the principle of Wright's circle method.

When we study the asymptotics, one important function that always appears is the modified Bessel function of the first kind or the I-Bessel function.

Definition 1.2.3. The modified Bessel function of the first kind is defined by

$$I_s(x) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m! \Gamma(m+s+1)} \left(\frac{x}{2}\right)^{2m+s},$$
(1.2.21)

where $\Gamma(z)$ is the gamma function.

Its asymptotic behavior is also well known.

Theorem 1.2.17 (Cf. [2, p. 377, (9.7.1)]). For fixed s, when $|\arg x| < \pi/2$,

$$I_s(x) \sim \frac{e^x}{\sqrt{2\pi x}} \left(1 - \frac{4s^2 - 1}{8x} + \frac{(4s^2 - 1)(4s^2 - 9)}{2!(8x)^2} - \cdots \right).$$
(1.2.22)

After considering the dominant pole at q = 1, one could even move further by noticing that the pole of P(q) at -1 is 1/2 as "important" as the pole at 1, the pole at primitive cube roots of unity is 1/3 as "important," and so on. Hence, we could focus on the asymptotic behavior of P(q) on arcs inside the unit disc that is close to a rational point on the unit circle, that is, a point of the form $\exp(2\pi i h/k)$. Based on this idea along with other techniques, Rademacher [143] eventually arrived at an exact formula as follows.

Theorem 1.2.18. We have

$$p(n) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{k \ge 1} A_k(n) \sqrt{k} \, \frac{d}{dn} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{n - \frac{1}{24}}} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{k} \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}\left(n - \frac{1}{24}\right)}\right) \right), \qquad (1.2.23)$$

where

$$A_k(n) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{\pi i (s(h,k) - 2nh/k)}$$

with s(h,k) being the Dedekind sum defined by

$$s(d,c) := \sum_{n \bmod c} \left(\left(\frac{dn}{c} \right) \right) \left(\left(\frac{n}{c} \right) \right)$$

where

$$((x)) := \begin{cases} x - \lfloor x \rfloor - 1/2 & \text{if } x \notin \mathbb{Z}, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Let me end this section with an example given on page 70 of [12].

Example 1.2.1. Let us use the first 8 terms in Rademacher's formula to estimate p(200):

+ 3,972,998,993,185.896+ 36,282.978- 87.584+ 5.147+ 1.424+ 0.071+ 0.000+ 0.0443,972,999,029,387.975

Eureka! We are only .025 away from the exact value!

1.3 References

- [2] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun (eds.), Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, United States Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, 10th printing, 1972.
- [3] K. Alladi and B. Gordon, Generalizations of Schur's partition theorem, Manuscripta Math. 79 (1993), no. 2, 113–126.
- [5] G. E. Andrews, Enumerative proofs of certain q-identities, Glasgow Math. J. 8 (1967), 33–40.
- [6] G. E. Andrews, On Schur's second partition theorem, Glasgow Math. J. 8 (1967), 127–132.
- [7] G. E. Andrews, A generalization of the classical partition theorems, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (1969), 205–221.
- [8] G. E. Andrews, Partition identities, Advances in Math. 9 (1972), 10–51.
- [10] G. E. Andrews, A general theory of identities of the Rogers-Ramanujan type, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974), 1033–1052.
- [11] G. E. Andrews, Problems and prospects for basic hypergeometric functions, *Theory* and application of special functions (Proc. Advanced Sem., Math. Res. Center,

Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1975), pp. 191–224. Math. Res. Center, Univ. Wisconsin, Publ. No. 35, Academic Press, New York, 1975.

- [12] G. E. Andrews, *The theory of partitions*, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 2. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Amsterdam, 1976. xiv+255 pp.
- [16] G. E. Andrews, q-Hypergeometric and related functions, NIST handbook of mathematical functions, 419–433, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [23] G. E. Andrews and F. G. Garvan, Dyson's crank of a partition, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 18 (1988), no. 2, 167–171.
- [28] A. O. L. Atkin, Proof of a conjecture of Ramanujan, Glasgow Math. J. 8 (1967), 14–32.
- [30] A. O. L. Atkin and P. Swinnerton-Dyer, Some properties of partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 4 (1954), 84–106.
- [31] P. Bachmann, *Die Analytische Zahlentheorie* (in German), Leipzig, Teubner, 1894.
- [32] W. N. Bailey, Generalized hypergeometric series, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics and Mathematical Physics, No. 32 Stechert-Hafner, Inc., New York 1964 v+108 pp.
- [34] C. Banderier, M. Bousquet-Mélou, A. Denise, P. Flajolet, D. Gardy, and D. Gouyou-Beauchamps, Generating functions of generating trees, *Discrete Math.* 246 (2002), no. 1-3, 29–55.
- [36] R. J. Baxter, Hard hexagons: exact solution, J. Phys. A 13 (1980), no. 3, L61–L70.
- [40] D. M. Bressoud, A combinatorial proof of Schur's 1926 partition theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 79 (1980), no. 2, 338–340.
- [71] S. Corteel, Particle seas and basic hypergeometric series, Adv. in Appl. Math. 31 (2003), no. 1, 199–214.
- [72] S. Corteel and J. Lovejoy, Overpartitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356 (2004), no. 4, 1623–1635.
- [76] F. J. Dyson, Some guesses in the theory of partitions, Eureka 8 (1944), 10–15.
- [78] L. Euler, Introductio in Analysin Infinitorum, Marcun-Michaelem Bousquet, Lausanne, 1748. English translation: Introduction to Analysis of the Infinite, trad. J. Blanton, Springer, New York, 2005.
- [79] F. G. Garvan, A simple proof of Watson's partition congruences for powers of 7, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 36 (1984), no. 3, 316–334.
- [80] F. G. Garvan, New combinatorial interpretations of Ramanujan's partition congruences mod 5, 7 and 11, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **305** (1988), no. 1, 47–77.
- [83] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic hypergeometric series. Second edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 96. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. xxvi+428 pp.
- [84] W. Gleißberg, Über einen Satz von Herrn I. Schur, Math. Z. 28 (1928), no. 1, 372–382.
- [85] H. Göllnitz, Partitionen mit Differenzenbedingungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 225 (1967), 154–190.
- [86] B. Gordon, A combinatorial generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 393–399.
- [96] G. H. Hardy and S. Ramanujan, Asymptotic formulae in combinatory analysis, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 17 (1918), 75–115.
- [100] M. D. Hirschhorn and D. C. Hunt, A simple proof of the Ramanujan conjecture for powers of 5, J. Reine Angew. Math. 326 (1981), 1–17.
- [101] A. E. Ingham, A Tauberian theorem for partitions, Ann. of Math. (2) 42 (1941), 1075–1090.
- [104] F. Johansson, Efficient implementation of the Hardy–Ramanujan–Rademacher formula, LMS J. Comput. Math. 15 (2012), 341–359.
- [105] J. T. Joichi and D. Stanton, Bijective proofs of basic hypergeometric series identities, *Pacific J. Math.* **127** (1987), no. 1, 103–120.
- [114] S. Kitaev, Patterns in Permutations and Words, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [115] D. E. Knuth, The Art of Computer Programming, Vol. 1: Fundamental Algorithms, Addison-Wesley, 1973, Third edition, 1997.

- [119] G. W. Leibniz, Specimen de divulsionibus aequationum ad problemata indefinita in numeris rationalibus solvenda, 2, September 1674. In G.W. Leibniz, Sämtliche Schriften und Briefe. Siebente Reihe: Mathematische Schriften, Bd. 1:1672-1676. Geometrie – Zahlentheorie – Algebra (1. Teil), pp. 740–755, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [120] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, Construction of the affine Lie algebra A₁⁽¹⁾, Comm. Math. Phys. 62 (1978), no. 1, 43–53.
- [121] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, A new family of algebras underlying the Rogers– Ramanujan identities and generalizations, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 78 (1981), no. 12, part 1, 7254–7258.
- [122] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The structure of standard modules. I. Universal algebras and the Rogers–Ramanujan identities, *Invent. Math.* 77 (1984), no. 2, 199–290.
- [123] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The structure of standard modules. II. The case $A_1^{(1)}$, principal gradation, *Invent. Math.* **79** (1985), no. 3, 417–442.
- [108] S. Kanade and M. C. Russell, IdentityFinder and some new identities of Rogers-Ramanujan type, Exp. Math. 24 (2015), no. 4, 419–423.
- [137] K. Ono, Distribution of the partition function modulo m, Ann. of Math. (2) **151** (2000), no. 1, 293–307.
- [142] H. Prodinger, The kernel method: a collection of examples, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 50 (2003/04), Art. B50f, 19 pp.
- [143] H. Rademacher, On the partition function p(n), Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 43 (1937), no. 4, 241–254.
- [145] S. Ramanujan, Proof of certain identities in combinatory analysis, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 19 (1919), 214–216.
- [146] S. Ramanujan, Some properties of p(n), the number of partitions of n, *Proc.* Cambridge Philos. Soc. **19** (1919), 207–210.
- [147] S. Ramanujan, Congruence properties of partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2)
 18 (1920), Records for 13 March 1919.

- [148] S. Ramanujan, Congruence properties of partitions, Math. Z. 9 (1921), no. 1-2, 147–153.
- [150] S. Ramanujan, The lost notebook and other unpublished papers, Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, 1988.
- [151] S. Ramanujan, Collected papers of Srinivasa Ramanujan, AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2000. xxxviii+426 pp.
- [156] L. J. Rogers, Third memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 26 (1894), 15–32.
- [160] I. J. Schur, Zur additiven Zahlentheorie, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. (1926), 488–495.
- [171] G. N. Watson, Ramanujans Vermutung über Zerfällungszahlen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 179 (1938), 97–128.
- [172] R. L. Weaver, New congruences for the partition function, Ramanujan J. 5 (2001), no. 1, 53–63.

Part I Congruences

Outline

- Chapter 2 is devoted to an elementary proof of an infinite family of congruences modulo powers of 5 for $p_D(n)$, the number of partitions of n into distinct parts.
- Chapter 3 is devoted to some eta-quotient representations concerning the Rogers– Ramanujan continued fraction.

Chapter 2 Partitions into Distinct Parts Modulo Powers of 5

This chapter comes from

S. Chern and M. D. Hirschhorn, Partitions into distinct parts modulo powers of 5, Ann. Comb. 23 (2019), no. 3-4, 659–682. Also in: George E. Andrews—80 Years of Combinatory Analysis, 305–328, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2021. (Ref. [64])

2.1 Introduction and Main Result

Let $p_D(n)$ denote the number of partitions of n into distinct parts. Then

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} p_D(n)q^n = (-q;q)_\infty = \frac{E(q^2)}{E(q)}$$
(2.1.1)

where

$$E(q) = (q;q)_{\infty}.$$

Like the ordinary partition function p(n), $p_D(n)$ also enjoys an infinite family of congruences modulo powers of 5. Namely,

$$p_D\left(5^{2\alpha+1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha+2}-1}{24}\right) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.1.2)

It should be noted that this congruence, which is due to Rødseth [154] and independently to Gordon and Hughes [87], requires the theory of modular forms in its proof. On the other hand, the congruence for p(n) stated as follows,

$$p(5^{\alpha}n + \delta_{\alpha}) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}}$$
(2.1.3)

where

$$\delta_{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \frac{19 \times 5^{\alpha} + 1}{24} & \text{if } \alpha \text{ is odd,} \\ \frac{23 \times 5^{\alpha} + 1}{24} & \text{if } \alpha \text{ is even,} \end{cases}$$
(2.1.4)

which was conjectured by Ramanujan [150] in 1919, was first demonstrated by Watson [171] in 1938, again, with the help of modular forms. However, in 1981, it was shown by Hirschhorn and Hunt [100] that (2.1.3) could also be achieved by a purely elementary approach, which is based on a modular equation of degree 5.

Now a natural question arises:

Can we prove (2.1.2) by an elementary method, or even using the words of Mike Hirschhorn, by only "high School algebra, but taken somewhat further?"

The goal of this chapter is to settle this problem in affirmative. Our result can be stated as follows.

Theorem 2.1.1. For $\alpha \geq 1$,

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha-1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha}-1}{24}\right) q^n = \gamma \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha-1,i} \zeta^{i-1}, \qquad (2.1.5)$$

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha} - 1}{24}\right) q^n = \delta \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1} - 5)/24} x_{2\alpha,i} \zeta^{i-1}$$
(2.1.6)

where

$$\gamma = \frac{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})}, \quad \delta = \frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^4}{E(q)^5 E(q^{10})^2}, \quad \zeta = q \frac{E(q^2) E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}$$
(2.1.7)

and where the coefficient vectors $\mathbf{x}_{\alpha} = (x_{\alpha,1}, x_{\alpha,2}, \cdots)$ are given recursively by

$$\mathbf{x}_1 = (1, 0, \cdots),$$
 (2.1.8)

and for $\alpha \geq 1$,

$$\mathbf{x}_{2\alpha} = \mathbf{x}_{2\alpha-1}A\tag{2.1.9}$$

and

$$\mathbf{x}_{2\alpha+1} = \mathbf{x}_{2\alpha}B,\tag{2.1.10}$$

where A is the matrix $(\alpha_{i,j})_{i,j\geq 1}$ and B is the matrix $(\beta_{i,j})_{i,j\geq 1}$ where the $\alpha_{i,j}$ and $\beta_{i,j}$ are given by

$$\sum_{i,j\ge 1} \alpha_{i,j} x^i y^j = \frac{N_\alpha}{D'} \tag{2.1.11}$$

and

$$\sum_{i,j\ge 1}\beta_{i,j}x^iy^j = \frac{N_\beta}{D'} \tag{2.1.12}$$

where

$$N_{\alpha} = (y + 160y^{2} + 2800y^{3} + 16000y^{4} + 32000y^{5})x + (180y^{2} + 3000y^{3} + 16800y^{4} + 32000y^{5})x^{2} + (75y^{2} + 1215y^{3} + 6600y^{4} + 12000y^{5})x^{3} + (14y^{2} + 220y^{3} + 1150y^{4} + 2000y^{5})x^{4} + (y^{2} + 15y^{3} + 75y^{4} + 125y^{5})x^{5},$$
(2.1.13)

$$N_{\beta} = (5y + 660y^{2} + 14400y^{3} + 120000y^{4} + 448000y^{5} + 640000y^{6})x + (y + 680y^{2} + 14900y^{3} + 123200y^{4} + 456000y^{5} + 640000y^{6})x^{2} + (265y^{2} + 5785y^{3} + 47500y^{4} + 174000y^{5} + 240000y^{6})x^{3} + (46y^{2} + 1000y^{3} + 8150y^{4} + 29500y^{5} + 40000y^{6})x^{4} + (3y^{2} + 65y^{3} + 525y^{4} + 1875y^{5} + 2500y^{6})x^{5}$$
(2.1.14)

and

$$D' = 1 - (205y + 4300y^2 + 34000y^3 + 120000y^4 + 160000y^5)x$$
$$- (215y + 4475y^2 + 35000y^3 + 122000y^4 + 160000y^5)x^2$$
$$- (85y + 1750y^2 + 13525y^3 + 46000y^4 + 60000y^5)x^3$$
$$- (15y + 305y^2 + 2325y^3 + 7875y^4 + 10000y^5)x^4$$

$$-(y+20y^2+150y^3+500y^4+625y^5)x^5. (2.1.15)$$

Furthermore, for $\alpha \geq 1$,

$$x_{2\alpha+1,i} \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}},$$
 (2.1.16)

$$x_{2\alpha+2,i} \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}},$$
 (2.1.17)

from which it follows that for $\alpha \geq 1$,

$$p_D\left(5^{2\alpha+1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha+2} - 1}{24}\right) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}},\tag{2.1.18}$$

$$p_D\left(5^{2\alpha+2}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha+2} - 1}{24}\right) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.1.19)

(Of course, (2.1.19) is a special case of (2.1.18).)

2.2 Preliminaries

Let

$$R(q) = \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4 \\ q^2, q^3; q^5 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}, \quad \chi(-q) = (q; q^2)_{\infty} = \frac{E(q)}{E(q^2)}.$$

Then ([98, (8.1.1)])

$$E(q) = E(q^{25}) \left(\frac{1}{R(q^5)} - q - q^2 R(q^5) \right), \qquad (2.2.1)$$

([98, (8.4.4)])

$$\frac{1}{E(q)} = \frac{E(q^{25})^5}{E(q^5)^6} \left(\frac{1}{R(q^5)^4} + \frac{q}{R(q^5)^3} + \frac{2q^2}{R(q^5)^2} + \frac{3q^3}{R(q^5)} + 5q^4 - 3q^5R(q^5) + 2q^6R(q^5)^2 - q^7R(q^5)^3 + q^8R(q^5)^4 \right),$$
(2.2.2)

([98, (40.2.3)])

$$R(q^{2}) - R(q)^{2} = 2q \begin{pmatrix} q, q, q^{9}, q^{9} \\ q^{3}, q^{5}, q^{5}, q^{7}; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}, \qquad (2.2.3)$$

([98, (40.2.4)])

$$R(q^{2}) + R(q)^{2} = 2 \begin{pmatrix} q, q^{4}, q^{6}, q^{9} \\ q^{2}, q^{5}, q^{5}, q^{8}; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}, \qquad (2.2.4)$$

([98, (41.1.3)])

$$1 - qR(q)R(q^2)^2 = \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4, q^5, q^5, q^6, q^9 \\ q^2, q^3, q^3, q^7, q^7, q^8 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty},$$
(2.2.5)

([98, (41.1.2)])

$$1 + qR(q)R(q^2)^2 = \begin{pmatrix} q^2, q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8, q^8 \\ q, q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6, q^9; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty},$$
(2.2.6)

([98, (34.8.4)])

$$\frac{E(q^2)^4}{E(q)^2} - q \frac{E(q^{10})^4}{E(q^5)^2} = \frac{E(q^2)E(q^5)^3}{E(q)E(q^{10})}$$
(2.2.7)

and ([98, (34.8.3)])

$$\frac{E(q^5)^4}{E(q^{10})^2} - \frac{E(q)^4}{E(q^2)^2} = 4q \frac{E(q)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q^2)E(q^5)}.$$
(2.2.8)

We require the following results.

Lemma.

$$\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} = 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5},$$
(2.2.9)

$$\frac{R(q^2) - R(q)^2}{R(q^2) + R(q)^2} = qR(q)R(q^2)^2,$$
(2.2.10)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} - q^2 R(q)R(q^2)^2 = \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)},$$
(2.2.11)

$$\frac{1 - qR(q)R(q^2)^2}{1 + qR(q)R(q^2)^2} = \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)},$$
(2.2.12)

$$\frac{R(q)}{R(q^2)^3} + q^2 \frac{R(q^2)^3}{R(q)} = \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} - 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5},$$
(2.2.13)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2) = \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5},$$
(2.2.14)

$$\frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + q = \frac{E(q^2)^4 E(q^5)^2}{E(q)^2 E(q^{10})^4}$$
(2.2.15)

and

$$1 - 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} = \frac{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^4}.$$
 (2.2.16)

Proof of (2.2.9). If we multiply (2.2.3) by (2.2.4) and divide by $R(q)^2 R(q^2)$, we find that

$$\begin{split} \frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} &- \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} = \frac{(R(q^2) - R(q)^2)(R(q^2) + R(q)^2)}{R(q)^2 R(q^2)} \\ &= \frac{2q \begin{pmatrix} q, q, q^9, q^9 \\ q^3, q^5, q^5, q^7 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty} \cdot 2 \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4, q^6, q^9 \\ q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8 ; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}}{\begin{pmatrix} q, q, q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6, q^9, q^9, q^2, q^8 \\ q^2, q^2, q^3, q^3, q^7, q^7, q^8, q^8, q^4, q^6 ; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}} \\ &= 4q \begin{pmatrix} q, q^3, q^5, q^7, q^9 \\ q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5 ; q^{10} \end{pmatrix}_{\infty} \\ &= 4q \frac{(q; q^2)_{\infty}}{(q^5; q^{10})_{\infty}^5} \\ &= 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5}. \end{split}$$

-	_	_	_	
L				
L				
L	_	_	_	

Proof of (2.2.10). If we divide (2.2.3) by (2.2.4), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{R(q^2) - R(q)^2}{R(q^2) + R(q)^2} &= q \frac{\left(\substack{q, q, q^9, q^9 \\ q^3, q^5, q^5, q^7; q^{10} \\ q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8; q^{10} \\ q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8; q^{10} \\ \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}}{= q \left(\substack{q, q^2, q^8, q^9 \\ q^3, q^4, q^6, q^7; q^{10} \\ q^2, q^3, q^7, q^8, q^4, q^6, q^6; q^{10} \\ \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}} \\ &= q R(q) R(q^2)^2. \end{split}$$

Proof of (2.2.11). If we multiply (2.2.5) by (2.2.6) and divide by $R(q)R(q^2)^2$, we find

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} &- q^2 R(q) R(q^2)^2 = \frac{(1 - q R(q) R(q^2)^2)(1 + q R(q) R(q^2)^2)}{R(q) R(q^2)^2} \\ &= \frac{\left(\begin{array}{c} q, q^4, q^5, q^5, q^6, q^9 \\ q^2, q^3, q^7, q^7, q^8; q^{10} \right)_{\infty} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^2, q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8, q^8 \\ q, q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6, q^9; \\ q^2, q^3, q^7, q^8; q^{10} \end{array} \right)_{\infty} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^2, q^2, q^8, q^8 \\ q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6; q^{10} \end{array} \right)_{\infty} \\ &= \left(\begin{array}{c} q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5 \\ q, q^3, q^5, q^7, q^9; q^{10} \end{array} \right)_{\infty} \\ &= \left(\begin{array}{c} q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5, q^5 \\ q, q^3, q^5, q^7, q^9; q^{10} \end{array} \right)_{\infty} \\ &= \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)}. \end{split}$$

Proof of (2.2.12). If we divide (2.2.5) by (2.2.6) we obtain

$$\frac{1 - qR(q)R(q^2)^2}{1 + qR(q)R(q^2)^2} = \frac{\begin{pmatrix} q, q^4, q^5, q^5, q^6, q^9 \\ q^2, q^3, q^3, q^7, q^7, q^9 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}}{\begin{pmatrix} q^2, q^2, q^5, q^5, q^8, q^8 \\ q, q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6, q^9 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} q, q, q^4, q^4, q^6, q^6, q^9, q^9, q^4, q^6 \\ q^2, q^2, q^3, q^3, q^7, q^7, q^8, q^8, q^2, q^8 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}$$

= $\frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}$.

Proof of (2.2.13). Note that (2.2.10) is equivalent to (2.2.12), because they are both equivalent to

$$R(q^{2}) - R(q)^{2} = qR(q)^{3}R(q^{2})^{2} + qR(q)R(q^{2})^{3}.$$
 (2.2.17)

If we divide (2.2.17) by $R(q)R(q^2)^3$ and rearrange, we find that

$$\frac{R(q)}{R(q^2)^3} = \frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} - q\frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} - q,$$
(2.2.18)

while if we divide (2.2.17) by $R(q)^2$, rearrange and multiply by q, we obtain

$$q^{2} \frac{R(q^{2})^{3}}{R(q)} = -q^{2} R(q) R(q^{2})^{2} + q \frac{R(q^{2})}{R(q)^{2}} - q.$$
(2.2.19)

If we add (2.2.18) and (2.2.19), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{R(q)}{R(q^2)^3} + q^2 \frac{R(q^2)^3}{R(q)} &= \left(\frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} - q^2 R(q)R(q^2)^2\right) - 2q + q \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \\ &= \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} - 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof of (2.2.14). If we multiply (2.2.9) by (2.2.11) and add (2.2.13), we find that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2) &= \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} - q^2 R(q)R(q^2)^2\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{R(q)}{R(q^2)^3} + q^2 \frac{R(q^2)^3}{R(q)}\right) \\ &= 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} \cdot \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} - 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5}.$$

Proof of (2.2.15).

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + q &= \frac{E(q^2)E(q^5)^5}{E(q)E(q^{10})^5} + q \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^2}{E(q^{10})^4} \left(\frac{E(q^2)E(q^5)^3}{E(q)E(q^{10})} + q\frac{E(q^{10})^4}{E(q^5)^2}\right) \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^2}{E(q^{10})^4} \cdot \frac{E(q^2)^4}{E(q)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

. 1	-	_	_	٦	

Proof of (2.2.16).

$$1 - 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} = 1 - 4q \frac{E(q)E(q^{10})^5}{E(q^2)E(q^5)^5}$$
$$= \frac{E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^5)^4} \left(\frac{E(q^5)^4}{E(q^{10})^2} - 4q \frac{E(q)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q^2)E(q^5)}\right)$$
$$= \frac{E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^5)^4} \cdot \frac{E(q)^4}{E(q^2)^2}.$$

2.3 The Work of Baruah and Begum

It is fair to mention that our idea is motivated by a recent work of Baruah and Begum [35], in which the following results were shown.

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} p_D(5n+1)q^n = \frac{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})},$$
(2.3.1)

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D(25n+1)q^n = \frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^4}{E(q)^5 E(q^{10})^2} \times \left(1 + 160q \left(\frac{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}\right) + 2800q^2 \left(\frac{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}\right)^2 + 16000q^3 \left(\frac{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}\right)^3 + 32000q^4 \left(\frac{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}\right)^4\right), \quad (2.3.2)$$

as well as the corresponding result for $\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D(125n+26)q^n$. Now let us reprove (2.3.1). We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n\geq 0} p_D(n)q^n &= (-q;q)_\infty = \frac{E(q^2)}{E(q)} \\ &= \frac{E(q^{25})^5}{E(q^5)^6} \left(\frac{1}{R(q^5)^4} + \frac{q}{R(q^5)^3} + \frac{2q^2}{R(q^5)^2} + \frac{3q^3}{R(q^5)} + 5q^4 \right. \\ &\quad -3q^5R(q^5) + 2q^6R(q^5)^2 - q^7R(q^5)^3 + q^8R(q^5)^4 \right) \\ &\times E(q^{50}) \left(\frac{1}{R(q^{10})} - q^2 - q^4R(q^{10}) \right). \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n\geq 0} p_D(5n+1)q^n \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^5 E(q^{10})}{E(q)^6} \\ &\times \left(\left(\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2) \right) - 5q - 2q \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} \right) \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^5 E(q^{10})}{E(q)^6} \\ &\times \left(\left(\frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + 2q + 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} \right) - 5q - 2q \cdot 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^5 E(q^{10})}{E(q)^6} \left(\frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} - 3q - 4q^2 \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} \right) \\ &= \frac{E(q^5)^5 E(q^{10})}{E(q)^6} \left(\frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} + q \right) \left(1 - 4q \frac{\chi(-q)}{\chi(-q^5)^5} \right) \\ &= \left(\frac{E(q^5)^5 E(q^{10})}{E(q)^6} \right) \left(\frac{E(q^2)^4 E(q^5)^2}{E(q)^2 E(q^{10})^4} \right) \left(\frac{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^4} \right) \end{split}$$

$$=\frac{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})}.$$

Note that (2.3.1) is the case $\alpha = 1$ of (2.1.5).

2.4 The Modular Equation

We obtain the modular equation for ζ .

Let $\zeta(q^5) = Z$.

Theorem 2.4.1.

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta^5 &- (205Z + 4300Z^2 + 34000Z^3 + 120000Z^4 + 160000Z^5)\zeta^4 \\ &- (215Z + 4475Z^2 + 35000Z^3 + 122000Z^4 + 160000Z^5)\zeta^3 \\ &- (85Z + 1750Z^2 + 13525Z^3 + 46500Z^4 + 60000Z^5)\zeta^2 \\ &- (15Z + 305Z^2 + 2325Z^3 + 7875Z^4 + 10000Z^5)\zeta \\ &- (Z + 20Z^2 + 150Z^3 + 500Z^4 + 625Z^5) = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(2.4.1)

Proof. Let H be the huffing operator, given by

$$H\left(\sum_{n} a(n)q^{n}\right) = \sum_{n} a(5n)q^{5n}.$$
(2.4.2)

We can show, using extremely lengthy but elementary calculations (see §2.9), that

$$H(\zeta) = 41Z + 860Z^2 + 6800Z^3 + 24000Z^4 + 32000Z^5,$$

(2.4.3)

$$H(\zeta^2) = 86Z + 10195Z^2 + 366600Z^3 + 6534800Z^4 + 68384000Z^5 + 450720000Z^6 + 1907200000Z^7 + 505600000Z^8 + 768000000Z^9 + 5120000000Z^{10},$$

(2.4.4)

$$\begin{split} H(\zeta^3) &= 51Z + 27495Z^2 + 2836265Z^3 + 128688900Z^4 + 3343692000Z^5 \\ &+ 56283680000Z^6 + 656205600000Z^7 + 5502096000000Z^8 \\ &+ 33821312000000Z^9 + 153192960000000Z^{10} \\ &+ 50695680000000Z^{11} + 119500800000000Z^{12} \end{split}$$

$$+ 190464000000000Z^{13} + 184320000000000Z^{14}$$

$$+819200000000000Z^{15},$$

$$+ 190464000000000Z^{13} + 184320000000000Z^{13}$$

$$\begin{split} H(\zeta^4) &= 12Z + 32674Z^2 + 8579260Z^3 + 831492275Z^4 + 42958434000Z^5 \\ &+ 1396773180000Z^6 + 31314949600000Z^7 + 511802288800000Z^8 \\ &+ 6319880448000000Z^9 + 6034936448000000Z^{10} \\ &+ 45217474560000000Z^{11} + 2679038592000000000Z^{12} \\ &+ 1257426944000000000Z^{13} + 4656193536000000000Z^{14} \\ &+ 1345445888000000000Z^{15} + 297365504000000000Z^{16} \\ &+ 48594944000000000Z^{17} + 5537792000000000Z^{18} \end{split}$$

 $+\ 393216000000000000000Z^{19} + 131072000000000000000Z^{20}$

(2.4.6)

(2.4.5)

and

$$\begin{split} H(\zeta^5) &= Z + 21370Z^2 + 13932050Z^3 + 2684902125Z^4 + 251131688125Z^5 \\ &+ 14097638650000Z^6 + 532547945100000Z^7 + 14515766554000000Z^8 \\ &+ 298883447380000000Z^9 + 479784236600000000Z^{10} \\ &+ 613957818000000000Z^{11} + 63625568304000000000Z^{12} \\ &+ 539860130688000000000Z^{13} + 377722394368000000000Z^{14} \\ &+ 21875584000000000000Z^{15} + 1049457704960000000000Z^{16} \\ &+ 4160657715200000000000Z^{17} + 13552680960000000000Z^{18} \\ &+ 359091896320000000000Z^{19} + 761952665600000000000Z^{20} \\ &+ 12643860480000000000Z^{21} + 15813836800000000000Z^{22} \\ &+ 14024704000000000000Z^{23} + 78643200000000000Z^{24} \\ &+ 20971520000000000000Z^{25}. \end{split}$$

(2.4.7)

Let η be a fifth root of unity other than 1, and for i = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 define

$$\zeta_i = \zeta(\eta^i q). \tag{2.4.8}$$

Then the power sums π_1, \cdots, π_5 of the ζ_i are given by

$$\pi_{1} = \zeta_{0} + \cdots + \zeta_{4} = 5H(\zeta),$$

$$\pi_{2} = \zeta_{0}^{2} + \cdots + \zeta_{4}^{2} = 5H(\zeta^{2}),$$

$$\cdots$$

$$\pi_{5} = \zeta_{0}^{5} + \cdots + \zeta_{4}^{5} = 5H(\zeta^{5}).$$
(2.4.9)

From (2.4.9) we obtain the symmetric functions $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_5$ of the ζ_i ,

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_1 &= \sum_i \zeta_i = \pi_1 \\ &= 205Z + 4300Z^2 + 34000Z^3 + 120000Z^4 + 160000Z^5, \\ \sigma_2 &= \sum_{i < j} \zeta_i \zeta_j = \frac{1}{2} (\pi_1 \sigma_1 - \pi_2) \\ &= -215Z - 4475Z^2 - 35000Z^3 - 122000Z^4 - 160000Z^5, \\ \sigma_3 &= \sum_{i < j < k} \zeta_i \zeta_j \zeta_k = \frac{1}{3} (\pi_1 \sigma_2 - \pi_2 \sigma_1 + \pi_3) \\ &= 85Z + 1750Z^2 + 13525Z^3 + 46000Z^4 + 60000Z^5, \\ \sigma_4 &= \sum_{i < j < k < l} \zeta_i \zeta_j \zeta_k \zeta_l = \frac{1}{4} (\pi_1 \sigma_3 - \pi_2 \sigma_2 + \pi_3 \sigma_1 - \pi_4) \\ &= -15Z - 305Z^2 - 2325Z^3 - 7875Z^4 - 10000Z^5, \\ \sigma_5 &= \zeta_0 \zeta_1 \cdots \zeta_4 = \frac{1}{5} (\pi_1 \sigma_4 - \pi_2 \sigma_3 + \pi_3 \sigma_2 - \pi_4 \sigma_1 + \pi_5) \\ &= Z + 20Z^2 + 150Z^3 + 500Z^4 + 625Z^5. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.4.10)$$

Now, $\zeta_0, \ \cdots, \zeta_4$ are the roots of

$$(X - \zeta_0)(X - \zeta_1)(X - \zeta_2)(X - \zeta_3)(X - \zeta_4)$$

= $X^5 - \sigma_1 X^4 + \sigma_2 X^3 - \sigma_3 X^2 + \sigma_4 X - \sigma_5 = 0,$ (2.4.11)

or,

$$X^{5} - (205Z + 4300Z^{2} + 34000Z^{3} + 120000Z^{4} + 160000Z^{5})X^{4} - (215Z + 4475Z^{2} + 35000Z^{3} + 122000Z^{4} + 160000Z^{5})X^{3} - (85Z + 1750Z^{2} + 13525Z^{3} + 46500Z^{4} + 60000Z^{5})X^{2}$$

$$-(15Z + 305Z^{2} + 2325Z^{3} + 7875Z^{4} + 10000Z^{5})X -(Z + 20Z^{2} + 150Z^{3} + 500Z^{4} + 625Z^{5}) = 0.$$
(2.4.12)

In particular, ζ is a root, and we obtain (2.4.1).

Remark. It is truly remarkable, amazing even, that although π_1, \dots, π_5 are polynomials of degree up to 25, $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_5$ are of degree 5.

2.5 Some Important Recurrences and Generating Functions

Let U be the unitizing operator, given by

$$U\left(\sum_{n} a(n)q^{n}\right) = \sum_{n} a(5n)q^{n}.$$
(2.5.1)

It follows from (2.4.1) that for $i \ge 6$, $u_i = U(\zeta^i)$ satisfies the recurrence

$$u_{i} = (205\zeta + 4300\zeta^{2} + 34000\zeta^{3} + 120000\zeta^{4} + 160000\zeta^{5})u_{i-1} + (215\zeta + 4475\zeta^{2} + 35000\zeta^{3} + 122000\zeta^{4} + 160000\zeta^{5})u_{i-2} + (85\zeta + 1750\zeta^{2} + 13525\zeta^{3} + 46500\zeta^{4} + 60000\zeta^{5})u_{i-3} + (15\zeta + 305\zeta^{2} + 2325\zeta^{3} + 7875\zeta^{4} + 10000\zeta^{5})u_{i-4} + (\zeta + 20\zeta^{2} + 150\zeta^{3} + 500\zeta^{4} + 625\zeta^{5})u_{i-5}.$$
(2.5.2)

The recurrence (2.5.2), together with the five initial values $u_1, u_2 \cdots, u_5$, which can be read off from (2.4.3)–(2.4.7) by replacing Z by ζ , gives

$$\sum_{i\geq 1} u_i x^i = \frac{N}{D} \tag{2.5.3}$$

where

$$N = (41\zeta + 860\zeta^{2} + 6800\zeta^{3} + 24000\zeta^{4} + 32000\zeta^{5})x$$

+ $(86\zeta + 1790\zeta^{2} + 14000\zeta^{3} + 48800\zeta^{4} + 64000\zeta^{5})x^{2}$
+ $(51\zeta + 1050\zeta^{2} + 8115\zeta^{3} + 27900\zeta^{4} + 36000\zeta^{5})x^{3}$
+ $(12\zeta + 244\zeta^{2} + 1869\zeta^{3} + 6300\zeta^{4} + 8000\zeta^{5})x^{4}$
+ $(\zeta + 20\zeta^{2} + 150\zeta^{3} + 500\zeta^{4} + 625\zeta^{5})x^{5}$ (2.5.4)

and

$$D = 1 - (205\zeta + 4300\zeta^{2} + 34000\zeta^{3} + 120000\zeta^{4} + 160000\zeta^{5})x$$

- $(215\zeta + 4475\zeta^{2} + 35000\zeta^{3} + 122000\zeta^{4} + 160000\zeta^{5})x^{2}$
- $(85\zeta + 1750\zeta^{2} + 13525\zeta^{3} + 46500\zeta^{4} + 60000\zeta^{5})x^{3}$
- $(15\zeta + 305\zeta^{2} + 2325\zeta^{3} + 7875\zeta^{4} + 10000\zeta^{5})x^{4}$
- $(\zeta + 20\zeta^{2} + 150\zeta^{3} + 500\zeta^{4} + 625\zeta^{5})x^{5}.$ (2.5.5)

From (2.5.3)–(2.5.5) we deduce that for $i \ge 1$,

$$U(\zeta^{i}) = u_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{5i} \mu_{i,j} \zeta^{j}$$
(2.5.6)

where the $\mu_{i,j}$ are given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{5i} \mu_{i,j} x^i y^j = \frac{N'}{D'}$$
(2.5.7)

where

$$N' = (41y + 860y^{2} + 6800y^{3} + 24000y^{4} + 32000y^{5})x + (86y + 1790y^{2} + 14000y^{3} + 48800y^{4} + 64000y^{5})x^{2} + (51y + 1050y^{2} + 8115y^{3} + 27900y^{4} + 36000y^{5})x^{3} + (12y + 244y^{2} + 1869y^{3} + 6300y^{4} + 8000y^{5})x^{4} + (y + 20y^{2} + 150y^{3} + 500y^{4} + 625y^{5})x^{5}$$
(2.5.8)

and

$$D' = 1 - (205y + 4300y^{2} + 34000y^{3} + 120000y^{4} + 160000y^{5})x$$

- (215y + 4475y^{2} + 35000y^{3} + 122000y^{4} + 160000y^{5})x^{2}
- (85y + 1750y^{2} + 13525y^{3} + 46500y^{4} + 60000y^{5})x^{3}
- (15y + 305y^{2} + 2325y^{3} + 7875y^{4} + 10000y^{5})x^{4}
- (y + 20y^{2} + 150y^{3} + 500y^{4} + 625y^{5})x^{5}. (2.5.9)

More importantly, if we multiply (2.4.1) by γ and apply the operator U, we see that

 $v_i = U(\gamma \zeta^{i-1})$ satisfy the recurrence (2.5.2) (with v for u).

Also, using the same sort of calculations as in 2.4 (see 2.9 Appendix),

$$\begin{split} v_1 &= U(\gamma) = \delta(1 + 160\zeta + 2800\zeta^2 + 16000\zeta^3 + 32000\zeta^4), \end{split} \tag{2.5.10} \\ v_2 &= U(\gamma\zeta) = \delta(385\zeta + 40100\zeta^2 + 1312800\zeta^3 + 20912000\zeta^4 + 189920000\zeta^5 \\ &+ 1043200000\zeta^6 + 345600000\zeta^7 + 640000000\zeta^8 + 512000000\zeta^9), \end{aligned} \tag{2.5.11} \\ v_3 &= U(\gamma\zeta^2) = \delta(290\zeta + 119015\zeta^2 + 11235600\zeta^3 + 476348000\zeta^4 + 11537760000\zeta^5 \\ &+ 179434400000\zeta^6 + 190899200000\zeta^7 + 1437747200000\zeta^8 \\ &+ 77783040000000\zeta^9 + 301644800000000\zeta^{10} + 82124800000000\zeta^{11} \\ &+ 14950400000000\zeta^{12} + 1638400000000\zeta^{13} + 8192000000000\zeta^{14}), \end{aligned} \tag{2.5.12} \\ v_4 &= U(\gamma\zeta^3) = \delta(99\zeta + 157795\zeta^2 + 36522125\zeta^3 + 3308569500\zeta^4 \\ &+ 161943150000\zeta^5 + 499560380000\zeta^6 + 105933588800000\zeta^7 \\ &+ 1628976896000000\zeta^{11} + 61423001600000000\zeta^{12} \\ &+ 257297817600000000\zeta^{13} + 833304576000000000\zeta^{14} \\ &+ 204857344000000000\zeta^{15} + 37003264000000000\zeta^{16} \\ &+ 46366720000000000\zeta^{17} + 36044800000000000\zeta^{18} \\ &+ 13107200000000000\zeta^{19}) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} v_5 &= U(\gamma\zeta^4) = \delta(16\zeta + 118090\zeta^2 + 63835100\zeta^3 + 11315760375\zeta^4 \\ &+ 1002222145000\zeta^5 + 53778439200000\zeta^6 + 1946392973200000\zeta^7 \\ &+ 50789296612000000\zeta^8 + 998696483520000000\zeta^9 + 15256932894400000000\zeta^{10} \\ &+ 18500757036800000000\zeta^{11} + 180767148928000000000\zeta^{12} \\ &+ 143762935398400000000\zeta^{13} + 936303455232000000000\zeta^{14} \\ &+ 500636522496000000000\zeta^{15} + 219558209536000000000\zeta^{16} \\ &+ 78607884288000000000\zeta^{17} + 22768123904000000000\zeta^{18} \end{split}$$

(2.5.13)

$$\begin{split} &+ 52564656128000000000000\zeta^{19} + 94522572800000000000000\zeta^{20} \\ &+ 12766412800000000000000\zeta^{21} + 1218969600000000000000000\zeta^{22} \\ &+ 734003200000000000000\zeta^{23} + 209715200000000000000\zeta^{24}). \end{split}$$

It follows that for $i \ge 1$,

$$U(\gamma \zeta^{i-1}) = \delta \sum_{j=1}^{5i} \alpha_{i,j} \zeta^{j-1}$$
(2.5.15)

where

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{5i} \alpha_{i,j} x^i y^j = \frac{N_{\alpha}}{D'}$$
(2.5.16)

(2.5.19)

where

$$N_{\alpha} = (y + 160y^{2} + 2800y^{3} + 16000y^{4} + 32000y^{5})x + (180y^{2} + 3000y^{3} + 16800y^{4} + 32000y^{5})x^{2} + (75y^{2} + 1215y^{3} + 6600y^{4} + 12000y^{5})x^{3} + (14y^{2} + 220y^{3} + 1150y^{4} + 2000y^{5})x^{4} + (y^{2} + 15y^{3} + 75y^{4} + 125y^{5})x^{5}$$
(2.5.17)

and D' is given in (2.5.9).

Similarly, if we multiply (2.4.1) by $q^{-1}\delta$ and apply the operator U, we see that $w_i = U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta^{i-1})$ satisfy (2.5.2) (with w for u).

Also,

$$w_{1} = U(q^{-1}\delta) = \gamma(5 + 660\zeta + 14400\zeta^{2} + 120000\zeta^{3} + 448000\zeta^{4} + 640000\zeta^{5}),$$

$$(2.5.18)$$

$$w_{2} = U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta) = \gamma(1 + 1705\zeta + 171700\zeta^{2} + 6083200\zeta^{3} + 110016000\zeta^{4} + 178080000\zeta^{5} + 797120000\zeta^{6} + 34688000000\zeta^{7} + 9472000000\zeta^{8} + 14848000000\zeta^{9} + 10240000000\zeta^{10}),$$

$$w_3 = U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta^2) = \gamma(1545\zeta + 523885\zeta^2 + 48836000\zeta^3 + 2157580000\zeta^4)$$

$$\begin{split} &+ 55972480000\zeta^{3} + 950485600000\zeta^{6} + 11233328000000\zeta' \\ &+ 95713408000000\zeta^{8} + 598718720000000\zeta^{9} + 2762265600000000\zeta^{10} \\ &+ 9317888000000000\zeta^{11} + 2240512000000000\zeta^{12} + 3645440000000000\zeta^{13} \\ &+ 360448000000000\zeta^{14} + 16384000000000\zeta^{15}), \end{split}$$

$$w_{4} = U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta^{3}) = \gamma(686\zeta + 753625\zeta^{2} + 161075075\zeta^{3} + 14497246500\zeta^{4} + 727863490000\zeta^{5} + 23458401400000\zeta^{6} + 526452595200000\zeta^{7} + 8658501792000000\zeta^{8} + 107918950400000000\zeta^{9} + 104208290560000000\zeta^{10} + 790459686400000000\zeta^{11} + 474500480000000000\zeta^{12} + 2257742438400000000\zeta^{13} + 8479264768000000000\zeta^{14} + 2486042624000000000\zeta^{15} + 5577277440000000000\zeta^{16}$$

 $\tau \tau (-1 c c 3)$

and

 $w_5 = U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta^4) = \gamma(163\zeta + +630970\zeta^2 + 295013300\zeta^3)$

 $+\ 50030923625 \zeta^4 + 4413689785000 \zeta^5 + 240963519250000 \zeta^6$

 $+\,8126200933440000000 \zeta^{10}+10471445062080000000 \zeta^{11}$

 $+\ 109426984761600000000\zeta^{12} + 9371504522752000000000\zeta^{13}$

 $+\ 6622592322560000000000\zeta^{14} + 38757745100800000000000\zeta^{15}$

 $+\ 187964531507200000000000\zeta^{16} + 7535710945280000000000000\zeta^{17}$

 $+\ 248290942976000000000000000^{18} +\ 66562303590400000000000000000^{19}$

 $+\ 1429384069120000000000000000\zeta^{20} +\ 24011079680000000000000000000\zeta^{21}$

 $+\,8992052284600000 \zeta^7+244243690752000000 \zeta^8+5037514186320000000 \zeta^9$

+ 773324800000000000000 ζ^{19} + 26214400000000000000 ζ^{20})

 $+ 92553216000000000000\zeta^{17} + 10715136000000000000000\zeta^{18}$

 $+\ 155189248000000000000000000\zeta^{24} +\ 419430400000000000000000000\zeta^{25}).$ (2.5.22)

(2.5.20)

(2.5.21)

It follows that for $i \ge 1$,

$$U(q^{-1}\delta\zeta^{i-1}) = \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{5i+1} \beta_{i,j}\zeta^{j-1}$$
(2.5.23)

where

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{5i+1} \beta_{i,j} x^i y^j = \frac{N_\beta}{D'}$$
(2.5.24)

where

$$N_{\beta} = (5y + 660y^{2} + 14400y^{3} + 120000y^{4} + 448000y^{5} + 640000y^{6})x + (y + 680y^{2} + 14900y^{3} + 123200y^{4} + 456000y^{5} + 640000y^{6})x^{2} + (265y^{2} + 5785y^{3} + 47500y^{4} + 174000y^{5} + 240000y^{6})x^{3} + (46y^{2} + 1000y^{3} + 8150y^{4} + 29500y^{5} + 40000y^{6})x^{4} + (3y^{2} + 65y^{3} + 525y^{4} + 1875y^{5} + 2500y^{6})x^{5}$$
(2.5.25)

and D' is given in (2.5.9).

2.6 Proof of the First Part of Theorem 2.1.1

The first part of Theorem 2.1.1 follows by a simple induction from (2.3.1), (2.5.15) and (2.5.23), as we now demonstrate.

We know that (2.1.5) is true for $\alpha = 1$. Suppose (2.1.5) is true for some $\alpha \ge 1$. Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha-1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha}-1}{24}\right) q^n = \gamma \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha-1,i} \zeta^{i-1}.$$
 (2.6.1)

If we apply the operator U to (2.6.1) and use (2.5.15), we find

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D \left(5^{2\alpha-1}(5n) + \frac{5^{2\alpha}-1}{24} \right) q^n = \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha-1,i} U(\gamma \zeta^{i-1})$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha-1,i} \delta \sum_{j=1}^{5i} \alpha_{i,j} \zeta^{j-1}$$

$$= \delta \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1}-5)/24} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha-1,i} \alpha_{i,j} \right) \zeta^{j-1}$$
$$= \delta \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1}-5)/24} x_{2\alpha,j} \zeta^{j-1},$$

or,

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha} - 1}{24}\right) q^n = \delta \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1}-5)/24} x_{2\alpha,j} \zeta^{j-1},$$

which is (2.1.6).

Now suppose (2.1.6) is true for some $\alpha \ge 1$. Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha} - 1}{24}\right)q^{n-1} = q^{-1}\delta\sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1}-5)/24} x_{2\alpha,i}\zeta^{i-1}.$$
 (2.6.2)

If we apply the operator U to (2.6.2) and use (2.5.23), we find

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D \left(5^{2\alpha} (5n+1) + \frac{5^{2\alpha} - 1}{24} \right) q^n = \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1} - 5)/24} x_{2\alpha,i} U(q^{-1} \delta \zeta^{i-1})$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1} - 5)/24} x_{2\alpha,i} \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{5i+1} \beta_{i,j} \zeta^{j-1}$$
$$= \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+2} - 1)/24} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+1} - 5)/24} x_{2\alpha,i} \beta_{i,j} \right) \zeta^{j-1}$$
$$= \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+2} - 1)/24} x_{2\alpha+1,j} \zeta^{j-1},$$

or,

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_D\left(5^{2\alpha+1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha+2} - 1}{24}\right) q^n = \gamma \sum_{j=1}^{(5^{2\alpha+2}-1)/24} x_{2\alpha+1,j} \zeta^{j-1},$$

which is (2.1.5) with $\alpha + 1$ for α .

2.7 Proof of the Second Part of Theorem 2.1.1

Let $\nu(n)$ denote the (highest) power of 5 that divides n.

We prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.7.1.

$$\nu(\alpha_{i,j}) \ge \left\lfloor \frac{5j - i - 1}{6} \right\rfloor,\tag{2.7.1}$$

$$\nu(\beta_{i,j}) \ge \left\lfloor \frac{5j - i - 1}{6} \right\rfloor. \tag{2.7.2}$$

Proof. Let $\lambda_{i,j} = \nu(\alpha_{i,j}), \ \rho_{i,j} = \left\lfloor \frac{5j - i - 1}{6} \right\rfloor$.

Observe that from the recurrence (2.5.2), for $i, j \ge 6$,

$$\lambda_{i,j} \ge \min(\lambda_{i-1,j-1} + 1, \lambda_{i-1,j-2} + 2, \lambda_{i-1,j-3} + 3, \lambda_{i-1,j-4} + 4, \lambda_{i-1,j-5} + 4)$$

$$\lambda_{i-2,j-1} + 1, \lambda_{i-2,j-2} + 2, \lambda_{i-2,j-3} + 4, \lambda_{i-2,j-4} + 3, \lambda_{i-2,j-5} + 4,$$

$$\lambda_{i-3,j-1} + 1, \lambda_{i-3,j-2} + 3, \lambda_{i-3,j-3} + 2, \lambda_{i-3,j-4} + 3, \lambda_{i-3,j-5} + 4,$$

$$\lambda_{i-4,j-1} + 1, \lambda_{i-4,j-2} + 1, \lambda_{i-4,j-3} + 2, \lambda_{i-4,j-4} + 3, \lambda_{i-4,j-5} + 4,$$

$$\lambda_{i-5,j-1} + 0, \lambda_{i-5,j-2} + 1, \lambda_{i-5,j-3} + 2, \lambda_{i-5,j-4} + 3, \lambda_{i-5,j-5} + 4). \quad (2.7.3)$$

On the other hand,

$$\rho_{i,j} = \min(\rho_{i-1,j-1} + 1, \rho_{i-1,j-2} + 2, \rho_{i-1,j-3} + 3, \rho_{i-1,j-4} + 4, \rho_{i-1,j-5} + 4) \\
\rho_{i-2,j-1} + 1, \rho_{i-2,j-2} + 2, \rho_{i-2,j-3} + 4, \rho_{i-2,j-4} + 3, \rho_{i-2,j-5} + 4, \\
\rho_{i-3,j-1} + 1, \rho_{i-3,j-2} + 3, \rho_{i-3,j-3} + 2, \rho_{i-3,j-4} + 3, \rho_{i-3,j-5} + 4, \\
\rho_{i-4,j-1} + 1, \rho_{i-4,j-2} + 1, \rho_{i-4,j-3} + 2, \rho_{i-4,j-4} + 3, \rho_{i-4,j-5} + 4, \\
\rho_{i-5,j-1} + 0, \rho_{i-5,j-2} + 1, \rho_{i-5,j-3} + 2, \rho_{i-5,j-4} + 3, \rho_{i-5,j-5} + 4).$$
(2.7.4)

For, the right side of (2.7.4)

$$= \min\left(\left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+1}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+2}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5u-i+3}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+4}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i-1}{6}\right\rfloor\right]$$
$$\left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+2}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+3}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+3}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+10}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i-1}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{5j-i+1}{6}\right\rfloor, \left\lfloor\frac{$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+4}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i-1}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+1}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+3}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i-1}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+1}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+2}{6} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i+3}{6} \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5j-i-1}{6} \end{bmatrix} = \rho_{i,j}.$$

The values of $\lambda_{i,j} - \rho_{i,j}$ for $1 \le i \le 5$ and for $1 \le j \le 5$ are given in the following tables. Note that they are all non-negative. (We use \bullet for ∞ .)

(2.7.1) follows from (2.7.3)-(2.7.6) by induction.

The proof of (2.7.2) is essentially the same as that of (2.7.1). The boundary values are given by the following tables.

(2.7.8)

Theorem 2.7.2. For $\alpha \geq 0$,

$$\nu(x_{2\alpha+1,1}) \ge \alpha, \quad \nu(x_{2\alpha+1,i}) \ge \alpha + \left\lfloor \frac{5i-8}{6} \right\rfloor \text{ for } i \ge 2, \tag{2.7.9}$$

$$\nu(x_{2\alpha+2,i}) \ge \alpha + \left\lfloor \frac{5i-2}{6} \right\rfloor. \tag{2.7.10}$$

Proof. If we replace $\nu(A)$ by $\left(\left\lfloor\frac{5j-i-1}{6}\right\rfloor\right)_{i,j\geq 1}$ and $\nu(B)$ by $\left(\left\lfloor\frac{5j-i-1}{6}\right\rfloor\right)_{i,j\geq 1}$ with the exception $\nu(b_{1,1}) = 1$, and we start with $\nu(\mathbf{x}_1) = (0, \infty, \cdots)$, the results follow by induction.

This completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.1.

2.8 Calculations

We find that

$$\mathbf{x}_1 = (1, 0, \cdots),$$
 (2.8.1)

$$\mathbf{x}_2 = (1, 160, 2800, 16000, 32000, 0, \cdots),$$
 (2.8.2)

$$\mathbf{x}_{3} = (5 * 33, 2^{2} * 5 * 1039573, 2^{4} * 5^{2} * 84358511, 2^{6} * 5^{3} * 1519417629, 2^{8} * 5^{3} * 57468885219, 2^{10} * 5^{4} * 239126250621, 2^{20} * 5^{6} * 493702983, 2^{16} * 5^{7} * 57851635449, 2^{17} * 5^{8} * 155363323153, 2^{22} * 5^{8} * 99443868167, 2^{20} * 5^{9} * 1277863945093, 2^{23} * 5^{11} * 82117001559, 2^{24} * 5^{12} * 85675198911, 2^{29} * 5^{14} * 916288433, 2^{29} * 5^{13} * 32357578059, 2^{33} * 5^{14} * 2366343709, 2^{36} * 5^{16} * 57370733, 2^{37} * 5^{17} * 22998577, 2^{36} * 5^{18} * 30309607, 2^{38} * 5^{18} * 20313321, 2^{40} * 5^{19} * 2181069, 2^{43} * 5^{21} * 18319, 2^{48} * 5^{23} * 29, 2^{46} * 5^{22} * 521, 2^{49} * 5^{22} * 37, 2^{50} * 5^{23}, 0, \cdots),$$
(2.8.3)

in agreement with Baruah and Begum and

$$\nu(\mathbf{x}_1) = (0, \, \infty, \, \cdots \,), \tag{2.8.4}$$

$$\nu(\mathbf{x}_2) = (0, 1, 2, 3, 3, \infty, \cdots), \tag{2.8.5}$$

$$\nu(\mathbf{x}_3) = (1, 1, 2, 3, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 18, 19, 21, 23, 22, 22, 23, \infty, \cdots).$$
(2.8.6)

2.9 Proof of (2.4.3)

We provide a proof of (2.4.3). The proofs of (2.4.4)-(2.4.7), (2.5.10)-(2.5.14) and (2.5.18)-(2.5.22) are similar but lengthier.

We require the following results.

Lemma. Let

$$K = q^{-1} \frac{\chi(-q^5)^5}{\chi(-q)} = q^{-1} \frac{E(q^2)E(q^5)^5}{E(q)E(q^{10})^5}.$$
(2.9.1)

Then

$$\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} = \frac{4}{K},$$
(2.9.2)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)R(q^2)^2} - q^2 R(q)R(q^2)^2 = qK,$$
(2.9.3)

$$\frac{R(q)}{R(q^2)^3} + q^2 \frac{R(q^2)^3}{R(q)} = q\left(K - 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right),$$
(2.9.4)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2) = q\left(K + 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right),$$
(2.9.5)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2 R(q)^5 = q \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2} \right),$$
(2.9.6)

$$\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^7} + q^2 \frac{R(q)^7}{R(q^2)} = q \left(K + 6 + \frac{20}{K} + \frac{32}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3} \right),$$
(2.9.7)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^{10}} + q^4 R(q)^{10} = q^2 \left(K^2 + 8K + 34 + \frac{96}{K} + \frac{192}{K^2} + \frac{2546}{K^3} + \frac{256}{K^4} \right),$$
(2.9.8)

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^8 R(q^2)} - q^4 R(q)^8 R(q^2) = q^2 \left(K^2 + 6K + 20 + \frac{44}{K} + \frac{64}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3} \right),$$
(2.9.9)

$$\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^{12}} - q^4 \frac{R(q)^{12}}{R(q^2)} = q^2 \left(K^2 + 10K + 52 + \frac{180}{K} + \frac{448}{K^2} + \frac{832}{K^3} + \frac{1024}{K^4} + \frac{1024}{K^5} \right),$$
(2.9.10)

$$K + 1 = q^{-1} \frac{E(q^2)^4 E(q^5)^2}{E(q)^2 E(q^{10})^4},$$
(2.9.11)

$$1 - \frac{4}{K} = \frac{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^4}$$
(2.9.12)

and

$$\frac{1}{K-4} = \zeta. \tag{2.9.13}$$

Proofs of (2.9.2)–(2.9.5). (2.9.2) is (2.2.9), (2.9.3) is (2.2.11), (2.9.4) is (2.2.13) and (2.9.5) is (2.2.14).

Proof of (2.9.6).

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2 R(q^5) &= \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2)\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{R(q) R(q^2)^2} - q^2 R(q) R(q^2)^2\right) \\ &= \frac{4}{K} \cdot q \left(K + 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right) + qK \\ &= q \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Proof of (2.9.7).

$$\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^7} + q^2 \frac{R(q)^7}{R(q^2)} = \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2 R(q)^5\right) \\ + \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2)\right) \\ = \frac{4}{K} \cdot q \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2}\right) + q \left(K + 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right) \\ = q \left(K + 6 + \frac{20}{K} + \frac{32}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3}\right).$$

		-
L		
L		
L		
L		_

Proof of (2.9.8).

$$\frac{1}{R(q)^{10}} + q^4 R(q)^{10} = \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2 R(q)^5\right)^2 + 2q^2$$

= $q^2 \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2}\right)^2 + 2q^2$
= $q^2 \left(K^2 + 8K + 34 + \frac{96}{K} + \frac{192}{K^2} + \frac{2546}{K^3} + \frac{256}{K^4}\right).$

Proof of (2.9.9).

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{R(q)^8 R(q^2)} - q^4 R(q)^8 R(q^2) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2 R(q)^5\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^3 R(q^2)} + q^2 R(q)^3 R(q^2)\right) - q^2 \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \\ &= q \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2}\right) \cdot q \left(K + 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right) - q^2 \left(\frac{4}{K}\right) \\ &= q^2 \left(K^2 + 6K + 20 + \frac{44}{K} + \frac{64}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3}\right). \end{split}$$

Proof of (2.9.10).

$$\begin{split} \frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^{12}} &- q^4 \frac{R(q)^{12}}{R(q^2)} \\ &= \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^{10}} + q^4 R(q)^{10}\right) + \left(\frac{1}{R(q)^8 R(q^2)} - q^4 R(q)^8 R(q^2)\right) \\ &= \frac{4}{K} \cdot q^2 \left(K^2 + 8K + 34 + \frac{96}{K} + \frac{192}{K^2} + \frac{256}{K^3} + \frac{256}{K^3}\right) \\ &+ q^2 \left(K^2 + 6K + 20 + \frac{44}{K} + \frac{64}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3}\right) \\ &= q^2 \left(K^2 + 10K + 52 + \frac{180}{K} + \frac{448}{K^2} + \frac{832}{K^3} + \frac{1024}{K^4} + \frac{1024}{K^5}\right). \end{split}$$

Proof of (2.9.13).

$$K - 4 = K\left(1 - \frac{4}{K}\right) = q^{-1} \frac{E(q^2)E(q^5)^5}{E(q)E(q^{10})^5} \cdot \frac{E(q)^4 E(q^{10})^2}{E(q^2)^2 E(q^5)^4} = q^{-1} \frac{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3} = \frac{1}{\zeta},$$

from which the result follows.

Proof of (2.4.3). We start by noting that (2.4.3) is equivalent to

$$U(\zeta) = 41\zeta + 860\zeta^2 + 6800\zeta^3 + 24000\zeta^4 + 32000\zeta^5.$$
 (2.9.14)

We have

$$\begin{split} U(\zeta) &= U\left(q\frac{E(q^2)E(q^{10})^3}{E(q)^3E(q^5)}\right) \\ &= \frac{E(q^2)^3}{E(q)} U\left(qE(q^{50})\left(\frac{1}{R(q^{10})} - q^2 - q^4R(q^{10})\right)\right) \\ &\quad \times \left(\frac{E(q^{25})^5}{E(q^5)^6}\right)^3 \left(\frac{1}{R(q^5)^4} + \frac{q}{R(q^5)^3} + \frac{2q^2}{R(q^5)^2} + \frac{3q^3}{R(q^5)} + 5q^4 \right. \\ &\quad -3q^5R(q^5) + 2q^6R(q^5)^2 - q^7R(q^5)^3 + q^8R(q^5)^4\right)^3 \bigg) \\ &= \frac{E(q^2)^3E(q^5)^{15}E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}} \left(51q\left(\frac{1}{R(q)^8R(q^2)} - q^4R(q)^8R(q^2)\right) \right. \\ &\quad -9q\left(\frac{1}{R(q)^{10}} + q^4R(q)^{10}\right) - q\left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^{12}} - q^4\frac{R(q)^{12}}{R(q^2)}\right) \right. \\ &\quad +153q^2\left(\frac{1}{R(q)^3R(q^2)} + q^2R(q)^3R(q^2)\right) - 177q^2\left(\frac{1}{R(q)^5} - q^2R(q)^5\right) \\ &\quad -78q^2\left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^7} + q^2\frac{R(q)^7}{R(q^2)}\right) - 219q^3\left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) - 71q^3 \bigg) \\ &= \frac{E(q^2)^3E(q^5)^{15}E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}} \\ \times \left(51q \cdot q^2\left(K^2 + 6K + 20 + \frac{44}{K} + \frac{64}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3}\right) \\ &\quad -9q \cdot q^2\left(K^2 + 8K + 34 + \frac{96}{K} + \frac{192}{K^2} + \frac{256}{K^3} + \frac{256}{K^4}\right) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &-q \cdot q^2 \left(K^2 + 10K + 52 + \frac{180}{K} + \frac{448}{K^2} + \frac{832}{K^3} + \frac{1024}{K^4} + \frac{1024}{K^5}\right) \\ &+ 153q^2 \cdot q \left(K + 2 + \frac{4}{K}\right) - 177q^2 \cdot q \left(K + 4 + \frac{8}{K} + \frac{16}{K^2}\right) \\ &- 78q^2 \cdot q \left(K + 6 + \frac{20}{K} + \frac{32}{K^2} + \frac{64}{K^3}\right) - 219q^3 \left(\frac{4}{K}\right) - 71q^3\right) \\ &= q^3 \frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^{15} E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}} \\ &\times \frac{(K+1)^2(K-4)}{K^5} (41K^4 + 204K^3 + 416K^2 + 384K + 256) \\ &= q^3 \frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^{15} E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}} \cdot \frac{(K+1)^2(K-4)}{K^5} \\ &\times (41(K-4)^4 + 860(K-4)^3 + 6800(K-4)^2 + 24000(K-4) + 32000) \\ &= q^3 \frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^{15} E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}} \cdot \frac{(K+1)^2(K-4)^6}{K^5} \\ &\times \left(\frac{41}{K-4} + \frac{860}{(K-4)^2} + \frac{6800}{(K-4)^3} + \frac{24000}{(K-4)^4} + \frac{32000}{(K-4)^5}\right) \\ &= q^3 \left(\frac{E(q^2)^3 E(q^5)^{15} E(q^{10})}{E(q)^{19}}\right) \left(q^{-1} \frac{E(q^2)^4 E(q^5)^2}{E(q^{2})^2 E(q^{10})^4}\right)^2 \left(q^{-1} \frac{E(q)^3 E(q^5)}{E(q^{2}) E(q^{10})^3}\right)^6 \\ &\times \left(q \frac{E(q) E(q^{10})^5}{E(q^{2}) E(q^{5})^5}\right)^5 (41\zeta + 860\zeta^2 + 6800\zeta^3 + 24000\zeta^4 + 32000\zeta^5) \\ &= 41\zeta + 860\zeta^2 + 6800\zeta^3 + 24000\zeta^4 + 32000\zeta^5. \end{split}$$

2.10 Endnotes

Using a similar argument, I [56] obtained an elementary proof of an infinite family of congruences modulo powers of 5 for g(n) given by

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \frac{(q^2; q^2)_{\infty}^3}{(q; q)_{\infty}^2}.$$
(2.10.1)

Theorem 2.10.1. For $\alpha \ge 1$ and $n \ge 0$,

$$g\left(5^{2\alpha-1}n + \frac{5^{2\alpha}-1}{6}\right) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.10.2)

Further, g(n) is closely related to the number of 1-shell totally symmetric plane

partitions of n, denoted by s(n). As a consequence, we have the following result.

Theorem 2.10.2. For $\alpha \geq 1$ and $n \geq 0$,

$$s\left(2 \cdot 5^{2\alpha-1}n + 5^{2\alpha-1}\right) \equiv 0 \pmod{5^{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.10.3)

For a detailed description, see [56].

2.11 References

- [35] N. D. Baruah and N. M. Begum, Exact generating functions for the number of partitions into distinct parts, Int. J. Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 7, 1995–2011.
- [56] S. Chern, 1-Shell totally symmetric plane partitions (TSPPs) modulo powers of 5, Ramanujan J. 55 (2021), no. 2, 713–731.
- [64] S. Chern and M. D. Hirschhorn, Partitions into distinct parts modulo powers of 5, Ann. Comb. 23 (2019), no. 3-4, 659–682. Also in: George E. Andrews—80 Years of Combinatory Analysis, 305–328, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2021.
- [87] B. Gordon and K. Hughes, Ramanujan congruences for q(n), Analytic number theory (Philadelphia, Pa., 1980), pp. 333–359, Lecture Notes in Math., 899, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [98] M. D. Hirschhorn, The power of q. A personal journey, Developments in Mathematics, 49. Springer, Cham, 2017. xxii+415 pp.
- [100] M. D. Hirschhorn and D. C. Hunt, A simple proof of the Ramanujan conjecture for powers of 5, J. Reine Angew. Math. 326 (1981), 1–17.
- [150] S. Ramanujan, The lost notebook and other unpublished papers, Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, 1988.
- [154] Ø. Rødseth, Congruence properties of the partition functions q(n) and $q_0(n)$, Arbok Univ. Bergen Mat.-Natur. Ser. (1969), no. 13, 27 pp.
- [171] G. N. Watson, Ramanujans Vermutung über Zerfällungszahlen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 179 (1938), 97–128.

Chapter 3 Eta-quotient Representations and Rogers–Ramanujan Continued Fraction

This chapter comes from

• S. Chern and D. Tang, The Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction and related eta-quotient representations, *Bull. Aust. Math. Soc.* **103** (2021), no. 2, 248–259. (Ref. [66])

As one might have already seen from the previous chapter, in proceeding in the same manner with proofs of (2.4.4)-(2.4.7), (2.5.10)-(2.5.14) and (2.5.18)-(2.5.22), we encounter terms of the form

$$P(\alpha,\beta) := \frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}} + (-1)^{\alpha+\beta}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}$$
(3.0.1)

with $\alpha \geq 0$. Hence, it is necessary to take further investigation. But before moving forward, let us first review some background materials.

3.1 Background and Results

Recall that

$$R(q) = \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4 \\ q^2, q^3; q^5 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}$$
(3.1.1)

is indeed the infinite product form of the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction that was discovered by Rogers [155], independently by Ramanujan [149], and also independently by Schur [159]. In the literature, the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction often refers to the generalized continued fraction

$$\frac{q^{1/5}}{1} + \frac{q}{1} + \frac{q^2}{1} + \frac{q^3}{1} + \cdots,$$
but here we will discard the factor of $q^{1/5}$, that is, we define

$$R(q) := \frac{1}{1} + \frac{q}{1} + \frac{q^2}{1} + \frac{q^3}{1} + \cdots$$

It is known (see, for example, [98, p. 145]) that (3.1.1) holds.

In the past, modular equations for the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction have been studied extensively by many mathematicians, including Rogers and Ramanujan themselves [20, 149, 150, 157, 170]. For example, [98, (40.1.10)] states that

$$\left(R(q^2) - R(q)^2\right)\left(1 + qR(q)R(q^2)^2\right) = 2qR(q)R(q^2)^3 \tag{3.1.2}$$

and [98, (40.1.12)] states that

$$\left(R(q^3) - R(q)^3\right)\left(1 + q^2 R(q) R(q^3)^3\right) = 3q R(q)^2 R(q^3)^2.$$
(3.1.3)

Now let us turn our attention to $P(\alpha, \beta)$ defined in (3.0.1) for $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let K be as in (2.9.1), namely,

$$K = q^{-1} \frac{(q^2; q^2)_{\infty}(q^5; q^5)_{\infty}^5}{(q; q)_{\infty}(q^{10}; q^{10})_{\infty}^5}.$$
(3.1.4)

Then the following recurrence relations hold:

$$P(\alpha, \beta + 1) = 4K^{-1}P(\alpha, \beta) + P(\alpha, \beta - 1)$$
(3.1.5)

and

$$P(\alpha + 2, \beta) = KP(\alpha + 1, \beta) + P(\alpha, \beta).$$
(3.1.6)

We also have initial values:

$$P(0,0) = 2, (3.1.7)$$

$$P(0,1) = \frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} = 4K^{-1},$$
(3.1.8)

$$P(1,0) = \frac{1}{qR(q)R(q^2)^2} - qR(q)R(q^2)^2 = K$$
(3.1.9)

and

$$P(1,-1) = \frac{R(q)}{qR(q^2)^3} + \frac{qR(q^2)^3}{R(q)} = 4K^{-1} - 2 + K.$$
(3.1.10)

Interestingly, we also have an analog with $R(q^3)$ involved. Let us define, for $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$Q(\alpha,\beta) := \frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^3)^{\alpha-\beta}} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^3)^{\alpha-\beta}.$$
 (3.1.11)

Theorem 3.1.2. Let

$$S = q^{-2} \frac{(q;q)^3_{\infty}(q^3;q^3)^3_{\infty}}{(q^5;q^5)^3_{\infty}(q^{15};q^{15})^3_{\infty}}$$
(3.1.12)

and

$$T = q^{-2} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_{\infty} (q^5; q^5)_{\infty}^5}{(q; q)_{\infty} (q^{15}; q^{15})_{\infty}^5}.$$
(3.1.13)

Then the following recurrence relations hold:

$$Q(\alpha, \beta + 1) = (2 + 9T^{-1})Q(\alpha, \beta) - Q(\alpha, \beta - 1)$$
(3.1.14)

and

$$Q(\alpha+2,\beta) = \left(-\frac{1}{4}S + \frac{9}{4}T^{-1} + \frac{1}{4}T + \frac{3}{2}\right)Q(\alpha+1,\beta) + Q(\alpha,\beta).$$
(3.1.15)

We also have initial values:

$$Q(0,0) = 2, (3.1.16)$$

$$Q(0,1) = \frac{R(q^3)}{R(q)^3} + \frac{R(q)^3}{R(q^3)} = 2 + 9T^{-1},$$
(3.1.17)

$$Q(1,0) = \frac{1}{qR(q)^2 R(q^3)} - qR(q)^2 R(q^3) = -\frac{1}{4}S + \frac{9}{4}T^{-1} + \frac{1}{4}T + \frac{3}{2}$$
(3.1.18)

and

$$Q(1,-1) = \frac{R(q)}{qR(q^3)^2} - \frac{qR(q^3)^2}{R(q)} = -\frac{1}{4}S + \frac{9}{4}T^{-1} + \frac{1}{4}T - \frac{3}{2}.$$
 (3.1.19)

Remark 3.1.1. Let us take a look at the initial values in Theorems 3.1.1 and 3.1.2. We find that (3.1.8) is (2.2.9), (3.1.9) is (2.2.11) and (3.1.10) is (2.2.13). Also, (3.1.17) is due to Gugg [91]. However, the two complicated identities (3.1.18) and (3.1.19) appear to be novel.

Remark 3.1.2. It follows from (3.1.16), (3.1.17) and the recurrence relation (3.1.14) that

$$Q(0,-1) = \frac{R(q)^3}{R(q^3)} + \frac{R(q^3)}{R(q)^3} = 2 + 9T^{-1}.$$
(3.1.20)

Also, Gugg [91, Theorem 5.1] proved that

$$Q(2,-1) = \frac{1}{q^2 R(q) R(q^3)^3} + q^2 R(q) R(q^3)^3 = -2 + T.$$
(3.1.21)

Therefore, we deduce from (3.1.18)–(3.1.21) and (3.1.15) the following relation between S and T.

Corollary 3.1.3. We have

$$81 + 144T + 46T^2 - 16T^3 + T^4 - 18ST - 2ST^3 + S^2T^2 = 0.$$
 (3.1.22)

It follows from (3.1.7) and (3.1.8) together with the recurrence relation (3.1.5) that for each $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, we can represent $P(0,\beta)$ in terms of K. Likewise, we have similar representations for $P(1,\beta)$ for each $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$. Finally, the recurrence relation (3.1.6) reveals that for each $\alpha \geq 2$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have $P(\alpha,\beta) \in \mathbb{Z}[K, K^{-1}]$. In Table 3.1, we list the representations of $P(\alpha,\beta)$ in terms of K with $0 \leq \alpha \leq 2$ and $-3 \leq \beta \leq 3$. Similar arguments can be applied to $Q(\alpha,\beta)$ to show that for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, $Q(\alpha,\beta) \in \mathbb{Q}[S,T,T^{-1}]$. Since the representations of $Q(\alpha,\beta)$ are much lengthier, we will not list them concretely like Table 3.1.

Let \mathbb{H} be the upper half complex plane, and put $\mathbb{H}^* := \mathbb{H} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$. For any positive integer N, let $\Gamma_0(N)$ be the Hecke congruence subgroup of level N defined by

$$\Gamma_0(N) := \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \ c \equiv 0 \pmod{N} \right\}.$$

Let $K_0(N)$ be the field of meromorphic functions on the compact Riemann surface $\Gamma_0(N) \setminus \mathbb{H}^*$. It follows from Newman [135] that K is in $K_0(10)$, and S and T are both in $K_0(15)$. Hence, we have the following results.

β	0	1
-3	$-64K^{-3} - 12K^{-1}$	$64K^{-3} - 32K^{-2} + 20K^{-1} - 6 + K$
-2	$16K^{-2} + 2$	$-16K^{-2} + 8K^{-1} - 4 + K$
-1	$-4K^{-1}$	$4K^{-1} - 2 + K$
0	2	K
1	$4K^{-1}$	$4K^{-1} + 2 + K$
2	$16K^{-2} + 2$	$16K^{-2} + 8K^{-1} + 4 + K$
3	$64K^{-3} + 12K^{-1}$	$64K^{-3} + 32K^{-2} + 20K^{-1} + 6 + K$

Table 3.1. Representations of $P(\alpha, \beta)$ in $\mathbb{Z}[K, K^{-1}]$

β α	2
-3	$-64K^{-3}+64K^{-2}-44K^{-1}+20-6K+K^2$
-2	$16K^{-2} - 16K^{-1} + 10 - 4K + K^2$
-1	$-4K^{-1} + 4 - 2K + K^2$
0	$2 + K^2$
1	$4K^{-1} + 4 + 2K + K^2$
2	$16K^{-2} + 16K^{-1} + 10 + 4K + K^2$
3	$64K^{-3} + 64K^{-2} + 44K^{-1} + 20 + 6K + K^2$

Corollary 3.1.4. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, $P(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{Z}[K, K^{-1}]$ and hence $P(\alpha, \beta) \in K_0(10)$.

Corollary 3.1.5. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$, $Q(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{Q}[S, T, T^{-1}]$ and hence $Q(\alpha, \beta) \in K_0(15)$.

3.2 **Proofs of the Recurrences**

We shall prove the following identities, from which the recurrence relations (3.1.5), (3.1.6), (3.1.14) and (3.1.15) follow immediately.

$$P(\alpha, \beta)P(0, 1) = P(\alpha, \beta + 1) - P(\alpha, \beta - 1), \qquad (3.2.1)$$

$$P(\alpha + 1, \beta)P(1, 0) = P(\alpha + 2, \beta) - P(\alpha, \beta),$$
(3.2.2)

$$Q(\alpha, \beta)Q(0, 1) = Q(\alpha, \beta + 1) + Q(\alpha, \beta - 1)$$
(3.2.3)

and

$$Q(\alpha + 1, \beta)Q(1, 0) = Q(\alpha + 2, \beta) - Q(\alpha, \beta).$$
(3.2.4)

Proof of (3.2.1) and (3.2.2). It follows from (2.9.1) that

$$\begin{split} P(\alpha,\beta)P(0,1) &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}} + (-1)^{\alpha+\beta}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}\right) \left(\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2} - \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q)^2}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}} \frac{R(q^2)}{R(q^2)} - (-1)^{\alpha+\beta}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}\frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)}\right) \\ &- \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}} \frac{R(q)^2}{R(q^2)} - (-1)^{\alpha+\beta}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2\beta}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-\beta}\frac{R(q^2)}{R(q)^2}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2(\beta+1)}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-(\beta+1)}} + (-1)^{\alpha+(\beta+1)}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2(\beta+1)}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-(\beta+1)}\right) \\ &- \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2(\beta-1)}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-(\beta-1)}} + (-1)^{\alpha+(\beta-1)}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{\alpha+2(\beta-1)}R(q^2)^{2\alpha-(\beta-1)}\right) \\ &= P(\alpha,\beta+1) - P(\alpha,\beta-1). \end{split}$$

This is (3.2.1). Also, (3.2.2) follows by a similar argument.

Proof of (3.2.3) and (3.2.4). It follows from (3.1.11) that

$$\begin{split} Q(\alpha,\beta)Q(0,1) &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta}} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta}\right) \left(\frac{R(q^{3})}{R(q)^{3}} + \frac{R(q)^{3}}{R(q^{3})}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta}} \frac{R(q^{3})}{R(q)^{3}} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta} \frac{R(q)^{3}}{R(q^{3})}\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta}} \frac{R(q)^{3}}{R(q^{3})} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3\beta}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-\beta} \frac{R(q^{3})}{R(q)^{3}}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3(\beta+1)}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-(\beta+1)}} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3(\beta+1)}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-(\beta+1)}\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{1}{q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3(\beta-1)}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-(\beta-1)}} + (-1)^{\alpha}q^{\alpha}R(q)^{2\alpha+3(\beta-1)}R(q^{3})^{\alpha-(\beta-1)}\right) \\ &= Q(\alpha,\beta+1) + Q(\alpha,\beta-1). \end{split}$$

This is (3.2.3). Likewise, one may derive (3.2.4).

3.3 Proofs of (3.1.18) and (3.1.19)

As we have seen in Remark 3.1.1, the only (and true!) difficulty is proving (3.1.18) and (3.1.19). Let us begin with an interesting relation between Q(1,0) and Q(1,-1).

Lemma 3.3.1. We have

$$Q(1,0) - Q(1,-1) = \left(\frac{1}{qR(q)^2 R(q^3)} - qR(q)^2 R(q^3)\right) - \left(\frac{R(q)}{qR(q^3)^2} - \frac{qR(q^3)^2}{R(q)}\right) = 3.$$
(3.3.1)

Proof. Notice that

LHS of (3.3.1) =
$$\frac{\left(R(q^3) - R(q)^3\right)\left(1 + q^2 R(q) R(q^3)^3\right)}{qR(q)^2 R(q^3)^2} = 3$$

in the last identity of which we use the modular equation (3.1.3). Therefore, (3.3.1) follows. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma 3.3.1 implies that if one of (3.1.18) and (3.1.19) is proved, then the other follows automatically.

Now recall that $K_0(N)$ is the field of meromorphic functions on the compact Riemann surface $\Gamma_0(N) \setminus \mathbb{H}^*$. Further, the *U*-operator is defined in (2.5.1). A standard result [25, pp. 80–82] states that for any positive integer N, if $f \in K_0(5N)$, we have $U(f) \in K_0(N)$.

Our proof of (3.1.18) relies on a surprisingly neat 5-dissection identity as follows.

Lemma 3.3.2. We have

$$U\left(\frac{E(q^3)^2}{E(q)}\right) = \frac{E(q^3)^3 E(q^5)^2}{E(q)^3 E(q^{15})}.$$
(3.3.2)

Proof. It follows from Newman [135] that

$$q^{-1} \frac{E(q^3)^3 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^{15})^3} \in K_0(15)$$

and

$$q^{-5} \frac{E(q^3)^2 E(q^{25})}{E(q) E(q^{75})^2} \in K_0(75).$$

If we compare the Fourier expansions of

$$q^{-1} \frac{E(q^3)^3 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^{15})^3}$$
 and $U\left(q^{-5} \frac{E(q^3)^2 E(q^{25})}{E(q) E(q^{75})^2}\right)$,

which are both in $K_0(15)$, it can be observed that

$$U\left(q^{-5}\frac{E(q^3)^2 E(q^{25})}{E(q)E(q^{75})^2}\right) = q^{-1}\frac{E(q^3)^3 E(q^5)^3}{E(q)^3 E(q^{15})^3},$$

from which (3.3.2) follows.

Now we move to prove (3.1.18). It follows from the 5-dissection identities for E(q) and 1/E(q), namely, (2.2.1) and (2.2.2), that

$$\begin{split} \frac{E(q^3)^2}{E(q)} &= \frac{E(q^{25})^5 E(q^{75})^2}{E(q^5)^6} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{R(q^5)^4} + \frac{q}{R(q^5)^3} + \frac{2q^2}{R(q^5)^2} + \frac{3q^3}{R(q^5)} + 5q^4 \\ &- 3q^5 R(q^5) + 2q^6 R(q^5)^2 - q^7 R(q^5)^3 + q^8 R(q^5)^4\right) \left(\frac{1}{R(q^{15})} - q^3 - q^6 R(q^{15})\right)^2, \end{split}$$

from which we extract

$$\begin{split} U\left(\frac{E(q^3)^2}{E(q)}\right) &= \frac{q^2 E(q^5)^5 E(q^{15})^2}{E(q)^6} \left(\left(\frac{1}{q^2 R(q)^4 R(q^3)^2} + q^2 R(q)^4 R(q^3)^2 \right) \right. \\ &\quad - 4 \left(\frac{1}{q R(q)^2 R(q^3)} - q R(q)^2 R(q^3) \right) - 3 \left(\frac{R(q)}{q R(q^3)^2} - \frac{q R(q^3)^2}{R(q)} \right) \\ &\quad + 2 \left(\frac{R(q^3)}{R(q)^3} + \frac{R(q)^3}{R(q^3)} \right) - 5 \right). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\frac{E(q^3)^3 E(q^5)^2}{E(q)^3 E(q^{15})} = \frac{q^2 E(q^5)^5 E(q^{15})^2}{E(q)^6} \Big(Q(2,0) - 4Q(1,0) - 3Q(1,-1) + 2Q(0,1) - 5 \Big),$$

that is,

$$S = Q(2,0) - 4Q(1,0) - 3Q(1,-1) + 2Q(0,1) - 5.$$

It follows from (3.2.4) and (3.1.16) that

$$Q(2,0) = Q(1,0)^2 + Q(0,0) = Q(1,0)^2 + 2$$

and from (3.2.4) and (3.1.21) that

$$Q(1,-1)Q(1,0) = Q(2,-1) - Q(0,-1) = -9T^{-1} - 4 + T.$$

Also, (3.3.1) states that

$$Q(1,0) - Q(1,-1) = 3.$$

Therefore,

$$S = (Q(1,0)^{2} + 2) - 4Q(1,0) - 3Q(1,-1) + 2Q(0,1) - 5$$

= $Q(1,0)(Q(1,-1) + 3) - 4Q(1,0) - 3(Q(1,0) - 3) + 2Q(0,1) - 3$
= $-4Q(1,0) + Q(1,0)Q(1,-1) + 2Q(0,1) + 6$
= $-4Q(1,0) + (-9T^{-1} - 4 + T) + 2(2 + 9T^{-1}) + 6$
= $-4Q(1,0) + 9T^{-1} + 6 + T$,

from which (3.1.18) follows. Further, (3.1.19) follows from (3.1.18) and (3.3.1).

3.4 Endnotes

Mike Hirschhorn emailed me on Aug 28, 2019 with a beautiful bivariate generating function identity:

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\geq 0} P(\alpha,\beta)x^{\alpha}y^{\beta} = \frac{2-Kx-4K^{-1}y+(K+2+4K^{-1})xy}{(1-Kx-x^2)(1-4K^{-1}y-y^2)}$$
(3.4.1)

where K is as in (2.9.1). Analogously, one could obtain

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta\geq 0} P(\alpha,-\beta)x^{\alpha}y^{\beta} = \frac{2-Kx+4K^{-1}y+(K-2+4K^{-1})xy}{(1-Kx-x^2)(1+4K^{-1}y-y^2)}.$$
(3.4.2)

A direct application of the "series expansion" command in most computer algebra systems such as *Mathematica* to the above relations makes it easier to find the expression of $P(\alpha, \beta)$; see the discussion in [56, §2.1].

3.5 References

- [20] G. E. Andrews, B. C. Berndt, L. Jacobsen, and R. L. Lamphere, The continued fractions found in the unorganized portions of Ramanujan's notebooks, *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* **99** (1992), no. 477, vi+71 pp.
- [25] T. M. Apostol, Modular functions and Dirichlet series in number theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 41, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. x+198 pp.
- [56] S. Chern, 1-Shell totally symmetric plane partitions (TSPPs) modulo powers of 5, Ramanujan J. 55 (2021), no. 2, 713–731.
- [66] S. Chern and D. Tang, The Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction and related eta-quotient representations, Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. 103 (2021), no. 2, 248–259.
- [91] C. Gugg, Modular equations for cubes of the Rogers-Ramanujan and Ramanujan-Göllnitz-Gordon functions and their associated continued fractions, J. Number Theory 132 (2012), no. 7, 1519–1553.
- [98] M. D. Hirschhorn, The power of q. A personal journey, Developments in Mathematics, 49. Springer, Cham, 2017. xxii+415 pp.
- [135] M. Newman, Construction and application of a class of modular functions. II, Proc. London Math. Soc. 9 (1959), no. 3, 373–387.
- [149] S. Ramanujan, Notebooks, Vol. II, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay 1957. Reprinted by Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [150] S. Ramanujan, The lost notebook and other unpublished papers, Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, 1988.
- [155] L. J. Rogers, Second memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 25 (1894), 318–343.
- [157] L. J. Rogers, On a type of modular relation, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 19 (1921), no. 5, 387–397.
- [159] I. J. Schur, Ein Beitrag zur additiven Zahlentheorie und zur Theorie der Kettenbrüche, Berliner Sitzungsberichte 23 (1917), 301–321.

[170] G. N. Watson, Theorems stated by Ramanujan (VII): theorems on continued fractions, J. London Math. Soc. 4 (1929), no. 1, 39–48.

Part II | Identities

Outline

- Chapter 4 is devoted to weighted partition rank and crank moments that are closely related to Andrews–Beck type congruences.
- Chapter 5 is devoted to partitions with bounded part differences in which both analytic and combinatorial aspects will be discussed.
- Chapters 6–8 are devoted to a general theory of span one linked partition ideals.
- Chapter 9 is devoted to analytic identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type based on basic hypergeometric transformation formulas.

Chapter 4 Veighted Partition Rank and Crank Moments

This chapter comes from

- S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. I. Andrews–Beck type congruences, to appear in *Proceedings of the Conference in Honor of Bruce Berndt*. (Ref. [58])
- S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. II. Odd-order moments, to appear in *Ramanujan J.* (Ref. [59])
- S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. III. A list of Andrews–Beck type congruences modulo 5, 7, 11 and 13, to appear in *Int. J. Number Theory.* (Ref. [60])

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Rank and Crank of an Integer Partition

Let us first recall the definition of rank and crank of an integer partition λ . We use $\sharp(\lambda)$, $\omega(\lambda)$ and $\ell(\lambda)$ to denote the number of parts in λ , the number of ones in λ and the largest part in λ , respectively.

The rank of λ is defined by Dyson [76]:

$$\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) := \ell(\lambda) - \sharp(\lambda),$$

namely, the largest part minus the number of parts in λ . On the other hand, Andrews and Garvan [23] defined the crank of a partition λ by

$$\operatorname{crank}(\lambda) := \begin{cases} \ell(\lambda) & \text{if } \omega(\lambda) = 0, \\ \mu(\lambda) - \omega(\lambda) & \text{if } \omega(\lambda) > 0, \end{cases}$$

where $\mu(\lambda)$ denotes the number of parts in λ larger than $\omega(\lambda)$.

The two partition statistics were introduced to combinatorially interpret Ramanujan's celebrated congruences:

$$p(5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5},$$
 (4.1.1)

$$p(7n+5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}$$
 (4.1.2)

and

$$p(11n+6) \equiv 0 \pmod{11}.$$
 (4.1.3)

Now let N(m, n) (resp. M(m, n)) count the number of partitions of n whose rank (resp. crank) is m. Further, we shall put M(-1, 1) = -M(0, 1) = M(1, 1) = 1 and M(m, 1) = 0 otherwise.

4.1.2 Ordinary and Symmetrized Rank and Crank Moments

In general, there are two types of rank and crank moments attracting broad research interest. The first type, which is due to Atkin and Garvan [29], is the most natural. Let us define k-th ordinary rank and crank moments respectively by

$$N_k(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} m^k N(m, n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \operatorname{rank}^k(\lambda)$$
(4.1.4)

and

$$M_k(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} m^k M(m,n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \operatorname{crank}^k(\lambda).$$
(4.1.5)

In light of the symmetry property that N(m, n) = N(-m, n) and M(m, n) = M(-m, n), we see that the odd order moments are all zero. For the even order moments, Atkin and Garvan [29] showed that the generating functions of $M_k(n)$ are related to quasimodular forms, while Bringmann, Garvan and Mahlburg [42] showed that the generating functions of $N_k(n)$ are related to quasimock theta functions.

On the other hand, Andrews [14] defined the k-th symmetrized rank moment by

$$\eta_k(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \binom{m + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k} N(m,n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k}.$$
(4.1.6)

As a crank analog, Garvan [82] defined the k-th symmetrized crank moment by

$$\mu_k(n) := \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \binom{m + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k} M(m,n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \binom{\operatorname{crank}(\lambda) + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k}.$$
(4.1.7)

It was shown that $\eta_k(n) = \mu_k(n) = 0$ when k is odd. Further, the generating functions of the even order symmetrized moments $\eta_{2k}(n)$ and $\mu_{2k}(n)$ can be nicely formulated (cf. [14,82]):

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \eta_{2k}(n)q^n = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n-1)/2+kn} \frac{1+q^n}{(1-q^n)^{2k}}$$
(4.1.8)

and

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \mu_{2k}(n)q^n = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n-1)/2+kn} \frac{1+q^n}{(1-q^n)^{2k}}.$$
(4.1.9)

4.1.3 Main Results

Recall that \mathcal{P} denotes the set of integer partitions. Parallel to (4.1.4), (4.1.5), (4.1.6) and (4.1.7), we define the weighted k-th ordinary and symmetrized rank and crank moments by

$$N_k^{\sharp}(n) := \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}^k(\lambda), \qquad (4.1.10)$$

$$M_k^{\omega}(n) := \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}^k(\lambda), \qquad (4.1.11)$$

$$\eta_k^{\sharp}(n) := \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k}$$
(4.1.12)

and

$$\mu_k^{\omega}(n) := \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \binom{\operatorname{crank}(\lambda) + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k}.$$
(4.1.13)

For the weighted rank moments, we have relations as follows.

Theorem 4.1.1. Let k be a positive integer. We have

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} N_{2k-1}^{\sharp}(n)q^n = -\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} \frac{P_{2k}(q^n)}{(1-q^n)^{2k}},$$
(4.1.14)

where $P_k(u)$ is defined recursively by $P_1(u) = 1$ and for $k \ge 1$,

$$P_{k+1}(u) = \left(1 - u + (k+1)u\right)P_k(u) + \left(u - u^2\right)P'_k(u), \qquad (4.1.15)$$

where $P_k'(u)$ as usual denotes $dP_k(u)/du$. In particular,

$$N_{2k-1}^{\sharp}(n) = -\frac{1}{2}N_{2k}(n). \tag{4.1.16}$$

Remark 4.1.1. It is worth pointing out that the polynomials $P_k(u)$ satisfy the exponential generating function

$$\mathscr{P}(u,t) := \sum_{k \ge 1} P_k(u) \frac{t^k}{k!} = -\frac{e^{ut} - e^t}{e^{ut} - ue^t}.$$
(4.1.17)

To see this, we translate the recurrence (4.1.15) into the functional equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mathscr{P}(u,t) - 1 = \mathscr{P}(u,t) + ut \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\mathscr{P}(u,t) + \left(u - u^2\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \mathscr{P}(u,t).$$

Solving the above PDE with the boundary condition $\mathscr{P}(u,0) = 0$ yields (4.1.17).

Theorem 4.1.2. Let k be a positive integer. We have

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \eta_{2k-1}^{\sharp}(n)q^n = -\frac{k}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n-1)/2+kn} \frac{1+q^n}{(1-q^n)^{2k}}.$$
(4.1.18)

In particular,

$$\eta_{2k-1}^{\sharp}(n) = -k \cdot \eta_{2k}(n). \tag{4.1.19}$$

We also have crank analogs.

Theorem 4.1.3. Let k be a positive integer. We have

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} M_{2k-1}^{\omega}(n)q^n = -\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)/2} \frac{P_{2k}(q^n)}{(1-q^n)^{2k}},$$
(4.1.20)

where $P_k(u)$ is as in Theorem 4.1.1. In particular,

$$M_{2k-1}^{\omega}(n) = -\frac{1}{2}M_{2k}(n).$$
(4.1.21)

Theorem 4.1.4. Let k be a positive integer. We have

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \mu_{2k-1}^{\omega}(n)q^n = -\frac{k}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n-1)/2+kn} \frac{1+q^n}{(1-q^n)^{2k}}.$$
(4.1.22)

In particular,

$$\mu_{2k-1}^{\omega}(n) = -k \cdot \mu_{2k}(n). \tag{4.1.23}$$

4.2 Warm-up: The First Moment

Let us warm up with the first moment case.

Theorem 4.2.1. We have

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} = -\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q;q)_n^2} \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{q^m}{(1-q^m)^2}.$$
 (4.2.1)

It follows that

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2} N_2(n).$$
(4.2.2)

Remark 4.2.1. It is worth pointing out that the following generating function identity for $N_2(n)$ is used most frequently.

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} N_2(n)q^n = -\frac{2}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{(-1)^n q^{n(3n+1)/2}(1+q^n)}{(1-q^n)^2}.$$

See Eq. (3.4) in [15].

Proof. Recall that it was shown in [18] that

$$\mathcal{N}(x,z;q) := \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} z^{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda)} q^n = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{x^n q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (xq/z;q)_n}.$$
(4.2.3)

We first apply the operator $[\partial/\partial x]_{x=1}$ to (4.2.3).

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} & \sharp(\lambda) z^{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda)} q^n \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 0} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{x^n q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (xq/z;q)_n} \right]_{x=1} \end{split}$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 0} \left[\frac{x^n q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (xq/z;q)_n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \log\left(\frac{x^n}{(xq/z;q)_n}\right) \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(n\log x - \sum_{m=1}^n \log(1 - xq^m/z) \right) \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n} \left[\frac{n}{x} + \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{q^m}{z - xq^m} \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n} \left(n + \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{q^m}{z - q^m} \right).$$
(4.2.4)

We next make the following easy observation: for any $n \ge 1$ where n can also be ∞ ,

$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\log\left(\frac{1}{(zq;q)_n(q/z;q)_n}\right)\right]_{z=1} = \left[\sum_{m=1}^n \left(\frac{q^m}{1-zq^m} + \frac{q^m}{zq^m-z^2}\right)\right]_{z=1} = 0.$$
(4.2.5)

Applying the operator $[\partial/\partial z]_{z=1}$ to (4.2.4) and using (4.2.5) yields

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} & \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) q^{n} \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 1} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{q^{n^{2}}}{(zq;q)_{n}(q/z;q)_{n}} \left(n + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{q^{m}}{z - q^{m}} \right) \right]_{z=1} \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 1} \left[\frac{nq^{n^{2}}}{(zq;q)_{n}(q/z;q)_{n}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \log \left(\frac{1}{(zq;q)_{n}(q/z;q)_{n}} \right) \right]_{z=1} \\ &+ \sum_{n\geq 1} \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left[\frac{q^{n^{2}}}{(zq;q)_{n}(q/z;q)_{n}} \frac{q^{m}}{z - q^{m}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \log \left(\frac{1}{(zq;q)_{n}(q/z;q)_{n}(z - q^{m})} \right) \right]_{z=1} \\ &= -\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{q^{n^{2}}}{(q;q)_{n}^{2}} \sum_{m=1}^{n} \frac{q^{m}}{(1 - q^{m})^{2}}. \end{split}$$
(4.2.6)

This is the first part of Theorem 4.2.1.

If one applies the operator $\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\left(z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right)\right]_{z=1}$ to the generating function

$$\sum_{n\geq 0}\sum_{\lambda\vdash n} z^{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda)} q^n = \sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n},$$

then one shall find that

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} N_2(n) q^n = \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \operatorname{rank}(\lambda)^2 q^n$$

$$= \sum_{n\geq 0} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$

= $\sum_{n\geq 0} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{zq^{n^2}}{(zq;q)_n (q/z;q)_n} \sum_{m=1}^n \left(\frac{q^m}{1-zq^m} + \frac{q^m}{zq^m-z^2} \right) \right]_{z=1}$
= $2 \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q;q)_n^2} \sum_{m=1}^n \frac{q^m}{(1-q^m)^2}.$ (4.2.7)

This combining with (4.2.6) gives the second part of Theorem 4.2.1.

Theorem 4.2.2. We have

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} = -\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2}.$$
(4.2.8)

It follows that

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2} M_2(n).$$
(4.2.9)

Remark 4.2.2. It was shown by means of a relation due to Dyson [77] that

$$M_2(n) = 2np(n).$$

It turns out that

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}(\lambda) = -np(n).$$
(4.2.10)

Proof. As in [23], we have

$$\mathcal{M}(x,z;q) := \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} x^{\omega(\lambda)} z^{\operatorname{crank}(\lambda)} q^n = \frac{1-q}{(zq;q)_{\infty}} + \sum_{j\geq 1} \frac{x^j q^j z^{-j}}{(q^2;q)_{j-1}(zq^{j+1};q)_{\infty}}$$
$$= \frac{1-q}{(zq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{j\geq 0} \frac{(zq;q)_j}{(q;q)_j} \left(\frac{xq}{z}\right)^j$$
$$= \frac{(1-q)(xq^2;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}}.$$
(4.2.11)

Here in the last identity we use the q-binomial theorem (see Theorem 2.1 in [12]):

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{(a;q)_n t^n}{(q;q)_n} = \frac{(at;q)_\infty}{(t;q)_\infty}.$$

If we take x = 1 in (4.2.11), then we recover the bivariate generating function in [23].

Now we apply the operator $[\partial/\partial x]_{x=1}$ to (4.2.11).

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} \omega(\lambda) z^{\operatorname{crank}(\lambda)} q^{n}$$

$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{(1-q)(xq^{2};q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}} \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \left[\frac{(1-q)(xq^{2};q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \log\left(\frac{(xq^{2};q)_{\infty}}{(xq/z;q)_{\infty}}\right) \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(q/z;q)_{\infty}} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \sum_{n\geq 1} \left(\log(1-xq^{n+1}) - \log(1-xq^{n}/z) \right) \right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(q/z;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} \left(-\frac{q^{n+1}}{1-q^{n+1}} + \frac{q^{n}/z}{1-q^{n}/z} \right). \quad (4.2.12)$$

We then apply the operator $[\partial/\partial z]_{z=1}$ to (4.2.12) and use (4.2.5) to deduce

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}(\lambda) q^n \\ &= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(q/z;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} \left(-\frac{q^{n+1}}{1-q^{n+1}} + \frac{q^n/z}{1-q^n/z} \right) \right]_{z=1} \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 1} \left[\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(q/z;q)_{\infty}} \cdot \frac{q^n/z}{1-q^n/z} \cdot \frac{1}{q^n-z} \right]_{z=1} \\ &= -\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{q^n}{(1-q^n)^2}. \end{split}$$
(4.2.13)

To prove the second part of Theorem 4.2.2, we apply the operator $\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\left(z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right)\right]_{z=1}$ to the generating function

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} z^{\operatorname{crank}(\lambda)} q^n = \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty} (q/z;q)_{\infty}}.$$

Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} M_2(n)q^n = \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{\lambda\vdash n} \operatorname{crank}(\lambda)^2 q^n$$
$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{(q;q)_\infty}{(zq;q)_\infty (q/z;q)_\infty} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$
$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{z(q;q)_\infty}{(zq;q)_\infty (q/z;q)_\infty} \sum_{m\geq 1} \left(\frac{q^m}{1-zq^m} + \frac{q^m}{zq^m-z^2} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$

$$= \frac{2}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{q^m}{(1-q^m)^2}.$$
(4.2.14)

This combining with (4.2.13) gives the second part of Theorem 4.2.2.

Finally, let spt(n) denote the total number of appearances of the smallest parts in all of the partitions of n. In [15], it was shown that

$$\operatorname{spt}(n) = \frac{1}{2}M_2(n) - \frac{1}{2}N_2(n).$$

In view of (4.2.2) and (4.2.9), we immediately obtain the following interesting relation. Corollary 4.2.3. For $n \ge 0$,

$$\operatorname{spt}(n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) - \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \omega(\lambda) \operatorname{crank}(\lambda).$$
(4.2.15)

4.3 General Odd Moments

Now we are in a position to prove Theorems 4.1.1–4.1.4.

4.3.1 Rank

We require a reformulation of $\mathcal{N}(x, z; q)$ shown in [18]:

$$\mathcal{N}(x,z;q) = 1 + \frac{1}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{q^n(1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)}\right).$$
(4.3.1)

It is convenient to define two auxiliary functions

$$\alpha(z;Q) := rac{1}{Q(1-zQ)}$$
 and $\beta(x,z;Q) := rac{x}{z\left(1-rac{xQ}{z}
ight)}.$

To study the weighted k-th ordinary rank moment, we require the following family of operators for $k \ge 1$:

$$\mathcal{D}_{k}(f(z)) := \begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} f(z) & \text{if } k = 1, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial z} z \mathcal{D}_{k-1}(f(z)) & \text{if } k > 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.3.2)

We first show that $\alpha(z; Q)$ and $\beta(x, z; Q)$ satisfy the following proposition.

Proposition 4.3.1. For each positive integer k, there is a polynomial P_k with integer coefficients such that

$$\mathcal{D}_k(\alpha(z;Q)) = \frac{P_k(zQ)}{(1-zQ)^{k+1}}$$
(4.3.3)

and

$$\mathcal{D}_k(\beta(x,z;Q)) = (-1)^k \frac{x P_k\left(\frac{xQ}{z}\right)}{z^2 \left(1 - \frac{xQ}{z}\right)^{k+1}}.$$
(4.3.4)

Further, P_k satisfies $P_1(u) = 1$ and for $k \ge 1$,

$$P_{k+1}(u) = \left(1 - u + (k+1)u\right)P_k(u) + \left(u - u^2\right)P'_k(u).$$
(4.3.5)

Proof. It is not hard to compute that

$$\mathcal{D}_1(\alpha(z;Q)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\alpha(z;Q) = \frac{1}{(1-zQ)^2}$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}_1(\beta(x,z;Q)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}\beta(x,z;Q) = -\frac{x}{z^2\left(1-\frac{xQ}{z}\right)^2}.$$

Let us assume that the proposition is true for some $k \ge 1$. Then

$$\mathcal{D}_{k+1}(\alpha(z;Q)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial z} z \mathcal{D}_k(\alpha(z;Q))$$

= $\frac{\partial}{\partial z} \frac{z P_k(zQ)}{(1-zQ)^{k+1}}$
= $\frac{\left(1-zQ+(k+1)zQ\right) P_k(zQ) + \left(zQ-z^2Q^2\right) P'_k(zQ)}{(1-zQ)^{k+2}}.$

Likewise, we have

$$\mathcal{D}_{k+1}(\beta(x,z;Q))$$

$$=(-1)^{k+1}\frac{x\left(\left(1-\frac{xQ}{z}+(k+1)\frac{xQ}{z}\right)P_k\left(\frac{xQ}{z}\right)+\left(\frac{xQ}{z}-\frac{x^2Q^2}{z^2}\right)P'_k\left(\frac{xQ}{z}\right)\right)}{z^2\left(1-\frac{xQ}{z}\right)^{k+2}}.$$

The proposition follows by induction on k.

Next, for $k \ge 1$, we write

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{2k-1}(\alpha(z;Q))\right]_{z=1} = \frac{P_{2k-1}(Q)}{(1-Q)^{2k}} =: \alpha_{2k-1}(Q)$$

and

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{2k-1}(\beta(x,z;Q))\right]_{z=1} = -\frac{xP_{2k-1}(xQ)}{(1-xQ)^{2k}} =: \beta_{2k-1}(x;Q).$$

Noticing that $\alpha_{2k-1}(Q) + \beta_{2k-1}(1;Q) = 0$, we may factor out (1-x) from $\alpha_{2k-1}(Q) + \beta_{2k-1}(x;Q)$ for all $k \ge 1$. Let us write

$$\alpha_{2k-1}(Q) + \beta_{2k-1}(x;Q) = (1-x)F_{2k-1}(x;Q).$$

Applying the trivial identity

$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x}(1-x)f(x)\right]_{x=1} = -f(1), \qquad (4.3.6)$$

we deduce that

$$F_{2k-1}(1;Q) = -\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\alpha_{2k-1}(Q) + \beta_{2k-1}(x;Q)\right)\right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{xP_{2k-1}(xQ)}{(1-xQ)^{2k}}\right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \left[\frac{(1-xQ+2kxQ)P_{2k-1}(xQ) + (xQ-x^2Q^2)P'_{2k-1}(xQ)}{(1-xQ)^{2k+1}}\right]_{x=1}$$

$$= \frac{(1-Q+2kQ)P_{2k-1}(Q) + (Q-Q^2)P'_{2k-1}(Q)}{(1-Q)^{2k+1}}$$

$$= \frac{P_{2k}(Q)}{(1-Q)^{2k+1}}.$$

For $k \ge 1$, it follows from (4.3.1) that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \operatorname{rank}^{2k-1}(\lambda) x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} = \left[\mathcal{D}_{2k-1} \Big(\mathcal{N}(x, z; q) \Big) \right]_{z=1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(xq; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq; q)_n}{(q; q)_{n-1}}$$

$$\times \left[\mathcal{D}_{2k-1} \left(\frac{1}{q^n (1 - zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z \left(1 - \frac{xq^n}{z} \right)} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(xq; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq; q)_n}{(q; q)_{n-1}}$$

$$\times \left(\alpha_{2k-1} (q^n) + \beta_{2k-1} (x; q^n) \right)$$

$$= \frac{1 - x}{(xq; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq; q)_n}{(q; q)_{n-1}}$$

$$\times F_{2k-1} (x; q^n).$$

Applying (4.3.6) again, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}^{2k-1}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} &= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \operatorname{rank}^{2k-1}(\lambda) x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} \right]_{x=1} \\ &= - \left[\frac{1}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \right. \\ &\times F_{2k-1}(x;q^n) \right]_{x=1} \\ &= - \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} (1-q^n) F_{2k-1}(1;q^n) \\ &= - \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} (1-q^n) \frac{P_{2k}(q^n)}{(1-q^n)^{2k+1}}. \end{split}$$

We therefore arrive at (4.1.14).

Further,

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \operatorname{rank}^{2k}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} = \left[\mathcal{D}_{2k} \left(\mathcal{N}(1, z; q) \right) \right]_{z=1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} (1-q^n)$$

$$\times \left[\mathcal{D}_{2k} \left(\frac{1}{q^n (1 - zq^n)} + \frac{1}{z \left(1 - \frac{q^n}{z} \right)} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$

= $\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} (1 - q^n)$
 $\times \left[\frac{P_{2k}(zq^n)}{(1 - zq^n)^{2k+1}} + \frac{P_{2k} \left(\frac{q^n}{z} \right)}{z^2 \left(1 - \frac{q^n}{z} \right)^{2k+1}} \right]_{z=1}$
= $\frac{2}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} (1 - q^n) \frac{P_{2k}(q^n)}{(1 - q^n)^{2k+1}}.$

It turns out that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}^{2k-1}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \operatorname{rank}^{2k}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|}$$

and hence

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}^{2k-1}(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \operatorname{rank}^{2k}(\lambda),$$

which is (4.1.16).

Let us turn to the weighted k-th symmetrized rank moment

$$\eta_k^{\sharp}(n) = \sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}{k}.$$

We first study the k-th derivatives

$$\frac{\partial^k}{\partial z^k} \frac{z^{\lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}}{k!} \alpha(z;Q)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial^k}{\partial z^k} \frac{z^{\lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}}{k!} \beta(x,z;Q).$$

Proposition 4.3.2. For any positive integer k, we have

$$\frac{\partial^k}{\partial z^k} \frac{z^{\lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}}{k!} \alpha(z; Q) = \frac{Q^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor}}{(1-zQ)^{k+1}}$$
(4.3.7)

and

$$\frac{\partial^k}{\partial z^k} \frac{z^{\lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}}{k!} \beta(x,z;Q) = (-1)^k \frac{x^{\lfloor \frac{k+1}{2} \rfloor} Q^{\lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor}}{(z-xQ)^{k+1}}.$$
(4.3.8)

Proof. The desired results follow directly from Leibniz's rule.

Let $k \ge 1$. We write

$$\left[\frac{\partial^{2k-1}}{\partial z^{2k-1}}\frac{z^{k-1}}{(2k-1)!}\alpha(z;Q)\right]_{z=1} = \frac{Q^{k-1}}{(1-Q)^{2k}} =: \tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(Q)$$

and

$$\left[\frac{\partial^{2k-1}}{\partial z^{2k-1}}\frac{z^{k-1}}{(2k-1)!}\beta(x,z;Q)\right]_{z=1} = -\frac{x^k Q^{k-1}}{(1-xQ)^{2k}} =: \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(x;Q).$$

Noticing again that $\tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(Q) + \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(1;Q) = 0$, we may factor out (1-x) from $\tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(Q) + \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(x;Q)$ for all $k \ge 1$. Hence, we write

$$\tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(Q) + \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(x;Q) = (1-x)\tilde{F}_{2k-1}(x;Q).$$

It follows from (4.3.6) that

$$\tilde{F}_{2k-1}(1;Q) = -\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(Q) + \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(x;Q)\right)\right]_{x=1}$$
$$= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{x^k Q^{k-1}}{(1-xQ)^{2k}}\right]_{x=1}$$
$$= \frac{kQ^{k-1}(1+Q)}{(1-Q)^{2k+1}}.$$

We know from (4.3.1) that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} {\binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + k - 1}{2k - 1}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}$$
$$= \left[\frac{\partial^{2k-1}}{\partial z^{2k-1}} \frac{z^{k-1}}{(2k - 1)!} \mathcal{N}(x, z; q) \right]_{z=1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{(xq; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq; q)_n}{(q; q)_{n-1}}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{\partial^{2k-1}}{\partial z^{2k-1}} \frac{z^{k-1}}{(2k-1)!} \left(\frac{1}{q^n (1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)} \right) \right]_{z=1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \left(\tilde{\alpha}_{2k-1}(q^n) + \tilde{\beta}_{2k-1}(x;q^n) \right)$$

$$= \frac{1-x}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(3n+1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \tilde{F}_{2k-1}(x;q^n).$$

Applying (4.3.6) again, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + k - 1}{2k - 1} q^{|\lambda|} \\ &= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \binom{\operatorname{rank}(\lambda) + k - 1}{2k - 1} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} \right]_{x=1} \\ &= - \left[\frac{1}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n - 1} q^{n(3n + 1)/2} x^n \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \tilde{F}_{2k-1}(x;q^n) \right]_{x=1} \\ &= - \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n - 1} q^{n(3n + 1)/2} (1 - q^n) \tilde{F}_{2k-1}(1;q^n) \\ &= - \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n - 1} q^{n(3n + 1)/2} (1 - q^n) \frac{kq^{(k-1)n}(1 + q^n)}{(1 - q^n)^{2k+1}} \\ &= - \frac{k}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^{n - 1} q^{n(3n - 1)/2 + kn} \frac{1 + q^n}{(1 - q^n)^{2k}}. \end{split}$$

This proves (4.1.18). Finally, (4.1.19) follows in light of (4.1.8).

4.3.2 Crank

Analogous to (4.3.1), we need to reformulate $\mathcal{M}(x, z; q)$. Recall the limiting form of Jackson's theorem (cf. [9, Theorem 3.2]):

$${}_{6}\phi_{5}\begin{pmatrix}w,q\sqrt{w},-q\sqrt{w},a,b,c\\\sqrt{w},-\sqrt{w},wq/a,wq/b,wq/c};q,\frac{wq}{abc}\end{pmatrix}$$
$$=\frac{(wq,q)_{\infty}(wq/ab,q)_{\infty}(wq/ac,q)_{\infty}(wq/bc,q)_{\infty}}{(wq/a,q)_{\infty}(wq/b,q)_{\infty}(wq/c,q)_{\infty}(wq/abc,q)_{\infty}}.$$
(4.3.9)

If we let $w \to x, a \to z, b \to x/z$ and $c \to \infty$, then (4.3.9) becomes

$$\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}(xq;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}} = 1 + \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^n q^{n(n+1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_{n-1}(1-xq^{2n})(1-z)(1-x/z)}{(q;q)_n(1-zq^n)(1-xq^n/z)}.$$
(4.3.10)

Next, notice that

$$\frac{(1-xq^{2n})(1-z)(1-x/z)}{(1-zq^n)(1-xq^n/z)} = \frac{1-xq^{2n}}{q^n} - (1-q^n)(1-xq^n) \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{q^n(1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)}\right).$$
(4.3.11)

Substituting (4.3.11) into (4.3.10) yields

$$\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}(xq;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}} = 1 + \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^n q^{n(n-1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_{n-1}(1-xq^{2n})}{(q;q)_n} + \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \times \left(\frac{1}{q^n(1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)}\right).$$
(4.3.12)

Letting $n \to \infty$ in the following terminating very-well-poised $_4\phi_3$ series (see [83, (2.3.4)]):

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\begin{pmatrix}w,q\sqrt{w},-q\sqrt{w},q^{-n}\\\sqrt{w},-\sqrt{w},wq^{n+1};q,q^{n}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases}1 & \text{if } n = 0,\\0 & \text{if } n \ge 1,\end{cases}$$
(4.3.13)

we have

$$1 + \sum_{n \ge 1} (-1)^n q^{n(n-1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_{n-1}(1-xq^{2n})}{(q;q)_n} = 0.$$
(4.3.14)

Substituting (4.3.14) into (4.3.12) yields

$$\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}(xq;q)_{\infty}}{(zq;q)_{\infty}(xq/z;q)_{\infty}} = \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{q^n(1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)}\right).$$
(4.3.15)

Finally, we deduce from (4.2.11) the following result.

Theorem 4.3.3. We have

$$\mathcal{M}(x,z;q) = \frac{1-q}{(1-xq)(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n\geq 1} (-1)^{n-1} q^{n(n+1)/2} \frac{(xq;q)_n}{(q;q)_{n-1}} \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{q^n(1-zq^n)} + \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xq^n}{z}\right)}\right).$$
(4.3.16)

Now notice that the reformulation (4.3.16) of $\mathcal{M}(x, z; q)$ also involves the auxiliary functions

$$\alpha(z;Q) = \frac{1}{Q(1-zQ)}$$
 and $\beta(x,z;Q) = \frac{x}{z\left(1-\frac{xQ}{z}\right)}$

defined in §4.3.1. We therefore may carry out the same procedure to prove Theorems 4.1.3 and 4.1.4. The details are omitted.

4.3.3 Remark

It is worth mentioning more about the necessity of the <u>odd</u> order in the weighted moments. Let us use $N_k^{\sharp}(n)$ as an example. As we have seen, to obtain

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} N_k^{\sharp}(n) q^n = \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}^k(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|},$$

the last step is to apply the operator $[\partial/\partial x]_{x=1}$ to

$$\mathcal{N}_k(x;q) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \operatorname{rank}^k(\lambda) x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}.$$

Our trick here is that by noticing that $\mathcal{N}_k(1;q) = 0$ when k is odd due to the symmetry property of the rank function, one may factor out (1-x) from $\mathcal{N}_k(x;q)$ so that (4.3.6) can be applied. However, when k is even, we fail to get the factor (1-x) as $\mathcal{N}_k(1;q)$ is not identical to zero and hence the aforementioned trick cannot be used.

4.4 Andrews–Beck Type Congruences

It is fair to describe the original motivation of this project.

Recall that the rank and crank statistics interpret Ramanujan's congruences (4.1.1)–(4.1.3) in the following way. Let N(k, m, n) (resp. M(m, n)) count the number of partitions of n whose rank (resp. crank) is congruent to k modulo m.

First, Atkin and Swinnerton-Dyer [30] proved that for $0 \le i \le 4$,

$$N(i,5,5n+4) = \frac{1}{5}p(5n+4)$$

and that for $0 \le i \le 6$,

$$N(i,7,7n+5) = \frac{1}{7}p(7n+5).$$

On the other hand, Andrews and Garvan [23] showed that for $0 \le i \le 4$,

$$M(i,5,5n+4) = \frac{1}{5}p(5n+4),$$

that for $0 \le i \le 6$,

$$M(i,7,7n+5) = \frac{1}{7}p(7n+5)$$

and that for $0 \le i \le 10$,

$$M(i, 11, 11n + 6) = \frac{1}{11}p(11n + 6).$$

One shall see how equally numerous subclasses occur.

In a private communication between George Beck and George Andrews, Beck made a number of new conjectures along this line. Instead of considering the N(m, k, n) and M(m, k, n) functions, Beck studied the total number of parts in the partitions of n with rank congruent to m modulo k, which is defined by NT(m, k, n), and the total number of ones in the partitions of n with crank congruent to m modulo k, which is defined by $M_{\omega}(m, k, n)$. Let me record one example that was proved later by Andrews in [18].

Theorem 4.4.1. If i = 1 or 4, then for $n \ge 0$,

$$NT(1, 5, 5n + i) + 2NT(2, 5, 5n + i)$$

-2NT(3, 5, 5n + i) - NT(4, 5, 5n + i) \equiv 0 \quad (mod 5). (4.4.1)

But the arithmetic properties of $N_2(n)$ are extensively studied. For example, (1.14) and (1.15) of [14] state that

$$N_2(5n+1 \text{ or } 4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}$$

and

$$N_2(7n+1 \text{ or } 5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}.$$

It is also trivial to see that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} \equiv \sum_{n \ge 0} \left(NT(1, 5, n) + 2NT(2, 5, n) - 2NT(3, 5, n) - NT(4, 5, n) \right) q^n \pmod{5}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\lambda \in \mathcal{P}} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) q^{|\lambda|} &\equiv \sum_{n \ge 0} \left(NT(1,7,n) + 2NT(2,7,n) \right. \\ &\quad + 3NT(3,7,n) - 3NT(4,7,n) \\ &\quad - 2NT(5,7,n) - NT(6,7,n) \right) q^n \pmod{7}. \end{split}$$

We therefore arrive at both (4.4.1) and the below through the fact that

$$\sum_{\lambda \vdash n} \sharp(\lambda) \operatorname{rank}(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2} N_2(n).$$

Theorem 4.4.2. If i = 1 or 5, then for $n \ge 0$,

$$NT(1,7,7n+i) + 2NT(2,7,7n+i) + 3NT(3,7,7n+i) - 3NT(4,7,7n+i) - 2NT(5,7,7n+i) - NT(6,7,7n+i) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}.$$
(4.4.2)

In fact, utilizing the relations between ordinary and weighted rank and crank moments, I [60] am able to discover over 70 congruences modulo 5, 7, 11 and 13 involving NT(r, k, n)and $M_{\omega}(r, k, n)$. Through a computer search, it is believed that the list below is to some extent complete for these moduli (it should be noted that a handful of unlisted congruences could be generated by congruences in the main theorems; see remarks below each theorem). Theorem 4.4.3. Let

$$NT[a_1, a_2](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{2} a_r \Big(NT(r, 5, n) - NT(5 - r, 5, n) \Big)$$

and

$$M_{\omega}[a_1, a_2](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{2} a_r \Big(M_{\omega}(r, 5, n) - M_{\omega}(5 - r, 5, n) \Big).$$

Then (i).

$$NT[1,2](5n+1) \equiv 0 \pmod{5},$$
 (4.4.3-1)

$$NT[1,2](5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}; \tag{4.4.3-2}$$

(ii).

$$M_{\omega}[1,2](5n) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.4-1}$$

$$M_{\omega}[1,2](5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}; \tag{4.4.4-2}$$

(iii).

$$NT[0,1](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[1,3](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[2,0](5n)$$
$$\equiv M_{\omega}[3,2](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[4,4](5n) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-1}$$

 $NT[0,1](5n+1) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n+1) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-2}$

$$NT[1,0](5n+1) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,3](5n+1) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-3}$$

$$NT[0,1](5n+2) \equiv M_{\omega}[2,0](5n+2) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-4}$$

$$NT[1,0](5n+2) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,3](5n+2) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-5}$$

$$NT[1,3](5n+3) \equiv M_{\omega}[1,3](5n+3) \pmod{5}, \tag{4.4.5-6}$$

$$NT[0,1](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[1,3](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[2,0](5n+4)$$
$$\equiv M_{\omega}[3,2](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[4,4](5n+4) \pmod{5}, \qquad (4.4.5-7)$$
$$NT[1,0](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,3](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[1,0](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[2,2](5n+4)$$

$$\equiv M_{\omega}[3,4](5n+4) \equiv M_{\omega}[4,1](5n+4) \pmod{5}. \tag{4.4.5-8}$$

Remark 4.4.1. It should be pointed out that one may derive more congruences from

(4.4.5-2) and (4.4.5-3). For example,

$$NT[1,1](5n+1) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,4](5n+1) \pmod{5},$$

which comes from

$$NT[1,1](5n+1) \equiv NT[0,1](5n+1) + NT[1,0](5n+1)$$
$$\equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n+1) + M_{\omega}[0,3](5n+1)$$
$$\equiv M_{\omega}[0,4](5n+1) \pmod{5}.$$

Similarly, more congruences could be derived from (4.4.5-4) and (4.4.5-5), and from (4.4.5-7) and (4.4.5-8). Also, in (4.4.5-1), we have $M_{\omega}[0,1](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[1,3](5n) \equiv \cdots$ (mod 5). This is a consequence of (4.4.4-1) by noticing that

$$M_{\omega}[1,3](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n) + M_{\omega}[1,2](5n) \equiv M_{\omega}[0,1](5n) \pmod{5}.$$

Similar arguments could be applied to (4.4.5-7) and (4.4.5-8) with the help of (4.4.4-2).

We notice that (4.4.5-1) and (4.4.5-7) imply [47, (4.10)], and (4.4.5-3) and (4.4.5-5) imply [47, (4.12)].

Theorem 4.4.4. Let

$$NT[a_1, a_2, a_3](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{3} a_r \Big(NT(r, 7, n) - NT(7 - r, 7, n) \Big)$$

and

$$M_{\omega}[a_1, a_2, a_3](n) := \sum_{r=1}^3 a_r \Big(M_{\omega}(r, 7, n) - M_{\omega}(7 - r, 7, n) \Big).$$

Then (i).

$$NT[0, 1, 4](7n) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$
 (4.4.6-1)

$$NT[0,1,4](7n+1) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}, \tag{4.4.6-2}$$

$$NT[1,0,2](7n+1) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$
 (4.4.6-3)

$$NT[1,0,2](7n+3) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$
 (4.4.6-4)

 $NT[1, 0, 2](7n + 4) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}, \tag{4.4.6-5}$

$$NT[0, 1, 4](7n + 5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$
 (4.4.6-6)

$$NT[1,0,2](7n+5) \equiv 0 \pmod{7}; \tag{4.4.6-7}$$

(ii).

$M [0, 1, 4](7_m) = 0$	$(m \circ d 7)$	$(1 \ 1 \ 7 \ 1)$
$M_{\omega}[0,1,4](1n) \equiv 0$	$(\mod T),$	(4.4.7-1)
$M_{\omega}[1,0,2](7n) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-2)
$M_{\omega}[0,1,4](7n+1) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-3)
$M_{\omega}[1,0,2](7n+2) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-4)
$M_{\omega}[1,3,0](7n+3) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-5)
$M_{\omega}[0,1,4](7n+4) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-6)
$M_{\omega}[0,1,4](7n+5) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-7)
$M_{\omega}[1,0,2](7n+5) \equiv 0$	(mod 7),	(4.4.7-8)
$M_{\omega}[1,0,2](7n+6) \equiv 0$	(mod 7).	(4.4.7-9)

Remark 4.4.2. Linear combinations of (4.4.6-2) and (4.4.6-3) imply more congruences. For example, $1 \times (4.4.6-2) + 1 \times (4.4.6-3)$ gives

$$NT[1, 1, 6](7n + 1) \equiv 0 \pmod{7},$$

which is the i = 1 case of [18, Theorem 1.2]. More congruences could be derived from linear combinations of (4.4.6-6) and (4.4.6-7), of (4.4.7-1) and (4.4.7-2), and of (4.4.7-7) and (4.4.7-8).

We notice that [47, (4.15) and (4.16)] are shown in Part (ii).

Theorem 4.4.5. Let

$$NT[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{5} a_r \Big(NT(r, 11, n) - NT(11 - r, 11, n) \Big)$$

and

$$M_{\omega}[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{5} a_r \Big(M_{\omega}(r, 11, n) - M_{\omega}(11 - r, 11, n) \Big).$$

We also adopt the notation

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} a_1, & a_2, & a_3, & a_4, & a_5 \\ b_1, & b_2, & b_3, & b_4, & b_5 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ c_1, & c_2, & c_3, & c_4, & c_5 \end{bmatrix} (n) := \begin{bmatrix} M_{\omega}[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5](n) \\ M_{\omega}[b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5](n) \\ \vdots \\ M_{\omega}[c_1, c_2, c_3, c_4, c_5](n) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then (i).

$$NT[0, 1, 4, 10, 9](11n) \equiv 0 \pmod{11},$$
 (4.4.8-1)

$$NT[1, 8, 5, 9, 4](11n + 1) \equiv 0 \pmod{11},$$
(4.4.8-2)

$$NT[1,3,7,3,3](11n+6) \equiv 0 \pmod{11}; \tag{4.4.8-3}$$

(ii).

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-1}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4 \end{bmatrix} (11n+1) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-2}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+2) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-3}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+3) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-4}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 5, & 0\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+4) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-5}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 5, & 0\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+5) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \tag{4.4.9-6}$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+6) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \qquad (4.4.9-7)$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 8, & 0 \end{bmatrix} (11n+7) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \qquad (4.4.9-8)$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 2, & 0\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 8, & 0 \end{bmatrix} (11n+8) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \qquad (4.4.9-9)$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 1, & 0, & 6\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+9) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}, \qquad (4.4.9-10)$$

$$M_{\omega} \begin{bmatrix} 0, & 0, & 0, & 1, & 8\\ 0, & 1, & 0, & 0, & 4\\ 1, & 0, & 0, & 0, & 2 \end{bmatrix} (11n+10) \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \pmod{11}. \qquad (4.4.9-11)$$

Remark 4.4.3. Each of (4.4.9-1)–(4.4.9-11) may lead to more Andrews–Beck type congruences modulo 11 for M_{ω} .

We notice that (4.4.8-2) is [47, (4.6)] and (4.4.8-3) is [47, (4.5)].

Theorem 4.4.6. Let

$$NT[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{6} a_r \Big(NT(r, 13, n) - NT(13 - r, 13, n) \Big)$$

and

$$M_{\omega}[a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, a_6](n) := \sum_{r=1}^{6} a_r \Big(M_{\omega}(r, 13, n) - M_{\omega}(13 - r, 13, n) \Big).$$

Then (i).

$$NT[0, 1, 4, 12, 10, 3](13n) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$$
 (4.4.10-1)

$$NT[1, 1, 6, 0, 0, 3](13n + 1) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$$
 (4.4.10-2)

 $NT[0, 0, 1, 9, 6, 8](13n + 2) \equiv 0 \pmod{13}, \tag{4.4.10-3}$

$$NT[1, 0, 3, 9, 1, 11](13n + 3) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$$
 (4.4.10-4)
$$NT[1, 5, 8, 7, 12, 12](13n + 5) \equiv 0 \pmod{13}, \tag{4.4.10-5}$$

$$NT[1, 2, 8, 0, 7, 11](13n+6) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$$
 (4.4.10-6)

- $NT[1, 12, 8, 7, 10, 7](13n + 7) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$ (4.4.10-7)
- $NT[1, 6, 11, 8, 0, 0](13n + 9) \equiv 0 \pmod{13},$ (4.4.10-8)

$$NT[1, 9, 4, 5, 10, 7](13n + 10) \equiv 0 \pmod{13};$$
 (4.4.10-9)

(ii).

$$M_{\omega}[1,2,3,4,5,6](13n) \equiv 0 \pmod{13}.$$
(4.4.11-1)

Remark 4.4.4. We notice that (4.4.10-2) is [47, (4.7)] and (4.4.10-4) is [47, (4.8), corrected].

Proofs of the above congruences also rely on relations between ordinary rank and crank moments $N_{2s}(n)$ and $M_{2s}(n)$ derived by Atkin and Garvan [29]. See [60] for details.

4.5 References

- [9] G. E. Andrews, Applications of basic hypergeometric functions, SIAM Rev. 16 (1974), 441–484.
- [12] G. E. Andrews, *The theory of partitions*, Reprint of the 1976 original. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. xvi+255 pp.
- [14] G. E. Andrews, Partitions, Durfee symbols, and the Atkin–Garvan moments of ranks, *Invent. Math.* 169 (2007), no. 1, 37–73.
- [15] G. E. Andrews, The number of smallest parts in the partitions of n, J. Reine Angew. Math. 624 (2008), 133–142.
- [18] G. E. Andrews, The Ramanujan–Dyson identities and George Beck's congruence conjectures, to appear in *Int. J. Number Theory*.
- [23] G. E. Andrews and F. G. Garvan, Dyson's crank of a partition, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 18 (1988), no. 2, 167–171.
- [29] A. O. L. Atkin and F. G. Garvan, Relations between the ranks and cranks of partitions, *Ramanujan J.* 7 (2003), no. 1-3, 343–366.
- [30] A. O. L. Atkin and P. Swinnerton-Dyer, Some properties of partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 4 (1954), 84–106.

- [42] K. Bringmann, F. G. Garvan, and K. Mahlburg, Partition statistics and quasiharmonic Maass forms, *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* (2009), no. 1, Art. ID rnn124, 63–97.
- [47] S. H. Chan, R. Mao, and R. Osburn, Variations of Andrews–Beck type congruences, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 495 (2021), no. 2, 124771, 14 pp.
- [58] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. I. Andrews–Beck type congruences, to appear in *Proceedings of the Conference in Honor of Bruce Berndt*.
- [59] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. II. Odd-order moments, to appear in *Ramanujan J*.
- [60] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. III. A list of Andrews–Beck type congruences modulo 5, 7, 11 and 13, to appear in *Int. J. Number Theory*.
- [76] F. J. Dyson, Some guesses in the theory of partitions, Eureka 8 (1944), 10–15.
- [77] F. J. Dyson, Mappings and symmetries of partitions, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 51 (1989), no. 2, 169–180.
- [82] F. G. Garvan, Higher order spt-functions, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 1, 241–265.
- [83] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic hypergeometric series. Second edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 96. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. xxvi+428 pp.

Chapter 5 Partitions with Bounded Part Differences

This chapter comes from

- S. Chern, A curious identity and its applications to partitions with bounded part differences, New Zealand J. Math. 47 (2017), 23–26. (Ref. [49])
- S. Chern, An overpartition analogue of partitions with bounded differences between largest and smallest parts, *Discrete Math.* 340 (2017), no. 12, 2834–2839. (Ref. [50])
- S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck, Int. J. Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 3, 647–651. (Ref. [51])
- S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck. II, Math. Student 88 (2019), no. 1-2, 159–164. (Ref. [52])
- S. Chern and A. J. Yee, Overpartitions with bounded part differences, *European J. Combin.* 70 (2018), 317–324. (Ref. [68])

5.1 Introduction

In a paper of Andrews, Beck and Robbins [19], they considered partitions where the difference between largest and smallest parts is a fixed integer t. Let p(n,t) be the number of such partitions of n. We have, for example, p(4,1) = 1 since 4 has only one such partition: 2 + 1 + 1. In fact, Andrews et al. showed that p(n,0) = d(n) and p(n,1) = n - d(n) where d(n) denotes the number of divisors of n. For $t \ge 2$, they obtained the following generating function

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} p(n,t)q^n = \frac{q^{t-1}(1-q)}{(1-q^t)(1-q^{t-1})} - \frac{q^{t-1}(1-q)}{(1-q^t)(1-q^{t-1})(q;q)_t} + \frac{q^t}{(1-q^{t-1})(q;q)_t}.$$
 (5.1.1)

Motivated by their work, Breuer and Kronholm [41] studied the number of partitions of n with the difference between largest and smallest parts bounded by t, denoted by $p_t(n)$, and they showed that the generating function is

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} p_t(n)q^n = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{1}{(q;q)_t} - 1 \right).$$
(5.1.2)

The proof of Breuer and Kronholm has a geometric flavour, and their main tool used in the proof is polyhedral cones.

Subsequently, Chapman [48] also provided a simpler proof, which involves q-series manipulations.

In this chapter, we will further consider other types of partition with bounded part differences. In fact, their generating functions fit into a general framework.

5.2 A General Identity

Let t be a fixed positive integer. Assume that α , β , q are complex variables with |q| < 1, $q \neq 0$, $\alpha \neq \beta q$ and $(\beta q; q)_t \neq 0$. We define the following sum

$$S(\alpha,\beta;q;t) := \sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{(1-\alpha q^r)(1-\alpha q^{r+1})\cdots(1-\alpha q^{r+t-2})}{(1-\beta q^r)(1-\beta q^{r+1})\cdots(1-\beta q^{r+t})} q^r.$$
 (5.2.1)

We have the following identity.

Theorem 5.2.1. We have

$$S(\alpha,\beta;q;t) = \frac{q}{(\beta q - \alpha)(1 - q^t)} \left(\frac{(\alpha;q)_t}{(\beta q;q)_t} - 1\right).$$
(5.2.2)

First let us recall two basic hypergeometric series identities.

Lemma 5.2.2 (First q-Chu–Vandermonde Sum [16, Eq. (17.6.2)]). We have

$${}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{pmatrix}a, q^{-n} \\ c \end{pmatrix}; q, \frac{cq^{n}}{a} = \frac{(c/a; q)_{n}}{(c; q)_{n}}.$$
(5.2.3)

Lemma 5.2.3 (q-Analogue of the Kummer–Thomae–Whipple Transformation [83, p. 72, Eq. (3.2.7)]). We have

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{pmatrix}a,b,c\\d,e\end{cases};q,\frac{de}{abc}\end{pmatrix} = \frac{(e/a;q)_{\infty}(de/bc;q)_{\infty}}{(e;q)_{\infty}(de/abc;q)_{\infty}}{}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{pmatrix}a,d/b,d/c\\d,de/bc\end{cases};q,\frac{e}{a}\end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.2.4)

Proof of Theorem 5.2.1. We have

$$\begin{aligned} S(\alpha,\beta;q;t) &(5.2.5) \\ &= \sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{(1-\alpha q^{r})(1-\alpha q^{r+1})\cdots(1-\alpha q^{r+t-2})}{(1-\beta q^{r})(1-\beta q^{r+1})\cdots(1-\beta q^{r+t})} q^{r} \\ &= \sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{(\alpha;q)_{r+t-1}(\beta;q)_{r}}{(\alpha;q)_{r}(\beta;q)_{r+t+2}} q^{r} \\ &= \sum_{r\geq 0} \frac{(\alpha;q)_{r+t}(\beta;q)_{r+1}}{(\alpha;q)_{r+1}(\beta;q)_{r+t+2}} q^{r+1} \\ &= \frac{q(1-\beta)(\alpha;q)_{t}}{(1-\alpha)(\beta;q)_{t+2}} \sum_{r\geq 0} \frac{(q;q)_{r}(\beta q;q)_{r}(\alpha q^{t};q)_{r}}{(\alpha;q)_{r}(\alpha;q)_{r}(\beta q^{t+2};q)_{r}} q^{r} \\ &= \frac{q(\alpha q;q)_{t-1}}{(\beta q;q)_{t+1}} \frac{\beta q^{q}}{\beta q} \frac{(q;q)_{r}(\alpha q;q)_{r}(\beta q^{t+2};q)_{r}}{(\beta q;q)_{t+1}} q^{r} \\ &= \frac{q(\alpha q;q)_{t-1}}{(1-q)(\beta q;q)_{t}} \sum_{r\geq 0} \frac{(\alpha/\beta;q)_{r}(q^{1-t};q)_{r}}{(\alpha;q)_{r}(q^{2};q)_{r}} \left(\beta q^{t+1}\right)^{r} \\ &= \frac{q(\alpha q;q)_{t-1}}{(1-q)(\beta q;q)_{t}} \frac{(1-\alpha)(1-q)}{(\alpha;q)_{r}(q^{2};q)_{r}} \left(\beta q^{t+1}\right)^{r} \\ &= \frac{q(\alpha q;q)_{t-1}}{(\beta q-\alpha)(q^{t}-1)} \frac{(\alpha;q)_{t}}{(\beta q;q)_{t}} \left(\frac{2\phi_{1}\left(\frac{\beta}{\beta q},q^{-t}\right)}{(\alpha;q)_{t}(q^{-1};q)_{r+1}}\left(\beta q^{t+1}\right)^{r+1} \\ &= \frac{q}{(\beta q-\alpha)(q^{t}-1)} \frac{(\alpha;q)_{t}}{(\beta q;q)_{t}} \left(\frac{(\beta q;q)_{t}}{(\alpha;q)_{t}} - 1\right) \qquad (by Eq. (5.2.3)) \\ &= \frac{q(\alpha q;q)_{t-1}}{(\beta q-\alpha)(q^{t}-1)} \frac{(\alpha;q)_{t}}{(\beta q;q)_{t}} \left(\frac{(\beta q;q)_{t}}{(\alpha;q)_{t}} - 1\right) . \end{aligned}$$

Let us see how to make use of Theorem 5.2.1 to recover (5.1.2). Note that the generating function for partitions counted by $p_t(n)$ with smallest part equal to r is

$$\frac{q^r}{(1-q^r)(1-q^{r+1})\cdots(1-q^{r+t})}.$$

It follows that

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} p_t(n)q^n = \sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{q^r}{(1-q^r)(1-q^{r+1})\cdots(1-q^{r+t})} = S(0,1;q;t).$$

Hence, by Theorem 5.2.1, we have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} p_t(n)q^n = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{1}{(q;q)_t} - 1 \right).$$

Analogously, we have the following results.

Theorem 5.2.4. Let $pd_t(n)$ count the number of partitions of n in which all parts are distinct and the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t.

Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} pd_t(n)q^n = \frac{1}{1-q^{t+1}} \left((-q;q)_{t+1} - 1 \right).$$
(5.2.6)

Theorem 5.2.5. Let $po_t(n)$ count the number of partitions of n in which all parts are odd and the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t.

Then

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} po_{2t}(n)q^n = \frac{1}{1 - q^{2t}} \left(\frac{1}{(q;q^2)_t} - 1 \right).$$
(5.2.7)

5.3 Overpartitions

A more intriguing problem is about overpartitions with bounded differences. Let $g_t(m, n)$ count the number of overpartitions of n in which there are exactly m overlined parts, the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t, and if the difference between largest and smallest parts is exactly t, then the largest part cannot be overlined. Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 1}\sum_{m\geq 0}g_t(m,n)z^mq^n = \sum_{r\geq 1}\frac{(1+z)q^r}{1-q^r}\frac{1+zq^{r+1}}{1-q^{r+1}}\cdots\frac{1+zq^{r+t-1}}{1-q^{r+t-1}}\frac{1}{1-q^{r+t}}$$
$$= (1+z)S(-zq,q;q;t).$$

The following result immediately follows from Theorem 5.2.1.

Theorem 5.3.1. We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{m \ge 0} g_t(m, n) z^m q^n = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{(-zq; q)_t}{(q; q)_t} - 1 \right).$$
(5.3.1)

Next, we will turn to the combinatorial aspect.

5.3.1 A Semi-Combinatorial Proof

We show the z = 1 case of (5.3.1) from the viewpoint of over q-binomial coefficients.

Let $g_t(n)$ count the number of overpartitions of n in which the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t, and if the difference between largest and smallest parts is exactly t, then the largest part cannot be overlined.

Letting z = 1 in (5.3.1) yields the following identity.

Theorem 5.3.2. We have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} g_t(n) q^n = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{(-q; q)_t}{(q; q)_t} - 1 \right).$$
(5.3.2)

Recall that the q-binomial coefficient

$$\begin{bmatrix} M+N\\N \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} M+N\\N \end{bmatrix}_q$$

is the generating function for partitions where the largest part is at most M and the number of parts is at most N. In a paper of Dousse and Kim [75], they introduced the over q-binomial coefficient, denoted by

$$\overline{\begin{bmatrix} M+N\\N\end{bmatrix}} = \overline{\begin{bmatrix} M+N\\N\end{bmatrix}}_q,\tag{5.3.3}$$

which is an overpartition analog of q-binomial coefficient defined as the generating function for overpartitions where the largest part is at most M and the number of parts is at most N. They showed that for positive integers M and N,

$$\begin{bmatrix} M+N\\N \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=0}^{\min(M,N)} q^{\binom{k+1}{2}} \frac{(q;q)_{M+N-k}}{(q;q)_k(q;q)_{M-k}(q;q)_{N-k}}.$$
(5.3.4)

Of course, if we agree that the number of such overpartitions of 0 is one, then this identity also holds for M = 0 or N = 0.

Over q-binomial coefficients have many properties similar to those of the standard

q-binomial coefficients. For example, the following recurrence relation

$$\begin{bmatrix}
M+N\\
N
\end{bmatrix} = \boxed{\begin{bmatrix}M+N-1\\
N-1
\end{bmatrix}} + q^N \boxed{\begin{bmatrix}M+N-1\\
N
\end{bmatrix}} + q^N \boxed{\begin{bmatrix}M+N-2\\
N-1
\end{bmatrix}}$$
(5.3.5)

holds for any positive integers M and N (see [75, (1.1)]). In fact, it can be proved combinatorially.

Now we denote by $\overline{P}_t(q)$ the generating function of overpartitions in which the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t.

Let $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_\ell)$ be an overpartition of n with exactly ℓ parts, $\lambda_\ell = r \ge 1$, and $\lambda_1 \le r + t$. Then $\mu = (\lambda_1 - r, \dots, \lambda_{\ell-1} - r)$ is an overpartition of $n - \ell r$ with at most $\ell - 1$ parts and greatest part $\le t$. Note that the first occurrence of the smallest part of λ can be either overlined or not. Hence the generating function for such overpartitions is

$$2q^{\ell r} \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1\\ t \end{bmatrix}},$$

and hence

$$\overline{P}_{t}(q) = 2\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \sum_{r \ge 1} q^{\ell r} \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1\\ t \end{bmatrix}} = 2\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}} \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1\\ t \end{bmatrix}}.$$
 (5.3.6)

We remark that this identity also holds for t = 0.

On the other hand, overpartitions where the difference between largest and smallest parts is at most t can be divided into three disjoint cases:

- (i) The largest part is at most t;
- (ii) The largest part is greater than t, the difference between largest and smallest parts is exactly t, and the first occurrence of the smallest part is overlined;
- (iii) Otherwise.

For Case (i), one readily sees the generating function is

$$\frac{(-q;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1.$$

For *Case* (ii), its generating function is

$$2\sum_{r\geq 1}\frac{q^r}{1-q^r}\frac{1+q^{r+1}}{1-q^{r+1}}\cdots\frac{1+q^{r+t-1}}{1-q^{r+t-1}}\frac{q^{r+t}}{1-q^{r+t}}=\frac{\overline{P}_t(q)-\overline{P}_{t-1}(q)}{2}$$

Finally, let $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_\ell)$ be an overpartition of *Case* (iii) with $\lambda_1 = r + t$ (and so $r \ge 1$). We note that $\mu = (\lambda_1 - r, \ldots, \lambda_\ell - r)$ is an overpartition of $|\lambda| - \ell r$ with at most ℓ parts and largest part being exactly t. Hence the generating function is

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \sum_{r \ge 1} q^{\ell r} \left(\boxed{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell \\ t \end{bmatrix}} - \boxed{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1 \\ t-1 \end{bmatrix}} \right) = \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1-q^{\ell}} \left(\boxed{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell \\ t \end{bmatrix}} - \boxed{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1 \\ t-1 \end{bmatrix}} \right).$$

We therefore have

$$\overline{P}_t(q) = \left(\frac{(-q;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1\right) + \frac{\overline{P}_t(q) - \overline{P}_{t-1}(q)}{2} + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^\ell}{1 - q^\ell} \left(\overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell \\ t \end{bmatrix}} - \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1 \\ t-1 \end{bmatrix}}\right).$$

Now we take $M \to \ell$ and $N \to t$ in (5.3.5) and rewrite it as

$$\overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell\\t \end{bmatrix}} - \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1\\t-1 \end{bmatrix}} = q^t \left(\overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-1\\t \end{bmatrix}} + \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t+\ell-2\\t-1 \end{bmatrix}}\right).$$

We then multiply both sides by $q^\ell/(1-q^\ell)$ and sum over ℓ

$$\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1 - q^{\ell}} \left(\overline{\begin{bmatrix} t + \ell \\ t \end{bmatrix}} - \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t + \ell - 1 \\ t - 1 \end{bmatrix}} \right)$$
$$= q^{t} \left(\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1 - q^{\ell}} \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t + \ell - 1 \\ t \end{bmatrix}} + \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell}}{1 - q^{\ell}} \overline{\begin{bmatrix} t + \ell - 2 \\ t - 1 \end{bmatrix}} \right).$$

From the foregoing argument, we therefore have

$$\overline{P}_t(q) - \left(\frac{(-q;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1\right) - \frac{\overline{P}_t(q) - \overline{P}_{t-1}(q)}{2} = q^t \frac{\overline{P}_t(q) + \overline{P}_{t-1}(q)}{2}$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\overline{P}_t(q) + \overline{P}_{t-1}(q)}{2} = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{(-q;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1 \right).$$
(5.3.7)

Finally, we observe that

$$\overline{P}_t(q) + \overline{P}_{t-1}(q) = 2\sum_{r\geq 1} \frac{q^r}{1-q^r} \frac{1+q^{r+1}}{1-q^{r+1}} \cdots \frac{1+q^{r+t-1}}{1-q^{r+t-1}} \left(\frac{1+q^{r+t}}{1-q^{r+t}}+1\right)$$

$$=4\sum_{r\geq 1}\frac{q^{r}}{1-q^{r}}\frac{1+q^{r+1}}{1-q^{r+1}}\cdots\frac{1+q^{r+t-1}}{1-q^{r+t-1}}\frac{1}{1-q^{r+t}}$$
$$=2\sum_{n\geq 1}g_{t}(n)q^{n}.$$
(5.3.8)

Theorem 5.3.2 therefore follows from (5.3.7) and (5.3.8).

5.3.2 A Real Combinatorial Proof

As one might realize, our combinatorial proof of (5.3.2) is kind of cheating as many q-series manipulations are still involved. This is why I call it a semi-combinatorial proof. Our next task is to prove not only (5.3.2) but (5.3.1) in a completely combinatorial manner.

Let $\sharp(\lambda)$ be the number of parts of a partition or an overpartition λ . When λ is an overpartition, we use $o(\lambda)$ to count the number of overlined parts in λ . We write parts in weakly decreasing order.

For a positive integer t, we denote by $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ the set of (nonempty) overpartitions with parts less than or equal to t and no parts equal to t overlined, and by $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ the set of (nonempty) overpartitions with the difference between largest and smallest parts at most t and the largest part not overlined when the difference between largest and smallest parts is exactly t. Also, $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$ denotes the set of bipartitions where the first subpartition, which can be an empty partition, consists of only parts equal to t, none overlined, and the second subpartition is a nonempty overpartition with parts less than or equal to t.

5.3.2.1 Partition Sets $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ and $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$

We first construct a weight preserving map ϕ from $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ to $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$.

For an overpartition $\pi = (\pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_\ell)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$, let $s(\pi) = \lfloor \pi_\ell / t \rfloor$, where $\lfloor a \rfloor$ denotes the largest integer not exceeding a, and let $k(\pi)$ be the positive integer k such that $\pi_k \ge (s(\pi) + 1)t$ and $\pi_{k+1} < (s(\pi) + 1)t$. If there is no such k, then we let $k(\pi) = 0$.

We now define a map $\phi : \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t \to \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ as follows. For an overpartition $\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$, let $\sharp(\pi) = \ell$, $s(\pi) = s$ and $k(\pi) = k$. Then

$$\phi \colon (\pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_\ell) \\ \mapsto \underbrace{(t, t, t, \dots, t, t, \pi_{k+1} - st, \dots, \pi_\ell - st, \pi_1 - (s+1)t, \dots, \pi_k - (s+1)t)}_{\substack{s(\ell-k) + (s+1)k \\ \text{times}}}, \pi_{k+1} - st, \dots, \pi_\ell - st, \pi_1 - (s+1)t, \dots, \pi_k - (s+1)t),$$

where all the parts equal to t are not overlined, and if π_i is overlined, then $\pi_i - st$ (or $\pi_i - (s+1)t$ depending on the value of i) is overlined. In other words, ϕ takes π to $(t, t, \ldots, t, a_1, \ldots, a_\ell)$ where a_1, \ldots, a_ℓ are π_1, \ldots, π_ℓ reduced modulo t, cyclically permuted to make them weakly decreasing.

Here we note that there may be parts equal to 0 in $\phi(\pi)$. If there are any parts equal to 0, then we delete them so that $\phi(\pi)$ has positive parts only.

Theorem 5.3.3. ϕ is a weight preserving map from $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ to $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$.

Proof. Since $\pi_1 - \pi_\ell \leq t$, $s = \lfloor \pi_\ell / t \rfloor$, and $\pi_k \geq (s+1)t > \pi_{k+1}$, we have

$$t > \pi_{k+1} - st \ge \cdots \ge \pi_{\ell} - st \ge \pi_1 - (s+1)t \ge \cdots \ge \pi_k - (s+1)t.$$

Thus the parts of $\phi(\pi)$ are less than or equal to t, and if there are overlined parts, they are less than t.

We now show that no more than one part of the same size is overlined. Since π is an overpartition, at most one part of the same size is overlined in π . Hence, of $\pi_1 - st, \ldots, \pi_k - st$, if there are overlined parts, then they must be of different sizes. For the same reason, of $\pi_{k+1} - (s+1)t, \ldots, \pi_{\ell} - (s+1)t$, overlined parts must be of different sizes. Thus, if $\pi_{\ell} - st > \pi_1 - (s+1)t$, then it is clear that all the overlined parts of $\phi(\pi)$ have different sizes.

Let us suppose that $\pi_{\ell} - st = \pi_1 - (s+1)t$. Then, we have $\pi_1 - \pi_{\ell} = t$. By the definition of $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$, we know that all the parts equal to π_1 are not overlined. Thus, for parts in $\phi(\pi)$ that are equal to $\pi_{\ell} - st = \pi_1 - (s+1)t$, either the first occurrence or none may be overlined. Therefore, $\phi(\pi) \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$.

We also note that the map ϕ preserves the weight of π , that is, $|\phi(\pi)| = |\pi|$.

As we see in the following example, the map ϕ is not a bijection.

Example 5.3.1. Let t = 3, $\pi = (7, \overline{4})$ and $\tilde{\pi} = (\overline{4}, 4, 3)$. Then

$$s(\pi) = 1, \quad k(\pi) = 1, \quad \phi(\pi) = (3, 3, 3, \overline{1}, 1), \quad |\phi(\pi)| = |\pi| = 11;$$

$$s(\tilde{\pi}) = 1, \quad k(\tilde{\pi}) = 0, \quad \phi(\tilde{\pi}) = (3, 3, 3, \overline{1}, 1), \quad |\phi(\tilde{\pi})| = |\tilde{\pi}| = 11.$$

However, ϕ is a surjection since $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ is a subset of $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ and $\phi(\pi) = \pi$ for any $\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$. So, we will count how many pre-images each $\mu \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ has under ϕ .

Let $\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$. We describe how to recover π from $\phi(\pi)$. First, note that it is clear from the definition of $s(\pi)$ and $k(\pi)$ that $\pi_i - (s(\pi) + 1)t$ and $\pi_j - s(\pi)t$ are the remainders of π_i and π_j when divided by t for $1 \leq i \leq k(\pi)$ and $j > k(\pi)$. If the remainders are equal to 0, then they are deleted in $\phi(\pi)$. Thus if we know the number of such deleted remainders, we can determine $\sharp(\pi)$. Also, one of the deleted remainders may have been overlined.

We then need to find $s(\pi)$ and $k(\pi)$, where $s(\pi)$ is the quotient of the smallest part of π when divided by t and $k(\pi)$ counts the number of parts whose quotients are equal to $s(\pi) + 1$. Therefore, once we have $\sharp(\pi)$, $k(\pi)$, and $s(\pi)$ along with the information on existence of an overlined deleted remainder, it is clear that we can recover π . Thus possible choices for $\sharp(\pi)$, $k(\pi)$, and $s(\pi)$ with having a deleted remainder overlined or not will determine the number of pre-images under ϕ .

In the following lemma, we will see the range for $\sharp(\pi)$. For any $\mu \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$, we use $m(\mu) = m_t(\mu)$ to count the number of parts of μ equal to t.

Lemma 5.3.4. Let π be a nonempty overpartition in $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ and $\mu = \phi(\pi)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$. Then we have

- (i) $\sharp(\pi) \leq \sharp(\mu);$
- (ii) $\sharp(\pi) \ge \sharp(\mu) m(\mu) + \delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)}$, where $\delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)}$ is the Kronecker delta.

Proof. First, (i) is almost trivial. Under ϕ , each part of π splits into its residue modulo t and as many t's as the quotient, i.e., each part π_i contributes $\lceil \pi_i/t \rceil$ to the number of parts of μ . Thus $\sharp(\pi) \leq \sharp(\mu)$.

Next, we prove (ii). If all of the parts of μ are t, i.e., $\sharp(\mu) = m(\mu)$, then

$$\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu) + \delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)} = 1 \le \ell,$$

where the last inequality follows from the fact that π is nonempty.

We now suppose that μ has a part not equal to t, i.e, $\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu) \ge 1$. From the definition of ϕ , we know that the parts of μ not equal to t are the positive remainders of the parts of π , so at most ℓ parts of μ are not equal to t. Hence

$$\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu) + \delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)} = \sharp(\mu) - m(\mu) \le \ell.$$

This completes the proof of (ii).

It follows from Lemma 5.3.4 that

$$\delta_{\sharp(\mu),m(\mu)} \le \sharp(\pi) - \left(\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu)\right) \le m(\mu),\tag{5.3.9}$$

where $\sharp(\pi) - (\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu))$ is the number of multiples of t in π .

Lemma 5.3.5. Let n be a fixed positive integer, and n' a fixed nonnegative integer. Then the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases} x + y = n, \\ s x + (s+1)y = n' \end{cases}$$
(5.3.10)

has exactly one simultaneous solution $(x, y, s) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \times \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \times \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Proof. We readily see that y = n' - s n. Also, since x > 0 and $y \ge 0$, it follows from the first equation that $0 \le y < n$. Hence

$$\frac{n'}{n} - 1 < s \le \frac{n'}{n},$$

from which it follows that $s = \lfloor n'/n \rfloor$. Therefore, there is only one solution (x, y, s).

We are now ready to determine how many pre-images an overpartition in $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ has.

Theorem 5.3.6. Let μ be a nonempty overpartition in \mathcal{P}_t .

(i) If $\sharp(\mu) = m(\mu)$, then there are exactly $2m(\mu)$ pre-images in $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ under ϕ . Moreover, of those pre-images, exactly $m(\mu)$ pre-images have no overlined parts, and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have the first occurrence of the smallest parts overlined.

(ii) If $\sharp(\mu) > m(\mu)$, then there are exactly $2m(\mu) + 1$ pre-images in $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ under ϕ . Moreover, of those pre-images, exactly $m(\mu) + 1$ pre-images have the same number of overlined parts as μ and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have one more overlined part than μ does.

Proof. Let π be a pre-image of μ . By Lemma 5.3.4, we know that

$$\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu) + \delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)} \le \sharp(\pi) \le \sharp(\mu).$$
(5.3.11)

Hence, for any integer ℓ in this range, we want to know how many $\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t$ with $\sharp(\pi) = \ell$ can be pre-images of μ .

In order for π to be a pre-image of μ with $\sharp(\pi) = \ell$, $s(\pi)$ and $k(\pi)$ must satisfy

$$s(\pi)(\ell - k(\pi)) + (s(\pi) + 1)k(\pi) = m(\mu).$$
(5.3.12)

By the definition of $k(\pi)$, it should be less than $\sharp(\pi)$, i.e., $\ell - k(\pi) > 0$. Thus, (5.3.12) is equivalent to that $(\ell - k(\pi), k(\pi), s(\pi))$ is a solution to (5.3.10) with $n = \ell$ and $n' = m(\mu)$, which is unique.

(i) Suppose that $\sharp(\mu) = m(\mu)$. By (5.3.11), there are $m(\mu)$ choices for ℓ . For a fixed ℓ , $k(\pi)$ and $s(\pi)$ are uniquely determined as seen above. With these $(\ell, k(\pi), s(\pi))$, we can construct π , in which parts are multiples of t differing by at most t and there are no overlined parts.

For each π , by having the first occurrence of the smallest parts overlined, we obtain a different pre-image. Therefore, the total number of pre-images must be equal to $2m(\mu)$ as claimed. Also, $m(\mu)$ pre-images have no overlined parts and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have one overlined smallest part.

(ii) Suppose that $\sharp(\mu) > m(\mu)$. By (5.3.11), there are $(m(\mu) + 1)$ choices for ℓ . For a fixed ℓ , $k(\pi)$ and $s(\pi)$ are uniquely determined. With these $(\ell, k(\pi), s(\pi))$, we can construct π , in which no multiples of t are overlined.

Note that from the construction of ϕ , $\sharp(\mu) - m(\mu)$ counts the nonzero residues of the parts of π modulo t. So, if $\sharp(\pi) > \sharp(\mu) - m(\mu)$, then π must have multiples of t as parts. For such π , by having the first occurrence of the smallest multiples of t overlined, we obtain a different pre-image.

Therefore, the total number of pre-images must be equal to $(2m(\mu) + 1)$ as claimed. Also, $(m(\mu) + 1)$ pre-images have the same number of overlined parts as μ and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have one more overlined part than μ does.

Theorem 5.3.6 yields

$$\sum_{\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t} z^{o(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{\mu \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t} \left(\left(1 - \delta_{\sharp(\mu), m(\mu)} \right) + (1+z)m(\mu) \right) z^{o(\mu)} q^{|\mu|}.$$
(5.3.13)

In the following example, we present how to find all the pre-images π of μ .

Example 5.3.2. Let t = 3.

(i) Let $\mu = (3, 3, 3)$. Since $\sharp(\mu) = m(\mu) = 3$, by Lemma 5.3.4

 $1 \le \sharp(\pi) \le 3.$

By solving (5.3.12), we have $(\sharp(\pi), k(\pi), s(\pi)) = (1, 0, 3), (2, 1, 1), (3, 0, 1)$, which yield

 $(9), (\overline{9}),$

$$(6,3), (6,\overline{3}),$$

 $(3,3,3), (\overline{3},3,3),$

respectively. There are $2m(\mu)$ pre-images.

(ii) Let $\mu = (3, 3, 3, \overline{1}, 1)$. Since $\sharp(\mu) = 5$ and $m(\mu) = 3$, by Lemma 5.3.4

 $2 \le \sharp(\pi) \le 5.$

By solving (5.3.12), we have $(\sharp(\pi), k(\pi), s(\pi)) = (2, 1, 1), (3, 0, 1), (4, 3, 0), (5, 3, 0)$, which yield

$$(7,\overline{4}),$$

 $(\overline{4},4,3),(\overline{4},4,\overline{3}),$
 $(4,3,3,\overline{1}),(4,\overline{3},3,\overline{1}),$
 $(3,3,3,\overline{1},1),(\overline{3},3,3,\overline{1},1),$

respectively. Thus, there are $2m(\mu) + 1$ pre-images.

5.3.2.2 Partition Sets $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ and $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$

We next construct a weight preserving map ψ from $\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ to $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$. Let us recall the definition of $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$, from which it is clear that

$$\sum_{\beta \in \overline{\mathcal{B}}_t} z^{o(\beta)} q^{|\beta|} = (1 + q^t + q^{2t} + \dots) \left(\frac{(-zq;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1 \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{(-zq;q)_t}{(q;q)_t} - 1 \right), \tag{5.3.14}$$

where $o(\beta)$ denotes the number of overlined parts in β , which is indeed the number of overlined parts in the second subpartition of β .

We now construct a map $\psi : \overline{\mathcal{B}}_t \to \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$ as follows:

- (1) First collect all parts equal to t in both subpartitions and replace an overlined t by a non-overlined t;
- (2) and then append the remaining parts in the second subpartition to the parts collected in (1).

For example, $[(3), (3, 3, \overline{1}, 1)]$ and $[(3), (\overline{3}, 3, \overline{1}, 1)]$ are both mapped to $(3, 3, 3, \overline{1}, 1)$ under ψ .

Let $\mu \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}_t$. Suppose that $\sharp(\mu) = m(\mu)$, i.e., μ has parts equal to t only. Then, its pre-image β must be a bipartition of this form

$$[\underbrace{(t,\ldots,t)}_{m(\mu)-x},\underbrace{(t,\ldots,t)}_{x}]$$

for some x > 0 with either the first occurrence or none of t's in the second subpartition overlined. Thus there are $2m(\mu)$ pre-images of μ in $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$ under ψ . Of those pre-images, $m(\mu)$ pre-images have the same number of overlined parts as μ , and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have one more overlined part than μ .

Suppose that $\sharp(\mu) > m(\mu)$, i.e., μ has a part not equal to t. Then, its pre-image π must be a bipartition of this form

$$[\underbrace{(t,\ldots,t)}_{m(\mu)-x},\underbrace{(t,\ldots,t)}_{x},\mu_{m(\mu)+1},\ldots)]$$

for some $x \ge 0$ with either the first occurrence or none of t's in the second subpartition overlined. Thus there are $2m(\mu) + 1$ pre-images of μ in $\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t$ under ψ . Of those pre-images, $(m(\mu) + 1)$ pre-images have the same number of overlined parts as μ , and the other $m(\mu)$ pre-images have one more overlined part than μ .

Therefore, it follows from the map ψ that

$$\sum_{\mu\in\overline{\mathcal{P}}_t} \left(\left(1 - \delta_{\sharp(\mu),m(\mu)}\right) + (1+z)m(\mu) \right) z^{o(\mu)} q^{|\mu|} = \sum_{\beta\in\overline{\mathcal{B}}_t} z^{o(\beta)} q^{|\beta|}.$$
 (5.3.15)

By (5.3.13), (5.3.14), and (5.3.15),

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{m \ge 0} g_t(m, n) z^m q^n = \sum_{\pi \in \overline{\mathcal{G}}_t} z^{o(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{\beta \in \overline{\mathcal{B}}_t} z^{o(\beta)} q^{|\beta|} = \frac{1}{1 - q^t} \left(\frac{(-zq; q)_t}{(q; q)_t} - 1 \right),$$

which completes the proof of (5.3.1).

5.4 George Beck's Conjecture

Let us turn our attention to a conjecture due to George Beck (cf. A034296 in the OEIS [163]).

Conjecture 5.4.1. The number of gap-free partitions (i.e. partitions with the difference between each pair of consecutive parts being at most 1) of n is also the sum of the smallest parts in the distinct partitions (i.e. partitions with distinct parts) of n with an odd number of parts.

Let gf(n) denote the number of gap-free partitions of n. This sequence is listed as A034296 in the OEIS [163]. To determine the generating function of gf(n), we only need the following trivial observation (cf. [17]):

The conjugates of gap-free partitions are partitions where only the largest part may repeat.

Hence we have

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{gf}(n) q^n = \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} (-q; q)_{t-1}.$$
(5.4.1)

Now let us show that, if $\operatorname{sspt}_{\mathscr{M}}(n)$ denotes the sum of the smallest parts in the distinct partitions of n with an odd number of parts, then

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{sspt}_{\mathscr{D}}(n) q^n = \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} (-q; q)_{t-1}.$$
(5.4.2)

The following result is a consequence of (5.4.1) and (5.4.2).

Theorem 5.4.1. Conjecture 5.4.1 is true.

To confirm (5.4.2), we require a bivariate generating function identity.

Theorem 5.4.2. Let \mathscr{D} be the set of distinct partitions. Let $\sigma(\pi)$ denote the smallest part of a partition π , and $\sharp(\pi)$ the number of parts of π .

Then

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} \sigma(\pi) z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \Big((-z; q)_t - 1 \Big).$$
(5.4.3)

Hence,

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \operatorname{sspt}_{\mathscr{D}}(n) q^n = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} \sigma(\pi) \left(1 - (-1)^{\sharp(\pi)} \right) q^{|\pi|}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \left((-1; q)_t - 1 \right) - \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \left((1; q)_t - 1 \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} (-q; q)_{t-1},$$

which is as desired.

5.4.1 An Analytic Proof of (5.4.3)

We have

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} x^{\sigma(\pi)} z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{r \ge 1} z x^r q^r (1 + z q^{r+1}) (1 + z q^{r+2}) \cdots$$
$$= z \sum_{r \ge 1} x^r q^r (-z q^{r+1}; q)_{\infty}$$
$$= z (-zq; q)_{\infty} \sum_{r \ge 1} \frac{x^r q^r}{(-zq; q)_r}$$
$$= z (-zq; q)_{\infty} \left({}_2\phi_1 \left({\begin{array}{*{20}c} {0,q} \\ -zq} ; q, xq \right) - 1} \right).$$

Recall Heine's first transformation [16, Eq. (17.6.6)]:

$${}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{pmatrix}a,b\\c\\;q,z\end{pmatrix} = \frac{(b;q)_{\infty}(az;q)_{\infty}}{(c;q)_{\infty}(z;q)_{\infty}}{}_{2}\phi_{1}\begin{pmatrix}c/b,z\\az\\;q,b\end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.4.4)

Then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} x^{\sigma(\pi)} z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} &= \frac{z(q;q)_{\infty}}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} {}_{2} \phi_{1} \begin{pmatrix} -z, xq \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - z(-zq;q)_{\infty} \\ &= \frac{z(q;q)_{\infty}}{(xq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_{n} (xq;q)_{n} q^{n}}{(q;q)_{n}} - z(-zq;q)_{\infty} \\ &= z(q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_{n} q^{n}}{(q;q)_{n} (xq^{n+1};q)_{\infty}} - z(-zq;q)_{\infty}. \end{split}$$

Applying the operator $[\partial/\partial x]_{x=1}$ yields

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} \sigma(\pi) z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} &= \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} z(q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_n q^n}{(q;q)_n (xq^{n+1};q)_{\infty}} \right]_{x=1} \\ &= z(q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_n q^n}{(q;q)_n} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \frac{1}{(xq^{n+1};q)_{\infty}} \right]_{x=1} \\ &= z(q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_n q^n}{(q;q)_n} \left[\frac{1}{(xq^{n+1};q)_{\infty}} \sum_{t \ge n+1} \frac{q^t}{1-xq^t} \right]_{x=1} \\ &= z(q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-z;q)_n q^n}{(q;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{t \ge n+1} \frac{q^t}{1-q^t} \end{split}$$

$$= z \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \sum_{n=0}^{t-1} (-z; q)_n q^n$$

= $z \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \frac{(-z; q)_t - 1}{z}$
= $\sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} ((-z; q)_t - 1).$

This is (5.4.3).

5.4.2 A Combinatorial Proof of (5.4.3)

It is notable that (5.4.3) looks quite similar to (5.2.6). Hence, it is natural to expect a combinatorial proof analogous to that in §5.3.2.

Our starting point is the following double counting argument.

Let $\Lambda(\pi)$ denote the largest part of a partition π . For a nonnegative integer t, we define

$$\mathscr{D}_t := \left\{ \pi \in \mathscr{D} : \Lambda(\pi) \ge t + 1 \text{ and } \Lambda(\pi) - \sigma(\pi) \le t \right\}.$$

Now given any $\pi \in \mathscr{D}$, if $\pi \in \mathscr{D}_t$, then $\Lambda(\pi) - \sigma(\pi) \leq t \leq \Lambda(\pi) - 1$ by the definition. Hence, π is exactly contained in the following $\sigma(\pi)$ partition sets: $\mathscr{D}_{\Lambda(\pi)-1}, \mathscr{D}_{\Lambda(\pi)-2}, \ldots, \mathscr{D}_{\Lambda(\pi)-\sigma(\pi)}$. The following statement holds immediately.

Theorem 5.4.3. We have

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} \sigma(\pi) z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{t \ge 0} \sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}_t} z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|}.$$
(5.4.5)

One then sees that the remaining task is to study the generating function for \mathscr{D}_t with $t \geq 0$. For convenience, we now consider the generating function for \mathscr{D}_{t-1} with $t \geq 1$.

Let \mathscr{B}_t be the set of partition pairs (μ, ν) where μ is nonempty and its parts all have size t, and ν is a nonempty distinct partition with 0 being allowed as a part and the largest part being at most t - 1. For example,

$$((5,5,5,5,5), (4,2,1,0)) \in \mathscr{B}_5.$$

For $\pi = (\pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_\ell)$ in \mathscr{D}_{t-1} , we put $s = \lfloor \pi_\ell / t \rfloor$. We also let k be the positive integer such that $\pi_k \ge (s+1)t$ and $\pi_{k+1} < (s+1)t$. If there is no such k, then we let k = 0.

Now we construct a map $\phi_t : \mathscr{D}_{t-1} \to \mathscr{B}_t$ defined by

$$\phi_t \colon (\pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_\ell) \\ \mapsto \Big(\underbrace{(t, t, t, \dots, t)}_{s(\ell-k) + (s+1)k}, (\pi_{k+1} - st, \dots, \pi_\ell - st, \pi_1 - (s+1)t, \dots, \pi_k - (s+1)t) \Big).$$

Note that the second subpartition can be treated as $(\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_\ell)$ reduced modulo t, cyclically permuted such that they are weakly decreasing.

Similar to Theorem 5.3.3, we have

Lemma 5.4.4. ϕ_t is a weight preserving map from \mathscr{D}_{t-1} to \mathscr{B}_t . Furthermore, the number of parts is preserved by the second subpartition of the image.

Proof. Let $(\mu, \nu) = \phi_t(\pi)$. We first show that μ is nonempty. Since $\pi \in \mathscr{D}_{t-1}$, we have $\pi_1 \ge (t-1) + 1 = t$. Hence we take out at least one t from π_1 to form μ , which implies that μ is not empty.

On the other hand, we know that π is a distinct partition. Since $\pi_1 - \pi_\ell \leq t - 1 < t$, $s = \lfloor \pi_\ell / t \rfloor$, and $\pi_k \geq (s+1)t > \pi_{k+1}$, we have

$$t > \pi_{k+1} - st > \cdots > \pi_{\ell} - st > \pi_1 - (s+1)t > \cdots > \pi_k - (s+1)t.$$

Note that $\pi_k - (s+1)t$ could be 0 since π_k could be (s+1)t. Hence ν satisfies the conditions. It follows that $(\mu, \nu) \in \mathscr{B}_t$.

At last, it is obvious from the definition of ϕ_t that $|\phi_t(\pi)| = |\pi|$ and $\sharp(\nu) = \sharp(\pi)$. \Box

The rest is different to the argument in §5.3.2. We shall show

Lemma 5.4.5. ϕ_t is invertible.

Proof. Let $(\mu, \nu) \in \mathscr{B}_t$. Let the number of t in μ be $r \ge 1$ and let $\nu = (\nu_1, \nu_2, \ldots, \nu_\ell)$. Now we write $r = m\ell + r^*$ with $m \ge 0$ and $0 \le r^* \le \ell - 1$ being integers. We construct the inverse $\phi_t^{-1} : \mathscr{B}_t \to \mathscr{D}_{t-1}$ as follows.

$$\phi_t^{-1} \colon (\mu, \nu) \mapsto (\nu_{\ell - r^* + 1} + (m + 1)t, \dots, \nu_{\ell} + (m + 1)t, \nu_1 + mt, \dots, \nu_{\ell - r^*} + mt).$$

We now show that the image is in \mathscr{D}_{t-1} . Recall that $0 \leq \nu_{\ell} < \cdots < \nu_1 \leq t-1$. If $r^* \neq 0$, since $\nu_{\ell} + t > \nu_1$, we have

$$\nu_{\ell-r^*+1} + (m+1)t > \dots > \nu_{\ell} + (m+1)t > \nu_1 + mt > \dots > \nu_{\ell-r^*} + mt$$

Notice that $\nu_{\ell-r^*+1} + (m+1)t \ge t$. We further notice that $\nu_{\ell-r^*}$ is not the smallest part of ν , and hence $\nu_{\ell-r^*} > 0$. At last, we have $(\nu_{\ell-r^*+1} + (m+1)t) - (\nu_{\ell-r^*} + mt) = t - (\nu_{\ell-r^*} - \nu_{\ell-r^*+1}) \le t - 1$. Hence in this case the image is in \mathcal{D}_{t-1} .

If $r^* = 0$, then $m \ge 1$ since $r \ge 1$. We have $\nu_1 + mt > \cdots > \nu_{\ell} + mt > 0$ and $\nu_1 + mt \ge t$. We also have $(\nu_1 + mt) - (\nu_{\ell} + mt) = \nu_1 - \nu_{\ell} \le t - 1$. Hence the image is also in \mathscr{D}_{t-1} .

From the definition of ϕ_t and ϕ_t^{-1} , it is apparent that $\phi_t^{-1}(\phi_t(\pi)) = \pi$. Hence ϕ_t is invertible.

Example 5.4.1. For the partition sets \mathscr{D}_4 and \mathscr{B}_5 , we have

$$(9,7,6,5) \xrightarrow{\phi_5} ((5,5,5,5), (4,2,1,0))$$

and

$$(10, 9, 7, 6) \xrightarrow{\phi_5} ((5, 5, 5, 5, 5), (4, 2, 1, 0)).$$

It follows from Lemmas 5.4.4 and 5.4.5 that ϕ_t is a bijection from \mathscr{D}_{t-1} to \mathscr{B}_t . Hence, for $t \geq 1$,

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}_{t-1}} z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{(\mu,\nu) \in \mathscr{B}_t} z^{\sharp(\nu)} q^{|\mu| + |\nu|}.$$
(5.4.6)

The generating function for \mathscr{B}_t is easy to get:

$$\sum_{(\mu,\nu)\in\mathscr{B}_t} z^{\sharp(\nu)} q^{|\mu|+|\nu|} = \frac{q^t}{1-q^t} \Big((-z;q)_t - 1 \Big), \tag{5.4.7}$$

where $q^t/(1-q^t)$ comes from the first subpartition whereas $(-z;q)_t - 1$ comes from the second subpartition. Consequently, we have

Theorem 5.4.6. *For* $t \ge 1$ *,*

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}_{t-1}} z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \Big((-z; q)_t - 1 \Big).$$
(5.4.8)

Together with (5.4.5), we have

$$\sum_{\pi \in \mathscr{D}} \sigma(\pi) z^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} = \sum_{t \ge 1} \frac{q^t}{1 - q^t} \Big((-z)_t - 1 \Big),$$

which completes the proof of (5.4.3).

5.5 Endnotes

Quite recently, Bernard Lin [125] refined (5.3.1) and therefore presented a new proof of the general identity (5.2.2) in a combinatorial manner.

5.6 References

- [16] G. E. Andrews, q-Hypergeometric and related functions, NIST handbook of mathematical functions, 419–433, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [17] G. E. Andrews, The Bhargava–Adiga summation and partitions, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 84 (2017), no. 3-4, 151–160.
- [19] G. E. Andrews, M. Beck, and N. Robbins, Partitions with fixed differences between largest and smallest parts, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 143 (2015), no. 10, 4283–4289.
- [41] F. Breuer and B. Kronholm, A polyhedral model of partitions with bounded differences and a bijective proof of a theorem of Andrews, Beck, and Robbins, *Res. Number Theory* 2 (2016), Art. 2, 15 pp.
- [48] R. Chapman, Partitions with bounded differences between largest and smallest parts, Australas. J. Combin. 64 (2016), 376–378.
- [49] S. Chern, A curious identity and its applications to partitions with bounded part differences, New Zealand J. Math. 47 (2017), 23–26.
- [50] S. Chern, An overpartition analogue of partitions with bounded differences between largest and smallest parts, *Discrete Math.* **340** (2017), no. 12, 2834–2839.
- [51] S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck, Int. J. Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 3, 647–651.
- [52] S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck. II, Math. Student 88 (2019), no. 1-2, 159–164.
- [68] S. Chern and A. J. Yee, Overpartitions with bounded part differences, European J. Combin. 70 (2018), 317–324.
- [75] J. Dousse and B. Kim, An overpartition analogue of the q-binomial coefficients, Ramanujan J. 42 (2017), no. 2, 267–283.

- [125] Bernard L. S. Lin, Refinements of the results on partitions and overpartitions with bounded part differences, *Discrete Math.* **343** (2020), no. 1, 111676, 5 pp.
- [163] N. J. A. Sloane, On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences. http://oeis.org.

Chapter 6 Span One Linked Partition Ideals: Kanade–Russell Conjectures

This chapter comes from

- S. Chern, Linked partition ideals, directed graphs and q-multi-summations, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.33, 29 pp. (Ref. [54])
- S. Chern and Z. Li, Linked partition ideals and Kanade–Russell conjectures, *Discrete Math.* 343 (2020), no. 7, 111876, 24 pp. (Ref. [65])

In this series of three chapters, we will develop a theory on the Andrews–Gordon type generating function of span one linked partition ideals and related Rogers–Ramanujan type identities.

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities and Kanade–Russell Conjectures

Let us warm up with the two Rogers–Ramanujan identities [145, 156], which state as follows.

Theorem 6.1.1 (Rogers–Ramanujan identities). (i). The number of partitions of a non-negative integer n into parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 5 is the same as the number of partitions of n such that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2.

(ii). The number of partitions of a non-negative integer n into parts congruent to ± 2 modulo 5 is the same as the number of partitions of n such that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2 and such that the smallest part is at least 2.

There are a number of identities of the same flavor discovered by Schur [160], Gleißberg [84], Gordon [86], Göllnitz [85] and so forth. Among these Rogers–Ramanujan type identities, two types of partition sets are considered. One partition set is consist of partitions

under certain *congruence* condition. For example, in the first Rogers–Ramanujan identity, we enumerate partitions into parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 5. The other partition set contains partitions under certain *difference-at-a-distance* theme. Let us first adopt a definition in [108].

Definition 6.1.1. We say that a partition $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$ satisfies the difference at least d at distance k condition if, for all $j, \lambda_j - \lambda_{j+k} \ge d$.

In this setting, we may paraphrase the corresponding partition set in the first Rogers– Ramanujan identity as the set of partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1.

In 2014, Kanade and Russell [108] proposed six challenging conjectures on partition identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type. For example, the first of their conjectures reads as follows.

Conjecture 6.1.1 (Kanade–Russell conjecture I_1). The number of partitions of a nonnegative integer n into parts congruent to 1, 3, 6 or 8 modulo 9 is the same as the number of partitions of n with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is divisible by 3.

It should be remarked that these conjectures are intriguingly related to the representation theory of affine Lie algebra. For a detailed description of the idea behind them, one may refer to Kanade's Ph.D. Thesis [106].

On the other hand, in Russell's Ph.D. Thesis [158], companions to the Kanade– Russell conjectures I_4 – I_6 were considered. Further, several more conjectures of the same flavor were proposed in [109]. In particular, among these conjectures (including the six conjectures in [108]), there are eleven of them involving the modulus 12. It is notable that in a very recent paper of Bringmann, Jennings-Shaffer and Mahlburg [43], seven of the modulo 12 conjectures were proved, while the rest were, although not completely proved, simplified to a great extent.

One major difficulty of proving the Kanade–Russell conjectures is that it is not always easy to find generating functions for partitions under certain difference-at-a-distance themes. Fortunately, this problem was settled in two recent papers of Kanade and Russell [109], and Kurşungöz [116], in which different sets of identities (but with some overlap) were demonstrated, respectively. However, their proofs, although different, are both purely combinatorial.

Hence, a natural question arises: Is it possible to obtain the Andrews–Gordon type generating function for the partitions under certain difference-at-a-distance themes in a more algebraic mannar?

6.1.2 Span One Linked Partition Ideals

In the 1970s, George Andrews [8, 10, 11] have already started a systematic study of Rogers–Ramanujan type identities and developed a general theory in which the concept of *linked partition ideals* was introduced. However, in this series, we will not go into details of this concept due to its lengthy definition. The interested readers may refer to Chapter 8 of Andrews' monograph: *The theory of partitions* [12].

What we are interested in this paper is a special case of linked partition ideals — the *span one linked partition ideals*. In fact, this special case is enough to cover most partition sets under difference-at-a-distance themes.

Let us first fix some notations.

Let \mathscr{P} be the set of all partitions. We define a map $\phi : \mathscr{P} \to \mathscr{P}$ by sending a partition λ to another partition which is obtained by adding 1 to each part of λ . For example, $\phi(5+3+3+2+1) = 6+4+4+3+2$. Let $\phi^0(\lambda) = \lambda$ and for $n \ge 1$ we recursively define $\phi^n(\lambda) = \phi(\phi^{n-1}(\lambda))$. Hence, $\phi^n(\lambda)$ could be obtained by adding n to each part of λ . Also, for two partitions λ and π , their sum $\lambda \oplus \pi$ is constructed by collecting the parts of λ and π in weakly decreasing order. For example, if $\lambda = 3 + 2 + 1 + 1$ and $\pi = 4 + 2 + 2 + 1 + 1$, then $\lambda \oplus \pi = 4 + 3 + 2 + 2 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1$.

Let Π be a finite set of partitions containing the empty partition \emptyset . For each partition $\pi \in \Pi$, we define its *linking set* $\mathcal{L}(\pi)$ by a subset of Π containing the empty partition. Also, we require that the linking set of the empty partition, $\mathcal{L}(\emptyset)$, equals Π . It is possible to construct finite chains

$$\lambda_0 \to \lambda_1 \to \lambda_2 \to \dots \to \lambda_K \tag{6.1.1}$$

such that $\lambda_0 \in \Pi$, $\lambda_K \neq \emptyset$ and for all $1 \leq k \leq K$, $\lambda_k \in \mathcal{L}(\lambda_{k-1})$. We may further extend such a finite chain to an infinite chain ending with a series of empty partitions

$$\mathcal{C}: \lambda_0 \to \lambda_1 \to \lambda_2 \to \dots \to \lambda_K \to \emptyset \to \emptyset \to \dots .$$
(6.1.2)

Let S be a positive integer no smaller than the largest part among all partitions in Π . The above infinite chain \mathcal{C} uniquely determines a partition by

$$\lambda_0 \oplus \phi^S(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^{2S}(\lambda_2) \oplus \dots \oplus \phi^{KS}(\lambda_K) \oplus \phi^{(K+1)S}(\emptyset) \oplus \phi^{(K+2)S}(\emptyset) \oplus \dots, \quad (6.1.3)$$

which is equivalent to

$$\lambda_0 \oplus \phi^S(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^{2S}(\lambda_2) \oplus \dots \oplus \phi^{KS}(\lambda_K).$$
(6.1.4)

Let us collect such partitions along with the empty partition $\lambda = \emptyset$ (which corresponds to the infinite chain $\emptyset \to \emptyset \to \cdots$) and obtain a partition set $\mathscr{I} := \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$. Then \mathscr{I} is called a *span one linked partition ideal*.

Example 6.1.1. In the first Rogers–Ramanujan identity, we consider partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1. It is not hard to verify that this partition set is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where $\Pi = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}$,¹ the linking sets are

$$\mathcal{L}(\emptyset) = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(1) = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(2) = \{\emptyset, 2\},$$

and S = 2.

Finally, we consider a bivariate generating function for any subset \mathscr{S} of \mathscr{P} :

$$G_{\mathscr{S}}(x) = G_{\mathscr{S}}(x,q) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{S}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}.$$
(6.1.5)

Let $\mathscr{I} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ be a span one linked partition ideal. Let the *S*-tail of a partition λ be the collection of parts $\leq S$ in λ . If we further define \mathscr{I}_{π} to be the set of partitions in \mathscr{I} whose *S*-tail is $\pi \in \Pi$, then (8.4.13) in [12] tells us that

$$\sum_{\mu \in \mathscr{I}_{\pi}} x^{\sharp(\mu)} q^{|\mu|} = x^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} \sum_{\varpi \in \mathscr{L}(\pi)} \sum_{\nu \in \mathscr{I}_{\varpi}} (xq^S)^{\sharp(\nu)} q^{|\nu|}.$$
(6.1.6)

In other words,

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{\pi}}(x) = x^{\sharp(\pi)} q^{|\pi|} \sum_{\varpi \in \mathcal{L}(\pi)} G_{\mathscr{I}_{\varpi}}(xq^S).$$
(6.1.7)

6.1.3 Andrews' Guess

In a private communication between George Andrews, Zhitai Li and me, Andrews provided a basis of "guessing" the generating function for a linked partition ideal:

¹Here 1 denotes a partition containing one part of size 1 and likewise 2 denotes a partition containing one part of size 2.

Conjecture 6.1.2 (Andrews). Every linked partition ideal has a bivariate generating function of the form

$$\sum_{n_1,\dots,n_r \ge 0} \frac{(-1)^{L_1(n_1,\dots,n_r)} q^{Q(n_1,\dots,n_r) + L_2(n_1,\dots,n_r)} x^{L_3(n_1,\dots,n_r)}}{(q^{B_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{B_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r}},$$
(6.1.8)

in which L_1 , L_2 and L_3 are linear forms in n_1, \ldots, n_r and Q is a quadratic form in n_1, \ldots, n_r . Here the coefficient of the $x^m q^n$ term is the number of partitions of n in this linked partition ideal with exactly m parts.

This conjecture has numerous pieces of empirical evidence:

1. Recall that in the first Rogers–Ramanujan identity, we consider partitions of n such that each two consecutive parts have difference at least 2. We know that the generating function for such partitions is

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q;q)_n}.$$

A generalization of the Rogers–Ramanujan identities is due to Gordon (cf. Theorem 7.5 in [12]). In a special case of Gordon's generalization, we deal with partitions of the form $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$, where for all j, $\lambda_j - \lambda_{j+k-1} \ge 2$ with $k \ge 2$ fixed. It can be shown that the generating function is

$$\sum_{n_1,n_2,\dots,n_{k-1}\geq 0} \frac{q^{N_1^2+N_2^2+\dots+N_{k-1}^2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q;q)_{n_2}\cdots(q;q)_{n_{k-1}}},$$

where $N_j = n_j + n_{j+1} + \cdots + n_{k-1}$. And rews showed that this partition set is a linked partition ideal.

2. In the first Göllnitz–Gordon identity, one studies partitions of the form $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$, in which no odd part is repeated, $\lambda_j - \lambda_{j-1} \ge 2$ if λ_j odd and $\lambda_j - \lambda_{j-1} > 2$ if λ_j even. It can be shown that the generating function is

$$(-q;q^2)_{\infty} \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{(-1)^{n_2} q^{n_1^2 + 2n_1 n_2 + n_2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{n_1} (q^2;q^2)_{n_2}}$$

This partition set is also a linked partition ideal as claimed by Andrews.

With the aid of the above conjecture and necessary computer algebra systems, if we want to find a generating function identity for a linked partition ideal, we are able to single out the promising candidates by running through a number of functions in the above fashion and comparing the series expansions.

6.2 Systems of *q*-Difference Equations

As we will see in the next section, a crucial point there can be summarized as the following question: Suppose we have a system of q-difference equations, say,

$$\begin{cases} F_{1}(x) = p_{1,1}(x)F_{1}(xq^{S}) + p_{1,2}(x)F_{2}(xq^{S}) + \dots + p_{1,k}(x)F_{k}(xq^{S}) \\ F_{2}(x) = p_{2,1}(x)F_{1}(xq^{S}) + p_{2,2}(x)F_{2}(xq^{S}) + \dots + p_{2,k}(x)F_{k}(xq^{S}) \\ \vdots \\ F_{k}(x) = p_{k,1}(x)F_{1}(xq^{S}) + p_{k,2}(x)F_{2}(xq^{S}) + \dots + p_{k,k}(x)F_{k}(xq^{S}) \end{cases}$$

$$(6.2.1)$$

where the F's and p's are in x and q, is it possible to deduce a q-difference equation merely involving F_1 ? Fortunately, an affirmative algorithm is provided by Andrews in the proof of [12, Lemma 8.10]. We would like to translate Andrews' algorithm to the matrix form to make it more transparent.

At first, the system (6.2.1) can be written in the matrix form

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{1,1}(x) & p_{1,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{1,k}(x) \\ p_{2,1}(x) & p_{2,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{2,k}(x) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{k,1}(x) & p_{k,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{k,k}(x) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} F_1(xq^m) \\ F_2(xq^m) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(xq^m) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.2.2)

Step (1). We put $u_1(x) = F_1(x)$. Then (6.2.2) becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p_{1,1}(x) & p_{1,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{1,k}(x) \\ p_{2,1}(x) & p_{2,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{2,k}(x) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ p_{k,1}(x) & p_{k,2}(x) & \cdots & p_{k,k}(x) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1(xq^m) \\ F_2(xq^m) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(xq^m) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.2.3)

If $p_{1,2}(x) = p_{1,3}(x) = \cdots = p_{1,k}(x) = 0$, then we shall terminate at this place by noticing that

$$u_1(x) = p_{1,1}(x)u_1(xq^m).$$

For Steps (s) with $2 \le s \le k$, we proceed iteratively as follows.

Step (s). Supposing that in the (s-1)-th Step, we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(x) \\ \vdots \\ u_{s-1}(x) \\ F_{s}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_{k}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_{s-1} \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ u_{s-1}(xq^{m}) \\ F_{s}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ F_{k}(xq^{m}) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.2.4)$$

where \tilde{P}_{s-1} is a $k \times k$ matrix with the (i, j)-th entry being $\tilde{p}_{i,j}(x)$.

Since we have arrived at the sth Step, we know that at least one of the $\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)$, $\tilde{p}_{s-1,s+1}(x), \ldots, \tilde{p}_{s-1,k}(x)$ is not identically zero. Otherwise, the program should be terminated at the (s-1)-th Step. Further, if $\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)$ is identically zero and $\tilde{p}_{s-1,t}(x)$ (for some t with $s + 1 \leq t \leq k$) is not identically zero, (6.2.4) can be rewritten by swapping F_s and F_t . In such a case, \tilde{P}_{s-1} should be rewritten by swapping $\tilde{p}_{s,s}(x)$ and $\tilde{p}_{t,t}(x)$, swapping $\tilde{p}_{s,t}(x)$ and $\tilde{p}_{t,s}(x)$, swapping $\tilde{p}_{i,s}(x)$ and $\tilde{p}_{i,t}(x)$ for $i \neq s, t$, and swapping $\tilde{p}_{s,j}(x)$ and $\tilde{p}_{t,j}(x)$ for $j \neq s, t$. For notational convenience, we simply rename F_s by F_t and F_t by F_s so that the new relation is still of the form (6.2.4) while $\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)$ is not identically zero.

We then make the following substitution

$$u_s(xq^m) = \tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)F_s(xq^m) + \tilde{p}_{s-1,s+1}(x)F_{s+1}(xq^m) + \dots + \tilde{p}_{s-1,k}(x)F_k(xq^m).$$
(6.2.5)

Written in the matrix form, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(xq^{m}) \\ u_{2}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ u_{s-1}(xq^{m}) \\ u_{s}(xq^{m}) \\ F_{s+1}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ F_{k}(xq^{m}) \end{pmatrix} = T(x) \begin{pmatrix} u_{1}(xq^{m}) \\ u_{2}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ u_{s-1}(xq^{m}) \\ F_{s}(xq^{m}) \\ F_{s}(xq^{m}) \\ F_{s+1}(xq^{m}) \\ \vdots \\ F_{k}(xq^{m}) \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.2.6)

where

$$T(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x) & \tilde{p}_{s-1,s+1}(x) & \cdots & \tilde{p}_{s-1,k}(x) \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here all diagonal entries in the $k \times k$ matrix T(x) are 1 except for the *s*th diagonal entry. In the *s*th row of T(x), for $s \leq t \leq k$, the (s, t)-th entry is $\tilde{p}_{s-1,t}(x)$. All remaining entries in T(x) are 0.

Since $\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)$ is not identically zero, the matrix T(x) is invertible. In particular, we have

$$T(x)^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)} & -\frac{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)}{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)} & \cdots & -\frac{\tilde{p}_{s-1,k}(x)}{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

It follows from (6.2.4) and (6.2.6) that

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1(x) \\ \vdots \\ u_s(x) \\ F_{s+1}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(x) \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_s \begin{pmatrix} u_1(xq^m) \\ \vdots \\ u_s(xq^m) \\ F_{s+1}(xq^m) \\ \vdots \\ F_k(xq^m) \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.2.7)

where

$$\tilde{P}_s = T(xq^{-m})\tilde{P}_{s-1}T(x)^{-1}.$$

	1	2	3	4	•••	s	s+1	•••	k
1	(*	1	0	0	•••	0	0	•••	0
2	*	*	1	0	•••	0	0	•••	0
:	:	÷	÷	÷	·	÷	÷	·	:
s-1	*	*	*	*	•••	1	0	•••	0
s	*	*	*	*	•••	*	*	•••	*
÷	:	÷	÷	÷	·	÷	:	۰.	:
k	(*	*	*	*	•••	*	*	•••	*)

More precisely, in row r $(1 \le r \le s-1)$ of \tilde{P}_s , the (r, r+1)-th entry is 1 and the (r, c)-th entries are 0 for all c > r+1.

Proof. We argue by induction on s. When s = 1, there is nothing to prove. Assuming that the result is true for some s - 1 and noticing that \tilde{P}_{s-1} is such a matrix obtained in the (s - 1)-th Step, we know that $\tilde{p}_{r,r+1}(x) = 1$ for all $r \leq s - 2$ and that $\tilde{p}_{r,c}(x) = 0$ for all $r \leq s - 2$ and c > r + 1.

It is obvious that the first s-1 rows of $T(xq^{-m})\tilde{P}_{s-1}$ are identical to the first s-1 rows of \tilde{P}_{s-1} . Let the (j,c)-th entry of $T(x)^{-1}$ be $T_{j,c}^{(-1)}(x)$.

For $r \leq s-1$, the (r,c)-th entry of $\tilde{P}_s = T(xq^{-m})\tilde{P}_{s-1}T(x)^{-1}$ is given by

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \tilde{p}_{r,j}(x) T_{j,c}^{(-1)}(x)$$

If c = r + 1, then the only non-zero contribution in the above summation is

$$\tilde{p}_{r,r+1}(x)T_{r+1,r+1}^{(-1)}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 \cdot 1 & \text{if } r \le s-2\\ \tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x) \cdot \frac{1}{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)} & \text{if } r = s-1 \end{cases}$$
$$= 1.$$

If c > r + 1, then we first treat the r = s - 1 case. One has

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} \tilde{p}_{s-1,j}(x) T_{j,c}^{(-1)}(x) = \tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x) T_{s,c}^{(-1)}(x) + \tilde{p}_{s-1,c}(x) T_{c,c}^{(-1)}(x)$$

$$= \tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x) \cdot \left(-\frac{\tilde{p}_{s-1,c}(x)}{\tilde{p}_{s-1,s}(x)}\right) + \tilde{p}_{s-1,c}(x) \cdot 1$$

= 0.

For $r \leq s-2$, we simply notice that $\tilde{p}_{r,j}(x) = 0$ for j > r+1 from our assumption and that $T_{j,c}^{(-1)}(x) = 0$ for $j \leq r+1$ since $j \leq s-1$ and $j \neq c$.

Let $\tilde{p}_{i,j}^{\text{New}}(x)$ be the (i, j)-th entry of \tilde{P}_s . If $\tilde{p}_{s,t}^{\text{New}}(x) = 0$ for all $t \ge s + 1$, then we shall stop at this place by noticing with the help of Claim 6.2.1 that

$$u_{1}(x) = \tilde{p}_{1,1}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{1}(xq^{m}) + u_{2}(xq^{m}),$$

$$u_{2}(x) = \tilde{p}_{2,1}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{1}(xq^{m}) + \tilde{p}_{2,2}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{2}(xq^{m}) + u_{3}(xq^{m}),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$u_{s-1}(x) = \tilde{p}_{s-1,1}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{1}(xq^{m}) + \tilde{p}_{s-1,2}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{2}(xq^{m}) + \dots + u_{s}(xq^{m}),$$

$$u_{s}(x) = \tilde{p}_{s,1}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{1}(xq^{m}) + \tilde{p}_{s,2}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{2}(xq^{m}) + \dots + \tilde{p}_{s,s}^{\text{New}}(x)u_{s}(xq^{m}).$$

Final setup. Assuming that the above program is terminated after $\ell \leq k$ steps, we obtain a new system of q-difference equations

$$\begin{aligned} u_1(x) &= r_{1,1}(x)u_1(xq^m) + u_2(xq^m), \\ u_2(x) &= r_{2,1}(x)u_1(xq^m) + r_{2,2}(x)u_2(xq^m) + u_3(xq^m), \\ &\vdots \\ u_{\ell-1}(x) &= r_{\ell-1,1}(x)u_1(xq^m) + r_{\ell-1,2}(x)u_2(xq^m) + \dots + r_{\ell-1,\ell-1}(x)u_{\ell-1}(x) + u_\ell(xq^m), \\ u_\ell(x) &= r_{\ell,1}(x)u_1(xq^m) + r_{\ell,2}(x)u_2(xq^m) + \dots + r_{\ell,\ell-1}(x)u_{\ell-1}(xq^m) + r_{\ell,\ell}(x)u_\ell(xq^m), \end{aligned}$$

where the r's are in x and q.

With this new system, a q-difference equation involving merely u_1 can be obtained by simple eliminations. Finally, we recall that $F_1(x)$ is set to be $u_1(x)$ in Step (1).

6.3 Kanade–Russell Conjectures

We may summarize the following four types of partition sets under difference-at-adistance themes from the Kanade–Russell conjectures. • Type I:

Partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is divisible by 3.

• Type II:

Partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is congruent to 2 modulo 3.

• Type III:

Partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 3 such that if parts at distance 2 differ by at most 1, then the sum of the two parts and their intermediate part is congruent to 1 modulo 3.

• Type IV:

Partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 3 such that if parts at distance 2 differ by at most 1, then the sum of the two parts and their intermediate part is congruent to 2 modulo 3.

In this section, we investigate partition sets of types I, II, III and IV under the setting of linked partition ideals.

6.3.1 Partition Set of Type I

Recall that the partition set of type I is the set of partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is divisible by 3. In other words, if $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$ is in this partition set, then

- (i) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+2} \geq 3;$
- (ii) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+1} \leq 1$ implies $\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+1} \equiv 0 \pmod{3}$.

Let $\mathcal{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I}}}$ denote the partition set of type I.

Claim 6.3.1. $\mathscr{I}_{T_{I}}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where S = 3, and

 $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_7\}$ along with the linking sets given as follows.

Π	linking set
$\pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_2 = 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_3 = 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7\}$
$\pi_4 = 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_5 = 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_6 = 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_7 = 3 + 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$

Proof. A straightforward verification tells us that any partition in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ satisfies distance conditions (i) and (ii) above and hence is in \mathscr{I}_{T_1} .

On the other hand, given a partition $\lambda \in \mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I}}}$, we decompose it as

$$\lambda_0 \oplus \phi^3(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^{3 \cdot 2}(\lambda_2) \oplus \dots \oplus \phi^{3K}(\lambda_K).$$

Note that for $0 \leq k \leq K$, $\phi^{3k}(\lambda_k)$ is simply the collection of parts in λ of size between 3k + 1 and 3k + 3. First, to ensure the distance conditions (i) and (ii), we must have $\lambda_k \in \Pi$ for all k. Now we only need to check case by case. For example, if $\lambda_k = \pi_6 = 3$ for some k, then there is only one part of size 3k + 3 between 3k + 1 and 3k + 4. We consider parts of size between 3k + 4 and 3k + 6. The distance conditions (i) and (ii) sieve the following four choices: \emptyset , (3k + 5), (3k + 6) and (3k + 6) + (3k + 6). Hence, we have four choices for λ_{k+1} : π_1 , π_5 , π_6 and π_7 . For the remaining cases, we may carry out the same argument. Hence, λ is in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$.

Consequently, $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I}}} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S).$

Let us denote by $H_i(x) = H_i(x, q)$ the generating function of partitions λ in \mathscr{I}_{T_1} with 3-tail equal to π_i for i = 1, 2, ..., 7 where the π_i 's are as defined in Lemma 6.3.1.

Following (6.1.7), we have

$$H_{1}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.1)$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-1}H_{2}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.2)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-3}H_{3}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.3)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_{4}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.4)$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-2}H_{5}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.5)$$

$$(6.3.5)$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-3}H_6(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.6)

$$x^{-2}q^{-6}H_7(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3).$$
(6.3.7)

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},2}}}(x), G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},3}}}(x)$) denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I}}}$ whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2, 3).

It follows that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_3(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

= $H_1(xq^{-3}),$ (6.3.8)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

= $x^{-1}H_6(xq^{-3}),$ (6.3.9)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,3}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

= $x^{-2}H_7(xq^{-3}).$ (6.3.10)

Hence, to determine q-difference equations satisfied by $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x)$, $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,3}}}(x)$, it suffices to find q-difference equations for $H_1(x)$, $H_6(x)$ and $H_7(x)$, respectively.

We now deduce from (6.3.1), (6.3.2), (6.3.3) and (6.3.5) that

$$H_2(x) = xqH_1(x), (6.3.11)$$

$$H_3(x) = x^2 q^3 H_1(x), (6.3.12)$$

$$H_5(x) = xq^2 H_1(x), (6.3.13)$$

and likewise from (6.3.4) and (6.3.6) that

$$H_4(x) = xqH_6(x). (6.3.14)$$

As a result, the system (6.3.1)–(6.3.7) can be rewritten as
$$H_1(x) = (1 + xq^4 + x^2q^9 + xq^5)H_1(xq^3) + (1 + xq^4)H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3), \qquad (6.3.15)$$

$$H_6(x) = (xq^3 + x^2q^8)H_1(xq^3) + xq^3H_6(xq^3) + xq^3H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.16)

$$H_7(x) = x^2 q^6 H_1(xq^3) + x^2 q^6 H_6(xq^3) + x^2 q^6 H_7(xq^3).$$
(6.3.17)

We first use the algorithm in §6.2 to deduce the q-difference equation satisfied by $H_1(x)$ and accordingly $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(x)$.

Step (1). We put $u_1(x) = H_1(x)$. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1(x) \\ H_6(x) \\ H_7(x) \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_1 \begin{pmatrix} u_1(xq^3) \\ H_6(xq^3) \\ H_7(xq^3) \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.3.18)

where

$$\tilde{P}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + xq^4 + x^2q^9 + xq^5 & 1 + xq^4 & 1\\ xq^3 + x^2q^8 & xq^3 & xq^3\\ x^2q^6 & x^2q^6 & x^2q^6 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Step (2). We put $u_6(x) = (1 + xq^4)H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3)$. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1(x) \\ u_6(x) \\ H_7(x) \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_2 \begin{pmatrix} u_1(xq^3) \\ u_6(xq^3) \\ H_7(xq^3) \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.3.19)

where

$$\tilde{P}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + xq^{4} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{9} & 1 & 0 \\ xq^{3}(1 + xq + xq^{3} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{6}) & \frac{xq^{3}(1 + xq + xq^{3})}{1 + xq^{4}} & \frac{x^{2}q^{7}(1 + xq + xq^{3})}{1 + xq^{4}} \\ & x^{2}q^{6} & \frac{x^{2}q^{6}}{1 + xq^{4}} & \frac{x^{3}q^{10}}{1 + xq^{4}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Step (3). We put $u_7(x) = \frac{x^2 q^7 (1 + xq + xq^3)}{1 + xq^4} H_7(xq^3)$. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} u_1(x) \\ u_6(x) \\ u_7(x) \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_3 \begin{pmatrix} u_1(xq^3) \\ u_6(xq^3) \\ u_7(xq^3) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (6.3.20)$$

where

$$\tilde{P}_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + xq^{4} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{9} & 1 & 0 \\ xq^{3}(1 + xq + xq^{3} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{6}) & \frac{xq^{3}(1 + xq + xq^{3})}{1 + xq^{4}} & 1 \\ \frac{x^{4}q^{7}(1 + x + xq^{-2})}{1 + xq} & \frac{x^{4}q^{7}(1 + x + xq^{-2})}{(1 + xq)(1 + xq^{4})} & \frac{x^{3}q^{4}(1 + x + xq^{-2})}{(1 + xq)(1 + xq + xq^{3})} \end{pmatrix}.$$

For convenience, we write

$$u_1(x) = r_{1,1}(x)u_1(xq^3) + u_6(xq^3), (6.3.21)$$

$$u_6(x) = r_{6,1}(x)u_1(xq^3) + r_{6,6}(x)u_6(xq^3) + u_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.22)

$$u_7(x) = r_{7,1}(x)u_1(xq^3) + r_{7,6}(x)u_5(xq^3) + r_{7,7}u_6(xq^3),$$
(6.3.23)

where the coefficients are rational functions in x and q given by \tilde{P}_3 .

Noting from (6.3.8) that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x) = H_1(xq^{-3}) = u_1(xq^{-3}), \qquad (6.3.24)$$

we may eliminate $u_6(x)$ by (6.3.21)

$$u_6(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(x) - r_{1,1}(xq^{-3})G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(xq^3).$$
(6.3.25)

Substituting (6.3.25) into (6.3.22), we may eliminate $u_7(x)$

$$u_{7}(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(xq^{-3}) - \left(r_{1,1}(xq^{-6}) + r_{6,6}(xq^{-3})\right)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x) + \left(r_{1,1}(xq^{-3})r_{6,6}(xq^{-3}) - r_{6,1}(xq^{-3})\right)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(xq^{3}).$$
(6.3.26)

Substituting (6.3.24), (6.3.25) and (6.3.26) into (6.3.23), we arrive at, after simplification, the following q-difference equation for $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x)$.

Theorem 6.3.2. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(xq^{9}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.27)$$

$$p_0(x,q) = 1 + x(q^4 + q^6),$$

$$p_{3}(x,q) = -1 - x(q + q^{2} + q^{3} + q^{4} + q^{6}) - x^{2}(q^{3} + q^{4} + q^{5} + 2q^{6} + q^{7} + q^{8} + q^{9}) - x^{3}(q^{7} + q^{9} + q^{10} + q^{12}),$$

$$p_{6}(x,q) = x^{3}(q^{11} + q^{13}) + x^{4}(q^{14} + q^{15} + q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18}) + x^{5}(q^{19} + q^{21}),$$

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{27} + x^6 (q^{28} + q^{30}).$$

In the same manner, we may find the q-difference equations for $H_6(x)$ and $H_7(x)$, and accordingly $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,3}}}(x)$.

Theorem 6.3.3. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(xq^{9}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.28)$$

where

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^5 + q^8), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^8) \\ &\quad - x^2(2q^6 + q^7 + q^8 + q^9 + q^{10} + q^{11} + q^{12}) - x^3(q^{11} + 2q^{14} + q^{17}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^3(q^{16} + q^{17}) + x^4(-q^{17} + q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{24}) \\ &\quad + x^5(q^{26} + q^{29}), \end{split}$$

and

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{33} + x^6 (q^{35} + q^{38}).$$

Theorem 6.3.4. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,3}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,3}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,3}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,3}}}(xq^{9}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.29)$$

$$p_0(x,q) = 1 + x(q^6 + q^7),$$

$$p_{3}(x,q) = -1 - x(q^{3} + q^{4} + q^{5} + q^{6} + q^{7}) - x^{2}(q^{6} + q^{8} + 2q^{9} + 2q^{10} + q^{11} + q^{12}) - x^{3}(q^{12} + q^{13} + q^{15} + q^{16}), p_{6}(x,q) = x^{3}(q^{16} + q^{17}) + x^{4}(q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{24}) + x^{5}(q^{27} + q^{28}),$$

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{36} + x^6 (q^{39} + q^{40}).$$

6.3.2 Partition Set of Type II

Recall that the partition set of type II is the set of partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is congruent to 2 modulo 3. In other words, if $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$ is in this partition set, then

- (i) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+2} \ge 3;$
- (ii) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+1} \leq 1$ implies $\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+1} \equiv 2 \pmod{3}$.

Let $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II}}}$ denote the partition set of type II.

Claim 6.3.5. $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II}}}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where S = 3, and $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_7\}$ along with the linking sets given as follows.

П	linking set
$\pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_2 = 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7\}$
$\pi_3 = 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7\}$
$\pi_4 = 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_5 = 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_6 = 3 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_7 = 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$

Similarly, let us denote by $H_i(x) = H_i(x,q)$ the generating function of partitions λ in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{II}}}$ with 3-tail equal to π_i for i = 1, 2, ..., 7 where the π_i 's are as defined in Claim 6.3.5. Following (6.1.7), we have

$$H_1(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3),$$

$$(6.3.30)$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-1}H_{2}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.31)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-2}H_{3}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.32)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_4(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.33)

$$x^{-1}q^{-2}H_5(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.34)

$$x^{-2}q^{-5}H_6(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.35)

$$x^{-1}q^{-3}H_7(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3).$$
(6.3.36)

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(x)$) denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II}}}$ whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2).

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x)$ denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II}}}$ where 1 appears at most once.

It follows that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_3(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

$$= H_1(xq^{-3}), \qquad (6.3.37)$$

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

$$= x^{-1}H_7(xq^{-3}), \qquad (6.3.38)$$

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x)$$

$$= x^{-1}qH_5(xq^{-3}). \qquad (6.3.39)$$

We may deduce from (6.3.30), (6.3.31) and (6.3.32) that

$$H_2(x) = xqH_1(x), (6.3.40)$$

$$H_3(x) = x^2 q^2 H_1(x), (6.3.41)$$

and likewise from (6.3.33), (6.3.35) and (6.3.36) that

$$H_4(x) = xqH_7(x), (6.3.42)$$

$$H_6(x) = xq^2 H_7(x). (6.3.43)$$

Hence, the system (6.3.30)-(6.3.36) can be rewritten as

$$H_1(x) = (1 + xq^4 + x^2q^8)H_1(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + (1 + xq^4 + xq^5)H_7(xq^3),$$
(6.3.44)

$$H_5(x) = (xq^2 + x^2q^6)H_1(xq^3) + xq^2H_5(xq^3) + (xq^2 + x^2q^6 + x^2q^7)H_7(xq^3), \quad (6.3.45)$$

$$H_7(x) = xq^3H_1(xq^3) + xq^3H_5(xq^3) + (xq^3 + x^2q^8)H_7(xq^3).$$
(6.3.46)

Using the algorithm in §6.2, we are able to prove the following q-difference equations for $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x)$, $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(x)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x)$, respectively.

Theorem 6.3.6. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(xq^{9}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.47)$$

where

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^4 + q^5), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5) - x^2(q^2 + q^4 + 2q^5 + 2q^6 + q^7 + q^8) \\ &- x^3(q^6 + q^7 + q^9 + q^{10}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^3(q^{10} + q^{11}) + x^4(q^{12} + q^{13} + q^{14} + q^{15} + q^{16}) + x^5(q^{17} + q^{18}), \end{split}$$

and

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{26} + x^6 (q^{27} + q^{28}).$$

Theorem 6.3.7. It holds that

$$p_0(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(x) + p_3(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(xq^3) + p_6(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(xq^6)$$

$$+ p_9(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{11,2}}}(xq^9) = 0, \qquad (6.3.48)$$

where

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^5 + q^7), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^7) \\ &\quad - x^2(q^5 + q^6 + q^7 + 2q^8 + q^9 + q^{10} + q^{11}) - x^3(q^{10} + q^{12} + q^{13} + q^{15}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^3(q^{14} + q^{16}) + x^4(q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22}) + x^5(q^{24} + q^{26}), \end{split}$$

and

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{32} + x^6 (q^{34} + q^{36}).$$

Theorem 6.3.8. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(xq^{9}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.49)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^4 + q^8), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^8) \\ &- x^2(q^4 + 2q^5 + q^6 + q^8 + q^9 + q^{10} + q^{11}) - x^3(q^9 + q^{12} + q^{13} + q^{16}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^3(-q^{12} + q^{13} + q^{14} + q^{15}) \\ &+ x^4(-q^{13} + q^{15} + q^{16} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22}) + x^5(q^{23} + q^{27}), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$p_9(x,q) = x^5 q^{29} + x^6 (q^{30} + q^{34}).$$

6.3.3 Partition Set of Type III

Recall that the partition set of type III is the set of partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 3 such that if parts at distance 2 differ by at most 1, then the sum of the two parts and their intermediate part is congruent to 1 modulo 3. In other words, if $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$ is in this partition set, then

- (i) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+3} \ge 3;$
- (ii) $\lambda_i \lambda_{i+2} \le 1$ implies $\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+1} + \lambda_{i+2} \equiv 1 \pmod{3}$.

Let $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III}}}$ denote the partition set of type III.

Claim 6.3.9. $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III}}}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where S = 3, and $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_{15}\}$ along with the linking sets are given as follows.

П	linking set									
$\pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_2 = 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_3 = 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_4 = 2$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_5 = 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_6 = 2 + 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{11}, \pi_{12}, \pi_{13}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_7 = 2 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_8 = 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_9 = 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_{10} = 3 + 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_{11} = 3 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_{12} = 3 + 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_{13} = 3 + 2 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}\}$									
$\pi_{14} = 3 + 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									
$\pi_{15} = 3 + 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$									

Let us denote by $H_i(x) = H_i(x,q)$ the generating function of partitions λ in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III}}}$ with 3-tail equal to π_i for i = 1, 2, ..., 15 where the π_i 's are as defined in Claim 6.3.9.

Following (6.1.7), we have

$$H_{1}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) + H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}),$$
(6.3.50)

$$\begin{aligned} x^{-1}q^{-1}H_{2}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}), \end{aligned}$$
(6.3.51)
$$\begin{aligned} x^{-2}q^{-2}H_{3}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-2}H_4(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3)$$

$$(6.3.52)$$

$$+ H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$(6.3.53)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-3}H_5(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3)$$

$$+ H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3)$$

$$+ H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$(6.3.54)$$

$$x^{-3}q^{-4}H_6(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3)$$

$$+ H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3)$$

$$+ H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$(6.3.55)$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_7(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3)$$

$$H_{1}(w) = H_{1}(wq^{3}) + H_{2}(wq^{3}) + H_{4}(wq^{3}) + H_{13}(wq^{3}) + H_{14}(wq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}),$$

$$(6.3.56)$$

$$x^{-1}q^{-3}H_8(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.57)

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_9(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.58)

$$x^{-3}q^{-5}H_{10}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.59)

$$x^{-2}q^{-5}H_{11}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.60)

$$\begin{aligned} x^{-3}q^{-6}H_{12}(x) &= H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) \\ &+ H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) \\ &+ H_{15}(xq^3), \end{aligned} \tag{6.3.61}$$

$$x^{-3}q^{-7}H_{13}(x) &= H_1(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) \end{aligned}$$

$$^{-3}q^{-7}H_{13}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.62)

$$x^{-2}q^{-6}H_{14}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.63)

$$x^{-3}q^{-7}H_{15}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3).$$
(6.3.64)

This system may be simplified as

$$H_{1}(x) = (1 + xq^{4} + x^{2}q^{8} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{9} + x^{3}q^{13})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + (xq^{4} + 1 + xq^{4} + x^{2}q^{8} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{9})H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + (1 + xq^{4})H_{14}(xq^{3}),$$
(6.3.65)

$$H_8(x) = (xq^3 + x^2q^7 + x^2q^8 + x^3q^{12})H_1(xq^3) + (x^2q^7 + xq^3 + x^2q^7 + x^2q^8 + x^3q^{12})H_8(xq^3) + xq^3H_{13}(xq^3) + (xq^3 + x^2q^7)H_{14}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.66)

$$H_{13}(x) = (x^3q^7 + x^4q^{12})H_1(xq^3) + (x^4q^{11} + x^3q^7 + x^4q^{12})H_8(xq^3) + x^3q^7H_{13}(xq^3) + x^3q^7H_{14}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.67)

$$H_{14}(x) = (x^2 q^6 + x^3 q^{10} + x^3 q^{11}) H_1(xq^3) + (x^2 q^6 + x^3 q^{10} + x^3 q^{11}) H_8(xq^3) + (x^2 q^6 + x^3 q^{10}) H_{14}(xq^3).$$
(6.3.68)

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},2}}}(x)$) denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III}}}$ whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2).

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},a}}}(x)$ denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III}}}$ where 1 appears at most once.

It follows that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_3(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x) + H_8(x) + H_9(x) + H_{10}(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{12}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{14}(x) + H_{15}(x) = H_1(xq^{-3}), \qquad (6.3.69) G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_4(x) + H_7(x) + H_8(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{14}(x) = x^{-3}q^2H_{13}(xq^{-3}), \qquad (6.3.70) G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},a}}}(x) = H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_7(x) + H_8(x) + H_9(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{12}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{14}(x) + H_9(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{12}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{14}(x) + H_{15}(x) = x^{-1}H_8(xq^{-3}). \qquad (6.3.71)$$

Likewise, we can use the algorithm in §6.2 to deduce the following q-difference equations for $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(x)$, $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},2}}}(x)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},a}}}(x)$, respectively.

Theorem 6.3.10. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},1}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.72)$$

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^4 + q^5 + 2q^7 + q^9 + q^{10}) \\ &+ x^2(q^9 + 2q^{11} + q^{12} + q^{13} + 2q^{14} + q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{17} + q^{19}) \\ &+ x^3(q^{16} + q^{18} + q^{19} + 2q^{21} + q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{26}), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + 2q^7 + q^9 + q^{10}) \\ &- x^2(q^2 + q^3 + 2q^4 + 2q^5 + 3q^6 + 2q^7 + 3q^8 + 3q^9 + 3q^{10} + 4q^{11} + 3q^{12} + 2q^{13} \\ &+ 2q^{14} + q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{17} + q^{19}) \\ &- x^3(q^4 + q^5 + 2q^6 + 4q^7 + 3q^8 + 5q^9 + 5q^{10} + 6q^{11} + 7q^{12} + 8q^{13} + 7q^{14} + 6q^{15} \\ &+ 6q^{16} + 4q^{17} + 5q^{18} + 4q^{19} + 3q^{20} + 3q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{26}) \\ &- x^4(q^8 + 2q^9 + 2q^{10} + 5q^{11} + 4q^{12} + 6q^{13} + 10q^{14} + 8q^{15} + 10q^{16} + 11q^{17} + 8q^{18} \\ &+ 10q^{19} + 9q^{20} + 8q^{21} + 7q^{22} + 6q^{23} + 4q^{24} + 3q^{25} + 2q^{26} + 2q^{27} + q^{28} \\ &+ q^{29}) \\ &- x^5(q^{13} + 3q^{15} + 3q^{16} + 4q^{17} + 7q^{18} + 6q^{19} + 7q^{20} + 10q^{21} + 7q^{22} + 9q^{23} + 9q^{24} \\ &+ 6q^{25} + 7q^{26} + 5q^{27} + 4q^{28} + 3q^{29} + 3q^{30} + q^{31} + q^{32}) \\ &- x^6(q^{20} + 2q^{22} + 2q^{23} + q^{24} + 4q^{25} + 2q^{26} + 3q^{27} + 4q^{28} + 2q^{29} + 3q^{30} + 3q^{31} \\ &+ q^{32} + 2q^{33} + q^{34} + q^{36}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^4(q^{12} + q^{14} + 2q^{16} + q^{18} + q^{20}) \\ &+ x^5(q^{13} + 2q^{15} + q^{16} + 4q^{17} + 3q^{18} + 4q^{19} + 4q^{20} + 5q^{21} + 5q^{22} + 4q^{23} + 4q^{24} \\ &+ 3q^{25} + 4q^{26} + q^{27} + 2q^{28} + q^{30}) \\ &+ x^6(q^{17} + 2q^{18} + 3q^{19} + 5q^{20} + 5q^{21} + 9q^{22} + 9q^{23} + 10q^{24} + 12q^{25} + 12q^{26} \\ &+ 14q^{27} + 12q^{28} + 12q^{29} + 10q^{30} + 9q^{31} + 9q^{32} + 5q^{33} + 5q^{34} + 3q^{35} \\ &+ 2q^{36} + q^{37}) \\ &+ x^7(q^{22} + 3q^{23} + 4q^{24} + 6q^{25} + 7q^{26} + 12q^{27} + 12q^{28} + 16q^{29} + 18q^{30} + 16q^{31} \\ &+ 19q^{32} + 19q^{33} + 16q^{34} + 18q^{35} + 16q^{36} + 12q^{37} + 12q^{38} + 7q^{39} + 6q^{40} \\ &+ 4q^{41} + 3q^{42} + q^{43}) \\ &+ x^8(q^{28} + 2q^{29} + 3q^{30} + 6q^{31} + 6q^{32} + 9q^{33} + 11q^{34} + 11q^{35} + 13q^{36} + 16q^{37} \\$$

$$\begin{split} &+x^9(q^{35}+q^{36}+q^{37}+3q^{38}+2q^{39}+3q^{40}+5q^{41}+3q^{42}+5q^{43}+5q^{44}+3q^{45}\\&+5q^{46}+3q^{47}+2q^{48}+3q^{49}+q^{50}+q^{51}+q^{52}),\\ p_9(x,q) = -x^6q^{30}-x^7(q^{31}+q^{32}+2q^{34}+q^{36}+q^{37}+q^{38}+q^{39}+q^{40})\\&-x^8(q^{33}+2q^{35}+q^{36}+q^{37}+2q^{38}+2q^{39}+3q^{40}+4q^{41}+3q^{42}+3q^{43}+3q^{44}\\&+2q^{45}+3q^{46}+2q^{47}+2q^{48}+q^{49}+q^{50})\\&-x^9(q^{37}+q^{39}+q^{40}+q^{41}+3q^{42}+3q^{43}+4q^{44}+5q^{45}+4q^{46}+6q^{47}+6q^{48}\\&+7q^{49}+8q^{50}+7q^{51}+6q^{52}+5q^{53}+5q^{54}+3q^{55}+4q^{56}+2q^{57}+q^{58}\\&+q^{59})\\&-x^{10}(q^{45}+q^{46}+2q^{47}+2q^{48}+3q^{49}+4q^{50}+6q^{51}+7q^{52}+8q^{53}+9q^{54}+10q^{55}\\&+8q^{56}+11q^{57}+10q^{58}+8q^{59}+10q^{60}+6q^{61}+4q^{62}+5q^{63}+2q^{64}+2q^{65}\\&+q^{66})\\&-x^{11}(q^{53}+q^{54}+3q^{55}+3q^{56}+4q^{57}+5q^{58}+7q^{59}+6q^{60}+9q^{61}+9q^{62}+7q^{63}\\&+10q^{64}+7q^{65}+6q^{66}+7q^{67}+4q^{68}+3q^{69}+3q^{70}+q^{72})\\&-x^{12}(q^{60}+q^{62}+2q^{63}+q^{64}+3q^{65}+3q^{66}+2q^{67}+4q^{68}+3q^{69}+2q^{70}+4q^{71}\\&+q^{72}+2q^{73}+2q^{74}+q^{76}), \end{split}$$

$$p_{12}(x,q) = x^{12}q^{90} + x^{13}(q^{91} + q^{92} + 2q^{94} + q^{96} + q^{97}) + x^{14}(q^{93} + 2q^{95} + q^{96} + q^{97} + 2q^{98} + q^{99} + q^{100} + 2q^{101} + q^{103}) + x^{15}(q^{97} + q^{99} + q^{100} + 2q^{102} + q^{104} + q^{105} + q^{107}).$$

Theorem 6.3.11. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.73)$$

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^5 + q^6 + 2q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &+ x^2(q^{11} + 2q^{13} + q^{14} + q^{15} + 2q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18} + 2q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^3(q^{19} + q^{21} + q^{22} + 2q^{24} + q^{26} + q^{27} + q^{29}), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^6 + 2q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &- x^2(q^4 + q^5 + 2q^6 + 2q^7 + 3q^8 + 2q^9 + 3q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 3q^{12} + 4q^{13} + 3q^{14} + 2q^{15} \\ &+ 2q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18} + 2q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &- x^3(q^7 + q^8 + 2q^9 + 4q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 5q^{12} + 5q^{13} + 6q^{14} + 7q^{15} + 8q^{16} + 7q^{17} + 6q^{18} \\ &+ 6q^{19} + 4q^{20} + 5q^{21} + 4q^{22} + 3q^{23} + 3q^{24} + q^{25} + q^{26} + q^{27} + q^{29}) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &-x^4(q^{12}+2q^{13}+2q^{14}+5q^{15}+4q^{16}+6q^{17}+10q^{18}+8q^{19}+10q^{20}+11q^{21}+8q^{22}\\&+10q^{23}+9q^{24}+8q^{25}+7q^{26}+6q^{27}+4q^{28}+3q^{29}+2q^{30}+2q^{31}+q^{32}+q^{33})\\ &-x^5(q^{18}+3q^{20}+3q^{21}+4q^{22}+7q^{23}+6q^{24}+7q^{25}+10q^{26}+7q^{27}+9q^{28}+9q^{29}\\&+6q^{20}+7q^{31}+5q^{32}+4q^{33}+3q^{34}+3q^{35}+q^{36}+q^{37})\\ &-x^6(q^{26}+2q^{28}+2q^{29}+q^{20}+q^{21}+2q^{22}+3q^{33}+4q^{34}+2q^{35}+3q^{36}+3q^{37}\\&+q^{38}+2q^{39}+q^{40}+q^{12}),\\ &p_6(x,q)=x^4(q^{16}+q^{18}+2q^{20}+q^{22}+q^{24})\\ &+x^5(q^{18}+2q^{20}+q^{21}+4q^{22}+3q^{23}+4q^{24}+4q^{25}+5q^{26}+5q^{27}+4q^{28}+4q^{29}\\&+3q^{30}+4q^{31}+q^{32}+2q^{33}+q^{35})\\ &+x^6(q^{23}+2q^{24}+3q^{25}+5q^{26}+5q^{27}+9q^{28}+9q^{29}+10q^{30}+12q^{31}+12q^{32}\\&+14q^{33}+12q^{34}+12q^{35}+10q^{36}+9q^{37}+9q^{38}+5q^{30}+5q^{40}+3q^{41}\\&+2q^{24}+q^{43})\\ &+x^7(q^{29}+3q^{30}+4q^{31}+6q^{32}+7q^{33}+12q^{34}+12q^{35}+16q^{36}+18q^{37}+16q^{38}\\&+19q^{39}+19q^{40}+16q^{41}+18q^{42}+16q^{43}+12q^{44}+12q^{45}+7q^{46}+6q^{47}\\&+4q^{48}+3q^{49}+q^{50})\\ &+x^8(q^{36}+2q^{37}+3q^{38}+6q^{30}+6q^{40}+9q^{41}+11q^{42}+11q^{43}+13q^{44}+16q^{45}\\&+12q^{46}+16q^{47}+13q^{48}+11q^{49}+11q^{50}+9q^{51}+6q^{52}+5q^{53}+3q^{54}\\&+2q^{55}+q^{56})\\ &+x^9(q^{44}+q^{45}+q^{46}+3q^{47}+2q^{48}+3q^{49}+5q^{50}+3q^{51}+5q^{52}+5q^{53}+3q^{54}\\&+2q^{55}+3q^{56}+2q^{57}+3q^{58}+q^{50}+q^{60}+q^{61}),\\ p_9(x,q)=-x^6q^{36}-x^7(q^{38}+q^{39}+2q^{41}+q^{43}+q^{44}+q^{45}+q^{46}+q^{47})\\&-x^8(q^{14}+2q^{43}+q^{44}+q^{45}+2q^{46}+2q^{47}+3q^{38}+4q^{49}+3q^{50}+3q^{51}+3q^{52}\\&+2q^{63}+3q^{54}+2q^{55}+2q^{56}+q^{57}+q^{58})\\ -x^{10}(q^{55}+q^{56}+2q^{57}+2q^{58}+3q^{59}+4q^{60}+6q^{61}+7q^{62}+8q^{63}+9q^{64}+10q^{65}\\&+8q^{68})\\ -x^{10}(q^{55}+q^{56}+2q^{57}+2q^{58}+3q^{59}+4q^{60}+6q^{61}+7q^{62}+8q^{63}+9q^{64}+10q^{65}\\&+8q^{68}+11q^{67}+10q^{68}+8q^{69}+10q^{70}+6q^{71}+9q^{72}+9q^{73}+2q^{74}+2q^{75}\\&+q^{76})\\ -x^{11}(q^{44}+q^{65}+3q^{66}+3q^{67}+4q^{68}+5q^{69}+7q^{70}+6q^{71}+9q^{72}+9q^{73}+7q^{74}\\&+10q^{75}+q^{76}+6q^{77}+7q^{78}+4q^{79}+3q^{78}+$$

$$\begin{split} p_{12}(x,q) &= x^{12}q^{102} + x^{13}(q^{104} + q^{105} + 2q^{107} + q^{109} + q^{110}) \\ &\quad + x^{14}(q^{107} + 2q^{109} + q^{110} + q^{111} + 2q^{112} + q^{113} + q^{114} + 2q^{115} + q^{117}) \\ &\quad + x^{15}(q^{112} + q^{114} + q^{115} + 2q^{117} + q^{119} + q^{120} + q^{122}). \end{split}$$

Theorem 6.3.12. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\text{T}_{\text{III},a}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\text{T}_{\text{III},a}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\text{T}_{\text{III},a}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\text{T}_{\text{III},a}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{\text{T}_{\text{III},a}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.74)$$

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^4 + q^5 + q^7 + q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &+ x^2(q^9 + q^{11} + 2q^{12} + q^{14} + 2q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^3(q^{16} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{25} + q^{26} + q^{29}), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^7 + q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &- x^2(q^3 + 2q^4 + 2q^5 + 3q^6 + 2q^7 + 3q^8 + 3q^9 + 2q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 4q^{12} + 2q^{13} + 2q^{14} \\ &+ 2q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &- x^3(q^6 + 3q^7 + 3q^8 + 4q^9 + 5q^{10} + 5q^{11} + 5q^{12} + 7q^{13} + 7q^{14} + 7q^{15} + 7q^{16} + 5q^{17} \\ &+ 4q^{18} + 5q^{19} + 4q^{20} + 3q^{21} + 3q^{22} + 2q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{25} + q^{26} + q^{29}) \\ &- x^4(q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 3q^{12} + 3q^{13} + 6q^{14} + 7q^{15} + 7q^{16} + 10q^{17} + 10q^{18} + 8q^{19} + 9q^{20} \\ &+ 9q^{21} + 8q^{22} + 8q^{23} + 7q^{24} + 5q^{25} + 5q^{26} + 4q^{27} + 2q^{28} + 2q^{29} + q^{30} \\ &+ q^{31} + q^{32}) \\ &- x^5(q^{15} + q^{16} + q^{17} + 4q^{18} + 5q^{19} + 3q^{20} + 6q^{21} + 8q^{22} + 5q^{23} + 7q^{24} + 10q^{25} \\ &+ 6q^{26} + 6q^{27} + 9q^{28} + 5q^{29} + 4q^{30} + 5q^{31} + 3q^{32} + 2q^{33} + 3q^{34} + q^{35} \\ &+ q^{37}) \\ &- x^6(q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{25} + 3q^{26} + q^{27} + q^{28} + 4q^{29} + 2q^{30} + q^{31} + 4q^{32} + 3q^{33} + 3q^{35} \\ &+ 3q^{36} + q^{38} + 2q^{39} + q^{42}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^4(q^{16} + q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{23}) \\ &+ x^5(q^{17} + q^{19} + 3q^{20} + 3q^{21} + 3q^{22} + 4q^{23} + 5q^{24} + 4q^{25} + 4q^{26} + 5q^{27} + 4q^{28} \\ &+ 3q^{29} + 3q^{30} + 3q^{31} + q^{32} + q^{34}) \\ &+ x^6(q^{21} + 2q^{22} + 2q^{23} + 4q^{24} + 6q^{25} + 8q^{26} + 8q^{27} + 10q^{28} + 10q^{29} + 11q^{30} \\ &+ 13q^{31} + 13q^{32} + 11q^{33} + 10q^{34} + 10q^{35} + 8q^{36} + 8q^{37} + 6q^{38} \\ &+ 4q^{39} + 2q^{40} + 2q^{41} + q^{42}) \\ &+ x^7(q^{26} + 3q^{27} + 3q^{28} + 4q^{29} + 7q^{30} + 8q^{31} + 11q^{32} + 14q^{33} + 14q^{34} + 15q^{35} \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{split} &+17q^{36}+17q^{37}+17q^{38}+17q^{39}+15q^{40}+14q^{41}+14q^{42}+11q^{43}\\ &+8q^{44}+7q^{45}+4q^{46}+3q^{47}+3q^{48}+q^{49})\\ &+x^8(q^{31}+q^{33}+4q^{34}+3q^{35}+4q^{36}+8q^{37}+8q^{38}+7q^{39}+12q^{40}+12q^{41}+10q^{42}\\ &+14q^{43}+14q^{44}+10q^{45}+12q^{46}+12q^{47}+7q^{48}+8q^{49}+8q^{50}+4q^{51}\\ &+3q^{52}+4q^{53}+q^{54}+q^{56})\\ &+x^9(q^{38}+2q^{41}+2q^{42}+3q^{44}+q^{45}+q^{46}+3q^{47}+6q^{48}+2q^{49}+2q^{50}+6q^{51}\\ &+3q^{52}+q^{53}+4q^{54}+3q^{55}+2q^{57}+2q^{58}+q^{61}),\\ p_9(x,q) = -x^6q^{36}-x^7(q^{37}+q^{38}+q^{40}+q^{41}+q^{43}+q^{44}+q^{45}+q^{46}+q^{47})\\ &-x^8(q^{39}+q^{41}+2q^{42}+q^{44}+2q^{45}+2q^{46}+2q^{47}+4q^{48}+3q^{49}+2q^{50}+3q^{51}\\ &+3q^{52}+2q^{53}+3q^{54}+2q^{55}+2q^{56}+q^{57})\\ &-x^9(q^{43}+q^{46}+q^{47}+q^{48}+2q^{49}+3q^{50}+3q^{51}+4q^{52}+5q^{53}+4q^{54}+5q^{55}\\ &+7q^{56}+7q^{57}+7q^{58}+7q^{59}+5q^{60}+5q^{61}+5q^{62}+4q^{63}+3q^{64}\\ &+3q^{65}+q^{66})\\ &-x^{10}(q^{52}+q^{53}+q^{54}+2q^{55}+2q^{56}+4q^{57}+5q^{58}+5q^{59}+7q^{60}+8q^{61}+8q^{62}\\ &+9q^{63}+9q^{64}+8q^{65}+10q^{66}+10q^{67}+7q^{68}+7q^{69}+6q^{70}+3q^{71}\\ &+3q^{72}+3q^{73}+q^{74})\\ &-x^{11}(q^{59}+q^{61}+3q^{62}+2q^{63}+3q^{64}+5q^{65}+4q^{66}+5q^{67}+9q^{68}+6q^{69}+6q^{70}\\ &+10q^{71}+7q^{72}+5q^{73}+8q^{74}+6q^{75}+3q^{76}+5q^{77}+4q^{78}+q^{79}+q^{80}\\ &+q^{81})\\ &-x^{12}(q^{66}+2q^{69}+q^{70}+3q^{72}+3q^{73}+3q^{75}+4q^{76}+q^{77}+2q^{78}+4q^{79}+q^{80}\\ &+q^{81}+3q^{82}+q^{83}+q^{85}+q^{86}), \end{split}$$

$$p_{12}(x,q) = x^{12}q^{99} + x^{13}(q^{100} + q^{101} + q^{103} + q^{104} + q^{106} + q^{107}) + x^{14}(q^{102} + q^{104} + 2q^{105} + q^{107} + 2q^{108} + q^{109} + 2q^{111} + q^{112} + q^{114}) + x^{15}(q^{106} + q^{109} + q^{110} + q^{112} + q^{113} + q^{115} + q^{116} + q^{119}).$$

6.3.4 Partition Set of Type IV

Recall that the partition set of type IV is the set of partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 3 such that if parts at distance 2 differ by at most 1, then the sum of the two parts and their intermediate part is congruent to 2 modulo 3. In other words, if $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \cdots + \lambda_\ell$ is in this partition set, then

(i) $\lambda_i - \lambda_{i+3} \ge 3;$

(ii) $\lambda_i - \lambda_{i+2} \le 1$ implies $\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+1} + \lambda_{i+2} \equiv 2 \pmod{3}$.

Let $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ denote the partition set of type IV.

Claim 6.3.13. $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where S = 3, and $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_{15}\}$ along with the linking sets are given as follows.

Π	linking set
$\pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_2 = 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_3 = 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_4 = 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_5 = 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_6 = 2 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_7 = 2 + 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_8 = 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_9 = 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{10} = 3 + 1 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{10}, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{11} = 3 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{12} = 3 + 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_9, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{12}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{14}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{13} = 3 + 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{14} = 3 + 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{15}\}$
$\pi_{15} = 3 + 3 + 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_8, \ \pi_{11}, \ \pi_{13}, \ \pi_{15}\}$

Let us denote by $H_i(x) = H_i(x,q)$ the generating function of partitions λ in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ with 3-tail equal to π_i for i = 1, 2, ..., 15 where the π_i 's are as defined in Claim 6.3.13.

Following (6.1.7), we have

$$\begin{split} H_{1}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}), \end{split} \tag{6.3.75}$$

$$\begin{aligned} x^{-1}q^{-1}H_{2}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}), \end{aligned} \tag{6.3.76}$$

$$\begin{aligned} x^{-2}q^{-2}H_{3}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{10}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}), \end{aligned} \tag{6.3.76}$$

$$\begin{aligned} x^{-1}q^{-2}H_{4}(x) &= H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{3}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$(6.3.78) x^{-2}q^{-3}H_5(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3)$$

$$+ H_7(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_6(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_7(xq^3)$$

$$(6.3.79)$$

$$+ H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.80)

$$x^{-3}q^{-5}H_{7}(x) = H_{1}(xq^{3}) + H_{2}(xq^{3}) + H_{4}(xq^{3}) + H_{5}(xq^{3}) + H_{6}(xq^{3}) + H_{7}(xq^{3}) + H_{8}(xq^{3}) + H_{9}(xq^{3}) + H_{11}(xq^{3}) + H_{12}(xq^{3}) + H_{13}(xq^{3}) + H_{14}(xq^{3}) + H_{15}(xq^{3}),$$
(6.3.81)

$$x^{-1}q^{-3}H_8(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.82)

$$x^{-2}q^{-4}H_9(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.83)

$$x^{-3}q^{-5}H_{10}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_3(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{10}(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.84)

$$x^{-2}q^{-5}H_{11}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.85)

$$x^{-3}q^{-6}H_{12}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_2(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_5(xq^3) + H_6(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_9(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{12}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{14}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3),$$
(6.3.86)

$$x^{-2}q^{-6}H_{13}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3), \qquad (6.3.87)$$

$$x^{-3}q^{-7}H_{14}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3), \qquad (6.3.88)$$

$$x^{-3}q^{-8}H_{15}(x) = H_1(xq^3) + H_4(xq^3) + H_8(xq^3) + H_{11}(xq^3) + H_{13}(xq^3) + H_{15}(xq^3).$$
 (6.3.89)

This system may be simplified as

$$H_{1}(x) = (1 + xq^{4} + x^{2}q^{8} + xq^{5} + x^{2}q^{9})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + (1 + xq^{4})H_{6}(xq^{3}) + (1 + xq^{4} + x^{2}q^{8})H_{8}(xq^{3}) + (1 + xq^{4})H_{11}(xq^{3}) + (1 + xq^{4} + xq^{5})H_{13}(xq^{3}),$$
(6.3.90)

$$\begin{split} H_{6}(x) &= (x^{2}q^{4} + x^{3}q^{8} + x^{3}q^{9} + x^{4}q^{13})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + (x^{2}q^{4} + x^{3}q^{8})H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (x^{2}q^{4} + x^{3}q^{8})H_{8}(xq^{3}) + (x^{2}q^{4} + x^{3}q^{8})H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (x^{2}q^{4} + x^{3}q^{8} + x^{3}q^{9})H_{13}(xq^{3}), \end{split}$$
(6.3.91)
$$H_{8}(x) &= (xq^{3} + x^{2}q^{7} + x^{3}q^{11} + x^{2}q^{8} + x^{3}q^{12})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + xq^{3}H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (xq^{3} + x^{2}q^{7} + x^{3}q^{11})H_{8}(xq^{3}) + (xq^{3} + x^{2}q^{7})H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (xq^{3} + x^{2}q^{7} + x^{2}q^{8})H_{13}(xq^{3}), \end{aligned}$$
(6.3.92)
$$H_{11}(x) &= (x^{2}q^{5} + x^{3}q^{9} + x^{3}q^{10} + x^{4}q^{14})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{5}H_{6}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (x^{2}q^{5} + x^{3}q^{9} + x^{3}q^{10})H_{13}(xq^{3}), \end{aligned}$$
(6.3.93)
$$H_{13}(x) &= (x^{2}q^{6} + x^{3}q^{11})H_{1}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{6}H_{8}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{6}H_{11}(xq^{3}) \\ &+ (x^{2}q^{6} + x^{3}q^{11})H_{13}(xq^{3}). \end{aligned}$$
(6.3.94)

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x) = G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{II},1}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ whose smallest part is at least 1.

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(x)$ denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ where 1 appears at most once.

Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x)$ denote the generating function of partitions in $\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV}}}$ where the smallest part is at least 2 with 2 appearing at most once.

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x) &= H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_3(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) \\ &+ H_7(x) + H_8(x) + H_9(x) + H_{10}(x) + H_{11}(x) \\ &+ H_{12}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{14}(x) + H_{15}(x) \\ &= H_1(xq^{-3}), \end{aligned} \tag{6.3.95}$$

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(x) &= H_1(x) + H_2(x) + H_4(x) + H_5(x) + H_6(x) + H_7(x) \\ &+ H_8(x) + H_9(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{12}(x) + H_{13}(x) \\ &+ H_{14}(x) + H_{15}(x) \\ &= x^{-2}q^2H_6(xq^{-3}), \end{aligned} \tag{6.3.96}$$

$$\begin{aligned} G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x) &= H_1(x) + H_4(x) + H_8(x) + H_{11}(x) + H_{13}(x) + H_{15}(x) \end{aligned}$$

$$=x^{-2}H_{13}(xq^{-3}). (6.3.97)$$

Likewise, we can use the algorithm in §6.2 to deduce the following q-difference equations for $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x)$, $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(x)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x)$, respectively.

Theorem 6.3.14. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.98)$$

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^4 + q^5 + q^7 + q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &+ x^2(q^9 + q^{11} + 2q^{12} + q^{14} + 2q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^3(q^{16} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{25} + q^{26} + q^{29}), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^7 + q^8 + q^{10} + q^{11}) \\ &- x^2(q^2 + q^3 + 2q^4 + 2q^5 + 3q^6 + 2q^7 + 2q^8 + 3q^9 + 2q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 4q^{12} + 2q^{13} \\ &+ 2q^{14} + 2q^{15} + q^{16} + 2q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &- x^3(2q^5 + 2q^6 + 3q^7 + 4q^8 + 4q^9 + 4q^{10} + 5q^{11} + 6q^{12} + 7q^{13} + 7q^{14} + 6q^{15} \\ &+ 6q^{16} + 5q^{17} + 3q^{18} + 4q^{19} + 4q^{20} + 3q^{21} + 3q^{22} + 2q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{25} \\ &+ q^{26} + q^{29}) \\ &- x^4(2q^9 + 3q^{10} + 2q^{11} + 4q^{12} + 6q^{13} + 6q^{14} + 8q^{15} + 10q^{16} + 8q^{17} + 9q^{18} + 9q^{19} \\ &+ 7q^{20} + 8q^{21} + 8q^{22} + 7q^{23} + 6q^{24} + 5q^{25} + 3q^{26} + 3q^{27} + 2q^{28} + q^{29} \\ &+ q^{30} + q^{31} + q^{32}) \\ &- x^5(q^{14} + q^{15} + 2q^{16} + 5q^{17} + 3q^{18} + 4q^{19} + 8q^{20} + 6q^{21} + 5q^{22} + 9q^{23} + 8q^{24} \\ &+ 6q^{25} + 9q^{26} + 6q^{27} + 4q^{28} + 6q^{29} + 4q^{30} + 2q^{31} + 3q^{32} + 2q^{33} + q^{34} \\ &+ q^{35}) \\ &- x^6(q^{21} + q^{22} + 2q^{24} + 2q^{25} + q^{26} + 3q^{27} + 3q^{28} + q^{29} + 3q^{30} + 4q^{31} + q^{32} + 2q^{33} \\ &+ 3q^{34} + q^{35} + q^{36} + 2q^{37} + q^{40}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^4(q^{12} + q^{14} + q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{19} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^5(q^{13} + q^{15} + 2q^{16} + 2q^{17} + 3q^{18} + 3q^{19} + 4q^{20} + 4q^{21} + 4q^{22} + 4q^{23} + 4q^{24} \\ &+ 4q^{25} + 3q^{26} + 3q^{27} + 2q^{28} + 2q^{29} + q^{30} + q^{31}) \\ &+ x^6(q^{17} + q^{18} + 2q^{19} + 3q^{20} + 4q^{21} + 7q^{22} + 7q^{23} + 8q^{24} + 8q^{25} + 11q^{26} + 11q^{27} \\ &+ 12q^{28} + 12q^{29} + 11q^{30} + 11q^{31} + 8q^{32} + 8q^{33} + 7q^{34} + 7q^{35} + 4q^{36} \\ &+ 3q^{37} + 2q^{38} + q^{39} + q^{40}) \\ &+ x^7(2q^{23} + 3q^{24} + 3q^{25} + 4q^{26} + 7q^{27} + 9q^{28} + 10q^{29} + 14q^{30} + 14q^{31} + 16q^{32} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\begin{split} &+17q^{33}+15q^{34}+15q^{35}+17q^{36}+16q^{37}+14q^{38}+14q^{39}+10q^{40}+9q^{41}\\ &+7q^{42}+4q^{43}+3q^{44}+3q^{45}+2q^{46})\\ &+x^8(q^{29}+q^{30}+3q^{31}+4q^{32}+4q^{33}+8q^{34}+8q^{35}+7q^{36}+11q^{37}+13q^{38}+10q^{39}\\ &+14q^{40}+14q^{41}+10q^{42}+13q^{43}+11q^{44}+7q^{45}+8q^{46}+8q^{47}+4q^{48}\\ &+4q^{49}+3q^{50}+q^{51}+q^{52})\\ &+x^9(q^{36}+q^{38}+2q^{39}+q^{40}+2q^{41}+4q^{42}+2q^{43}+3q^{44}+5q^{45}+3q^{46}+3q^{47}\\ &+5q^{48}+3q^{49}+2q^{50}+4q^{51}+2q^{52}+q^{53}+2q^{54}+q^{55}+q^{57}),\\ p_9(x,q) = -x^6q^{30}-x^7(q^{31}+q^{32}+q^{34}+q^{35}+q^{37}+q^{38}+q^{39}+q^{40}+q^{41})\\ &-x^8(q^{33}+q^{35}+2q^{36}+q^{38}+2q^{39}+2q^{40}+2q^{41}+4q^{42}+3q^{43}+2q^{44}+3q^{45}\\ &+2q^{46}+2q^{47}+3q^{48}+2q^{49}+2q^{50}+q^{51}+q^{52})\\ &-x^9(q^{37}+q^{40}+q^{41}+q^{42}+2q^{43}+3q^{44}+3q^{45}+4q^{46}+4q^{47}+3q^{48}+5q^{49}\\ &+6q^{50}+6q^{51}+7q^{52}+7q^{53}+6q^{54}+5q^{55}+4q^{56}+4q^{57}+4q^{58}+3q^{59}\\ &+2q^{60}+2q^{61})\\ &-x^{10}(q^{46}+q^{47}+q^{48}+q^{49}+2q^{50}+3q^{51}+3q^{52}+5q^{53}+6q^{54}+7q^{55}+8q^{56}\\ &+8q^{57}+7q^{58}+9q^{59}+9q^{60}+8q^{61}+10q^{62}+8q^{63}+6q^{64}+6q^{65}+4q^{66}\\ &+2q^{67}+3q^{68}+2q^{69})\\ &-x^{11}(q^{55}+q^{56}+2q^{57}+3q^{58}+2q^{59}+4q^{60}+6q^{61}+4q^{62}+6q^{63}+9q^{64}+6q^{65}\\ &+8q^{66}+9q^{67}+5q^{68}+6q^{69}+8q^{70}+4q^{71}+3q^{72}+5q^{73}+2q^{74}+q^{75}+q^{76})\\ &-x^{12}(q^{62}+2q^{65}+q^{66}+q^{67}+3q^{68}+2q^{69}+q^{70}+4q^{71}+3q^{72}+q^{73}+3q^{74}+3q^{75}\\ &+q^{76}+2q^{77}+2q^{78}+q^{80}+q^{81}),\\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{split} p_{12}(x,q) &= x^{12}q^{93} + x^{13}(q^{94} + q^{95} + q^{97} + q^{98} + q^{100} + q^{101}) \\ &\quad + x^{14}(q^{96} + q^{98} + 2q^{99} + q^{101} + 2q^{102} + q^{103} + 2q^{105} + q^{106} + q^{108}) \\ &\quad + x^{15}(q^{100} + q^{103} + q^{104} + q^{106} + q^{107} + q^{109} + q^{110} + q^{113}). \end{split}$$

Theorem 6.3.15. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.99)$$

$$p_{0}(x,q) = 1 + x(q^{4} + q^{5} + q^{6} + q^{7} + q^{8} + q^{9}) + x^{2}(q^{9} + q^{10} + q^{11} + 2q^{12} + 2q^{13} + 2q^{14} + q^{15} + q^{16} + q^{17}) + x^{3}(q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18} + q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23}),$$

$$\begin{split} p_{3}(x,q) &= -1 - x(q + q^{2} + q^{3} + q^{4} + q^{5} + q^{6} + q^{7} + q^{8} + q^{9}) \\ &- x^{2}(q^{3} + 2q^{4} + 2q^{5} + 3q^{6} + 3q^{7} + 4q^{8} + 4q^{9} + 4q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 3q^{12} + 2q^{13} + 2q^{14} \\ &+ q^{15} + q^{16} + q^{17}) \\ &- x^{3}(q^{5} + q^{6} + 2q^{7} + 4q^{8} + 5q^{9} + 6q^{10} + 8q^{11} + 8q^{12} + 8q^{13} + 8q^{14} + 8q^{15} + 7q^{16} \\ &+ 6q^{17} + 4q^{18} + 3q^{19} + 2q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23}) \\ &- x^{4}(q^{9} + 2q^{10} + 3q^{11} + 5q^{12} + 7q^{13} + 8q^{14} + 9q^{15} + 11q^{16} + 13q^{17} + 13q^{18} \\ &+ 11q^{19} + 10q^{20} + 8q^{21} + 6q^{22} + 5q^{23} + 4q^{24} + 3q^{25} + q^{26}) \\ &- x^{5}(q^{14} + 2q^{15} + 2q^{16} + 4q^{17} + 6q^{18} + 8q^{19} + 10q^{20} + 10q^{21} + 10q^{22} + 9q^{23} \\ &+ 8q^{24} + 8q^{25} + 7q^{26} + 5q^{27} + 3q^{28} + q^{29} + q^{30} + q^{31}) \\ &- x^{6}(q^{21} + 2q^{22} + 2q^{23} + 3q^{24} + 3q^{25} + 3q^{26} + 4q^{27} + 4q^{28} + 3q^{29} + 2q^{30} + 2q^{31} \\ &+ q^{32} + q^{33} + q^{34}), \\ p_{6}(x,q) &= x^{4}(q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18} + q^{10} + q^{20} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^{5}(q^{17} + 2q^{18} + 2q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^{5}(q^{17} + 2q^{18} + 2q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21}) \\ &+ x^{5}(q^{20} + 2q^{21} + 5q^{22} + 7q^{23} + 8q^{24} + 10q^{25} + 13q^{26} + 14q^{27} + 15q^{28} + 15q^{29} \\ &+ 14q^{30} + 13q^{31} + 10q^{32} + 8q^{33} + 7q^{34} + 5q^{35} + 2q^{36} + q^{37}) \\ &+ x^{7}(q^{24} + 2q^{25} + 4q^{26} + 7q^{27} + 10q^{28} + 13q^{29} + 16q^{30} + 19q^{31} + 21q^{32} + 21q^{33} \\ &+ 16q^{39} + 16q^{40} + 14q^{41} + 12q^{42} + 10q^{43} + 7q^{44} + 5q^{45} + 2q^{46} + q^{47} \\ &+ q^{43}) \\ &+ x^{3}(q^{26} + q^{31} + 2q^{31} + 5q^{32} + 7q^{33} + 10q^{34} + 12q^{35} + 14q^{36} + 16q^{37} + 16q^{38} \\ &+ 16q^{39} + 16q^{40} + 14q^{41} + 12q^{42} + 10q^{43} + 7q^{44} + 5q^{45} + 2q^{46} + q^{47} \\ &+ q^{48}) \\ &+ x^{3}(q^{36} + q^{37} + 2q^{38} + 3q^{39} + q^{40} + q^{41} + 5q^{42} + 5q^{43} + 5q^{44} + 5q^{45} + 4q^{46} \\ &+ 3q^{47} + 3q^{48} + 2q^{49} + q^{40} + q^{41} + 1q^{42} + 4q^{43} + q^{44} + 4q^{45}) \\ &- x^{8}(q^{30} + q^{40} + q^{$$

$$\begin{split} p_{12}(x,q) &= x^{12}q^{93} + x^{13}(q^{94} + q^{95} + q^{96} + q^{97} + q^{98} + q^{99}) \\ &\quad + x^{14}(q^{96} + q^{97} + q^{98} + 2q^{99} + 2q^{100} + 2q^{101} + q^{102} + q^{103} + q^{104}) \\ &\quad + x^{15}(q^{100} + q^{101} + q^{102} + q^{103} + q^{104} + q^{105} + q^{106} + q^{107}). \end{split}$$

Theorem 6.3.16. It holds that

$$p_{0}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x) + p_{3}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(xq^{3}) + p_{6}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(xq^{6}) + p_{9}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(xq^{9}) + p_{12}(x,q)G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(xq^{12}) = 0, \qquad (6.3.100)$$

$$\begin{split} p_0(x,q) &= 1 + x(q^5 + q^6 + q^7 + q^8 + q^9 + q^{10}) \\ &+ x^2(q^{11} + q^{12} + q^{13} + 2q^{14} + 2q^{15} + 2q^{16} + q^{17} + q^{18} + q^{19}) \\ &+ x^3(q^{19} + q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{25} + q^{26}), \\ p_3(x,q) &= -1 - x(q^2 + q^3 + q^4 + q^5 + q^6 + q^7 + q^8 + q^9 + q^{10}) \\ &- x^2(q^5 + 2q^6 + 2q^7 + 3q^8 + 3q^9 + 4q^{10} + 4q^{11} + 4q^{12} + 3q^{13} + 3q^{14} + 2q^{15} + 2q^{16} \\ &+ q^{17} + q^{18} + q^{19}) \\ &- x^3(q^8 + q^9 + 2q^{10} + 4q^{11} + 5q^{12} + 6q^{13} + 8q^{14} + 8q^{15} + 8q^{16} + 8q^{17} + 8q^{18} \\ &+ 7q^{19} + 6q^{20} + 4q^{21} + 3q^{22} + 2q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{25} + q^{26}) \\ &- x^4(q^{13} + 2q^{14} + 3q^{15} + 5q^{16} + 7q^{17} + 8q^{18} + 9q^{19} + 11q^{20} + 13q^{21} + 13q^{22} \\ &+ 11q^{23} + 10q^{24} + 8q^{25} + 6q^{26} + 5q^{27} + 4q^{28} + 3q^{29} + q^{30}) \\ &- x^5(q^{19} + 2q^{20} + 2q^{21} + 4q^{22} + 6q^{23} + 8q^{24} + 10q^{25} + 10q^{26} + 10q^{27} + 9q^{28} \\ &+ 8q^{29} + 8q^{30} + 7q^{31} + 5q^{32} + 3q^{33} + q^{34} + q^{35} + q^{36}) \\ &- x^6(q^{27} + 2q^{28} + 2q^{29} + 3q^{30} + 3q^{31} + 3q^{32} + 4q^{33} + 4q^{34} + 3q^{35} + 2q^{36} + 2q^{37} \\ &+ q^{38} + q^{39} + q^{40}), \\ p_6(x,q) &= x^4(q^{20} + q^{21} + q^{22} + q^{23} + q^{24} + q^{25}) \\ &+ x^5(q^{22} + 2q^{23} + 2q^{24} + 3q^{25} + 5q^{26} + 6q^{27} + 5q^{28} + 5q^{29} + 6q^{30} + 5q^{31} + 3q^{32} \\ &+ 2q^{33} + 2q^{34} + q^{35}) \\ &+ x^6(q^{26} + 2q^{27} + 5q^{28} + 7q^{29} + 8q^{30} + 10q^{31} + 13q^{32} + 14q^{33} + 15q^{34} + 15q^{35} \\ &+ 14q^{36} + 13q^{37} + 10q^{38} + 8q^{39} + 7q^{40} + 5q^{41} + 2q^{42} + q^{43}) \\ &+ x^7(q^{31} + 2q^{32} + 4q^{33} + 7q^{34} + 10q^{35} + 13q^{36} + 16q^{37} + 19q^{38} + 21q^{39} + 21q^{40} \\ &+ 21q^{41} + 21q^{42} + 19q^{43} + 16q^{44} + 13q^{45} + 10q^{46} + 7q^{47} + 4q^{48} + 2q^{49} \\ &+ q^{50}) \\ &+ x^8(q^{37} + q^{38} + 2q^{39} + 5q^{40} + 7q^{41} + 10q^{42} + 12q^{43} + 14q^{44} + 16q^{45} + 16q^{46} \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+16q^{47}+16q^{48}+14q^{49}+12q^{50}+10q^{51}+7q^{52}+5q^{53}+2q^{54}+q^{55}\\ &+q^{56})\\ &+x^9(q^{45}+q^{46}+2q^{47}+3q^{48}+3q^{49}+4q^{50}+5q^{51}+5q^{52}+5q^{53}+5q^{54}+4q^{55}\\ &+3q^{56}+3q^{57}+2q^{58}+q^{59}+q^{60}),\\ p_9(x,q) = -x^6q^{42}-x^7(q^{44}+q^{45}+q^{46}+q^{47}+q^{48}+q^{49}+q^{50}+q^{51}+q^{52})\\ &-x^8(q^{47}+q^{48}+q^{49}+2q^{50}+2q^{51}+3q^{52}+3q^{53}+4q^{54}+4q^{55}+4q^{56}+3q^{57}\\ &+3q^{58}+2q^{59}+2q^{60}+q^{61})\\ &-x^9(q^{52}+q^{53}+q^{54}+2q^{55}+3q^{56}+4q^{57}+6q^{58}+7q^{59}+8q^{60}+8q^{61}+8q^{62}\\ &+8q^{63}+8q^{64}+6q^{65}+5q^{66}+4q^{67}+2q^{68}+q^{69}+q^{70})\\ &-x^{10}(q^{60}+3q^{61}+4q^{62}+5q^{63}+6q^{64}+8q^{65}+10q^{66}+11q^{67}+13q^{68}+13q^{69}\\ &+11q^{70}+9q^{71}+8q^{72}+7q^{73}+5q^{74}+3q^{75}+2q^{76}+q^{77})\\ &-x^{11}(q^{66}+q^{67}+q^{68}+3q^{69}+5q^{70}+7q^{71}+8q^{72}+8q^{73}+9q^{74}+10q^{75}+10q^{76}\\ &+10q^{77}+8q^{78}+6q^{79}+4q^{80}+2q^{81}+2q^{82}+q^{83})\\ &-x^{12}(q^{74}+q^{75}+q^{76}+2q^{77}+2q^{78}+3q^{79}+4q^{80}+4q^{81}+3q^{82}+3q^{83}+3q^{84}\\ &+2q^{85}+2q^{86}+q^{87}), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} p_{12}(x,q) &= x^{12}q^{105} + x^{13}(q^{107} + q^{108} + q^{109} + q^{110} + q^{111} + q^{112}) \\ &\quad + x^{14}(q^{110} + q^{111} + q^{112} + 2q^{113} + 2q^{114} + 2q^{115} + q^{116} + q^{117} + q^{118}) \\ &\quad + x^{15}(q^{115} + q^{116} + q^{117} + q^{118} + q^{119} + q^{120} + q^{121} + q^{122}). \end{split}$$

6.4 "Guessing" the Generating Functions

It is, of course, not easy to discover a closed form for each generating function directly from q-difference equations obtained in the previous section. However, Andrews' conjecture presented in the introduction shall give us enough clues.

Recall that Andrews' conjecture states as follows.

Conjecture 6.4.1. Every linked partition ideal \mathscr{I} has a bivariate generating function $G_{\mathscr{I}}(x,q)$ of the form

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,\dots,n_r \ge 0}} \frac{(-1)^{L_1(n_1,\dots,n_r)} q^{Q(n_1,\dots,n_r) + L_2(n_1,\dots,n_r)} x^{L_3(n_1,\dots,n_r)}}{(q^{B_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{B_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r}},$$
(6.4.1)

where L_1 , L_2 and L_3 are linear forms in n_1, \ldots, n_r and Q is a quadratic form in n_1, \ldots, n_r .

It also appears to be true that some "nice" subsets of a linked partition ideal enjoy

a generating function of the form (6.4.1). One may investigate the second Rogers– Ramanujan identity as an example.

Hence, we may search from a number of multi-summations of the form (6.4.1) and compare the series expansions to find suitable candidates.

Theorem 6.4.1. Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x,q)$, $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,3}}}(x,q)$) denote the generating function of partitions of type I whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2, 3). We have

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(6.4.2)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,2}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(6.4.3)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,3}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + 2n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}.$$
(6.4.4)

Remark 6.4.1. Here (6.4.2), (6.4.3) and (6.4.4) are (3.1), (3.10) and (3.14) in [116]. They correspond to the Kanade–Russell conjectures I_1 , I_2 and I_3 , respectively.

Theorem 6.4.2. Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},2}}}(x,q)$) denote the generating function of partitions of type II whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2) and let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions of type II where 1 appears at most once. We have

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 - n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(6.4.5)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{II},2}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + n_1 + 2n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(6.4.6)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{II},a}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + 2n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}.$$
(6.4.7)

Remark 6.4.2. Here (6.4.6) is (3.15) in [116]. It corresponds to the Kanade–Russell conjecture I_4 .

Theorem 6.4.3. Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(x,q)$ (resp. $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},2}}}(x,q)$) denote the generating function of partitions of type III whose smallest part is at least 1 (resp. 2) and let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},a}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions of type III where 1 appears at most once. We have

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(x,q)$$

$$=\sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3\geq 0}\frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2}+3n_2^2+\frac{9n_3^2}{2}+2n_1n_2+6n_2n_3+3n_3n_1+\frac{n_1}{2}-n_2-\frac{n_3}{2}}x^{n_1+2n_2+3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}},$$
(6.4.8)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},2}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{3n_1}{2} + n_2 + \frac{5n_3}{2}x^{n_1 + 2n_2 + 3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}, \qquad (6.4.9)$$

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},a}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} + n_2 + \frac{5n_3}{2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}.$$
 (6.4.10)

Remark 6.4.3. Here (6.4.10) is (47) (corrected: in the numerator of which the last term of the exponent of q should read 4k instead of 3k) in [109]. It corresponds to the Kanade–Russell conjecture I_5 .

Theorem 6.4.4. Let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions of type IV whose smallest part is at least 1, let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions of type IV where 1 appears at most once and let $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x,q)$ denote the generating function of partitions of type IV where the smallest part is at least 2 with 2 appearing at most once. We have

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0 \\ G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},2}}}(x,q)}} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} - n_2 + \frac{n_3}{2}} x^{n_1 + 2n_2 + 3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}},$$
(6.4.11)

$$=\sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3\geq 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2}+3n_2^2+\frac{9n_3^2}{2}+2n_1n_2+6n_2n_3+3n_3n_1+\frac{n_1}{2}+n_2+\frac{n_3}{2}}x^{n_1+2n_2+3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}},$$
(6.4.12)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},b}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{3n_1}{2} + 3n_2 + \frac{7n_3}{2}x^{n_1 + 2n_2 + 3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}.$$
 (6.4.13)

Remark 6.4.4. Here (6.4.13) is (51) in [109]. It corresponds to the Kanade–Russell conjecture I_6 .

In the above theorems, we rediscover six generating function identities proved in [109] and [116] and obtain six new identities. We will provide an approach to prove these

identities in the next section with the help of computer algebra.

Remark 6.4.5. It is, of course, fine to discover the above sum-like generating functions by trial and error with this tedious work left to a computer. But sometimes human observation might reduce the workload. Let us use (6.4.2) as an example. If we write

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{M \ge 0} g_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M) x^M,$$

then the q-difference equation in Theorem 6.3.2 gives the first several expressions of $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$:

$$\begin{split} g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(0) &= 1, \\ g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(1) &= \frac{q}{1-q}, \\ g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(2) &= \frac{q^3 + q^4 + q^6}{(1-q^2)(1-q^3)}, \\ g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(3) &= \frac{q^7}{(1-q)(1-q^2)(1-q^3)}, \\ g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(4) &= \frac{q^{12} + q^{15} + q^{17} + q^{18} - q^{19} + q^{20} - q^{21}}{(1-q)(1-q^3)(1-q^4)(1-q^6)} \end{split}$$

Recall that the sum-like generating function is

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,\dots,n_r \ge 0}} \frac{(-1)^{L_1(n_1,\dots,n_r)} q^{Q(n_1,\dots,n_r)+L_2(n_1,\dots,n_r)} x^{L_3(n_1,\dots,n_r)}}{(q^{B_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{B_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r}}.$$
(6.4.14)

We observe that the numerator of $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{i,1}}}(2)$ has more than one term. Hence, the linear equation $L_3(n_1, \ldots, n_r) = 2$ might have multiple nonnegative solutions (n_1, \ldots, n_r) . It is fair to guess that L_3 looks like $n_1 + n_2 + \cdots$ or $n_1 + 2n_2 + \cdots$. Also, the denominators of $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{i,1}}}(M)$ indicate that there might be terms like $(q; q)_n$ and $(q^3; q^3)_n$ in the denominator of the summand in (6.4.14). Hence, one may first try multi-summations like

$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2 \ge 0}} \frac{(-1)^{L_1(n_1,n_2)} q^{Q(n_1,n_2)+L_2(n_1,n_2)} x^{n_1+n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}$$
$$\sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2 \ge 0}} \frac{(-1)^{L_1(n_1,n_2)} q^{Q(n_1,n_2)+L_2(n_1,n_2)} x^{n_1+2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}.$$

or

If these expressions fail to be a candidate, then one could continue to modify them and

carry on the searching procedure. However, it should be emphasized that in this remark we do not intend to assert that the sum-like generating function must contain some particular "magical" exponents and bases.

6.5 Computer Algebra Assistance

Proofs of the generating function identities in the previous section can be carried out by the same procedure. We only demonstrate (6.4.2) as an instance.

6.5.1 The Main Idea

If we write

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{M \ge 0} g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(M) x^M, \tag{6.5.1}$$

where $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) \in \mathbb{Q}(q)$, then we can translate the *q*-difference equation in Theorem 6.3.2 to a recurrence of $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$.

Definition 6.5.1. Let $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{Q}(q)$ with q transcendental. A sequence (a_n) in \mathbb{K} is called q-holonomic if there exist $p, p_0, \ldots, p_r \in \mathbb{K}[x]$, not all zero, such that

$$p_0(q^n)a_n + p_1(q^n)a_{n+1} + \dots + p_r(q^n)a_{n+r} = p(q^n).$$

Hence, the sequence $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_1}}(M)$ is q-holonomic.

On the other hand, if we write

$$\sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}} = \sum_{M \ge 0} \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M) x^M, \tag{6.5.2}$$

we may also find a recurrence relation satisfied by $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(M)$. Hence, $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(M)$ is also q-holonomic.

A result of Kauers and Koutschan [110] states that if two sequences (a_n) and (b_n) are q-holonomic, so is their linear combination $(\alpha a_n + \beta b_n)$. Hence, we may find a recurrence relation satisfied by $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$. As long as $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) = 0$ for enough initial cases, we are safe to say that this difference is identical to 0 for all M and hence arrive at the desired generating function identity.

6.5.2 Two Mathematica Packages

To proceed with our proof, we require two *Mathematica* packages: qMultiSum [153] and qGeneratingFunctions [110]. These packages along with their instructions can be found on the webpage of Research Institute for Symbolic Computation (RISC) of Johannes Kepler University².

To begin with, we load the two packages after installing them.

```
<<RISC'qMultiSum'
<<RISC'qGeneratingFunctions'
```

6.5.3 Recurrence for $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$

For the polynomials $p_{3i}(x,q)$ (i = 0, ..., 3) defined in Theorem 6.3.2, we write

$$p_{3i}(x,q) = \sum_{j=0}^{J_{3i}} p_{3i,j}(q) x^j.$$

Then with (6.5.1), one may rewrite (6.3.27) as

$$0 = \sum_{i=0}^{3} p_{3i}(x,q) G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(xq^{3i})$$

=
$$\sum_{i=0}^{3} \sum_{j=0}^{J_{3i}} \sum_{m \ge 0} p_{3i,j}(q) g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(m) q^{3im} x^{m+j}$$

=
$$\sum_{M \ge 0} \sum_{i=0}^{3} \sum_{m=\max(0,M-J_{3i})}^{M} q^{3im} p_{3i,M-m}(x,q) g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(m) x^{M}$$

Hence, for all $M \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{3} \sum_{m=\max(0,M-J_{3i})}^{M} q^{3im} p_{3i,M-m}(x,q) g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{I,1}}}(m) = 0, \qquad (6.5.3)$$

from which we see that $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$ $(M \ge 1)$ is uniquely determined by $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(0)$. It is also trivial that $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(0) = 1$.

In particular, for $M \ge 0$, we have the following recurrence

$$0 = g_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M) \left((q^{28} + q^{30})q^{9M} \right)$$

²See https://www3.risc.jku.at/research/combinat/software/ergosum/index.html

$$+ g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+1) \left((q^{19}+q^{21})q^{6(M+1)}+q^{27}q^{9(M+1)} \right) + g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+2) \left((q^{14}+q^{15}+q^{16}+q^{17}+q^{18})q^{6(M+2)} \right) + g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+3) \left(-(q^7+q^9+q^{10}+q^{12})q^{3(M+3)}+(q^{11}+q^{13})q^{6(M+3)} \right) + g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+4) \left(-(q^3+q^4+q^5+2q^6+q^7+q^8+q^9)q^{3(M+4)} \right) + g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+5) \left((q^4+q^6) - (q+q^2+q^3+q^4+q^6)q^{3(M+5)} \right) + g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+6) \left(1-q^{3(M+6)} \right).$$
(6.5.4)

6.5.4 Recurrence for $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$

Notice that for $M \ge 0$

$$\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M) = \sum_{n \leq \frac{M}{2}} \frac{q^{(M-2n)^2 + 3n^2 + 3n(M-2n)}}{(q;q)_{M-2n}(q^3;q^3)_n}.$$

The recurrence satisfied by $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(M)$ can be computed automatically by the qMultiSum package with the following codes:

```
ClearAll[M];
summand = q^(3n^2+(M-2n)^2+3n(M-2 n))/(qPochhammer[q,q,
M-2n] qPochhammer[q^3,q^3,n]);
stru = qFindStructureSet[summand, {M}, {n}, {1}, {2},
{2}, qProtocol -> True]
rec = qFindRecurrence[summand, {M}, {n}, {1}, {2}, {2},
qProtocol -> True, StructSet -> stru[[1]]]
sumrec = qSumRecurrence[rec]
```

This gives us, for $M \ge 0$,

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)q^{9M+24}(1+2q^2+q^4+q^{3M+14}) \\ &+ \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+1)q^{6M+21}(1+2q^2+q^4-q^{3M+8}-q^{3M+10}+q^{3M+11}+q^{3M+13}+q^{3M+14}) \\ &+ \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+2)q^{6M+22}(1+q^2)(1+q^2+q^3+q^4+q^{3M+12}) \\ &- \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+3)q^{3M+12}(1+q^2)(1-q+q^2)(1+q+q^2+q^3+q^{3M+12}) \\ &- \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+4)q^{3M+12}(1-q+q^2)(1+q+q^2)(1+q+q^2+q^3+q^{3M+13}) \\ &+ \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M+5)(1-q^{3M+15})(1+2q^2+q^4+q^{3M+11}). \end{split}$$
(6.5.5)

6.5.5 Recurrence for $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$

Finally, we deduce the recurrence for $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$ from (6.5.4) and (6.5.5). This can be accomplished by the QREPlus function of the qGeneratingFunctions package.

We need the following codes, in which sumrec1 records the recurrence relation for $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$ and sumrec2 records the recurrence relation for $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{1,1}}}(M)$.

```
ClearAll[M];
sumrec1 = {SUM[M] ((q^{(28)}+q^{(30)})q^{(9M)})
+ SUM[M+1] ((q^(19)+q^(21))q^(6(M+1))+q^(27)q^(9(M+1)))
+ SUM[M+2] ((q^(14)+q^(15)+q^(16)+q^(17)+q^(18))q^(6(M
   +2)))
+ SUM[M+3] (-(q<sup>7</sup>+q<sup>9</sup>+q<sup>(10)</sup>+q<sup>(12)</sup>)q<sup>(3(M+3)</sup>)+(q<sup>(11)</sup>+
   q^{(13)}q^{(6(M+3))}
+ SUM[M+4] (-(q<sup>3</sup>+q<sup>4</sup>+q<sup>5</sup>+2q<sup>6</sup>+q<sup>7</sup>+q<sup>8</sup>+q<sup>9</sup>)q<sup>(3(M+4)</sup>))
+ SUM [M+5] ((q<sup>4</sup>+q<sup>6</sup>)-(q+q<sup>2</sup>+q<sup>3</sup>+q<sup>4</sup>+q<sup>6</sup>)q<sup>(3(M+5)</sup>))
+ SUM[M+6] (1-q^(3(M+6)))
== 0;
sumrec2 = {SUM[M] q^{(9M+24)} (1+2q^2+q^4+q^{(3M+14)})}
+ SUM[M+1] q^(6M+21) (1+2q^2+q^4-q^(3M+8)-q^(3M+10)+q
   (3M+11)+q(3M+13)+q(3M+14))
+ SUM [M+2] q^(6M+22) (1+q^2) (1+q^2+q^3+q^4+q^(3M+12))
- SUM [M+3] q^(3M+12) (1+q^2) (1-q+q^2) (1+q+q^2+q^3+q)
   ^(3M+12))
- SUM [M+4] q<sup>(3M+12)</sup> (1-q+q<sup>2</sup>) (1+q+q<sup>2</sup>) (1+q+q<sup>2</sup>+q<sup>3</sup>+q
   ^(3M+13))
+ SUM[M+5] (1-q^(3M+15)) (1+2q^2+q^4+q^(3M+11))
== 0}:
QREPlus [sumrec1, sumrec2, SUM[M]]
```

The output gives us an order six recurrence. Hence, to show

$$g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M) = \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{I},1}}}(M)$$

for all $M \ge 0$, it suffices to show that the equality holds for $M = 0, \ldots, 5$. This can be checked easily.

We therefore arrive at

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathbf{I},1}}}(x,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}.$$

6.5.6 Other Identities

Similar to (6.5.1) and (6.5.2), let us write

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(x,q) = \sum_{M \ge 0} g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M) x^M$$

and the multiple summations on the right hand sides of (6.4.3)–(6.4.13) as

$$\sum_{M\geq 0} \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M) x^M,$$

where "*" may be "I, 2", "I, 3", etc. We list the orders of recurrences satisfied by $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$, $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$ and $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$ in Table 6.1 for the reader's convenience.

Table 6.1. Orders of recurrences satisfied by $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$, $\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$ and $g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M) - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}(M)$

*	I, 2	I, 3	II, 1	II, 2	II, a	III, 1	III, 2	III, a	IV, 1	IV, a	IV, b
$g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}$	6	6	6	6	6	15	15	15	15	15	15
$\tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}$	5	5	5	5	5	4	4	4	4	4	4
$g_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}} - \tilde{g}_{\mathscr{I}_{T_*}}$	6	6	6	6	6	15	15	15	15	15	15

6.6 Endnotes

In a very recent paper of Bringmann, Jennings-Shaffer and Mahlburg [43], the Kanade– Russell conjectures I_5 and I_6 were proved. Here the analytic forms of I_5 and I_6 read respectively as

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},a}}}(1,q) = \sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} + n_2 + \frac{5n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}} = \frac{1}{(q,q^3,q^4,q^6,q^7,q^{10},q^{11};q^{12})_{\infty}},$$

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{IV},b}}}(1,q) = \sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{3n_1}{2} + 3n_2 + \frac{7n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

$$(6.6.1)$$

$$=\frac{1}{(q^2, q^3, q^5, q^6, q^7, q^8, q^{11}; q^{12})_{\infty}}.$$
(6.6.2)

The authors of [43] cleverly reformulated $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},a}}}(1,q)$ and $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{IV},b}}}(1,q)$ and then added a new parameter so that the new bivariate generating functions satisfy simpler q-difference equations, from which the authors deduced the above identities.

Following the proofs of (1.15) and (1.16) in [43], one may prove the following identities with no difficulty.

Theorem 6.6.1. We have

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(1,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}} = (-q;q)_{\infty}(-q^3;q^6)_{\infty \ 2}\phi_1\begin{pmatrix}q^{-1},q\\q^2\end{pmatrix}, q^6, -q^3\end{pmatrix},$$
(6.6.3)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{III},2}}}(1,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{3n_1}{2} + n_2 + \frac{5n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

$$= (-q^2;q)_{\infty}(-q^3;q^6)_{\infty \ 2}\phi_1\begin{pmatrix}q,q^5\\q^8;q^6,-q^3\end{pmatrix},$$
(6.6.4)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},1}}}(1,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} - n_2 + \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

$$= (-q;q)_{\infty}(-q^3;q^6)_{\infty \ 2}\phi_1\begin{pmatrix}q^{-1},q\\q^4\end{pmatrix};q^6,-q^3\end{pmatrix},$$
(6.6.5)

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\text{IV},a}}}(1,q) = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} + n_2 + \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

$$= (-q;q)_{\infty}(-q^3;q^6)_{\infty \ 2}\phi_1\begin{pmatrix}q,q^5\\q^4\end{pmatrix}, q^6,-q^3\end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.6.6)

Note that we shall use a refinement of Proposition 2.3 in [43], the proof of which comes from a slight modification of the original proof of Bringmann, Jennings-Shaffer and Mahlburg.

Proposition 6.6.2. Suppose that $A(x) = \sum_{n\geq 0} \alpha_n x^n$ has positive radius of convergence

and A(x) satisfies

$$A(x) = (1 + q^{a} + x^{2}q^{b} + x^{2}q^{c})A(xq^{3}) - q^{a}(1 + x^{2}q^{b+c-a-d+6})(1 + x^{2}q^{d})A(xq^{6}),$$
(6.6.7)

where $a \notin 3\mathbb{Z}$ if $a \leq -6$. Then

$$A(x) = \alpha_0 (-x^2 q^{d-6}; q^6)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(q^{b-d+6}, q^{c-d+6}; q^6)_n (-1)^n q^{(d-6)n}}{(q^6, q^{a+6}; q^6)_n} x^{2n} + \alpha_1 (-x^2 q^{d-6}; q^6)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(q^{b-d+9}, q^{c-d+9}; q^6)_n (-1)^n q^{(d-6)n}}{(q^9, q^{a+9}; q^6)_n} x^{2n+1}.$$
(6.6.8)

Proof. We divide by $(-x^2q^d;q^6)_{\infty}$ on both sides of (6.6.7) and put

$$B(x) := \frac{A(x)}{(-x^2 q^{d-6}; q^6)_{\infty}},$$

then

$$(1 + x^2 q^{d-6})B(x) = (1 + q^a + x^2 q^b + x^2 q^c)B(xq^3)$$
$$- q^a (1 + x^2 q^{b+c-a-d+6})B(xq^6).$$

Writing $B(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \beta_n x^n$, one has, after simplification,

$$\beta_n = -\frac{q^{d-6}(1-q^{3n+b-d})(1-q^{3n+c-d})}{(1-q^{3n})(1-q^{3n+a})}\beta_{n-2}.$$

Finally, noting that $\beta_0 = \alpha_0$ and $\beta_1 = \alpha_1$ yields the desired result.

Now we prove (6.6.3) as an example.

Proof of (6.6.3). We first rewrite $G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(1,q)$ as follows:

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{\mathrm{T_{III,1}}}}(1,q) = \sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}} \\ = \sum_{\substack{n_2,n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{q^{3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 6n_2n_3 - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}} \sum_{\substack{n_1 \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_1}}.$$

For the inner summation, we apply the identity

$$(x;q)_{\infty} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(-1)^n q^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}}}{(q;q)_n}.$$

It follows that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(1,q) = \sum_{n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 6n_2n_3 - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}} (-q^{2n_2 + 3n_3 + 1};q)_{\infty}}{(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$
$$= (-q;q)_{\infty} \sum_{n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 6n_2n_3 - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}}}{(-q;q)_{2n_2 + 3n_3}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

Let us define an auxiliary function

$$H(x) := \sum_{n_2, n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 6n_2n_3 - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}} x^{2n_2 + 2n_3}}{(-q;q)_{2n_2 + 3n_3} (q^2;q^2)_{n_2} (q^3;q^3)_{n_3}}$$

We also assume that $H(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} h_n x^{2n}$.

One may use the *Mathematica* package qZeil [138] to find a recurrence satisfied by h_n through the following codes.

The resulting recurrence is

$$(1 - q^{6n-4} - q^{6n} + q^{12n-4})h_n - (q^{6n-4} + q^{6n-2} - q^{12n-9} - q^{12n-7})h_{n-1} + q^{12n-12}h_{n-2} = 0.$$

This recurrence then leads to

$$H(x) = (1 + q^{-4} + x^2q^2 + x^2q^4)H(xq^3) - q^{-4}(1 + x^2q^7)(1 + x^2q^9)H(xq^6).$$

Finally, we use Proposition 6.6.2 with a = -4, b = 2, c = 4 and d = 9. Then,

$$H(x) = (-x^2 q^3; q^6)_{\infty} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{(q^{-1}, q; q^6)_n (-q^3)^n}{(q^6, q^2; q^6)_m} x^{2n}$$
$$= (-x^2 q^3; q^6)_{\infty} {}_2\phi_1 \left(\frac{q^{-1}, q}{q^2}; q^6, -x^2 q^3 \right).$$

It follows that

$$G_{\mathscr{I}_{T_{\mathrm{III},1}}}(1,q) = (-q;q)_{\infty}H(1) = (-q;q)_{\infty}(-q^3;q^6)_{\infty \ 2}\phi_1\begin{pmatrix}q^{-1},q\\q^2\\q^2\end{pmatrix}$$

which is our desired identity.

6.7 References

- [8] G. E. Andrews, Partition identities, Advances in Math. 9 (1972), 10–51.
- [10] G. E. Andrews, A general theory of identities of the Rogers-Ramanujan type, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974), 1033–1052.
- [11] G. E. Andrews, Problems and prospects for basic hypergeometric functions, Theory and application of special functions (Proc. Advanced Sem., Math. Res. Center, Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1975), pp. 191–224. Math. Res. Center, Univ. Wisconsin, Publ. No. 35, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [12] G. E. Andrews, The theory of partitions, Reprint of the 1976 original. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. xvi+255 pp.
- [43] K. Bringmann, C. Jennings-Shaffer, and K. Mahlburg, Proofs and reductions of various conjectured partition identities of Kanade and Russell, to appear in J. *Reine Angew. Math.* Available at arXiv:1809.06089.
- [54] S. Chern, Linked partition ideals, directed graphs and q-multi-summations, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.33, 29 pp.
- [65] S. Chern and Z. Li, Linked partition ideals and Kanade–Russell conjectures, *Discrete Math.* 343 (2020), no. 7, 111876, 24 pp.

- [84] W. Gleißberg, Über einen Satz von Herrn I. Schur, Math. Z. 28 (1928), no. 1, 372–382.
- [85] H. Göllnitz, Partitionen mit Differenzenbedingungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 225 (1967), 154–190.
- [86] B. Gordon, A combinatorial generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 393–399.
- [106] S. Kanade, Some results on the representation theory of vertex operator algebras and integer partition identities, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick. 2015. 114 pp.
- [108] S. Kanade and M. C. Russell, IdentityFinder and some new identities of Rogers-Ramanujan type, Exp. Math. 24 (2015), no. 4, 419–423.
- [109] S. Kanade and M. C. Russell, Staircases to analytic sum-sides for many new integer partition identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type, *Electron. J. Combin.* 26 (2019), no. 1, Paper 1.6, 33 pp.
- [110] M. Kauers and C. Koutschan, A Mathematica package for q-holonomic sequences and power series, *Ramanujan J.* 19 (2009), no. 2, 137–150.
- [116] K. Kurşungöz, Andrews–Gordon type series for Kanade–Russell conjectures, Ann. Comb. 23 (2019), no. 3-4, 835–888.
- [117] K. Kurşungöz, Andrews–Gordon type series for Capparelli's and Göllnitz-Gordon identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 165 (2019), 117–138.
- [138] P. Paule and A. Riese, A Mathematica q-analogue of Zeilberger's algorithm based on an algebraically motivated approach to q-hypergeometric telescoping, in: Special functions, q-series and related topics (Toronto, ON, 1995), 179–210, Fields Inst. Commun., 14, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [145] S. Ramanujan, Proof of certain identities in combinatory analysis, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 19 (1919), 214–216.
- [153] A. Riese, qMultiSum—a package for proving q-hypergeometric multiple summation identities, J. Symbolic Comput. 35 (2003), no. 3, 349–376.
- [156] L. J. Rogers, Third memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 26 (1894), 15–32.
- [158] M. C. Russell, Using experimental mathematics to conjecture and prove theorems in the theory of partitions and commutative and non-commutative recurrences, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick. 2016. 74 pp.
- [160] I. J. Schur, Zur additiven Zahlentheorie, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. (1926), 488–495.

Chapter 7 Span One Linked Partition Ideals: Directed Graphs and *q*-Multi-summations

This chapter comes from

 S. Chern, Linked partition ideals, directed graphs and q-multi-summations, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.33, 29 pp. (Ref. [54])

In the previous chapter, we have explained the definition of span one linked partition ideals. Given a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$, one crucial problem discussed is how to determine its generating function

$$\mathscr{G}(x) = \mathscr{G}(x,q) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{I}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}.$$

It should be admitted that to derive an Andrews–Gordon type generating function identity, one has to obtain first a conjectural (x, q) sum-side. This then requires an extensive search using the general shape given by Andrews' Conjecture 6.1.2.

However, we could also start in the opposite direction. That is, if we are given a family of nice q-multi-summations, then we may try to use the approach in Section 7.4 to construct identities like (7.4.5) and (7.4.13), from which we may further construct some combinatorial objects, or even more luckily, a span one linked partition ideal and its subsets, such that the q-multi-summations correspond to their generating functions. One such instance is given in Theorem 7.4.4 and Corollary 7.4.5. This is indeed what we hope the framework in this chapter could provide.

7.1 Main Result

Assume that in $\mathscr{I} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$, Π is given by $\{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_K\}$ where $\pi_1 = \emptyset$, the empty partition. We define a (0, 1)-matrix $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle)$ by

$$\mathscr{A}_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \pi_j \in \mathcal{L}(\pi_i), \\ 0 & \text{if } \pi_j \notin \mathcal{L}(\pi_i), \end{cases}$$
(7.1.1)

and a diagonal matrix $\mathscr{W}(x) = \mathscr{W}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle \,|\, x, q)$ by

$$\mathscr{W}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x^{\sharp(\pi_1)} q^{|\pi_1|} & & \\ & x^{\sharp(\pi_2)} q^{|\pi_2|} & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & x^{\sharp(\pi_K)} q^{|\pi_K|} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.1.2)

Theorem 7.1.1. For each $1 \leq k \leq K$, we denote by \mathscr{I}_k the subset of partitions λ in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ whose S-tail is $\pi_k \in \Pi$. We further write

$$\mathscr{G}_k(x) = \mathscr{G}_k(x,q) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{I}_k} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}$$

Let \mathscr{A} and $\mathscr{W}(x)$ be defined as in (7.1.1) and (7.1.2), respectively. Then, for |q| < 1 and $|x| < |q|^{-1}$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_{1}(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_{2}(x) \\ \vdots \\ \mathscr{G}_{K}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{W}(x) \cdot \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (\mathscr{A} \cdot \mathscr{W}(xq^{mS})) \right) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.1.3)

Remark 7.1.1. Recall that $\pi_1 = \emptyset$ (so that $\pi_1 \in \mathcal{L}(\pi)$ for all $\pi \in \Pi$) and $\mathcal{L}(\emptyset) = \Pi$. It follows that all entries in the first row and column of \mathscr{A} are 1. Further, the first entry in $\mathscr{W}(x)$ is also $x^0q^0 = 1$. When |q| < 1 and $|x| < |q|^{-1}$, we have

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{MS}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Throughout, $\prod_{m=1}^{M} (\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{mS}))$ means

$$\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^S).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{2S}).\cdots.\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{MS}).$$
(7.1.4)

Remark 7.1.2. We have

$$\mathscr{G}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathscr{G}_k(x),$$

but since $\mathcal{L}(\emptyset) = \Pi$, it is not hard to see that

$$\mathscr{G}_1(x) = \sum_{k=1}^K \mathscr{G}_k(xq^S)$$

Hence,

$$\mathscr{G}(x) = \mathscr{G}_1(xq^{-S}). \tag{7.1.5}$$

In the next section, we will consider our main result in a more general setting of graph-theoretic flavor.

7.2 Directed Graphs

Let G = (V, E) be a directed graph where V is the set of vertices and E is the set of directed edges. Throughout, we allow loops (that is, directed edges connecting vertices with themselves) in G but for any two vertices u and v, not necessarily distinct, we allow at most one directed edge connecting u with v. Let $V = \{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_K\}$. Let $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}(G)$ be the adjacency matrix of G, that is,

$$\mathscr{A}_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if there is a directed edge from } v_i \text{ with } v_j, \\ 0 & \text{if there are no directed edges from } v_i \text{ with } v_j. \end{cases}$$
(7.2.1)

We say that w is a walk of step M in G if w is a chain of M + 1 vertices

$$\varpi_0 \to \varpi_1 \to \dots \to \varpi_M$$

such that for each $1 \leq m \leq M$, there is an edge from ϖ_{m-1} to ϖ_m . Let \mathcal{W}_M be the set of walks of step M in G.

7.2.1 Generating Function for Walks in a Directed Graph

To define the generating function for step M walks in a directed graph G = (V, E), we assign two weights to each vertex v: one is called *length*, denoted by $\sharp(v) \in \mathbb{N}$, and the other is called *size*, denoted by $|v| \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let the *shift* S be a non-negative integer.

For any walk $w \in \mathcal{W}_M$,

$$w = \varpi_0 \to \varpi_1 \to \dots \to \varpi_M, \tag{7.2.2}$$

we define its generating function by

$$\mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q) := x^{\sharp(\varpi_0)} q^{|\varpi_0|} \times (xq^S)^{\sharp(\varpi_1)} q^{|\varpi_1|} \times \dots \times (xq^{MS})^{\sharp(\varpi_M)} q^{|\varpi_M|}.$$
(7.2.3)

Now we are able to define the generating function for step M walks from v_i to v_j for any $1 \le i, j \le K$:

$$\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_M \mid x) = \mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_M \mid x, q) := \sum_{\substack{w \in \mathcal{W}_M \\ \varpi_0 = v_i \\ \varpi_M = v_j}} \mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q).$$
(7.2.4)

Let us define a diagonal matrix $\mathscr{W}(x) = \mathscr{W}(x,q)$ by

$$\mathscr{W}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x^{\sharp(v_1)} q^{|v_1|} & & \\ & x^{\sharp(v_2)} q^{|v_2|} & & \\ & & \ddots & \\ & & & \ddots & \\ & & & & x^{\sharp(v_K)} q^{|v_K|} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.2.5)

Theorem 7.2.1. Let \mathscr{A} be the adjacency matrix of G and let $\mathscr{W}(x)$ be as in (7.2.5). Then $\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_M | x)$ is the (i, j)-th entry of

$$\mathscr{W}(x).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{S}).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{2S}).\cdots.\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{MS}).$$
(7.2.6)

Remark 7.2.1. Let us set x = q = 1. Then $\mathscr{W}(1,1)$ is a $K \times K$ identity matrix and hence (7.2.6) becomes \mathscr{A}^M . Since $\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_M | 1, 1)$ equals the number of walks of step M from vertex v_i to vertex v_j , Theorem 7.2.1 immediately leads to a well-known result in graph theory:

Corollary 7.2.2. The number of walks of step M from vertex v_i to vertex v_j is the

(i, j)-th entry of \mathscr{A}^M .

Proof of Theorem 7.2.1. We induct on M. When M = 0, that is, the chain w of vertices in (7.2.2) contains only one vertex ϖ_0 , it follows that

$$\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_0 \,|\, x) = \begin{cases} x^{\sharp(v_i)} q^{|v_i|} & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{if } i \neq j, \end{cases}$$

which is identical to the (i, j)-th entry of $\mathscr{W}(x)$.

Now let us assume that the theorem is true for some $M \ge 0$. We also write for convenience

$$\mathscr{M}(M) = \mathscr{W}(x).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^S).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{2S}).\cdots.\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{MS}).$$

Then $\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_M | x) = \mathscr{M}(M)_{i,j}$. Further,

$$\mathcal{M}(M+1)_{i,j} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathcal{M}(M)_{i,k} \mathscr{A}_{k,j} (xq^{(M+1)S})^{\sharp(v_j)} q^{|v_j|}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{K} \mathscr{G}_{i,k} (\mathcal{W}_M \mid x) \mathscr{A}_{k,j} (xq^{(M+1)S})^{\sharp(v_j)} q^{|v_j|}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_{M+1} \mid x) &= \sum_{\substack{w \in \mathcal{W}_{M+1} \\ \varpi_0 = v_i \\ \varpi_M = v_j}} \mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^K \left(\sum_{\substack{w \in \mathcal{W}_M \\ \varpi_0 = v_i \\ \varpi_M = v_k}} \mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q) \right) \mathscr{A}_{k,j}(xq^{(M+1)S})^{\sharp(v_j)} q^{|v_j|} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^K \mathscr{G}_{i,k}(\mathcal{W}_M \mid x) \mathscr{A}_{k,j}(xq^{(M+1)S})^{\sharp(v_j)} q^{|v_j|}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, $\mathscr{G}_{i,j}(\mathcal{W}_{M+1} | x) = \mathscr{M}(M+1)_{i,j}$, which is our desired result.

7.2.2 Assigning an Empty Vertex

Let us assume that $v_1 \in V$ is an empty vertex, that is, its length and size are both 0:

$$\sharp(v_1) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad |v_1| = 0. \tag{7.2.7}$$

We also assume that, for $2 \le k \le K$, $\sharp(v_k)$ and $|v_k|$ are both positive integers.

We require that, for each $1 \le k \le K$, there is an edge from vertex v_k to the empty vertex v_1 . Hence, the entries in the first column of the adjacency matrix \mathscr{A} are all 1.

We call such a modified directed graph $G^! = (V^!, E^!)$.

For any finite walk in $G^!$,

$$w = \varpi_0 \to \varpi_1 \to \cdots \to \varpi_M,$$

with $\varpi_M \neq v_1$, we may extend it to an infinite walk

$$w^{\star} = \varpi_0 \to \varpi_1 \to \cdots \to \varpi_M \to v_1 \to v_1 \to \cdots$$
.

Conversely, for any infinite walk w^* in $G^!$ ending with $v_1 \to v_1 \to \cdots$, a series of empty vertex, we may find the last vertex, say ϖ_M , which is not empty, and reduce w^* to a finite walk $w = \varpi_0 \to \varpi_1 \to \cdots \to \varpi_M$. If there is no such ϖ_M , that is, if the infinite walk is $v_1 \to v_1 \to \cdots$, we reduce it to v_1 .

It follows from the assumptions $\sharp(v_1) = 0$ and $|v_1| = 0$ that

$$\mathscr{G}(w^{\star} | x, q) = \mathscr{G}(w | x, q).$$
(7.2.8)

Also, for the infinite walk $v_1 \rightarrow v_1 \rightarrow \cdots$, we have

$$\mathscr{G}(v_1 \to v_1 \to \cdots \mid x, q) = \mathscr{G}(v_1 \mid x, q) = x^0 q^0 = 1.$$

Let \mathcal{W}^* denote the set of infinite walks in $G^!$ ending with $v_1 \to v_1 \to \cdots$, a series of empty vertex.

We are now in the position to define the generating function of $G^{!}$, by

$$\mathscr{G}(G^{!} | x, q) := \sum_{w^{\star} \in \mathcal{W}^{\star}} \mathscr{G}(w^{\star} | x, q)$$
(7.2.9)

$$= \sum_{M \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{w \in \mathcal{W}_M \\ w_M \neq v_1}} \mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q).$$
(7.2.10)

Theorem 7.2.3. For each $1 \le k \le K$, let $\mathscr{G}_k(G^! | x) = \mathscr{G}_k(G^! | x, q)$ denote the generating function for infinite walks in \mathcal{W}^* starting at v_k . Let the shift S be a positive integer. Let \mathscr{A} and $\mathscr{W}(x)$ be defined as in (7.2.1) and (7.2.5), respectively. Then, for |q| < 1 and

 $|x| < |q|^{-1},$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_{1}(G^{!} \mid x) \\ \mathscr{G}_{2}(G^{!} \mid x) \\ \vdots \\ \mathscr{G}_{K}(G^{!} \mid x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{W}(x) \cdot \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{mS})) \right) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.2.11)

Proof. We simply observe that, for each $1 \le k \le K$,

$$\mathscr{G}_k(G^! \mid x) = \lim_{M \to \infty} \sum_{\substack{w \in \mathcal{W}_M \\ \varpi_0 = v_k \\ \varpi_M = v_1}} \mathscr{G}(w \mid x, q).$$

By Theorem 7.2.1, this is the (k, 1)-th entry of

$$\mathscr{W}(x).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^S).\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{2S}).\dots = \mathscr{W}(x).\left(\lim_{M\to\infty}\prod_{m=1}^M(\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{mS}))\right).$$

The desired result therefore follows.

Remark 7.2.2. Results of the same flavor as Theorem 7.2.3 are available in literature for some other concrete identities; see [124, Section 3] for Gordon's identities, [74, Section 5] for the Andrews–Göllnitz–Gordon identities, and [107, Section 6] for the Andrews–Bressoud identities.

7.2.3 Proof of Theorem 7.1.1

To prove Theorem 7.1.1, let us define the associated directed graph of a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$.

We first define the set of vertices. Since $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_K\}$ is a finite set of partitions, we may treat each π_k as a vertex. We also define the length of π_k as the number of parts in π_k and the size of π_k as the sum of all parts in π_k . In particular, since π_1 is an empty partition so that $\sharp(\pi_1) = 0$ and $|\pi_1| = 0$, we may treat π_1 as an empty vertex.

We next define the directed edges in a natural way. For $1 \leq i, j \leq K$, if $\pi_j \in \mathcal{L}(\pi_i)$, then we say that there is an edge from vertex π_i to vertex π_j . Recall that for any $\pi \in \Pi$, its linking set $\mathcal{L}(\pi)$ is defined to contain the empty partition $\pi_1 = \emptyset$. Hence, for each $1 \leq k \leq K$, there is an edge from vertex π_k to vertex π_1 .

We call this graph the associated directed graph of \mathscr{I} , denoted by $G^!(\mathscr{I}) = (V^!(\mathscr{I}), E^!(\mathscr{I}))$. In fact, $G^!(\mathscr{I})$ is a modified directed graph described in §7.2.2.

Recall from (6.1.3) that each partition λ in \mathscr{I} can be uniquely decomposed as

$$\lambda = \lambda_0 \oplus \phi^S(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^{2S}(\lambda_2) \oplus \dots \oplus \phi^{KS}(\lambda_K) \oplus \phi^{(K+1)S}(\emptyset) \oplus \phi^{(K+2)S}(\emptyset) \oplus \dots$$

so that $\lambda_K \neq \emptyset$ as long as $\lambda \neq \emptyset$. Hence, we have a natural bijection to infinite walks in $G^!(\mathscr{I})$ ending with $\pi_1 \to \pi_1 \to \cdots$:

$$w^{\star}(\lambda) = \lambda_0 \to \lambda_1 \to \lambda_2 \to \cdots \to \lambda_K \to \pi_1 \to \pi_1 \to \cdots$$

Further, if λ is an empty partition, then the resulted infinite walk is simply $\pi_1 \to \pi_1 \to \cdots$.

Now let us define S to be the shift. Then

$$x^{\sharp(\lambda)}q^{|\lambda|} = \mathscr{G}(w^{\star}(\lambda) \mid x, q).$$
(7.2.12)

Hence,

$$\mathscr{G}(x) = \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{I}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} = \sum_{w^{\star} \in \mathcal{W}^{\star}} \mathscr{G}(w^{\star} \,|\, x, q).$$

The rest follows directly from Theorem 7.2.3.

Example 7.2.1. It is shown in Example 6.1.1 that partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1 form a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where $\Pi = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}$, the linking sets are

$$\mathcal{L}(\emptyset) = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(1) = \{\emptyset, 1, 2\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(2) = \{\emptyset, 2\},$$

and S = 2. We represent its associated directed graph in Figure 7.1.

Figure 7.1. The associated directed graph in Example 7.2.1



7.3 *q*-Multi-summations

7.3.1 A q-Difference System and the Uniqueness of Solutions

Recall that in Theorem 7.1.1 we have shown that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_{1}(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_{2}(x) \\ \vdots \\ \mathscr{G}_{K}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{W}(x) \cdot \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (\mathscr{A} \cdot \mathscr{W}(xq^{mS})) \right) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.3.1)

Let us focus on

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1^{\star}(x) \\ F_2^{\star}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix} := \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^M (\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{mS})) \right) . \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.3.2)

Notice that

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1^{\star}(x) \\ F_2^{\star}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^M (\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{mS})) \right) . \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{S}). \left(\lim_{M \to \infty} \prod_{m=1}^{M} (\mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{S}q^{mS}))\right). \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(xq^{S}). \begin{pmatrix} F_{1}^{\star}(xq^{S})\\F_{2}^{\star}(xq^{S})\\\vdots\\F_{K}^{\star}(xq^{S}) \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we further write $F_k(x) := F_k^{\star}(xq^{-S})$ for each k, then the column vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}(x) := \begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K(x) \end{pmatrix}$$

satisfies the q-difference system

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}(x) = \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(x).\underline{\mathbf{F}}(xq^S).$$
(7.3.3)

Remark 7.3.1. It follows from (7.3.3) that

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}(x) = \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(x). \begin{pmatrix} F_1^{\star}(x) \\ F_2^{\star}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{A}. \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_1(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ \mathscr{G}_K(x) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.3.4)

Recall that, we have defined in Theorem 7.1.1 that, for each $1 \leq k \leq K$, \mathscr{I}_k denotes the subset of partitions in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ whose S-tail is π_k . Further, $\mathscr{G}_k(x)$ is the generating function of \mathscr{I}_k . Since \mathscr{A} is a (0, 1)-matrix, it follows that $F_k(x) \in \mathbb{Z}[[q]][[x]]$ for each $1 \leq k \leq K$. More importantly, since the empty partition \emptyset is contained in \mathscr{I}_1 but not in \mathscr{I}_k for $2 \leq k \leq K$, we have $\mathscr{G}_1(0) = 1$ and $\mathscr{G}_k(0) = 0$ for $2 \leq k \leq K$. Since the entries in the first column of \mathscr{A} are all 1, it follows that

$$F_1(0) = F_2(0) = \dots = F_K(0) = 1.$$
 (7.3.5)

We next show the uniqueness of solutions of (7.3.3).

Proposition 7.3.1. In the q-difference system (7.3.3), we assume that, for each $1 \le k \le K$, $F_k(x) \in \mathbb{C}[[q]][[x]]$. If $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = \cdots = F_K(0)$, then there exists a solution to (7.3.3). Further, the solution is uniquely determined by $\underline{\mathbf{F}}(0)$.

Proof. For each $1 \le k \le K$, let us write

$$F_k(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} f_k(n) x^n,$$

where $f_k(n) \in \mathbb{C}[[q]]$ for $n \ge 0$. We also write for notational convenience that $f_k(n) = 0$ for n < 0. Then,

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} f_k(n) x^n = \sum_{j=1}^K \mathscr{A}_{k,j} x^{\sharp(\pi_j)} q^{|\pi_j|} \sum_{n\geq 0} f_j(n) q^{nS} x^n$$
$$= \sum_{n\geq 0} \left(\sum_{j=1}^K \mathscr{A}_{k,j} q^{|\pi_j| + (n - \sharp(\pi_j))S} f_j(n - \sharp(\pi_j)) \right) x^n$$

Recall that $\sharp(\pi_1) = |\pi_1| = 0$ and $\mathscr{A}_{k,1} = 1$ for all k. We have that, for $n \ge 0$,

$$f_k(n) = q^{nS} f_1(n) + \sum_{j=2}^K \mathscr{A}_{k,j} q^{|\pi_j| + (n - \sharp(\pi_j))S} f_j(n - \sharp(\pi_j)).$$
(7.3.6)

Setting n = 0 gives the requirement $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = \cdots = F_K(0)$. Also, $\underline{\mathbf{F}}(0) = (f_1(0), f_2(0), \dots, f_K(0))^T$ uniquely determines $f_k(n)$ for all $1 \le k \le K$ and $n \ge 1$ by (7.3.6).

7.3.2 Two Examples

Recall that, for each $1 \leq k \leq K$, \mathscr{I}_k denotes the subset of partitions in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ whose S-tail is π_k . Further,

$$\mathscr{G}_k(x) = \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{I}_k} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}.$$

7.3.2.1 Example 1

In the first example, we consider

"partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1."

This partition set obviously corresponds to the Rogers–Ramanujan identities. In Example 6.1.1, we have shown that it is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3\}$ with $\pi_1 = \emptyset$, $\pi_2 = 1$ and $\pi_3 = 2$, the linking sets are

$$\mathcal{L}(\pi_1) = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(\pi_2) = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3\}, \quad \mathcal{L}(\pi_3) = \{\pi_1, \pi_3\},$$

and S = 2.

Notice that the generating function for partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1 is

$$\mathscr{G}_{1}(x) + \mathscr{G}_{2}(x) + \mathscr{G}_{3}(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^{2}} x^{n}}{(q;q)_{n}}$$
(7.3.7)

and that the generating function for partitions with difference at least 2 at distance 1 with the smallest part ≥ 2 is

$$\mathscr{G}_1(x) + \mathscr{G}_3(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2 + n} x^n}{(q; q)_n}.$$
(7.3.8)

We know from (7.3.4) that

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ F_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{A} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_1(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_2(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_1(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_2(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_3(x) \end{pmatrix}$$

Hence, by (7.3.7) and (7.3.8), if we put

$$F_1(x) = F_2(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2} x^n}{(q;q)_n}$$
(7.3.9)

and

$$F_3(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2 + n} x^n}{(q; q)_n},$$
(7.3.10)

then we have the following relation from (7.3.3):

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ F_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & xq & \\ & & xq^2 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F_1(xq^2) \\ F_2(xq^2) \\ F_3(xq^2) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.3.11)

Conversely, if we are able to prove (7.3.11) directly (notice that $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = F_3(0) = 1$), then by Remark 7.3.1 and Proposition 7.3.1, we can compute that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{G}_1(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_2(x) \\ \mathscr{G}_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & xq & \\ & & xq^2 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F_1^{\star}(x) \\ F_2^{\star}(x) \\ F_3^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & xq & \\ & & xq^2 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F_1(xq^2) \\ F_2(xq^2) \\ F_3(xq^2) \end{pmatrix}$$

Also, (7.3.7) and (7.3.8) can be deduced with no difficulty.

7.3.2.2 Example 2

In the second example, we consider

"partitions with difference at least 3 at distance 2 such that if two consecutive parts differ by at most 1, then their sum is divisible by 3."

This partition set corresponds to the Kanade–Russell conjectures I_1-I_3 . It is shown in §6.3.1 that this partition set is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ where S = 3, and $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_7\}$ along with the linking sets given as follows.

Π	linking set
$\pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_2 = 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_3 = 2 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_4 = 3 + 1$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_5 = 2$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_2, \ \pi_3, \ \pi_4, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_6 = 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_5, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$
$\pi_7 = 3 + 3$	$\{\pi_1, \ \pi_6, \ \pi_7\}$

It is also shown in 6.3.1 that the generating function for such partitions is

$$\frac{\mathscr{G}_1(x) + \mathscr{G}_2(x) + \mathscr{G}_3(x) + \mathscr{G}_4(x)}{+ \mathscr{G}_5(x) + \mathscr{G}_6(x) + \mathscr{G}_7(x)} = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(7.3.12)

that the generating function for such partitions with the smallest part ≥ 2 is

$$\mathscr{G}_{1}(x) + \mathscr{G}_{5}(x) + \mathscr{G}_{6}(x) + \mathscr{G}_{7}(x) = \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2} \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_{1}^{2} + 3n_{2}^{2} + 3n_{1}n_{2} + n_{1} + 3n_{2}} x^{n_{1} + 2n_{2}}}{(q;q)_{n_{1}}(q^{3};q^{3})_{n_{2}}},$$
(7.3.13)

and that the generating function for such partitions with the smallest part ≥ 3 is

$$\mathscr{G}_1(x) + \mathscr{G}_6(x) + \mathscr{G}_7(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + 2n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q; q)_{n_1} (q^3; q^3)_{n_2}}.$$
(7.3.14)

We know from (7.3.4) that

Hence, by (7.3.12), (7.3.13) and (7.3.14), if we put

$$F_1(x) = F_2(x) = F_3(x) = F_5(x) = \sum_{\substack{n_1, n_2 \ge 0 \\ 2+2 \le 2 \le 2}} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(7.3.15)

$$F_4(x) = F_6(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}$$
(7.3.16)

and

$$F_7(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + 2n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q; q)_{n_1} (q^3; q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(7.3.17)

then we have the following relation from (7.3.3):

$\left(F_1(x)\right)$		(1)	1	1	1	1	1	1	(1))	$\left(F_1(xq^3)\right)$	
$F_2(x)$		1	1	1	1	1	1	1		xq						$F_2(xq^3)$	
$F_3(x)$		1	1	1	1	1	1	1			x^2q^3					$F_3(xq^3)$	
$F_4(x)$	=	1	0	0	0	1	1	1				x^2q^4				$F_4(xq^3)$	(7.3.18)
$F_5(x)$		1	1	1	1	1	1	1					xq^2			$F_5(xq^3)$	
$F_6(x)$		1	0	0	0	1	1	1						xq^3		$F_6(xq^3)$	
$\left\langle F_{7}(x)\right\rangle$		(1)	0	0	0	0	1	1)							x^2q^6	$\left\langle F_7(xq^3)\right\rangle$	

Conversely, we are also able to recover

$$(\mathscr{G}_1(x), \mathscr{G}_2(x), \mathscr{G}_3(x), \mathscr{G}_4(x), \mathscr{G}_5(x), \mathscr{G}_6(x), \mathscr{G}_7(x))^T$$

as well as (7.3.12), (7.3.13) and (7.3.14) provided that we have proved (7.3.18) directly since $F_1(0) = F_2(0) = \cdots = F_7(0) = 1$.

7.3.3 A Matrix Factorization Problem

Motivated by (7.3.11) and (7.3.18), we turn our interest to a matrix factorization problem as follows.

Let R be a positive integer. Let $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_{R \times R}(\mathbb{N})$ be a fixed symmetric matrix. Let $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (A_r) \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}^R$ and $\underline{\gamma} = (\gamma_r) \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}^R$ be fixed.

Let \mathfrak{F} be a set of q-multi-summations defined by

$$\mathfrak{F} := \Big\{ H(\underline{\beta}) : \underline{\beta} \in \mathbb{Z}^R \text{ and condition } (7.3.21) \text{ is satisfied} \Big\},$$
(7.3.19)

where $H(\underline{\beta}) = H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R)$ is of the form

$$H(\underline{\boldsymbol{\beta}}) := \sum_{n_1,\dots,n_R \ge 0} \frac{q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \alpha_{r,r} n_r (n_r - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le R} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \beta_r n_r} x^{\sum_{r=1}^R \gamma_r n_r}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}}$$
(7.3.20)

and the additional condition reads: for all $(n_1, \ldots, n_R) \in \mathbb{N}^R \setminus \{(0, 0, \ldots, 0)\},\$

$$\sum_{r=1}^{R} \frac{\alpha_{r,r} n_r (n_r - 1)}{2} + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le R} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j + \sum_{r=1}^{R} \beta_r n_r > 0.$$
(7.3.21)

Now we consider a column functional vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K(x) \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} H(\underline{\beta}_1) \\ H(\underline{\beta}_2) \\ \vdots \\ H(\underline{\beta}_K) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (7.3.22)$$

where $H(\underline{\beta}_k) \in \mathfrak{F}$ for all $1 \leq k \leq K$.

We expect $\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\beta}(x)$ to satisfy the following factorization property.

Factorization Property. Let \mathscr{U} be a (0, 1)-matrix such that all entries in the first row and column are 1. Let \mathscr{V} be a diagonal matrix such that all (diagonal) entries are monic monomials in x and q with $\mathscr{V}_{1,1} = 1$. We say that $\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x)$ satisfies the *Factorization Property* if

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x) = \mathscr{U}.\mathscr{V}.\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(xq^S)$$
(7.3.23)

for some positive integer S.

Example 7.3.1. In the example in §7.3.2.1, we have $\underline{\alpha} = (2), \underline{\gamma} = (1), \underline{\mathbf{A}} = (1)$ and

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} H(1) \\ H(1) \\ H(2) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Also, S = 2.

Example 7.3.2. In the example in §7.3.2.2, we have $\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 \\ 3 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$, $\underline{\gamma} = (1, 2)$, $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (1, 3)$ and

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} H(1,3) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(2,6) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(2,6) \\ H(2,6) \\ H(3,6) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Also, S = 3.

7.4 Non-computer-assisted Proofs

The aim of this section is to prove Andrews–Gordon type generating function identities such as (7.3.12), (7.3.13) and (7.3.14) without computer assistance.

As we have seen in $\S7.3.2.2$, to prove (7.3.12), (7.3.13) and (7.3.14), it suffices to show (7.3.18).

Our starting point is a recurrence relation enjoyed by $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R)$ defined in (7.3.20).

7.4.1 A Recurrence Relation

Recall that

$$H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_R) = \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \alpha_{r,r} n_r (n_r - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le R} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \beta_r n_r} x^{\sum_{r=1}^R \gamma_r n_r}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}}.$$

Lemma 7.4.1. For $1 \le r \le R$, we have

$$H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r, \dots, \beta_R) = H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r + A_r, \dots, \beta_R) + x^{\gamma_r} q^{\beta_r} H(\beta_1 + \alpha_{r,1}, \dots, \beta_r + \alpha_{r,r}, \dots, \beta_R + \alpha_{r,R}).$$
(7.4.1)

Proof. We have (recall that $\underline{\alpha}$ is a symmetric matrix so that $\alpha_{i,j} = \alpha_{j,i}$ for $1 \le i, j \le R$)

$$\begin{split} H(\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{r},\ldots,\beta_{R}) &- H(\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{r}+A_{r},\ldots,\beta_{R}) \\ = \sum_{\substack{n_{1},\ldots,n_{R}\geq 0}} \frac{q^{\sum_{i}\alpha_{i,i}n_{i}(n_{i}-1)/2}q^{\sum_{i$$

The desired identity therefore follows.

Remark 7.4.1. It is worth pointing out that the recurrence (7.4.1) and its relations to sum-like generating functions have connections with the theory of vertex operator

algebras, especially in the context of principal subspaces of modules. For one recent example, see (4.71)-(4.81) in [139].

Remark 7.4.2. A recent paper of Ablinger and Uncu [1] also seems to outline some functionality regarding recurrences for q-multi-summations.

Recall that the Factorization Property says that

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(x) = \mathscr{U}.\mathscr{V}.\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(xq^S).$$

Further, if $F(x) = H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R)$, then

$$F(xq^S) = H(\beta_1 + \gamma_1 S, \dots, \beta_R + \gamma_R S).$$
(7.4.2)

Probably, if we expect to apply Lemma 7.4.1 to deduce Andrews–Gordon type generating function identities, we need to attach some additional conditions to the Factorization Property.

Additional Conditions. For all $1 \le s \le R$:

- (i). $\gamma_s S \in A_s \mathbb{Z};$
- (ii). for all $1 \leq r \leq R$, $\alpha_{r,s} \in A_s \mathbb{Z}$.

7.4.2 Proof of (7.3.11)

We first prove (7.3.11), which is relatively easy.

Theorem 7.4.2. Let

$$F_1(x) = F_2(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2} x^n}{(q;q)_n}$$
(7.4.3)

and

$$F_3(x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2 + n} x^n}{(q; q)_n}.$$
(7.4.4)

Then,

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ F_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & xq & \\ & & xq^2 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F_1(xq^2) \\ F_2(xq^2) \\ F_3(xq^2) \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.4.5)

We have shown in Example 7.3.1 that in this case S = 2, $\underline{\alpha} = (2)$, $\underline{\gamma} = (1)$, $\underline{A} = (1)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ F_3(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} H(1) \\ H(1) \\ H(2) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Further, it follows from (7.4.2) that

$$F_1(xq^2) = F_2(xq^2) = H(3)$$
(7.4.6)

and

$$F_3(xq^2) = H(4). (7.4.7)$$

To prove (7.4.5), it suffices to show that

$$F_1(x) = F_1(xq^2) + xqF_2(xq^2) + xq^2F_3(xq^2)$$
(7.4.8)

and

$$F_3(x) = F_1(xq^2) + xq^2 F_3(xq^2).$$
(7.4.9)

It follows from Lemma 7.4.1 that

$$F_{1}(x) = H(1)$$

= $H(1+1) + xqH(1+2)$
= $H(2) + xqH(3)$
= $(H(2+1) + xq^{2}H(2+2)) + xqH(3)$
= $H(3) + xq^{2}H(4) + xqH(3)$
= $F_{1}(xq^{2}) + xq^{2}F_{3}(xq^{2}) + xqF_{2}(xq^{2}).$

Also,

$$F_3(x) = H(2)$$

= $H(2+1) + xq^2H(2+2)$
= $H(3) + xq^2H(4)$

$$= F_1(xq^2) + xq^2F_3(xq^2).$$

Identities (7.4.8) and (7.4.9) are therefore proved.

7.4.3 Proof of (7.3.18)

We next prove (7.3.18).

Theorem 7.4.3. Let

$$F_1(x) = F_2(x) = F_3(x) = F_5(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^3;q^3)_{n_2}},$$
(7.4.10)

$$F_4(x) = F_6(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q;q)_{n_1} (q^3;q^3)_{n_2}}$$
(7.4.11)

and

$$F_7(x) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{n_1^2 + 3n_2^2 + 3n_1n_2 + 2n_1 + 3n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q; q)_{n_1} (q^3; q^3)_{n_2}}.$$
(7.4.12)

Then,

We have shown in Example 7.3.2 that in this case S = 3, $\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 \\ 3 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$, $\underline{\gamma} = (1, 2)$, $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (1, 3)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ F_3(x) \\ F_4(x) \\ F_5(x) \\ F_6(x) \\ F_7(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} H(1,3) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(2,6) \\ H(1,3) \\ H(2,6) \\ H(3,6) \end{pmatrix}$$

•

Again, it follows from (7.4.2) that

$$F_1(xq^3) = F_2(xq^3) = F_3(xq^3) = F_5(xq^3) = H(4,9),$$
(7.4.14)

$$F_4(xq^3) = F_6(xq^3) = H(5, 12)$$
(7.4.15)

and

$$F_7(xq^3) = H(6, 12). (7.4.16)$$

To prove (7.4.5), it suffices to show that

$$F_1(x) = \left\{ \begin{array}{l} F_1(xq^3) + xqF_2(xq^3) + x^2q^3F_3(xq^3) + x^2q^4F_4(xq^3) \\ + xq^2F_5(xq^3) + xq^3F_6(xq^3) + x^2q^6F_7(xq^3) \end{array} \right\},$$
(7.4.17)

$$F_4(x) = F_1(xq^3) + xq^2F_5(xq^3) + xq^3F_6(xq^3) + x^2q^6F_7(xq^3)$$
(7.4.18)

and

$$F_7(x) = F_1(xq^2) + xq^3F_6(xq^3) + x^2q^6F_7(xq^3).$$
(7.4.19)

We will adopt the following notation to make our argument more transparent. First, a term in gray indicates that we will apply Lemma 7.4.1 to this term. Also, if Lemma 7.4.1 is applied to one coordinate, then that coordinate will be shown in boldface. Finally, the two underlined terms in the next line are deduced from the previous gray term by Lemma 7.4.1.

It follows from Lemma 7.4.1 that

$$\begin{split} F_1(x) &= H(1,3) \\ &= \underbrace{H(1,6)}_{=} + \underbrace{x^2 q^3 H(4,9)}_{=} \\ &= \underbrace{H(2,6)}_{=} + \underbrace{xq H(3,9)}_{=} + x^2 q^3 H(4,9) \\ &= \underbrace{H(3,6)}_{=} + \underbrace{xq^2 H(4,9)}_{=} + xq H(3,9) + x^2 q^3 H(4,9) \\ &= H(3,6) + xq^2 H(4,9) + \underbrace{xq H(4,9)}_{=} + \underbrace{x^2 q^4 H(5,12)}_{=} + x^2 q^3 H(4,9) \\ &= \underbrace{H(3,9)}_{=} + \underbrace{x^2 q^6 H(6,12)}_{=} + xq^2 H(4,9) + xq H(4,9) + x^2 q^4 H(5,12) \\ &+ x^2 q^3 H(4,9) \end{split}$$

$$= \underbrace{H(4,9)}_{=} + \underbrace{xq^{3}H(5,12)}_{=} + x^{2}q^{6}H(6,12) + xq^{2}H(4,9) + xqH(4,9)$$

+ $x^{2}q^{4}H(5,12) + x^{2}q^{3}H(4,9)$
= $F_{1}(xq^{3}) + xq^{3}F_{6}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{6}F_{7}(xq^{3}) + xq^{2}F_{5}(xq^{3}) + xqF_{2}(xq^{3})$
+ $x^{2}q^{4}F_{4}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{3}F_{3}(xq^{3}).$

Also,

$$F_{4}(x) = H(2, 6)$$

$$= \underbrace{H(3, 6)}_{H(3, 0)} + \underbrace{xq^{2}H(4, 9)}_{X^{2}q^{6}H(6, 12)} + xq^{2}H(4, 9)$$

$$= \underbrace{H(4, 9)}_{H(4, 9)} + \underbrace{xq^{3}H(5, 12)}_{X^{2}q^{6}H(6, 12)} + xq^{2}H(4, 9)$$

$$= F_{1}(xq^{3}) + xq^{3}F_{6}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{6}F_{7}(xq^{3}) + xq^{2}F_{5}(xq^{3}).$$

Finally,

$$F_{7}(x) = H(3, 6)$$

$$= \underbrace{H(3, 9)}_{(4, 9)} + \underbrace{x^{2}q^{6}H(6, 12)}_{(5, 12)}$$

$$= \underbrace{H(4, 9)}_{(4, 9)} + \underbrace{xq^{3}H(5, 12)}_{(5, 12)} + x^{2}q^{6}H(6, 12)$$

$$= F_{1}(xq^{3}) + xq^{3}F_{6}(xq^{3}) + x^{2}q^{6}F_{7}(xq^{3}).$$

Identities (7.4.17), (7.4.18) and (7.4.19) are therefore proved.

Figure 7.2. Node $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$ and its children

7.4.4 Binary Trees

Interestingly, the previous two proofs can be represented nicely by binary trees. More precisely, all nodes are of the form $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$. Then Lemma 7.4.1 gives two children of $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$: the left child is $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r + A_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$, weighted

by 1, and the right child is $H(\beta_1 + \alpha_{r,1}, \ldots, \beta_r + \alpha_{r,r}, \ldots, \beta_R + \alpha_{r,R})$, weighted by $x^{\gamma_r} q^{\beta_r}$. See Figure 7.2.

Now the proofs of (7.3.11) and (7.3.18) can be illustrated by Figures 7.3 and 7.4, respectively.

Figure 7.3. The binary tree for (7.3.11)







In fact, it is relatively easy to deduce other much more complicated identities of the same flavor as (7.3.11) and (7.3.18). For example, the next result follows from the binary tree in Figure 7.5.

Theorem 7.4.4. Let

$$F_1(x) = \dots = F_6(x)$$

$$=\sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3\geq 0}\frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2}+3n_2^2+\frac{9n_3^2}{2}+2n_1n_2+6n_2n_3+3n_3n_1+\frac{n_1}{2}-n_2-\frac{n_3}{2}}x^{n_1+2n_2+3n_3}}{(q;q)_{n_1}(q^2;q^2)_{n_2}(q^3;q^3)_{n_3}},$$
(7.4.20)

$$F_{7}(x) = \dots = F_{13}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2}, n_{3} \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_{1}^{2}}{2} + 3n_{2}^{2} + \frac{9n_{3}^{2}}{2} + 2n_{1}n_{2} + 6n_{2}n_{3} + 3n_{3}n_{1} + \frac{3n_{1}}{2} + n_{2} + \frac{5n_{3}}{2}x^{n_{1} + 2n_{2} + 3n_{3}}}{(q; q)_{n_{1}}(q^{2}; q^{2})_{n_{2}}(q^{3}; q^{3})_{n_{3}}}, \quad (7.4.21)$$

$$F_{14}(x) = \dots = F_{21}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{3n_1}{2} + 3n_2 + \frac{11n_3}{2}x^{n_1 + 2n_2 + 3n_3}}{(q; q)_{n_1}(q^2; q^2)_{n_2}(q^3; q^3)_{n_3}}$$
(7.4.22)

and

$$F_{22}(x) = F_{23}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{5n_1}{2} + 3n_2 + \frac{11n_3}{2}x^{n_1 + 2n_2 + 3n_3}}{(q; q)_{n_1}(q^2; q^2)_{n_2}(q^3; q^3)_{n_3}}.$$
(7.4.23)

Let

and

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{W}(x) &= \mathrm{diag}(1, xq^2, xq, x^2q^3, x^2q^2, x^3q^4, \\ &\quad xq^3, x^2q^5, x^2q^4, x^3q^7, x^2q^4, x^3q^6, x^3q^5, \\ &\quad x^2q^7, x^2q^6, x^3q^9, x^3q^8, x^3q^8, x^3q^7, x^4q^{10}, x^4q^9, \\ &\quad x^3q^{10}, x^4q^{11}). \end{split}$$

Then,

$$\begin{pmatrix} F_{1}(x) \\ F_{2}(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_{23}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \mathscr{A}.\mathscr{W}(x). \begin{pmatrix} F_{1}(xq^{3}) \\ F_{2}(xq^{3}) \\ \vdots \\ F_{23}(xq^{3}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.4.24)

Remark 7.4.3. It is worth pointing out that the q-multi-summations in this theorem are similar to those appear in [109, (47) and (51)].

Proof. Let
$$\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 2 & 6 & 6 \\ 3 & 6 & 9 \end{pmatrix}$$
, $\underline{\gamma} = (1, 2, 3)$, $\underline{A} = (1, 2, 3)$ and $S = 3$. We have
 $F_1(x) = \dots = F_6(x) = H(1, 2, 4) \xrightarrow{x \mapsto xq^3} H(4, 8, 13),$
 $F_7(x) = \dots = F_{13}(x) = H(2, 4, 7) \xrightarrow{x \mapsto xq^3} H(5, 10, 16),$
 $F_{14}(x) = \dots = F_{21}(x) = H(2, 6, 10) \xrightarrow{x \mapsto xq^3} H(5, 12, 19)$

and

$$F_{22}(x) = F_{23}(x) = H(3, 6, 10) \xrightarrow{x \mapsto xq^3} H(6, 12, 19).$$

The rest follows from the binary tree in Figure 7.5.

It looks like one cannot deduce a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi, \mathcal{L} \rangle, S)$ from Theorem 7.4.4. This is because by (7.4.24), we need S = 3. But in the diagonal matrix $\mathscr{W}(x)$, there is a term x^2q^7 , which induces a partition of size 7 that has two parts. This means that one of the parts is larger than 3. However, for a span one linked partition ideal, we require that all parts in partitions among Π must not exceed S.

On the other hand, we will show in the next corollary that Theorem 7.4.4 still corresponds to a partition set.

Recall that
$$\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 2 & 6 & 6 \\ 3 & 6 & 9 \end{pmatrix}, \ \underline{\gamma} = (1, 2, 3), \ \underline{\mathbf{A}} = (1, 2, 3) \text{ and } S = 3.$$





Corollary 7.4.5. Let $\Pi = \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \ldots, \pi_{23}\}$ be a set of integer partitions where

$\int \pi_1 = \emptyset$	$\pi_2 = 2$	$\pi_3 = 1$	$\pi_4 = 2 + 1$
$\pi_5 = 1 + 1$	$\pi_6 = 2 + 1 + 1$		
$\pi_7 = 3$	$\pi_8 = 3 + 2$	$\pi_9 = 2 + 2$	$\pi_{10} = 3 + 2 + 2$
$\pi_{11} = 3 + 1$	$\pi_{12} = 2 + 2 + 2$	$\pi_{13} = 3 + 1 + 1$	
$\pi_{14} = 4 + 3$	$\pi_{15} = 3 + 3$	$\pi_{16} = 3 + 3 + 3$	$\pi_{17} = 3 + 3 + 2$
$\pi_{18} = 4 + 2 + 2$	$\pi_{19} = 3 + 2 + 2$	$\pi_{20} = 3 + 3 + 2 + 2$	$\pi_{21} = 3 + 2 + 2 + 2$
$\pi_{22} = 4 + 3 + 3$	$\pi_{23} = 3 + 3 + 3 + 2$		

Let $\mathcal{L}: \Pi \to P(\Pi)$ where $P(\Pi)$ is the power set of Π be defined by

$$\mathcal{L}(\pi_i) = \begin{cases} \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \dots, \pi_{23}\} & \text{for } 1 \le i \le 6, \\ \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_9, \pi_{10}, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}, \pi_{16}, \pi_{17}, \pi_{22}\} & \text{for } 7 \le i \le 13, \\ \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_7, \pi_8, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}, \pi_{16}, \pi_{22}\} & \text{for } 14 \le i \le 21, \\ \{\pi_1, \pi_7, \pi_{14}, \pi_{15}, \pi_{22}\} & \text{for } 22 \le i \le 23. \end{cases}$$

Let

$$\mathcal{C}_{\lambda}: \lambda_0 \to \lambda_1 \to \lambda_2 \to \cdots \to \lambda_K \to \varnothing \to \varnothing \to \cdots$$

be a chain such that for all $i \ge 0$, $\lambda_i \in \Pi$ and $\lambda_{i+1} \in \mathcal{L}(\lambda_i)$. Let Φ_{λ} be an integer partition induced from \mathcal{C}_{λ} defined as in (6.1.3) with S = 3:

$$\Phi_{\lambda} = \lambda_0 \oplus \phi^3(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^6(\lambda_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \phi^{3K}(\lambda_K) \oplus \phi^{3(K+1)}(\emptyset) \oplus \phi^{3(K+2)}(\emptyset) \oplus \cdots$$

Let \mathscr{S} be the set of such partitions Φ_{λ} . Then,

$$\sum_{v \in \mathscr{S}} x^{\sharp(v)} q^{|v|} = \sum_{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{\frac{n_1^2}{2} + 3n_2^2 + \frac{9n_3^2}{2} + 2n_1n_2 + 6n_2n_3 + 3n_3n_1 + \frac{n_1}{2} - n_2 - \frac{n_3}{2}}{(q; q)_{n_1} (q^2; q^2)_{n_2} (q^3; q^3)_{n_3}}.$$
 (7.4.25)

Proof. First, it is easy to see that given a chain C_{λ} , the induced Φ_{λ} is indeed an integer partition. Now we claim that for any two chains C_{μ} and C_{ν} , we have $\Phi_{\mu} = \Phi_{\nu}$ if and only if $C_{\mu} = C_{\nu}$. Notice that the "if" part is trivial.

We show the "only if" part by contradiction. Namely, we assume that there are two

chains $\mathcal{C}_{\mu} \neq \mathcal{C}_{\nu}$ such that $\Phi_{\mu} = \Phi_{\nu}$. Let ℓ be the index such that $\mu_{\ell} \neq \nu_{\ell}$ and $\mu_{i} = \nu_{i}$ for $0 \leq i \leq \ell - 1$. If neither μ_{ℓ} nor ν_{ℓ} contains a part of size 4, then the parts in Φ_{μ} of size up to $3(\ell + 1)$ are given by $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} \phi^{3i}(\mu_{i})$ and similarly the parts in Φ_{ν} of size up to $3(\ell + 1)$ are given by $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} \phi^{3i}(\nu_{i})$. Since $\Phi_{\mu} = \Phi_{\nu}$ and $\mu_{i} = \nu_{i}$ for $0 \leq i \leq \ell - 1$ as assumed, it follows that $\phi^{3\ell}(\mu_{\ell}) = \phi^{3\ell}(\nu_{\ell})$ so that $\mu_{\ell} = \nu_{\ell}$. This contradicts the assumption that $\mu_{\ell} \neq \nu_{\ell}$. If 4 is a part in one of μ_{ℓ} and ν_{ℓ} , then without loss of generality, we assume that 4 is a part in μ_{ℓ} . Then $\mu_{\ell} \in \{\pi_{14}, \pi_{18}, \pi_{22}\}$. Apparently, if 4 is also a part in ν_{ℓ} , we must have $\nu_{\ell} = \mu_{\ell}$, which violates the assumption. Now let us assume that 4 is not a part in ν_{ℓ} . Since $\Phi_{\mu} = \Phi_{\nu}$, we know that 1 must be a part in $\nu_{\ell+1}$; otherwise, Φ_{ν} contains no parts of size $3\ell + 4$. Thus, $\nu_{\ell+1} \in \{\pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6, \pi_{11}, \pi_{13}\}$. Since $\nu_{\ell+1} \in \mathcal{L}(\nu_{\ell})$, we find that $\nu_{\ell} \in \{\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3, \pi_4, \pi_5, \pi_6\}$ and also the parts in Φ_{ν} of size up to $3(\ell + 1)$ are given by $(\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell-1} \phi^{3i}(\nu_{i})) \oplus \phi^{3\ell}(\nu_{\ell})$. On the other hand, since $\mu_{\ell} \in \{\pi_{14}, \pi_{18}, \pi_{22}\}$, the parts in Φ_{μ} of size up to $3(\ell + 1)$ are $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell-1} \phi^{3i}(\mu_{i})$ plus one of $\phi^{3\ell}(3)$, $\phi^{3\ell}(2+2)$ or $\phi^{3\ell}(3+3)$ none of which could be $\phi^{3\ell}(\nu_{\ell})$. This implies that $\Phi_{\mu} \neq \Phi_{\nu}$, which leads to a contradiction.

Once we have shown that the induced partitions Φ_{λ} are pairwise distinct, the rest is a simple application of the framework developed in this paper by first constructing the associated directed graph as in Section 7.2.3. We leave this as an exercise to the interested reader.

7.5 Open Problems

Our main concern is about the Factorization Property. Recall that \mathscr{U} is a (0, 1)matrix such that all entries in the first row and column are 1, and \mathscr{V} is a diagonal matrix
such that all (diagonal) entries are monic monomials in x and q with $\mathscr{V}_{1,1} = 1$. The
Factorization Property says that

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(x) = \mathscr{U}.\mathscr{V}.\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(xq^S), \tag{7.5.1}$$

where S is a positive integer and

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} F_1(x) \\ F_2(x) \\ \vdots \\ F_K(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} H(\underline{\beta}_1) \\ H(\underline{\beta}_2) \\ \vdots \\ H(\underline{\beta}_K) \end{pmatrix},$$

in which $H(\underline{\beta}) = H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R)$ is of the form

$$H(\underline{\beta}) = \sum_{n_1,\dots,n_R \ge 0} \frac{q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \alpha_{r,r} n_r (n_r - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le R} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \beta_r n_r} x^{\sum_{r=1}^R \gamma_r n_r}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}}$$

Probably we also require the Additional Conditions: for all $1 \le s \le R$:

- (i). $\gamma_s S \in A_s \mathbb{Z};$
- (ii). for all $1 \leq r \leq R$, $\alpha_{r,s} \in A_s \mathbb{Z}$.

Problem 7.5.1. For given \mathscr{U} and \mathscr{V} , is it possible to determine if there exist $\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x)$ and S such that (7.5.1) is true?

We have another problem from a different direction.

Problem 7.5.2. Are there any criteria of $\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x)$ that we are always able to find \mathscr{U}, \mathscr{V} and S such that (7.5.1) is true?

The last problem is probably simpler.

Problem 7.5.3. Can we construct a family of \mathscr{U} , \mathscr{V} , $\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\beta}}(x)$ and S such that (7.5.1) holds?

If we are able to find such construction, then we may derive a family of span one linked partition ideals (or at least a family of modified directed graphs) with nice analytic generation functions.

7.6 References

- [1] J. Ablinger and A. K. Uncu, qFunctions A Mathematica package for q-series and partition theory applications, J. Symbolic Comput. 107 (2021), 145–166.
- [54] S. Chern, Linked partition ideals, directed graphs and q-multi-summations, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.33, 29 pp.
- [74] B. Coulson, S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, R. McRae, F. Qi, M. C. Russell, and C. Sadowski, A motivated proof of the Göllnitz–Gordon–Andrews identities, *Ramanujan J.* 42 (2017), no. 1, 97–129.

- [107] S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, M. C. Russell, and A. V. Sills, Ghost series and a motivated proof of the Andrews–Bressoud identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 146 (2017), 33–62.
- [124] J. Lepowsky and M. Zhu, A motivated proof of Gordon's identities, *Ramanujan J.* **29** (2012), no. 1-3, 199–211.
- [139] M. Penn, C. Sadowski, and G. Webb, Principal subspaces of twisted modules for certain lattice vertex operator algebras, *Internat. J. Math.* **30** (2019), no. 10, 1950048, 47 pp.

Chapter 8 Span One Linked Partition Ideals: Gleißberg's Identity

This chapter comes from

• S. Chern, On a Rogers-Ramanujan type identity of Gleißberg, preprint. (Ref. [63])

In the previous two chapters, a general theory on span one linked partition ideals is introduced. Now it is time to return to where the race starts. That is, we will truely prove a Rogers–Ramanujan type identity, instead of just some Andrews–Gordon type generating function identities.

8.1 Main Result

Recall that in 1926, Schur [160] proved the following Rogers–Ramanujan type identity.

Theorem 8.1.1 (Schur). Let A(n) denote the number of partitions of n into distinct parts congruent to ± 1 modulo 3.

Let C(n) denote the number of partitions of n such that the difference between two consecutive parts is at least 3 and greater than 3 if the smaller part is a multiple of 3. Then,

$$A(n) = C(n). (8.1.1)$$

Two years later, in 1928, Gleißberg [84] further provided an extension of Schur's identity.

Theorem 8.1.2 (Gleißberg). Let m and r be positive integers with r < m/2. Let $A_{m,r}(n)$ denote the number of partitions of n into distinct parts congruent to $\pm r$ modulo m, and let $A_{m,r}(k,n)$ denote the number of partitions of n counted by $A_{m,r}(n)$ with k parts.

Let $C_{m,r}(n)$ denote the number of partitions of n into parts congruent to 0 or $\pm r$ modulo m such that the difference between two consecutive parts is at least m and greater than m if the smaller part is a multiple of m. Further, let $C_{m,r}(k,n)$ denote the number of partitions of n counted by $C_{m,r}(n)$ such that the number of parts plus the number of multiples of m among the parts equals k.

Then,

$$A_{m,r}(k,n) = C_{m,r}(k,n).$$
(8.1.2)

The object of this chapter is to not only reprove Gleißberg's identity but also show the following analog.

Theorem 8.1.3. Let m be a positive even integer and let r be a positive integer with r < m/2.

Let $B_{m,r}(n)$ denote the number of partitions of n into parts congruent to $\pm r$ modulo m appearing exactly once and parts congruent to $\frac{m}{2}$ or 0 modulo m appearing exactly twice such that the difference between two consecutive parts that are distinct is at least m if the smaller part is congruent to $\pm r$ modulo m, at least $\frac{m}{2} + r$ if the smaller part is congruent to $\frac{m}{2}$ modulo m, and at least m - r if the smaller part is congruent to 0 modulo m, and let $B_{m,r}(k,n)$ denote the number of partitions of n counted by $B_{m,r}(n)$ with k parts.

Then,

$$A_{m,r}(k,n) = B_{m,r}(k,n).$$
(8.1.3)

Remark. For partitions counted by $B_{m,r}$, we allow those like (r), (m-r), $(\frac{m}{2}, \frac{m}{2})$ or (m,m). But partitions (r,r) and (m-r,m-r) are not allowed since r and m-r appear twice. Partitions $(\frac{m}{2})$, (m) and $(\frac{m}{2},m)$ are not allowed since $\frac{m}{2}$ and m do not appear exactly twice, and in the last case the difference conditions are also not satisfied.

Examples. (i). Let m = 4 and r = 1. Partitions of 16 counted by $A_{4,1}(16)$ are 15 + 1, 13 + 3, 11 + 5, 9 + 7 and 7 + 5 + 3 + 1. Partitions of 16 counted by $B_{4,1}(16)$ are 15 + 1, 13 + 3, 11 + 5, 8 + 8 and 6 + 6 + 2 + 2. Hence, $A_{4,1}(2, 16) = B_{4,1}(2, 16) = 4$, $A_{4,1}(4, 16) = B_{4,1}(4, 16) = 1$ and $A_{4,1}(k, 16) = B_{4,1}(k, 16) = 0$ otherwise.

(ii). Let m = 6 and r = 2. Partitions of 22 counted by $A_{6,2}(22)$ are 22, 20 + 2, 14 + 8, 16 + 4 + 2 and 10 + 8 + 4. Partitions of 22 counted by $B_{6,2}(22)$ are 22, 20 + 2, 14 + 8, 16 + 3 + 3 and 10 + 6 + 6. Hence, $A_{6,2}(1, 22) = B_{6,2}(1, 22) = 1$, $A_{6,2}(2, 22) = B_{6,2}(2, 22) = 2$, $A_{6,2}(3, 22) = B_{6,2}(3, 22) = 2$ and $A_{6,2}(k, 22) = B_{6,2}(k, 22) = 0$ otherwise.

8.2 In the Setting of Span One Linked Partition Ideals

Let $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}(n)$ denote the set of partitions counted by $B_{m,r}(n)$ and let $\mathscr{B}_{m,r} = \bigcup_{n\geq 0} \mathscr{B}_{m,r}(n)$. We will interpret $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}$ in terms of span one linked partition ideals.

Claim 8.2.1. $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi_B, \mathcal{L}_B \rangle, S)$ where S = m, and $\Pi_B = \{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,2}, \pi_{B,3}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$ along with the linking sets given as follows.

Π_B	linking set
$\pi_{B,1} = \emptyset$	$\{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,2}, \pi_{B,3}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$
$\pi_{B,2} = (r)$	$\{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,2}, \pi_{B,3}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$
$\pi_{B,3} = \left(\frac{m}{2}, \frac{m}{2}\right)$	$\{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,2}, \pi_{B,3}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$
$\pi_{B,4} = (m-r)$	$\{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$
$\pi_{B,5} = (m,m)$	$\{\pi_{B,1}, \pi_{B,4}, \pi_{B,5}\}$

Proof. A straightforward verification tells us that any partition in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi_B, \mathcal{L}_B \rangle, S)$ is in $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}$.

On the other hand, given a partition $\lambda \in \mathscr{B}_{m,r}$, we decompose it as

$$\lambda_0 \oplus \phi^m(\lambda_1) \oplus \phi^{m \cdot 2}(\lambda_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \phi^{mK}(\lambda_K).$$

Note that for $0 \leq k \leq K$, $\phi^{mk}(\lambda_k)$ is simply the collection of parts in λ of size between mk + 1 and mk + m. First, to ensure the difference conditions, we must have $\lambda_k \in \Pi$ for all k. Now fix some $k \geq 0$. If $\lambda_k = \pi_{B,1} = \emptyset$, then there are no parts in λ of size between mk + 1 and mk + m. Hence, λ_{k+1} can be any partition in Π_B so that $\lambda_{k+1} \in \mathcal{L}_B(\pi_{B,1})$. If $\lambda_k = \pi_{B,2} = (r)$, then λ has one part of size mk + r. Now to satisfy the difference conditions, we have five choices for λ_{k+1} (here we only enumerate parts of size between m(k+1) + 1 and m(k+1) + m):

- (i). λ has no parts of size between m(k+1) + 1 and m(k+1) + m and hence $\lambda_{k+1} = \emptyset = \pi_{B,1}$;
- (ii). λ has only one part of size m(k+1) + r and hence $\lambda_{k+1} = (r) = \pi_{B,2}$;
- (iii). λ has only two parts of size $m(k+1) + \frac{m}{2}$ and hence $\lambda_{k+1} = (\frac{m}{2}, \frac{m}{2}) = \pi_{B,3}$;
- (iv). λ has only one part of size m(k+1) + m r and hence $\lambda_{k+1} = (m-r) = \pi_{B,4}$;
- (v). λ has only two parts of size m(k+1) + m and hence $\lambda_{k+1} = (m, m) = \pi_{B,5}$.

Hence, $\lambda_{k+1} \in \mathcal{L}_B(\pi_{B,2})$. For other cases, one has similar arguments. Hence, λ is in $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi_B, \mathcal{L}_B \rangle, S)$.

Consequently, $\mathscr{B}_{m,r} = \mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi_B, \mathcal{L}_B \rangle, S).$

Let $\mathscr{C}_{m,r}(n)$ denote the set of partitions counted by $C_{m,r}(n)$ and let $\mathscr{C}_{m,r} = \bigcup_{n \ge 0} \mathscr{C}_{m,r}(n)$.

Claim 8.2.2. $\mathscr{C}_{m,r}$ is a span one linked partition ideal $\mathscr{I}(\langle \Pi_C, \mathcal{L}_C \rangle, S)$ where S = m, and $\Pi_C = \{\pi_{C,1}, \pi_{C,2}, \pi_{C,3}, \pi_{C,4}\}$ along with the linking sets given as follows.

$$\Pi_{C} \qquad linking set \\ \pi_{C,1} = \emptyset \qquad \{\pi_{C,1}, \pi_{C,2}, \pi_{C,3}, \pi_{C,4}\} \\ \pi_{C,2} = (r) \qquad \{\pi_{C,1}, \pi_{C,2}, \pi_{C,3}, \pi_{C,4}\} \\ \pi_{C,3} = (m-r) \qquad \{\pi_{C,1}, \pi_{C,3}, \pi_{C,4}\} \\ \pi_{C,4} = (m) \qquad \{\pi_{C,1}\}$$

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Claim 8.2.1 and is therefore omitted. \Box

8.3 A Refinement of Lemma 7.4.1

Let us turn to a refinement of Lemma 7.4.1.

As in Lemma 7.4.1, let R be a fixed positive integer. Let the symmetric matrix $\underline{\alpha} = (\alpha_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_{R \times R}(\mathbb{N})$ and the vector $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (A_r) \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}^R$ be fixed. This time we will fix J vectors $\underline{\gamma}_j = (\gamma_{j,r}) \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 0}^R$ for $j = 1, 2, \ldots, J$. Let x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_J and q be intermediates such that the following q-multi-summation $H(\boldsymbol{\beta}) = H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_R)$ converges.

$$H(\underline{\beta}) := \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \alpha_{r,r} n_r (n_r - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{1 \le i < j \le R} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_{r=1}^R \beta_r n_r}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}} \times x_1^{\sum_{r=1}^R \gamma_{1,r} n_r} \cdots x_J^{\sum_{r=1}^R \gamma_{J,r} n_r}}.$$
(8.3.1)

Lemma 8.3.1. For $1 \le r \le R$, we have

$$H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r, \dots, \beta_R) = H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r + A_r, \dots, \beta_R) + x_1^{\gamma_{1,r}} \cdots x_J^{\gamma_{J,r}} q^{\beta_r} H(\beta_1 + \alpha_{r,1}, \dots, \beta_r + \alpha_{r,r}, \dots, \beta_R + \alpha_{r,R}).$$
(8.3.2)

Proof. We have (recall that $\underline{\alpha}$ is symmetric so that $\alpha_{i,j} = \alpha_{j,i}$ for $1 \le i, j \le R$)

$$H(\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_r,\ldots,\beta_R) - H(\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_r + A_r,\ldots,\beta_R)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\sum_i \alpha_{i,i} n_i (n_i - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{i < j} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_i \beta_i n_i} (1 - q^{n_r A_r})}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}} \\ \times x_1^{\sum_i \gamma_{1,i} n_i} \cdots x_J^{\sum_i \gamma_{J,i} n_i} \\ = \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0 \\ n_r \ge 1}} \frac{q^{\sum_i \alpha_{i,i} n_i (n_i - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{i < j} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_i \beta_i n_i}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r - 1} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}} \\ \times x_1^{\sum_i \gamma_{1,i} n_i} \cdots x_J^{\sum_i \gamma_{J,i} n_i} \\ = x_1^{\gamma_{1,r}} \cdots x_J^{\gamma_{J,r}} q^{\beta_r} \sum_{\substack{n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0 \\ n_1, \dots, n_R \ge 0}} \frac{q^{\sum_i \alpha_{i,i} n_i (n_i - 1)/2} q^{\sum_{i < j} \alpha_{i,j} n_i n_j} q^{\sum_i (\beta_i + \alpha_{r,i}) n_i}}{(q^{A_1}; q^{A_1})_{n_1} \cdots (q^{A_r}; q^{A_r})_{n_r} \cdots (q^{A_R}; q^{A_R})_{n_R}} \\ \times x_1^{\sum_i \gamma_{1,i} n_i} \cdots x_J^{\sum_i \gamma_{J,i} n_i} \\ = x_1^{\gamma_{1,r}} \cdots x_J^{\gamma_{J,r}} q^{\beta_r} H(\beta_1 + \alpha_{r,1}, \dots, \beta_r + \alpha_{r,r}, \dots, \beta_R + \alpha_{r,R}).$$

The desired identity therefore follows.

Like Figure 7.2, the recurrence relation (8.3.2) can be illustrated by a binary tree shown in Figure 8.1.

Figure 8.1. Node $H(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r, \ldots, \beta_R)$ and its children (refined)

$$H(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r, \dots, \beta_R)$$

$$(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r + A_r, \dots, \beta_R) H(\beta_1 + \alpha_{r,1}, \dots, \beta_r + \alpha_{r,r}, \dots, \beta_R + \alpha_{r,R})$$

8.4 Generating Functions

8.4.1 Partition Set $\mathscr{B}_{m,r}$

Let $\mathcal{B}(x)$ denote the bivariate generating function

$$\mathcal{B}(x) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{B}_{m,r}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{k \ge 0} B_{m,r}(k,n) x^k q^n.$$
(8.4.1)

Further, for i = 1, 2, ..., 5, we write $\mathcal{B}_i(x) := \sum x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}$ where the sum runs through all partitions $\lambda \in \mathscr{B}_{m,r}$ whose *m*-tail is $\pi_{B,i}$. Noting that $\pi_{B,i}$ itself is also such a partition,
hence for each i, we are able to write

$$\mathcal{B}_i(x) = x^{\sharp(\pi_{B,i})} q^{|\pi_{B,i}|} F_i^{\star}(x)$$

for some $F_i^{\star}(x) \in \mathbb{Z}[[q]][[x]]$ such that $F_i^{\star}(0) = 1$. Therefore,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{B}_{1}(x) \\ \mathcal{B}_{2}(x) \\ \mathcal{B}_{3}(x) \\ \mathcal{B}_{4}(x) \\ \mathcal{B}_{5}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & xq^{r} & & \\ & & x^{2}q^{m} & \\ & & & xq^{m-r} & \\ & & & x^{2}q^{2m} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F_{1}^{\star}(x) \\ F_{2}^{\star}(x) \\ F_{3}^{\star}(x) \\ F_{4}^{\star}(x) \\ F_{5}^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix} .$$
(8.4.2)

Further, since $\mathcal{B}_{m,r}$ is a span one linked partition ideal as claimed in Claim 8.2.1, we have

Substituting (8.4.2) into (8.4.3), replacing x by xq^{-m} and putting $F_i(x) = F_i^{\star}(xq^{-m})$ for each *i*, we have a matrix equation as follows.

Further, we have $F_i(0) = F_i^{\star}(0) = 1$ for all *i*.

Theorem 8.4.1. We have

$$F_{1}(x) = F_{2}(x) = F_{3}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2}, n_{3} \ge 0} \frac{x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+2n_{3}}}{(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{1}}(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{2}}(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{3}}}$$

$$\times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_{1}(n_{1}-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_{2}(n_{2}-1)+mn_{3}(n_{3}-1)+mn_{1}n_{2}+mn_{2}n_{3}+mn_{3}n_{1}+rn_{1}+(m-r)n_{2}+mn_{3}}$$
(8.4.5)

$$F_{4}(x) = F_{5}(x)$$

$$= \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3}\geq 0} \frac{x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+2n_{3}}}{(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{1}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{2}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{3}}}$$

$$\times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_{1}(n_{1}-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_{2}(n_{2}-1)+mn_{3}(n_{3}-1)+mn_{1}n_{2}+mn_{2}n_{3}+mn_{3}n_{1}+(m+r)n_{1}+(m-r)n_{2}+2mn_{3}}.$$
(8.4.6)

Proof. We know from Proposition 7.3.1 that it suffices to verify that these triple summations satisfy (8.4.4) since the right-hand sides of (8.4.5) and (8.4.6) decay to 1 as x decays to 0.

We choose
$$\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} m & m & m \\ m & m & m \\ m & m & 2m \end{pmatrix}$$
, $\underline{\gamma_1} = (1, 1, 2)$ and $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (m, m, m)$ in (8.3.1). We also

write $x_1 = x$. Then

$$H(r, m - r, m) = \sum_{\substack{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{x^{n_1 + n_2 + 2n_3}}{(q^m; q^m)_{n_1}(q^m; q^m)_{n_2}(q^m; q^m)_{n_3}} \times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1 - 1) + \frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2 - 1) + mn_3(n_3 - 1) + mn_1n_2 + mn_2n_3 + mn_3n_1 + rn_1 + (m - r)n_2 + mn_3n_3}$$

and

$$\begin{split} H(m+r,m-r,2m) \\ &= \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{x^{n_1+n_2+2n_3}}{(q^m;q^m)_{n_1}(q^m;q^m)_{n_2}(q^m;q^m)_{n_3}} \\ &\times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2-1)+mn_3(n_3-1)+mn_1n_2+mn_2n_3+mn_3n_1+(m+r)n_1+(m-r)n_2+2mn_3}. \end{split}$$

Further, taking $x \to xq^m$ in the above two summations respectively gives H(m+r, 2m-r, 3m) and H(2m+r, 2m-r, 4m).

Now it suffices to show that

But this can be illustrated by the binary tree displayed in Figure 8.2.

Finally, $\mathcal{B}(x)$ can be represented as follows.

Theorem 8.4.2. We have

$$\mathcal{B}(x) = \sum_{\substack{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0 \\ q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1-1) + \frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2-1) + mn_3(n_3-1) + mn_1n_2 + mn_2n_3 + mn_3n_1 + rn_1 + (m-r)n_2 + mn_3}} \times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1-1) + \frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2-1) + mn_3(n_3-1) + mn_1n_2 + mn_2n_3 + mn_3n_1 + rn_1 + (m-r)n_2 + mn_3}}.$$
(8.4.8)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{B}(x) &= \mathcal{B}_1(x) + \mathcal{B}_2(x) + \mathcal{B}_3(x) + \mathcal{B}_4(x) + \mathcal{B}_5(x) \\ &= F_1^{\star}(x) + xq^r F_2^{\star}(x) + x^2 q^m F_3^{\star}(x) + xq^{m-r} F_4^{\star}(x) + x^2 q^{2m} F_5^{\star}(x) \\ &= F_1(xq^m) + xq^r F_2(xq^m) + x^2 q^m F_3(xq^m) + xq^{m-r} F_4(xq^m) + x^2 q^{2m} F_5(xq^m). \end{aligned}$$

It follows from (8.4.4) that the right-hand side is $F_1(x)$. Therefore, $\mathcal{B}(x) = F_1(x)$ and the theorem follows from (8.4.5).



8.4.2 Partition Set $\mathscr{C}_{m,r}$

Let $\mathcal{C}(x, y)$ denote the trivariate generating function

$$\mathcal{C}(x,y) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{m,r}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} y^{\sharp_m(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}, \qquad (8.4.9)$$

where $\sharp_m(\lambda)$ counts the number of parts in λ that is a multiple of m. Note that the definition of $C_{m,r}(k,n)$ indicates that

$$\mathcal{C}(x,x) = \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{k \ge 0} C_{m,r}(k,n) x^k q^n.$$
(8.4.10)

For i = 1, 2, 3, 4, we write $C_i(x) = C_i(x, y) := \sum x^{\sharp(\lambda)} y^{\sharp_m(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|}$ where the sum runs through all partitions $\lambda \in \mathscr{C}_{m,r}$ whose *m*-tail is $\pi_{C,i}$. Similarly, for each *i*, we are able to write

$$C_{i}(x) = x^{\sharp(\pi_{C,i})} y^{\sharp_{m}(\pi_{C,i})} q^{|\pi_{C,i}|} G_{i}^{\star}(x)$$

for some $G_i^{\star}(x) \in \mathbb{Z}[[q]][[x, y]]$ such that $G_i^{\star}(0) = 1$. Therefore,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{C}_{1}(x) \\ \mathcal{C}_{2}(x) \\ \mathcal{C}_{3}(x) \\ \mathcal{C}_{4}(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & xq^{r} & & \\ & & xq^{m-r} & \\ & & & xyq^{m} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} G_{1}^{\star}(x) \\ G_{2}^{\star}(x) \\ G_{3}^{\star}(x) \\ G_{4}^{\star}(x) \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (8.4.11)

Also, if we write $G_i(x) = G_i^*(xq^{-m})$ for each *i*, then Claim 8.2.2 yields the following matrix equation.

$$\begin{pmatrix} G_1(x) \\ G_2(x) \\ G_3(x) \\ G_4(x) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & & \\ xq^r & & & \\ & xq^{m-r} & \\ & & xyq^m \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} G_1(xq^m) \\ G_2(xq^m) \\ G_3(xq^m) \\ G_4(xq^m) \end{pmatrix} .$$
(8.4.12)

Again, we have that for all i, $G_i(x)$ decays to 1 as x decays to 0.

Theorem 8.4.3. We have

$$G_1(x) = G_2(x)$$

= $\sum_{n_1, n_2, n_3 \ge 0} \frac{x^{n_1 + n_2 + n_3} y^{n_3}}{(q^m; q^m)_{n_1} (q^m; q^m)_{n_2} (q^m; q^m)_{n_3}}$

$$\times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2-1)+mn_3(n_3-1)+mn_1n_2+mn_2n_3+mn_3n_1+rn_1+(m-r)n_2+mn_3}, \qquad (8.4.13)$$

$$G_{3}(x) = \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3}\geq 0} \frac{x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{3}}y^{n_{3}}}{(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{1}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{2}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{3}}} \times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_{1}(n_{1}-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_{2}(n_{2}-1)+mn_{3}(n_{3}-1)+mn_{1}n_{2}+mn_{2}n_{3}+mn_{3}n_{1}+(m+r)n_{1}+(m-r)n_{2}+mn_{3}}$$

$$(8.4.14)$$

$$G_{4}(x) = \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3} \ge 0} \frac{x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{3}}y^{n_{3}}}{(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{1}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{2}}(q^{m};q^{m})_{n_{3}}} \times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_{1}(n_{1}-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_{2}(n_{2}-1)+mn_{3}(n_{3}-1)+mn_{1}n_{2}+mn_{2}n_{3}+mn_{3}n_{1}+(m+r)n_{1}+(2m-r)n_{2}+2mn_{3}}.$$
 (8.4.15)

Proof. We choose $\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} m & m & m \\ m & m & m \\ m & m & 2m \end{pmatrix}$, $\underline{\gamma_1} = (1, 1, 1)$, $\underline{\gamma_2} = (0, 0, 1)$ and $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (m, m, m)$ in (8.3.1). We also write $x_1 = x$ and $x_2 = y$. To prove the desired result, it suffices to

show that

$$\begin{pmatrix} H(r,m-r,m) \\ H(r,m-r,m) \\ H(m+r,m-r,m) \\ H(m+r,2m-r,2m) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & & & \\ xq^r & & & \\ xq^{m-r} & & & \\ xq^{m-r} & & & xyq^m \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} H(m+r,2m-r,2m) \\ H(m+r,2m-r,2m) \\ H(2m+r,2m-r,2m) \\ H(2m+r,3m-r,3m) \end{pmatrix} \cdot (8.4.16)$$

Finally, these identities can be verified with the help of the binary tree displayed in Figure 8.3.

Analogously, it can be seen that $\mathcal{C}(x,y) = G_1(x)$. Hence, the following result holds.

Theorem 8.4.4. We have

$$\mathcal{C}(x,y) = \sum_{\substack{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0}} \frac{x^{n_1+n_2+n_3} y^{n_3}}{(q^m;q^m)_{n_1}(q^m;q^m)_{n_2}(q^m;q^m)_{n_3}} \times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_1(n_1-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_2(n_2-1)+mn_3(n_3-1)+mn_1n_2+mn_2n_3+mn_3n_1+rn_1+(m-r)n_2+mn_3}.$$
(8.4.17)

Figure 8.3. The binary tree for (8.4.16)

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H({\bm r},m-r,m) & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ H(m+r,{\bm m-r},m) & H(m+r,2m-r,2m) \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ H(m+r,2m-r,{\bm m}) & H(2m+r,2m-r,2m) \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ H(m+r,2m-r,2m) & H(2m+r,3m-r,3m) \end{array}$$

8.5 Proof of Theorems 8.1.2 and 8.1.3

Let $\mathscr{A}_{m,r}$ denote the set of partitions into distinct parts congruent to $\pm r$ modulo m. We have

$$\mathcal{A}(x) := \sum_{\lambda \in \mathscr{A}_{m,r}} x^{\sharp(\lambda)} q^{|\lambda|} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{k \ge 0} A_{m,r}(k,n) x^k q^n = (-xq^r, -xq^{m-r}; q^m)_{\infty}.$$
(8.5.1)

Theorem 8.5.1. We have

$$(-xq^{r}, -xq^{m-r}; q^{m})_{\infty}$$

$$= \sum_{n_{1}, n_{2}, n_{3} \ge 0} \frac{x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+2n_{3}}}{(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{1}}(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{2}}(q^{m}; q^{m})_{n_{3}}}$$

$$\times q^{\frac{m}{2}n_{1}(n_{1}-1)+\frac{m}{2}n_{2}(n_{2}-1)+mn_{3}(n_{3}-1)+mn_{1}n_{2}+mn_{2}n_{3}+mn_{3}n_{1}+rn_{1}+(m-r)n_{2}+mn_{3}}.$$
(8.5.2)

Proof. We know from (8.4.4) that

$$F_1(x) = \left(1 + xq^r + x^2q^m\right)F_1(xq^m) + \left(xq^{m-r} + x^2q^{2m}\right)F_4(xq^m)$$
(8.5.3)

and

$$F_4(x) = F_1(xq^m) + \left(xq^{m-r} + x^2q^{2m}\right)F_4(xq^m).$$
(8.5.4)

It turns out by subtracting (8.5.4) from (8.5.3) that

$$F_4(x) = F_1(x) - \left(xq^r + x^2q^m\right)F_1(xq^m).$$
(8.5.5)

Substituting (8.5.5) into (8.5.3) yields a recurrence relation satisfied by $F_1(x)$.

$$F_{1}(x) = \left(1 + xq^{r} + x^{2}q^{m} + xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m}\right)F_{1}(xq^{m}) - \left(xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m}\right)\left(xq^{m+r} + x^{2}q^{3m}\right)F_{1}(xq^{2m}).$$
(8.5.6)

In the recurrence relation (8.5.6), expanding $F_1(x)$ as a series in x indicates that $F_1(x)$ is uniquely determined by $F_1(0)$. Note also that

$$\left[(-xq^r, -xq^{m-r}; q^m)_{\infty}\right]_{x=0} = 1 = F_1(0).$$

Hence, to show

$$(-xq^r, -xq^{m-r}; q^m)_{\infty} = F_1(x),$$
 (8.5.7)

it suffices to show

$$(-xq^{r}, -xq^{m-r}; q^{m})_{\infty}$$

= $\left(1 + xq^{r} + x^{2}q^{m} + xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m}\right)(-xq^{m+r}, -xq^{2m-r}; q^{m})_{\infty}$
- $\left(xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m}\right)\left(xq^{m+r} + x^{2}q^{3m}\right)(-xq^{2m+r}, -xq^{3m-r}; q^{m})_{\infty},$

or

$$(1 + xq^{r})(1 + xq^{m-r})(1 + xq^{m+r})(1 + xq^{2m-r}) = (1 + xq^{r} + x^{2}q^{m} + xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m})(1 + xq^{m+r})(1 + xq^{2m-r}) - (xq^{m-r} + x^{2}q^{2m})(xq^{m+r} + x^{2}q^{3m}),$$

which is valid.

The desired identity then follows from (8.4.5).

It follows from Theorems 8.4.2, 8.4.4 and 8.5.1 that $\mathcal{A}(x) = \mathcal{B}(x) = \mathcal{C}(x, x)$. Therefore, we deduce from (8.5.1), (8.4.1) and (8.4.10) that $A_{m,r}(k, n) = B_{m,r}(k, n) = C_{m,r}(k, n)$ for any nonnegative integers n and k.

8.6 Endnotes

We are also able to demonstrate identities concerning certain q-multi-summations. Here we give one example. Theorem 8.6.1. We have

$$\sum_{n_1,n_2\geq 0} \frac{q^{2n_1^2+4n_2^2+4n_1n_2-n_1}x^{n_1+2n_2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{n_1}(q^4;q^4)_{n_2}} = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3\geq 0} \frac{q^{2n_1^2+2n_2^2+4n_3^2+4n_1n_2+4n_2n_3+4n_3n_1-n_1+n_2}x^{n_1+n_2+2n_3}}{(q^4;q^4)_{n_1}(q^4;q^4)_{n_2}(q^4;q^4)_{n_3}}$$
(8.6.1)

and

$$\sum_{n_1,n_2 \ge 0} \frac{q^{2n_1^2 + 4n_2^2 + 4n_1n_2 + n_1 + 4n_2} x^{n_1 + 2n_2}}{(q^2; q^2)_{n_1} (q^4; q^4)_{n_2}} = \sum_{n_1,n_2,n_3 \ge 0} \frac{q^{2n_1^2 + 2n_2^2 + 4n_3^2 + 4n_1n_2 + 4n_2n_3 + 4n_3n_1 + 3n_1 + n_2 + 4n_3} x^{n_1 + n_2 + 2n_3}}{(q^4; q^4)_{n_1} (q^4; q^4)_{n_2} (q^4; q^4)_{n_3}}.$$
(8.6.2)

Proof. We know from Theorem 8.4.1 with m = 4 and r = 1 that

Further, LHS(8.6.1)(0) = RHS(8.6.1)(0) = 1 and LHS(8.6.2)(0) = RHS(8.6.2)(0) = 1. Hence, to show (8.6.1) and (8.6.2), it suffices to prove

Let us choose $\underline{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 4 \\ 4 & 8 \end{pmatrix}$, $\underline{\gamma_1} = (1, 2)$ and $\underline{\mathbf{A}} = (2, 4)$, and write $x_1 = x$ in (8.3.1).

Then (8.6.4) is equivalent to

Finally, this matrix equation could be verified by the binary tree displayed in Figure 8.4. $\hfill \square$

In light of Theorem 8.5.1 with m = 4 and r = 1, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 8.6.2. We have

$$(-xq;q^{2})_{\infty} = \sum_{n_{1},n_{2}\geq 0} \frac{q^{2n_{1}^{2}+4n_{2}^{2}+4n_{1}n_{2}-n_{1}}x^{n_{1}+2n_{2}}}{(q^{2};q^{2})_{n_{1}}(q^{4};q^{4})_{n_{2}}}$$
$$= \sum_{n_{1},n_{2},n_{3}\geq 0} \frac{q^{2n_{1}^{2}+2n_{2}^{2}+4n_{3}^{2}+4n_{1}n_{2}+4n_{2}n_{3}+4n_{3}n_{1}-n_{1}+n_{2}}x^{n_{1}+n_{2}+2n_{3}}}{(q^{4};q^{4})_{n_{1}}(q^{4};q^{4})_{n_{2}}(q^{4};q^{4})_{n_{3}}}.$$
 (8.6.6)

Figure 8.4. The binary tree for (8.6.5)

$$\begin{array}{c|c} H(1,4) \\ 1 / & \swarrow x^2 q^4 \\ H(1,8) & H(5,12) \\ 1 / & \swarrow x q \\ H(3,8) & H(5,12) \\ 1 / & \swarrow x^2 q^8 \\ H(3,12) & H(7,16) \\ 1 / & \searrow q^3 \\ H(5,12) & H(7,16) \end{array}$$

8.7 References

[63] S. Chern, On a Rogers–Ramanujan type identity of Gleißberg, preprint.

- [84] W. Gleißberg, Über einen Satz von Herrn I. Schur, Math. Z. 28 (1928), no. 1, 372–382.
- [160] I. J. Schur, Zur additiven Zahlentheorie, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. (1926), 488–495.

Chapter 9 Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities: An Analytic Perspective

This chapter comes from

• C. Wang and S. Chern, Some basic hypergeometric transformations and Rogers–Ramanujan type identities, *Integral Transforms Spec. Funct.* **31** (2020), no. 11, 873–890. (Ref. [169])

9.1 Introduction

In the previous three chapters, we have mentioned identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type in a combinatorial perspective. Now we will turn our attention to analytic Rogers–Ramanujan type identities, which are generally of the form that a q-series infinite product equals a q-summation or q-multi-summation.

Our starting point is the following transformation formula.

Theorem 9.1.1. Let A_n be a complex sequence. Then, under suitable convergence conditions, we have

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{n=0}^m \frac{(q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y; q)_n}{(y/x; q)_n} q^n A_n$$

= $\frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{n=0}^m (q^{-m}, aq^m; q)_n q^n A_n.$
(9.1.1)

The derivation of this relation in [169] relies on a q-series expansion formula due to Liu [129, Theorem 9.1]. However, we will present a different proof at this place. Let us recall [83, (3.4.7)]:

$${}_2\phi_1\left(\begin{array}{c}a,b\\aq/b\end{array};q,\frac{qx}{b^2}\right) = \frac{(xq/b,aqx^2/b^2;q)_{\infty}}{(aqx/b,qx^2/b^2;q)_{\infty}}$$

$$\times {}_{8}\phi_{7} \left(\begin{array}{c} ax/b, q(ax/b)^{\frac{1}{2}}, -q(ax/b)^{\frac{1}{2}}, (aq)^{\frac{1}{2}}, -(aq)^{\frac{1}{2}}, a^{\frac{1}{2}}, -a^{\frac{1}{2}}, x \\ (ax/b)^{\frac{1}{2}}, -(ax/b)^{\frac{1}{2}}, x(aq)^{\frac{1}{2}}/b, -x(aq)^{\frac{1}{2}}/b, xqa^{\frac{1}{2}}/b, -xqa^{\frac{1}{2}}/b, aq/b \end{array}; q, \frac{qx}{b^{2}} \right).$$

$$(9.1.2)$$

Proof of Theorem 9.1.1. We simply compare the coefficients of A_N for each $N \ge 0$ on both sides. First,

Coefficient of A_N on the LHS

Also,

Coefficient of A_N on the RHS

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m \ge N} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2q}{y}\right)^m (q^{-m}, aq^m; q)_N q^N \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m \ge N} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a; q)_{m+N}(y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}(q; q)_{m-N}} \left(\frac{x^2q}{y}\right)^m q^{N-mN+\binom{N}{2}} \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2q; q)_{\infty}} \frac{(a; q)_{2N}(y; q)_N (a/x; q)_{2N}}{(aq/y; q)_N (axq; q)_{2N}} \left(\frac{x^2q}{y}\right)^N q^{-\binom{N}{2}} \\ &\times \sum_{m \ge 0} \frac{(1 - aq^{2(m+N)})(aq^{2N}, yq^N; q)_m (aq^{2N}/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq^{N+1}/y; q)_m (axq^{2N+1}; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2q^{1-N}}{y}\right)^m. \end{split}$$

It is easy to see that the two expressions are the same and therefore the desired result follows. $\hfill \Box$

9.2 Some *q*-Transformations and Their Applications

In this section, we apply Theorem 9.1.1 to deduce several new q-transformations and exhibit their applications to identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type.

9.2.1 *q*-Transformations

9.2.1.1 Transformation I

Taking $(a, x, y, q) = (a^2, x^2, y^2, q^2)$ and

$$A_{n} = \frac{(-\lambda, -\lambda q; q^{2})_{n}}{(q^{2}, -a, -aq, \lambda^{2}q^{2}; q^{2})_{n}}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1, we have

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a^2/x^2, y^2/x^2; q^2)_m}{(q^2, a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m} \left(\frac{x^4q^2}{y^2}\right)^m {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2m}, q^{2m}a^2/x^2, y^2, -\lambda, -\lambda q\\ -a, -aq, \lambda^2q^2, y^2/x^2 \end{array}; q^2, q^2 \right)$$
$$= \frac{(a^2x^2q^2, x^2q^2; q^2)_\infty}{(a^2q^2, x^4q^2; q^2)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-a^2q^{4m})(a^2, y^2; q^2)_m (a^2/x^2; q^2)_{2m}}{(1-a^2)(q^2, a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m (a^2x^2q^2; q^2)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^4q^2}{y^2}\right)^m \times {}_4\phi_3 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2m}, q^{2m}a^2, -\lambda, -\lambda q\\ -a, -aq, \lambda^2q^2 \end{array}; q^2, q^2 \right).$$

Combining the above identity with a formula due to Verma and Jain [168, (5.3)]:

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-2n}, a^{2}q^{2n}, -\lambda, -q\lambda\\ -a, -qa, q^{2}\lambda^{2}\end{array}; q^{2}, q^{2}\right) = \frac{(-q, a/\lambda; q)_{n}(-\lambda)^{n}}{(-a, q\lambda; q)_{n}},$$

we arrive at our first transformation formula after simplification.

Transformation 9.2.1.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a^2/x^2, y^2/x^2; q^2)_m}{(q^2, a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m} \left(\frac{x^4q^2}{y^2}\right)^m {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2m}, q^{2m}a^2/x^2, y^2, -\lambda, -\lambda q \\ -a, -aq, \lambda^2 q^2, y^2/x^2 \end{array}; q^2, q^2 \right) \\ = \frac{(a^2x^2q^2, x^2q^2; q^2)_\infty}{(a^2q^2, x^4q^2; q^2)_\infty} \\ \times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-a^2q^{4m})(a, a/\lambda; q)_m (y^2; q^2)_m (a^2/x^2; q^2)_{2m}}{(1-a^2)(q, q\lambda; q)_m (a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m (a^2x^2q^2; q^2)_{2m}} \left(\frac{-x^4q^2\lambda}{y^2}\right)^m.$$
(9.2.1)

9.2.1.2 Transformation II

Taking

$$A_n = \frac{(\sqrt{\lambda}, -\sqrt{\lambda}; q)_n}{(q, \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, \lambda; q)_n}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1, we have

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y, \sqrt{\lambda}, -\sqrt{\lambda} \\ \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, \lambda, y/x \end{array}; q, q\right)$$
$$= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m$$
$$\times {}_4\phi_3 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, q^m a/x, \sqrt{\lambda}, -\sqrt{\lambda} \\ \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, \lambda \end{array}; q, q\right).$$

Applying the following identity due to Andrews [13, (4.6)]:

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\left(\begin{array}{cc}q^{-n},aq^{n},\sqrt{\lambda},-\sqrt{\lambda}\\\sqrt{aq},-\sqrt{aq},\lambda\end{array};q,q\right) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if }n \text{ is odd,}\\ \frac{(q,aq/\lambda;q^{2})_{n/2}(\lambda)^{n/2}}{(aq,\lambda q;q^{2})_{n/2}} & \text{if }n \text{ is even,} \end{cases}$$

the second transformation formula follows.

Transformation 9.2.2.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y, \sqrt{\lambda}, -\sqrt{\lambda} \\ \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, \lambda, y/x \end{array}; q, q\right) \\ = \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{4m})(a, aq/\lambda; q^2)_m (y; q)_{2m} (a/x; q)_{4m}}{(1 - a)(q^2, q\lambda; q^2)_m (aq/y; q)_{2m} (axq; q)_{4m}} \left(\frac{x^4 q^2 \lambda}{y^2}\right)^m.$$
(9.2.2)

9.2.1.3 Transformation III

Taking

$$A_n = \frac{(a^{1/3}, a^{1/3}e^{2\pi i/3}, a^{1/3}e^{4\pi i/3}; q)_n}{(q, \sqrt{a}, -\sqrt{a}, \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}; q)_n}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1 gives

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m {}_6\phi_5 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y, a^{1/3}, a^{1/3} e^{2\pi i/3}, a^{1/3} e^{4\pi i/3} \\ \sqrt{a}, -\sqrt{a}, \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, y/x \end{array}; q, q\right)$$

$$= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2q}{y}\right)^m \times {}_{5}\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, aq^m, a^{1/3}, a^{1/3}e^{2\pi i/3}, a^{1/3}e^{4\pi i/3} \\ \sqrt{a}, -\sqrt{a}, \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq} \end{array}; q, q\right).$$

Our third transformation formula comes from the following identity of Andrews [13, (4.7)]:

$${}_{5}\phi_{4}\left(\begin{array}{cc}q^{-n},aq^{n},a^{1/3},a^{1/3}e^{2\pi i/3},a^{1/3}e^{4\pi i/3}\\\sqrt{a},-\sqrt{a},\sqrt{aq},-\sqrt{aq}\end{array};q,q\right) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } 3 \nmid n,\\ \frac{(a;q^{3})_{n/3}(q;q)_{n}a^{n/3}}{(a;q)_{n}(q^{3};q^{3})_{n/3}} & \text{if } 3 \mid n. \end{cases}$$

Transformation 9.2.3.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m {}_{6} \phi_5 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y, a^{1/3}, a^{1/3} e^{2\pi i/3}, a^{1/3} e^{4\pi i/3} \\ \sqrt{a}, -\sqrt{a}, \sqrt{aq}, -\sqrt{aq}, y/x \end{array}; q, q \right) \\ = \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{6m})(a; q^3)_m (y; q)_{3m} (a/x; q)_{6m}}{(1 - a)(q^3; q^3)_m (aq/y; q)_{3m} (axq; q)_{6m}} \left(\frac{ax^6 q^3}{y^3}\right)^m.$$
(9.2.3)

9.2.1.4 Other Known Transformations

One could also apply our approach to deduce a handful of known transformation formulas. Let us present two instances that were first shown in [128].

We first take $(a, x, y, q) = (a^2, x^2, y^2, q^2)$ and

$$A_n = \frac{(-\lambda, -\lambda q; q^2)_n}{(q^2, -aq, -aq^2, \lambda^2; q^2)_n}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1. With the help of an identity due to Verma and Jain [168, (5.4)]:

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-2n}, a^{2}q^{2n}, -\lambda, -\lambda q\\-aq, -aq^{2}, \lambda^{2}\end{array}; q^{2}, q^{2}\right) = \frac{(-q, qa/\lambda; q)_{n}(1+a)(-\lambda)^{n}}{(-a, \lambda; q)_{n}(1+aq^{2n})},$$

we obtain a transformation formula that is equivalent to [128, (2.1)].

Transformation 9.2.4.

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a^2/x^2, y^2/x^2; q^2)_m}{(q^2, a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m} \left(\frac{x^4q^2}{y^2}\right)^m {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2m}, q^{2m}a^2/x^2, y^2, -\lambda, -\lambda q\\ -aq, -aq^2, \lambda^2, y^2/x^2 \end{array}; q^2, q^2 \right) \\ &= \frac{(a^2x^2q^2, x^2q^2; q^2)_\infty}{(a^2q^2, x^4q^2; q^2)_\infty} \end{split}$$

$$\times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-aq^{2m})(a,aq/\lambda;q)_m(y^2;q^2)_m(a^2/x^2;q^2)_{2m}}{(1-a)(q,\lambda;q)_m(a^2q^2/y^2;q^2)_m(a^2x^2q^2;q^2)_{2m}} \left(\frac{-x^4q^2\lambda}{y^2}\right)^m.$$
(9.2.4)

On the other hand, we take $(a, x, y, q) = (a^3, x^3, y^3, q^3)$ and

$$A_n = \frac{(aq, aq^2, aq^3; q^3)_n}{(q^3, a^{3/2}q^3, -a^{3/2}q^3, a^{3/2}q^{3/2}, -a^{3/2}q^{3/2}; q^3)_n}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1. Then by an identity due to Andrews [13, (4.5)]:

$${}_{5}\phi_{4}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-n},aq^{n},a^{1/3}q^{1/3},a^{1/3}q^{2/3},a^{1/3}q\\a^{1/2}q,-a^{1/2}q,a^{1/2}q^{1/2},-a^{1/2}q^{1/2}\end{array};q,q\right)\\ =\frac{(1-a)(1-a^{1/3}q^{2n/3})(q;q)_{n}(a^{1/3};q^{1/3})_{n}(aq)^{n/3}}{(1-a^{1/3})(1-aq^{2n})(a;q)_{n}(q^{1/3};q^{1/3})_{n}},$$

we obtain a transformation formula that is equivalent to [128, (2.5)].

Transformation 9.2.5.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a^3/x^3, y^3/x^3; q^3)_m}{(q^3, a^3q^3/y^3; q^3)_m} \left(\frac{x^6q^3}{y^3}\right)^m \times {}_{6}\phi_5 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-3m}, q^{3m}a^3/x^3, y^3, aq, aq^2, aq^3\\ a^{3/2}q^3, -a^{3/2}q^3, a^{3/2}q^{3/2}, -a^{3/2}q^{3/2}, y^3/x^3 \end{array}; q^3, q^3\right) \\ = \frac{(a^3x^3q^3, x^3q^3; q^3)_\infty}{(a^3q^3, x^6q^3; q^3)_\infty} \\ \times \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a; q)_m(y^3; q^3)_m(a^3/x^3; q^3)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q; q)_m(a^3q^3/y^3; q^3)_m(a^3x^3q^3; q^3)_{2m}} \left(\frac{ax^6q^4}{y^3}\right)^m.$$
(9.2.5)

9.2.2 Rogers–Ramanujan Type Identities

We are ready to present a number of Rogers–Ramanujan type identities based on Transformations 9.2.1, 9.2.2 and 9.2.3.

Theorem 9.2.6. We have

$$2\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(q^{-1};q^2)_{2s}q^{8s^2+4t^2+8st}}{(q^4;q^4)_t(q^2;q^2)_{2s}(-1;q^2)_{2s}} = \frac{(q^7,q^{13},q^{20};q^{20})_{\infty}}{(q^4;q^4)_{\infty}} + \frac{(q^9,q^{11},q^{20};q^{20})_{\infty}}{(q^4;q^4)_{\infty}}, \qquad (9.2.6)$$

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-1;q)_{2s}(-1)^s q^{3s^2+2t^2+4st+3s+2t}}{(q^2;q^2)_t (q^2;q^2)_s (-q;q)_{2s} (q^2;q^2)_{s+t}} = \frac{1}{(q^4;q^8)_{\infty}}$$
(9.2.7)

$$2\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-q^{-1};q^2)_{2s}(-1)^s q^{6s^2+4t^2+8st}}{(q^4;q^4)_t (q^4;q^4)_s (-1;q^2)_{2s} (q^2;q^4)_{s+t}} = \frac{(q^7,q^9,q^{16};q^{16})_\infty}{(q^4;q^4)_\infty} + \frac{(q^5,q^{11},q^{16};q^{16})_\infty}{(q^4;q^4)_\infty}.$$
(9.2.8)

Proof. We first set $x \to 0, y \to \infty$ and $\lambda = -a^{1/2}q^{-1/2}$ in (9.2.1) to obtain

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(a^{1/2}q^{-1/2};q)_{2s}a^{4s+2t}q^{4s^2+2t^2+4st}}{(q^2;q^2)_t(q^2;q^2)_s(aq;q^2)_s(-a;q)_{2s}} = \frac{1}{(a^2q^2;q^2)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-a^2q^{4m})(a;q)_m}{(1-a^2)(q;q)_m} (-1)^m a^{\frac{9m}{2}}q^{5m^2-\frac{3m}{2}}.$$
 (9.2.9)

Replacing q by q^2 and taking a = 1 in (9.2.9), we then arrive at (9.2.6) by utilizing the Jacobi triple product identity

$$\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^n q^{n^2} z^n = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - zq^{2n-1})(1 - q^{2n-1}/z)(1 - q^{2n}).$$
(9.2.10)

On the other hand, we choose $x \to 0$, $y = (aq)^{1/2}$ and $\lambda = a^{1/2}q^{-1/2}$ in (9.2.1). Then

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-a^{1/2}q^{-1/2};q)_{2s}(-1)^s a^{3s+2t}q^{3s^2+2t^2+4st}}{(q^2;q^2)_t(q^2;q^2)_s(-a;q)_{2s}(aq;q^2)_{s+t}} = \frac{1}{(a^2q^2;q^2)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{(1-a^2q^{4m})(a;q)_m}{(1-a^2)(q;q)_m} (-1)^m a^{\frac{7m}{2}}q^{4m^2-\frac{3m}{2}}.$$
(9.2.11)

Taking a = q in (9.2.11), we obtain (9.2.7) with the help of (9.2.10). We further replace q by q^2 and take a = 1 in (9.2.11). Then (9.2.8) follows.

Remark 9.2.1. It is notable that by taking a = q, applying the Jacobi triple product identity (9.2.10) and replacing q^2 by q, one may recover the second Rogers–Ramanujan identity [83, (2.7.4)]:

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2 + n}}{(q; q)_n} = \frac{1}{(q^2, q^3; q^5)_\infty}.$$
(9.2.12)

Theorem 9.2.7. We have

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-1;q^2)_s q^{2s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t (q;q)_s (q;q^2)_s (-1;q)_s} = \frac{(q^9,q^{11},q^{20};q^{20})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty},\tag{9.2.13}$$

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-q;q^2)_s q^{2s^2+t^2+2st+4s+2t}}{(q;q)_t(q;q)_{2s+1}} = \frac{(q^2,q^{18},q^{20};q^{20})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty},\tag{9.2.14}$$

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-1;q^2)_s(-1)^s q^{\frac{3}{2}s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t(q;q)_s(q;q^2)_s(-1;q)_s(q^{1/2+s};q)_t} = \frac{(q^7,q^9,q^{16};q^{16})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty}$$
(9.2.15)

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-q;q^2)_s(-1)^s q^{\frac{3}{2}s^2+t^2+2st+3s+2t}}{(q;q)_t(q;q)_{2s+1}(q^{3/2+s};q)_t} = \frac{(q^2,q^{14},q^{16};q^{16})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty}.$$
(9.2.16)

Proof. In (9.2.2), setting $x \to 0, y \to \infty$ and $\lambda = -a^{1/2}$, we have

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-a^{1/2};q^2)_s a^{2s+t} q^{2s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t(q;q)_s(aq;q^2)_s(-a^{1/2};q)_s} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{(1-aq^{4m})(a;q^2)_m}{(1-a)(q^2;q^2)_m} (-1)^m a^{\frac{9m}{2}} q^{10m^2-m}.$$
(9.2.17)

Taking a = 1 and $a = q^2$ in (9.2.17), respectively, we arrive at (9.2.13) and (9.2.14) with the help of (9.2.10).

Also, one may take $x \to 0$, $y = (aq)^{1/2}$ and $\lambda = -a^{1/2}$ in (9.2.2). Then

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(-a^{1/2};q^2)_s(-1)^s a^{\frac{3}{2}s+t} q^{\frac{3}{2}s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t(q;q)_s(aq;q^2)_s(-a^{1/2};q)_s(a^{1/2}q^{s+1/2};q)_t} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{(1-aq^{4m})(a;q^2)_m}{(1-a)(q^2;q^2)_m} (-1)^m a^{\frac{7m}{2}} q^{8m^2-m}.$$
(9.2.18)

We have (9.2.15) and (9.2.16) by taking a = 1 and $a = q^2$ respectively in (9.2.18) and then using (9.2.10).

Theorem 9.2.8. We have

$$1 + \sum_{\substack{s \ge 1 \\ t \ge 0}} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_{s-1} q^{2s^2 + t^2 + 2st}}{(q; q)_t (q; q)_s (q; q)_{2s-1}} = \frac{(q^{21}, q^{24}, q^{45}; q^{45})_\infty}{(q; q)_\infty},$$
(9.2.19)

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(q^3;q^3)_s q^{2s^2+t^2+2st+6s+3t}}{(q;q)_t (q;q)_s (q;q)_{2s+2}} = \frac{(q^3,q^{42},q^{45};q^{45})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty},\tag{9.2.20}$$

$$1 + \sum_{\substack{s \ge 1\\t \ge 0}} \frac{(q^6; q^6)_{s-1} q^{3s^2 + 2t^2 + 4st}}{(q^2; q^2)_t (q^2; q^2)_s (q^2; q^2)_{2s-1} (-q^{2s+1}; q^2)_t} = \frac{(q^{33}, q^{39}, q^{72}; q^{72})_\infty}{(q^2; q^2)_\infty}$$
(9.2.21)

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_s q^{\frac{3}{2}s^2 + t^2 + 2st + \frac{9}{2}s + 3t}}{(q;q)_t (q;q)_s (q;q)_{2s+2} (-q^{s+2};q)_t} = \frac{(q^3, q^{33}, q^{36}; q^{36})_\infty}{(q;q)_\infty}.$$
(9.2.22)

Proof. In (9.2.3), we first set $x \to 0$ and $y \to \infty$ to obtain

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(a;q^3)_s a^{2s+t} q^{2s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t (q;q)_s (a;q)_{2s}} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^\infty \frac{(1-aq^{6m})(a;q^3)_m}{(1-a)(q^3;q^3)_m} (-1)^m a^{7m} q^{\frac{45m^2-3m}{2}}.$$
(9.2.23)

Taking a = 1 and $a = q^3$ in (9.2.23) respectively and using (9.2.10), we have (9.2.19) and (9.2.20).

Further, we take $x \to 0$ and $y = -(aq)^{1/2}$ in (9.2.3). Then

$$\sum_{s,t\geq 0} \frac{(a;q^3)_s a^{\frac{3}{2}s+t} q^{\frac{3}{2}s^2+t^2+2st}}{(q;q)_t (q;q)_s (a;q)_{2s} (-a^{1/2} q^{s+\frac{1}{2}};q)_t} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-aq^{6m})(a;q^3)_m}{(1-a)(q^3;q^3)_m} (-1)^m a^{\frac{11}{2}m} q^{18m^2-\frac{3m}{2}}.$$
(9.2.24)

Letting a = 1 (with q replaced by q^2) and $a = q^3$ in (9.2.24) respectively and using (9.2.10), we have (9.2.21) and (9.2.22).

9.3 Generalized Transformations and Their Applications

In this section, we establish several generalized transformations based on Theorem 9.1.1 and some formulas due to Verma and Jain [168]. For convenience, we define

$$M_i := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i = 0 \text{ or } -1, \\ r_1 + r_2 + \dots + r_i & \text{if } i \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

We also introduce the following compact notation [69]:

$$\Lambda_k^{(c)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{x_i, y_i\} \\ [u, v] \end{array} \right]_q := \prod_{i=u}^v \frac{(x_i, y_i; q)_k}{(c/x_i, c/y_i; q)_k} \left(\frac{c}{x_i y_i}\right)^k.$$

9.3.1 Multiple Rogers-Ramanujan Type Identities

Before introducing our generalized transformations, we first present some multiple Rogers–Ramanujan type identities to illustrate their power.

Theorem 9.3.1. For $t \ge 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(-q^{2M_t};q^2)_i}{(q;q)_j(q;q)_j(q;q^2)_{2M_t+i}(-q^{2M_t};q)_i} \\ &\times \frac{q^{2i^2+j^2+2ij+(8i+4j)M_t+2(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2)+9M_t^2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}} \\ &= \frac{(q^{2t+9},q^{2t+11},q^{4t+20};q^{4t+20})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}}, \end{split} \tag{9.3.1}$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(-q^{2M_t+1};q^2)_i}{(q;q)_j(q;q)_{j}(q;q^2)_{2M_t+i+1}(-q^{2M_t+1};q)_i}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}} \\ &= \frac{(q^2,q^{4t+18},q^{4t+20};q^{4t+20})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}}, \end{aligned} \tag{9.3.2}$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(-q^{2M_t+1};q^2)_i}{(q;q)_j(q;q^2)_{2M_t+i+1}(-q^{2M_t+1};q)_i}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}} \\ &= \frac{(q^2,q^{4t+18},q^{4t+20};q^{4t+20})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}}, \end{aligned} \tag{9.3.2}$$

and

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(-q^{2M_t+1};q^2)_i(-1)^i}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(q;q^2)_{2M_t+i+1}(-q^{2M_t+1};q)_i(q^{i+2M_t+3/2};q)_{i+j}} \times \frac{q^{\frac{3}{2}i^2+j^2+2ij+3i+2j+(6i+4j+7)M_t+2(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1})+7M_t^2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}} = \frac{(q^2,q^{4t+14},q^{4t+16};q^{4t+16})_{\infty}}{(q;q)_{\infty}}.$$
(9.3.4)

Proof. Letting $x \to 0, y \to \infty, \lambda = -a^{1/2}$ and $c_1, d_1, \ldots, c_t, d_t \to \infty$ in (9.3.14), we have

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0}\sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0}\frac{(-a^{1/2}q^{2M_t};q^2)_ia^{2i+j+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1}+\frac{9}{2}M_t}}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(aq;q^2)_{2M_t+i}(-a^{1/2}q^{2M_t};q)_i}$$

$$\times \frac{q^{2i^2+j^2+2ij+(8i+4j)M_t+2(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2)+9M_t^2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-aq^{4m})(a;q^2)_m}{(1-a)(q^2;q^2)_m} (-1)^m a^{(\frac{9}{2}+t)m} q^{2(t+5)m^2-m}.$$
(9.3.5)

Taking a = 1 and $a = q^2$ in (9.3.5) respectively and using the Jacobi triple product identity (9.2.10), we have (9.3.1) and (9.3.2).

On the other hand, we set $x \to 0$, $y = (aq)^{1/2}$, $\lambda = -a^{1/2}$ and $c_1, d_1, \ldots, c_t, d_t \to \infty$ in (9.3.14). Then

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(-a^{1/2}q^{2M_t};q^2)_i(-1)^i a^{\frac{3}{2}i+j+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1}+\frac{7}{2}M_t}}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(aq;q^2)_{2M_t+i}(-a^{1/2}q^{2M_t};q)_i(a^{1/2}q^{i+2M_t+1/2};q)_j} \times \frac{q^{\frac{3}{2}i^2+j^2+2ij+(6i+4j)M_t+2(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2)+7M_t^2}}{(q^2;q^2)_{r_1}(q^2;q^2)_{r_2}\cdots(q^2;q^2)_{r_t}}}{=\frac{1}{(aq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-aq^{4m})(a;q^2)_m}{(1-a)(q^2;q^2)_m}(-1)^m a^{(\frac{7}{2}+t)m}q^{2(t+4)m^2-m}.$$
(9.3.6)

Taking a = 1 and $a = q^2$ in (9.3.6), and then using (9.2.10), one has (9.3.3) and (9.3.4).

Theorem 9.3.2. For $t \ge 1$, we have

$$1 + \sum_{i,j \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0\\(i, r_1, \dots, r_t) \ne 0}} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_{2M_t + i - 1}}{(q; q)_i (q; q)_j (q; q)_{6M_t + 2i - 1}} \\ \times \frac{q^{2i^2 + j^2 + 2ij + (12i + 6j)M_t + 3(M_1^2 + \dots + M_{t-1}^2) + 21M_t^2}}{(q^3; q^3)_{r_1} (q^3; q^3)_{r_2} \cdots (q^3; q^3)_{r_t}} \\ = \frac{(q^{3i+21}, q^{3i+24}, q^{6i+45}; q^{6i+45})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}}, \qquad (9.3.7)$$

$$\sum_{i,j \ge 0} \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_{2M_t + i}}{(q; q)_i (q; q)_j (q; q)_{6M_t + 2i + 2}} \\ \times \frac{q^{2i^2 + j^2 + 2ij + 6i + 3j + (12i + 6j + 21)M_t + 3(M_1^2 + \dots + M_{t-1}^2 + M_1 + \dots + M_{t-1}) + 21M_t^2}{(q^3; q^3)_{r_1} (q^3; q^3)_{r_2} \cdots (q^3; q^3)_{r_t}} \\ = \frac{(q^3, q^{6i+42}, q^{6i+45}; q^{6i+45})_{\infty}}{(q; q)_{\infty}}, \qquad (9.3.8)$$

$$\sum_{i,j \ge 0} \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0} \frac{(q^3; q^3)_{2M_t + i - 1}a^{\frac{3}{2}i + j + M_1 + \dots + M_{t-1} + \frac{11}{2}M_t}{(q; q)_j (q; q)_j (q; q)_{6M_t + 2i - 1} (-q^{3M_t + i + 1/2}; q)_j} \\ \times \frac{q^{\frac{3}{2}i^2 + j^2 + 2ij + (9i+6j)M_t + 3(M_1^2 + \dots + M_{t-1}^2) + \frac{33}{2}M_t^2}}{(q^3; q^3)_{r_1} (q^3; q^3)_{r_2} \cdots (q^3; q^3)_{r_t}}$$

$$=\frac{(q^{6t+33}, q^{6t+39}, q^{12t+72}; q^{12t+72})_{\infty}}{(q^2; q^2)_{\infty}}$$
(9.3.9)

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(q^3;q^3)_{2M_t+i}}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(q;q)_{6M_t+2i+2}(-q^{3M_t+i+2};q)_j} \times \frac{q^{\frac{3}{2}i^2+j^2+2ij+\frac{9}{2}i+3j+(9i+6j+\frac{33}{2})M_t+3(M_1^2+\dots+M_{p-1}^2+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1})+\frac{33}{2}M_t^2}}{(q^3;q^3)_{r_1}(q^3;q^3)_{r_2}\cdots(q^3;q^3)_{r_t}} = \frac{(q^3,q^{6t+33},q^{6t+36};q^{6t+36})_{\infty}}{(q^2;q^2)_{\infty}}.$$
(9.3.10)

Proof. We set $x \to 0, y \to \infty$ and $c_1, d_1, \ldots, c_t, d_t \to \infty$ in (9.3.15). Then

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(a;q^3)_{2M_t+i}a^{2i+j+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1}+7M_t}}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(a;q)_{6M_t+2i}} \times \frac{q^{2i^2+j^2+2ij+(12i+6j)M_t+3(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2)+21M_t^2}}{(q^3;q^3)_{r_1}(q^3;q^3)_{r_2}\cdots(q^3;q^3)_{r_t}} = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a;q^3)_n(1-aq^{6m})}{(q^3;q^3)_m(1-a)} (-1)^m a^{(t+7)m} q^{(\frac{45}{2}+3t)m^2-\frac{3}{2}m}.$$
(9.3.11)

Taking a = 1 and $a = q^3$ in (9.3.11), and using (9.2.10), we have (9.3.7) and (9.3.8). Further, letting $x \to 0$, $y = (aq)^{1/2}$ and $c_1, d_1, \ldots, c_t, d_t \to \infty$ in (9.3.15), we have

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 0} \sum_{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_t\geq 0} \frac{(a;q^3)_{2M_t+i} a^{\frac{3}{2}i+j+M_1+\dots+M_{t-1}+\frac{11}{2}M_t}}{(q;q)_i(q;q)_j(a;q)_{6M_t+2i}(-a^{1/2}q^{3M_t+i+1/2};q)_j} \\ \times \frac{q^{\frac{3}{2}i^2+j^2+2ij+(9i+6j)M_t+3(M_1^2+\dots+M_{t-1}^2)+\frac{33}{2}M_t^2}}{(q^3;q^3)_{r_1}(q^3;q^3)_{r_2}\cdots(q^3;q^3)_{r_t}} \\ = \frac{1}{(aq;q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a;q^3)_n(1-aq^{6m})}{(q^3;q^3)_m(1-a)} (-1)^m a^{(t+\frac{11}{2})m} q^{(18+3t)m^2-\frac{3}{2}m}.$$
(9.3.12)

Taking a = 1 (with q replaced by q^2) and $a = q^3$ in (9.3.12), and using (9.2.10), one has (9.3.9) and (9.3.10).

9.3.2 Generalized *q*-Transformations

9.3.2.1 Transformation I

We first take

$$A_n = \sum_{k=0}^{[n/2]} \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{k(2k-1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq^{4k+1}, q; q)_{n-2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{array} \right]_{q^2}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1. Then

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{n=0}^m \frac{(q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y; q)_n q^n}{(y/x; q)_n} \\ &\times \sum_{k=0}^{[n/2]} \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{k(2k-1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq^{4k+1}, q; q)_{n-2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \\ &\times \sum_{n=0}^m (q^{-m}, aq^m; q)_n q^n \\ &\times \sum_{k=0}^{[n/2]} \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{k(2k-1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq^{4k+1}, q; q)_{n-2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^2}. \end{split}$$

Interchanging the last two summations on both sides yields

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{k(2k-1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \\ &\times \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix} \int_{q^2}^m \frac{(q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y; q)_n q^n}{(aq^{4k+1}, q; q)_{n-2k} (y/x; q)_n} \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_m (a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_m (axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \\ &\times \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{k(2k-1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \sum_{n=2k}^m \frac{(q^{-m}, aq^m; q)_n q^n}{(aq^{4k+1}, q; q)_{n-2k}}. \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{2k(k+1)}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{array} \right]_{q^2}$$

$$\times \frac{(q^{-m}, q^{m}a/x, y; q)_{2k}}{(y/x; q)_{2k}} {}_{3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m+2k}, aq^{m+2k}/x, yq^{2k} \\ aq^{4k+1}, yq^{2k}/x \end{array}; q, q \right)$$

$$= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^{2}q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{2m})(a, y; q)_{m}(a/x; q)_{2m}}{(1 - a)(q, aq/y; q)_{m}(axq; q)_{2m}} \left(\frac{x^{2}q}{y} \right)^{m}$$

$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^{2})_{k}\lambda^{k}q^{2k(k+1)}(q^{-m}, aq^{m}; q)_{2k}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k}(aq, q\lambda; q^{2})_{k}} \Lambda_{k}^{(aq^{2})} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_{i}, d_{i}\} \\ [1, t] \end{array} \right]_{q^{2}}$$

$$\times {}_{2}\phi_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m+2k}, aq^{m+2k} \\ a^{2}q^{4k+1} \end{array}; q, q \right).$$

Applying the q-Pfaff–Saalschütz identity

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-n}, a, b\\c, abc^{-1}q^{1-n}\end{array}; q, q\right) = \frac{(c/a, c/b; q)_{n}}{(c, c/ab; q)_{n}},$$
(9.3.13)

we have

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-m+2k},aq^{m+2k}/x,yq^{2k}\\aq^{4k+1},yq^{2k}/x\end{array};q,q\right)$$
$$=\frac{(xq^{-m+2k+1};q)_{m-2k}(aq^{2k+1}/y;q)_{m-2k}}{(aq^{4k+1};q)_{m-2k}(xq^{-m+1}/y;q)_{m-2k}}\\=\frac{(1/x;q)_{m-2k}(aq^{2k+1}/y;q)_{m-2k}(yq^{2k})^{m-2k}}{(aq^{4k+1};q)_{m-2k}(yq^{2k}/x;q)_{m-2k}}.$$

Notice also that the inner summation on the right-hand side equals 0 when $m \neq 2k$. Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(q, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k \lambda^k q^{2k^2}}{(aq^{2k}, q; q)_{2k} (aq, q\lambda; q^2)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{array}\right]_{q^2} \\ &\times \frac{(q^{-m}, q^m a/x, y; q)_{2k}}{(y/x; q)_{2k}} \frac{(1/x; q)_{m-2k} (aq^{2k+1}/y; q)_{m-2k} (yq^{2k})^{m-2k}}{(aq^{4k+1}; q)_{m-2k} (yq^{2k}/x; q)_{m-2k}} \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{4m})(a, aq/\lambda; q^2)_m (y; q)_{2m} (a/x; q)_{4m}}{(1 - a)(q^2, q\lambda; q^2)_m (aq/y; q)_{2m} (axq; q)_{4m}} \left(\frac{x^4 \lambda q^2}{y^2}\right)^m \\ & \times \Lambda_m^{(aq^2)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{array}\right]_{q^2}. \end{split}$$

After simplification, we have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \frac{(1/x, aq/y; q)_m y^m}{(aq, y/x; q)_m} \\ &\times \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(1 - aq^{4k})(a, aq/\lambda; q^2)_k (q^m a/x, y, q^{-m}; q)_{2k} \lambda^k q^{2k^2}}{(1 - a)(q^2, q\lambda; q^2)_k (xq^{-m+1}, aq/y, aq^{m+1}; q)_{2k}} \left(\frac{\lambda x^2 q^2}{y^2}\right)^k \\ &\times \Lambda_k^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2 q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{4m})(a, aq/\lambda; q^2)_m (y; q)_{2m} (a/x; q)_{4m}}{(1 - a)(q^2, q\lambda; q^2)_m (aq/y; q)_{2m} (axq; q)_{4m}} \left(\frac{x^4 \lambda q^2}{y^2}\right)^m \\ &\times \Lambda_m^{(aq^2)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^2}. \end{split}$$

With the aid of [168, (4.3)], we arrive at the first generalized transformation.

Transformation 9.3.3.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0} \prod_{j=1}^t \frac{\left(\frac{aq^2}{c_j d_j}; q^2\right)_{r_j} (c_j, d_j; q^2)_{M_{j-1}}}{(q^2; q^2)_{r_j} \left(\frac{aq^2}{c_j}, \frac{aq^2}{d_j}; q^2\right)_{M_j}} \frac{(a^j q^{2j})^{r_{t-j+1}}}{(c_j d_j)^{M_{j-1}}} \\ \times \frac{(aq/\lambda; q^2)_{M_t} (q^{-m}, aq^m/x, y; q)_{2M_t} (-\lambda)^{M_t} q^{M_t^2}}{(aq; q^2)_{2M_t} (\lambda q; q^2)_{M_t} (y/x; q)_{2M_t} a^{M_t}} \\ \times {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m+2M_t}, aq^{m+2M_t}/x, yq^{2M_t}, \sqrt{\lambda} q^{M_t}, -\sqrt{\lambda} q^{M_t} \\ a^{1/2} q^{1/2+2M_t}, -a^{1/2} q^{1/2+2M_t}, \lambda q^{2M_t}, yq^{2M_t}/x \end{array}; q, q \right) \\ = \frac{(axq, xq; q)_{\infty}}{(aq, x^2q; q)_{\infty}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - aq^{4m})(a, aq/\lambda; q^2)_m (y; q)_{2m} (a/x; q)_{4m}}{(1 - a)(q^2, \lambda q; q^2)_m (aq/y; q)_{2m} (axq; q)_{4m}} \\ \times \Lambda_m^{(aq^2)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1, t] \end{array} \right]_{q^2} \left(\frac{\lambda x^4 q^2}{y^2} \right)^m. \tag{9.3.14} \end{cases}$$

Remark 9.3.1. Transformation (9.3.14) reduces to (9.2.2) when t = 0.

We prove the next two transformation formulas in a similar way to that of (9.3.14); the details will be omitted.

9.3.2.2 Transformation II

Taking

$$A_n = \sum_{k=0}^{[n/3]} \frac{(-1)^k q^{3k(3k-1)/2}(a;q^3)_k a^k}{(a;q)_{6k}(aq^{6k+1},q;q)_{n-3k}(q^3;q^3)_k} \Lambda_k^{(aq^3)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1,t] \end{bmatrix}_{q^3}$$

in Theorem 9.1.1, and applying [168, (4.5)], we obtain the second generalized transformation.

Transformation 9.3.4.

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a/x, y/x; q)_m}{(q, aq/y; q)_m} \left(\frac{x^2 q}{y}\right)^m \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0} \prod_{j=1}^t \frac{(\frac{aq^3}{c_j d_j}; q^3)_{r_j} (c_j, d_j; q^3)_{M_{j-1}}}{(q^3; q^3)_{r_j} (\frac{aq^3}{c_j}, \frac{aq^3}{d_j}; q^3)_{M_j}} \frac{(a^j q^{3j-3})^{r_{t-j+1}}}{(c_j d_j)^{M_{j-1}}} \\ &\times \frac{(a; q^3)_{2M_t} (q^{-m}, aq^m/x, y; q)_{3M_t} q^{3M_t} (M_t + 1)}{(a; q)_{6M_t} (y/x; q)_{3M_t}} \\ &\times _6\phi_5 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-m+3M_t}, aq^{m+3M_t}/x, yq^{3M_t}, a^{1/3} q^{2M_t}, a^{1/3} e^{2\pi i/3} q^{2M_t}, a^{1/3} e^{4\pi i/3} q^{2M_t}}{\sqrt{aq^{3M_t}}, -\sqrt{aq^{3M_t}}, \sqrt{aq} q^{3M_t}, -\sqrt{aq} q^{3M_t}, yq^{3M_t}/x} \end{array}; q, q \right) \\ &= \frac{(axq, xq; q)_\infty}{(aq, x^2q; q)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a; q^3)_m (1 - aq^{6m}) (y; q)_{3m} (a/x; q)_{6m}}{(q^3; q^3)_m (1 - a) (aq/y; q)_{3m} (axq; q)_{6m}} \left(\frac{ax^6 q^3}{y^3}\right)^m \\ &\times \Lambda_m^{(aq^3)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\}\\ [1,t] \end{array} \right]_{q^3} \end{array}.$$

Remark 9.3.2. When t = 0, (9.3.15) reduces to (9.2.3). It is also necessary to point out that there are two typos in [168, (4.5)]: $(aq^3;q^3)_{2M_{p-4}}$ and $(aq;q)_{6M_{p-4}}$ should be $(a;q^3)_{2M_{p-4}}$ and $(a;q)_{6M_{p-4}}$, respectively.

9.3.2.3 Transformation III

Taking $(a, x, y, q) = (a^2, x^2, y^2, q^2)$ and

$$A_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{(-q, aq/\lambda; q)_k (1+a)\lambda^k q^{k(k-1)}}{(a^2 q^{2k}, q^2; q^2)_k (a^2 q^{4k+2}, q^2; q^2)_{n-k} (-a, \lambda; q)_k (1+aq^{2k})} \Lambda_k^{(aq)} \begin{bmatrix} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1,t] \end{bmatrix}_q$$

in Theorem 9.1.1 and applying [168, (4.1)], we obtain the following generalized transformation that is equivalent to [128, (2.3)].

Transformation 9.3.5.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a^2/x^2, y^2/x^2; q)_m}{(q^2, a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m} \left(\frac{x^4q^2}{y^2}\right)^m \sum_{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_t \ge 0} \prod_{j=1}^t \frac{(\frac{aq}{c_j, d_j}; q)_{r_j}(c_j, d_j; q)_{M_j-1}}{(q; q)_j (aq/c_j, aq/d_j; q)_{M_j}} \frac{(a^jq^{j+1})^{r_{t-j+1}}}{(c_jd_j)^{M_{j-1}}} \\ \times \frac{(aq/\lambda; q)_{M_t} (a^2q^{2m}/x^2, y^2, q^{-2m}; q^2)_{M_t} (-\lambda)^{M_t} q^{M_t (M_t-1)/2}}{(-aq; q)_{2M_t} (\lambda; q)_{M_t} (y^2/x^2; q^2)_{M_t} a^{M_t}} \\ \times {}_5\phi_4 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2m+2M_t}, q^{2m+2M_t} a^2/x^2, y^2q^{2M_t}, -\lambda q^{M_t}, -\lambda q^{1+M_t} \\ -aq^{1+2M_t}, -aq^{2+2M_t}, \lambda^2q^{2+2M_t}, q^{2M_t}y^2/x^2 \end{array}; q^2, q^2 \right) \\ = \frac{(a^2x^2q^2, x^2q^2; q^2)_\infty}{(a^2q^2, x^4q^2; q^2)_\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-aq^{2m})(a, aq/\lambda; q)_m (y^2; q^2)_m (a^2x^2q^2; q^2)_{2m}}{(1-a)(q, \lambda; q)_m (a^2q^2/y^2; q^2)_m (a^2x^2q^2; q^2)_{2m}} \\ \times \Lambda_m^{(aq)} \left[\begin{array}{c} \{c_i, d_i\} \\ [1,t] \end{array} \right]_q \left(\frac{-\lambda x^4q^2}{y^2} \right)^m. \end{array}$$
(9.3.16)

Remark 9.3.3. Transformation (9.3.16) reduces to (9.2.4) when t = 0.

9.4 References

- [13] G. E. Andrews, Connection coefficient problems and partitions, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 34 (1979), 1–24.
- [69] W. C. Chu, The Saalschütz chain reactions and multiple q-series transformations, Theory and applications of special functions, 99–121, Dev. Math., 13, Springer, New York, 2005.
- [83] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic hypergeometric series. Second edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 96. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. xxvi+428 pp.
- [128] H. Liu, C. Jia, and T. Wang, Further bibasic hypergeometric transformations and their applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 323 (2006), no. 2, 1025–1037.
- [129] Z.-G. Liu, On the q-partial differential equations and q-series, The legacy of Srinivasa Ramanujan, 213–250, Ramanujan Math. Soc. Lect. Notes Ser., 20, Ramanujan Math. Soc., Mysore, 2013.
- [168] A. Verma and V. K. Jain, Transformations between basic hypergeometric series on different bases and identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 76 (1980), no. 1, 230–269.

[169] C. Wang and S. Chern, Some basic hypergeometric transformations and Rogers– Ramanujan type identities, *Integral Transforms Spec. Funct.* **31** (2020), no. 11, 873–890.

Part III Asymptotics

Outline

- Chapter 10 is devoted to a refined Meinardus-type method with its application to square-root partitions into distinct parts.
- Chapters 11–13 are devoted to asymptotics for coefficients in modular infinite products that concern either Dedekind eta function or Jacobi theta function with the assistance of Rademacher's circle method.
- Chapter 14 is devoted to nonmodular infinite products that arise from a conjecture of Seo and Yee.

Chapter 10 The Square-root Partition into Distinct Parts

This chapter comes from

S. Chern, Note on the square-root partition into distinct parts, Ramanujan J. 54 (2021), no. 2, 449–461. (Ref. [55])

10.1 Introduction

The square-root partition, which is a partition into parts with the order $\{\lfloor \sqrt{1} \rfloor, \lfloor \sqrt{2} \rfloor, \lfloor \sqrt{3} \rfloor, \ldots, \lfloor \sqrt{k} \rfloor, \ldots \}$, was introduced by Balasubramanian and Luca [33]. For example, 1 has three square-root partitions: $\lfloor \sqrt{1} \rfloor, \lfloor \sqrt{2} \rfloor$, and $\lfloor \sqrt{3} \rfloor$. Let r(n) be the number of square-root partitions of n. It is not hard to see that r(n) has generating function:

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} r(n)q^n = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{(1 - q^k)^{2k+1}}.$$

In [131], Luca and Ralaivaosaona studied the asymptotic behavior of r(n). They showed that, as $n \to \infty$,

$$r(n) = (1 + o(1)) 2^{5/18} 3^{-1/2} \pi^{-1/2} \zeta(3)^{7/18} n^{-8/9} \\ \times \exp\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2^{1/3}} n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2^{2/3}\zeta(3)^{1/3}} n^{1/3} - \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{24\zeta(3)} + 2\zeta'(-1) + \zeta'(0)\right),$$

where as usual $\zeta(\cdot)$ is the Riemann zeta function.

In general, if we are given a prescribed ordered set of parts, then apart from partitions into parts in this set, we are often interested in partitions into distinct parts as well. In the square-root partition case, we will assume that, for instance, $\lfloor \sqrt{1} \rfloor$, $\lfloor \sqrt{2} \rfloor$, and $\lfloor \sqrt{3} \rfloor$ are different parts, although they have the same numerical value. Let $r_D(n)$ be the number of square-root partitions of n into distinct parts. One would see that the generating function of $r_D(n)$ is

$$F(q) := \sum_{n \ge 0} r_D(n)q^n = \prod_{k \ge 1} (1+q^k)^{2k+1} = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{(1-q^{2k})^{2k+1}}{(1-q^k)^{2k+1}}.$$
 (10.1.1)

Similar to the asymptotic formula of r(n), we will prove the following result.

Theorem 10.1.1. As $n \to \infty$, we have that

$$r_D(n) = \left(1 + o(1)\right) 2^{-7/6} 3^{-1/3} \pi^{-1/2} \zeta(3)^{1/6} n^{-2/3} \\ \times \exp\left(\frac{3^{4/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2} n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2 \cdot 3^{1/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}} n^{1/3} - \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{72\zeta(3)}\right).$$
(10.1.2)

We remark that for a general infinite product

$$\prod_{k\geq 1}\frac{1}{(1-q^k)^{a_k}},$$

where a_1, a_2, \ldots is a "nice" sequence of non-negative integers, Meinardus' theorem [134] is a powerful tool to study the asymptotic behavior of its Taylor coefficients. A delicate presentation of Meinardus' approach is given in Chapter 6 of George Andrews' book *The theory of partitions* [12]. However, Meinardus' original theorem requires that the associated Dirichlet series of the sequence $(a_k)_{k\geq 1}$,

$$D(s) := \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{a_k}{k^s},$$

has only one simple pole. But if D(s) has multiple singularities, Meinardus' approach is still admissible, provided that we make suitable adjustments. A general result on such case was given by Granovsky and Stark [88], but the computation of coefficients is not explicit there. In this chapter, we are going to give a more transparent account of the generalization of Meinardus' approach, using $r_D(n)$ as a specific example.

10.2 Outline of the Proof

10.2.1 Cauchy's Integral Formula

Recall that Cauchy's integral formula indicates that

$$r_D(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|q|=e^{-x}} \frac{F(q)}{q^{n+1}} dq$$

Making the change of variables $q = e^{-\tau}$ with $\tau = x + 2\pi i y$, reversing the integral order and writing $f(\tau) = F(e^{-\tau})$, we obtain

$$r_D(n) = e^{nx} \int_{|y| \le \frac{1}{2}} f(\tau) e^{2\pi i ny} \, dy.$$
 (10.2.1)

Note that here

$$f(\tau) = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{(1 - e^{-2k\tau})^{2k+1}}{(1 - e^{-k\tau})^{2k+1}}.$$
(10.2.2)

10.2.2 The Saddle Point Method

Let us begin with an estimate of $f(\tau)$, the proof of which will be given in §§10.3 and 10.4.

Theorem 10.2.1. Let $\tau = x + 2\pi i y$. For 0 < x < 1/2, we have that

(i) For $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \le \pi/4$,

$$\log f(\tau) = \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2}\tau^{-2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\tau^{-1} - \frac{2\log 2}{3} + O(x^{1/2}).$$
(10.2.3)

(ii) For $\pi/4 \leq |\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \leq \pi/2$,

$$|f(\tau)| < f(x)e^{-\frac{1}{22x}}.$$
(10.2.4)

Now we apply the saddle point method to study the asymptotics of $r_D(n)$. To do so, we need to roughly minimize $e^{nx} f(\tau)$. In light of (10.2.3), it is enough to minimize

$$nx + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2}x^{-2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}x^{-1}.$$

Taking derivatives, setting to 0 and multiplying both sides by x^3 , one has

$$nx^{3} - \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}x - 3\zeta(3) = 0.$$
 (10.2.5)

Let X be the unique positive root. Then

$$X = \left(1 + o(1)\right) \sqrt[3]{\frac{3\zeta(3)}{n}}.$$
(10.2.6)

Also, it can be computed that (see §10.5 for a proof):

$$X^{-1} = \frac{1}{(3\zeta(3))^{1/3}} n^{\frac{1}{3}} - \frac{\zeta(2)}{18\zeta(3)} + \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{36(3\zeta(3))^{5/3}} n^{-\frac{1}{3}} + O(n^{-\frac{2}{3}}).$$
(10.2.7)

Recall that

$$r_D(n) = e^{nX} \int_{|y| \le \frac{1}{2}} f(X + 2\pi i y) e^{2\pi i n y} \, dy.$$

Let us split the integral into two pieces.

$$r_D(n) = e^{nX} \left(\int_{|y| \le X^{11/6}} + \int_{X^{11/6} \le |y| \le \frac{1}{2}} \right) f(X + 2\pi i y) e^{2\pi i n y} \, dy$$

=: $\mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2$. (10.2.8)

For convenience, we shall still write $\tau = X + 2\pi i y$.

10.2.3 The Main Term

Let us first compute the main term \mathcal{I}_1 . Note that when $|y| \leq X^{11/6}$, it follows from Part (i) of Theorem 10.2.1 that, as $n \to \infty$,

$$\log f(\tau) = \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2}\tau^{-2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\tau^{-1} - \frac{2\log 2}{3} + O(X^{1/2})$$

We have the expansions

$$\tau^{-2} = \frac{1}{X^2} - \frac{4\pi i y}{X^3} - \frac{12\pi^2 y^2}{X^4} + O(X^{1/2})$$
(10.2.9)

and

$$\tau^{-1} = \frac{1}{X} - \frac{2\pi i y}{X^2} - \frac{4\pi^2 y^2}{X^3} + O(X^{3/2}).$$
(10.2.10)

Hence,

$$\begin{split} f(\tau)e^{2\pi iny} &= \left(1+o(1)\right)2^{-2/3}\exp\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{2}\left(\frac{1}{X^2} - \frac{4\pi iy}{X^3} - \frac{12\pi^2 y^2}{X^4}\right)\right. \\ &\quad + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\left(\frac{1}{X} - \frac{2\pi iy}{X^2} - \frac{4\pi^2 y^2}{X^3}\right) + 2\pi iny\right) \\ &= \left(1+o(1)\right)2^{-2/3}\exp\left(\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right) - \left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{X^3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^2} - n\right)2\pi iy\right. \\ &\quad - \left(\frac{9\zeta(3)}{2X^4} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^3}\right)4\pi^2 y^2\right). \end{split}$$

It follows from (10.2.5) that

$$f(\tau)e^{2\pi iny} = \left(1 + o(1)\right)2^{-2/3}\exp\left(\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right) - \left(\frac{9\zeta(3)}{2X^4} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^3}\right)4\pi^2y^2\right).$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_1 &= e^{nX} \int_{|y| \le X^{11/6}} f(\tau) e^{2\pi i n y} \, dy \\ &= \left(1 + o(1)\right) 2^{-2/3} \exp\left(nX + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right) \\ &\times \int_{|y| \le X^{11/6}} \exp\left(-\left(\frac{9\zeta(3)}{2X^4} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^3}\right) 4\pi^2 y^2\right) \, dy. \end{aligned}$$

It follows from (10.2.5) and (10.2.7) that

$$\exp\left(nX + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X} + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right)$$
$$= \left(1 + o(1)\right) \exp\left(\frac{3^{4/3}\zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2}n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2 \cdot 3^{1/3}\zeta(3)^{1/3}}n^{1/3} - \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{72\zeta(3)}\right).$$

Further, making the change of variables $u = \kappa y$ with

$$\kappa = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{9\zeta(3)}{2X^4} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^3}},$$

one has

$$\int_{|y| \le X^{11/6}} \exp\left(-\left(\frac{9\zeta(3)}{2X^4} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X^3}\right) 4\pi^2 y^2\right) dy = \kappa^{-1} \int_{|u| \le \kappa X^{11/6}} e^{-u^2} du.$$
(10.2.11)

Note that $\kappa X^{11/6} \gg X^{-1/6} \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$ (so that $X \to 0$). Hence,

$$\int_{|u| \le \kappa X^{11/6}} e^{-u^2} du = \left(1 + o(1)\right) \sqrt{\pi}.$$
(10.2.12)

Moreover,

$$\kappa^{-1} = (1 + o(1)) 2^{-1/2} 3^{-1/3} \pi^{-1} \zeta(3)^{1/6} n^{-2/3}.$$

Hence,

$$\mathcal{I}_{1} = \left(1 + o(1)\right) 2^{-7/6} 3^{-1/3} \pi^{-1/2} \zeta(3)^{1/6} n^{-2/3} \\ \times \exp\left(\frac{3^{4/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2} n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2 \cdot 3^{1/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}} n^{1/3} - \frac{\zeta(2)^{2}}{72 \zeta(3)}\right).$$

10.2.4 The Error Term

The integral \mathcal{I}_2 contributes the error term. Note that for sufficiently large n, one has $X^{11/6} \leq X/2\pi \leq 1/2$. Now we separate $X^{11/6} \leq |y| \leq 1/2$ into two cases.

Case 1: $X^{11/6} \leq |y| \leq 1/2$ and $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \geq \pi/4$. Hence, $X/2\pi \leq |y| \leq 1/2$. We can see from the proof above that

$$e^{nX}f(X) \ll \exp\left(nX + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X}\right)$$
$$\ll \exp\left(\frac{3^{4/3}\zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2}n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2\cdot 3^{1/3}\zeta(3)^{1/3}}n^{1/3}\right).$$

Further, it follows from Part (ii) of Theorem 10.2.1 that

$$e^{nX} \int_{\frac{X}{2\pi} \le |y| \le \frac{1}{2}} f(\tau) e^{2\pi i ny} \, dy \ll e^{nX} f(X) e^{-\frac{1}{22X}}$$
$$\ll \exp\left(\frac{3^{4/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}}{2} n^{2/3} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2 \cdot 3^{1/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}} n^{1/3} - \frac{1 + o(1)}{22 \cdot 3^{1/3} \zeta(3)^{1/3}} n^{1/3}\right)$$
$$= o(\mathcal{I}_1).$$
Case 2: $X^{11/6} \leq |y| \leq 1/2$ and $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \leq \pi/4$. Hence, $X^{11/6} \leq |y| \leq X/2\pi$. It follows from the expansions (10.2.9) and (10.2.10) that there exist constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ such that

$$\Re(\tau^{-2}) \le X^{-2} - c_1 X^{-1/3}$$

and

$$\Re(\tau^{-1}) \le X^{-1} - c_2 X^{2/3}.$$

It follows from Part (i) of Theorem 10.2.1 that there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$|f(\tau)| \ll \exp\left(\frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X} - \frac{c}{X^{1/3}}\right).$$

Hence,

$$e^{nX} \int_{X^{11/6} \le |y| \le \frac{X}{2\pi}} f(\tau) e^{2\pi i n y} \, dy$$

$$\ll \exp\left(nX + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2X^2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2X} - \frac{c}{X^{1/3}}\right)$$

$$= o(\mathcal{I}_1),$$

where we use a similar argument to that in *Case 1*.

10.2.5 Remark on the Choice $X^{11/6}$

Let us briefly comment on why do we split the integral at $|y| = X^{11/6}$ in (10.2.8). Let us say the integral is split at $|y| = X^{\theta}$.

To obtain the truncated Gaussian integral in (10.2.11), one should expand τ^{-2} and τ^{-1} in (10.2.9) and (10.2.10) to the third term so that the error terms are o(1). We can compute that the two errors are, respectively, $O(y^3/X^5) = O(X^{3\theta-5})$ and $O(y^3/X^4) = O(X^{3\theta-4})$. Hence, one should have $3\theta - 5 > 0$ so that $\theta > 5/3$.

On the other hand, to ensure that (10.2.12) is true, one should have $\kappa X^{\theta} \to \infty$ as $X \to 0$. This indicates that $\theta - 2 < 0$ so that $\theta < 2$.

Hence, we merely need to choose θ in (5/3, 2).

10.3 Part (i) of Theorem 10.2.1

Recall that $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \leq \pi/4$.

10.3.1 Mellin Transform

It follows from (10.2.2) that

$$\log f(\tau) = \sum_{k \ge 1} (2k+1) \left(\log(1 - e^{-2k\tau}) - \log(1 - e^{-k\tau}) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k \ge 1} (2k+1) \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \left(\frac{e^{-k\ell\tau}}{\ell} - \frac{e^{-2k\ell\tau}}{\ell} \right).$$

Recall that the Mellin transform maps e^{-t} to the Gamma function $\Gamma(s)$, that is, for c > 0,

$$e^{-t} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \Gamma(s) t^{-s} \, ds.$$

Hence,

$$\log f(\tau) = \sum_{k \ge 1} (2k+1) \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{1}{\ell} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{3-i\infty}^{3+i\infty} \Gamma(s) \left((k\ell\tau)^{-s} - (2k\ell\tau)^{-s} \right) ds \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{3-i\infty}^{3+i\infty} \tau^{-s} (1-2^{-s}) \Gamma(s) \left(\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{1}{\ell^{s+1}} \right) \left(\sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{2k+1}{k^s} \right) ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{3-i\infty}^{3+i\infty} \tau^{-s} (1-2^{-s}) \Gamma(s) \zeta(s+1) \left(2\zeta(s-1) + \zeta(s) \right) ds.$$
(10.3.1)

Here we may interchange the integral and summations as $\Gamma(s)$ decays rapidly to 0 as we integrate up the line 3 + it and the summation over k and ℓ is absolutely convergent for s on this line.

Let us write

$$\Phi(s) := (1 - 2^{-s})\Gamma(s)\zeta(s+1) \Big(2\zeta(s-1) + \zeta(s) \Big).$$

10.3.2 Shifting the Path of Integration

Recall that a standard result on the Gamma function asserts that $|\Gamma(s)|$ dies away to 0 exponentially along any fixed vertical line. More precisely, for $s = \sigma + it$ with σ fixed, we have that, as $|t| \to \infty$,

$$|\Gamma(s)| = \exp\left(\left(-\frac{\pi}{2} + o(1)\right)|t|\right). \tag{10.3.2}$$

On the other hand, $|\zeta(s)|$ has at most polynomial growth on fixed vertical lines.¹

Note that $\Phi(s)$ has three poles s = 0, 1, and 2 in the stripe $-1/2 \leq \Re(s) \leq 3$. If we integrate $\tau^{-s}\Phi(s)$ over the rectangle with corners

$$3 - iT$$
, $3 + iT$, $-\frac{1}{2} + iT$, $-\frac{1}{2} - iT$,

the residue theorem tells us that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{3-iT}^{3+iT} + \int_{3+iT}^{-\frac{1}{2}+iT} + \int_{-\frac{1}{2}+iT}^{-\frac{1}{2}-iT} + \int_{-\frac{1}{2}-iT}^{3-iT} \right) \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) \, ds$$

= $\operatorname{Res}_{s=0} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=1} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=2} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s).$ (10.3.3)

Further, the two integrals

$$\int_{3+iT}^{-\frac{1}{2}+iT}$$
 and $\int_{-\frac{1}{2}-iT}^{3-iT}$

die away to 0 as $T \to \infty$, following from the growth rates of $\Gamma(s)$ and $\zeta(s)$ along vertical lines.

We now bound the integral

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\frac{1}{2}-i\infty}^{-\frac{1}{2}+i\infty} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) \, ds.$$

Recall that $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \leq \pi/4$. It follows from the relation $\tau = x + 2\pi i y$ that

 $|\tau| \le \sqrt{2}x.$

Hence, along the line $s = -\frac{1}{2} + it$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\tau^{-s}| &= |\exp(-s\log\tau)| \\ &= \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}|\tau| + t\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)\right) \end{aligned}$$

¹In fact, if we define $\mu(\sigma) := \inf \left\{ m \in \mathbb{R} : \zeta(\sigma + it) = O(|t|^m) \right\}$, then

$$\mu(\sigma) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } \sigma > 1, \\ \frac{1}{2}(1-\sigma) & \text{if } 0 \le \sigma \le 1, \\ \frac{1}{2}-\sigma & \text{if } \sigma < 0. \end{cases}$$

When $\sigma > 1$, it is trivial. When $\sigma < 0$, the result follows from the functional equation of the Riemann zeta function. When $0 \le \sigma \le 1$, the result can be deduced from the theorem of Phragmén–Lindelöf.

$$\leq |\tau|^{1/2} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{4}|t|\right).$$

It follows from (10.3.2) that

$$|\tau^{-s}\Gamma(s)| \le |\tau|^{1/2} \exp\left(\left(-\frac{\pi}{4} + o(1)\right)|t|\right).$$

Again, the $\exp(\cdot)$ factor above decreases to 0 exponentially as $|t| \to \infty$. It follows from the polynomial growth of the Riemann zeta function that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\frac{1}{2}-i\infty}^{-\frac{1}{2}+i\infty} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) \, ds \ll x^{1/2}.$$

It follows from (10.3.1) and (10.3.3) that

$$\log f(\tau) = \operatorname{Res}_{s=0} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=1} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=2} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) + O(x^{1/2}).$$
(10.3.4)

10.3.3 Residues

Let us compute the residues of $\Phi(s)$ at s = 0, 1, and 2. Recall that

$$\Phi(s) = (1 - 2^{-s})\Gamma(s)\zeta(s+1) \Big(2\zeta(s-1) + \zeta(s) \Big).$$

 $\Phi(s)$ has simple poles at s = 1 and 2. Hence,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{s=1} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) = \tau^{-1} (1 - 2^{-1}) \Gamma(1) \zeta(2) \operatorname{Res}_{s=1} \zeta(s)$$
$$= \frac{\zeta(2)}{2} \tau^{-1}$$

and

$$\operatorname{Res}_{s=2} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) = 2\tau^{-2} (1 - 2^{-2}) \Gamma(2) \zeta(3) \operatorname{Res}_{s=2} \zeta(s-1)$$
$$= \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2} \tau^{-2}.$$

For the pole at s = 0, we know that $1 - 2^{-s} = (\log 2)s + O(s^2)$, $\Gamma(s) = s^{-1} + O(1)$, and $\zeta(s+1) = s^{-1} + O(1)$. Hence,

$$\tau^{-s}\Phi(s) = \left(1 + O(s)\right) \left((\log 2)s + O(s^2)\right) \left(s^{-1} + O(1)\right)$$

×
$$(s^{-1} + O(1))((2\zeta(-1) + \zeta(0)) + O(s)),$$

so that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{s=0} \tau^{-s} \Phi(s) = \left(2\zeta(-1) + \zeta(0)\right) \log 2 = -\frac{2\log 2}{3}.$$

It follows from (10.3.4) that

$$\log f(\tau) = \frac{3\zeta(3)}{2}\tau^{-2} + \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}\tau^{-1} - \frac{2\log 2}{3} + O(x^{1/2}).$$

10.4 Part (ii) of Theorem 10.2.1

Recall that $\pi/4 \le |\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \le \pi/2$. We have also assumed that 0 < x < 1/2 and $|y| \le 1/2$. For convenience, let us put

$$a_k = \begin{cases} 2k+1 & \text{if } k \text{ is odd,} \\ k & \text{if } k \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

Note that $a_k \ge 1$ for all positive k. It follows from (10.2.2) that

$$f(\tau) = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{(1 - e^{-2k\tau})^{2k+1}}{(1 - e^{-k\tau})^{2k+1}} = \prod_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{(1 - e^{-k\tau})^{a_k}}.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} \log \frac{|f(\tau)|}{f(x)} &= \Re \Biggl(\sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \Bigl(\log(1 - e^{-kx}) - \log(1 - e^{-k\tau}) \Bigr) \Biggr) \Biggr) \\ &= \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{e^{-k\ell x}}{\ell} \Bigl(\cos(2\pi k\ell y) - 1 \Bigr) \\ &\leq \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k e^{-kx} \Bigl(\cos(2\pi ky) - 1 \Bigr) \\ &\leq \sum_{k \ge 1} e^{-kx} \Bigl(\cos(2\pi ky) - 1 \Bigr) \\ &= \Re \Biggl(\frac{e^{-\tau}}{1 - e^{-\tau}} \Biggr) - \frac{e^{-x}}{1 - e^{-x}} \\ &\leq \frac{e^{-x}}{|1 - e^{-\tau}|} - \frac{e^{-x}}{1 - e^{-x}}. \end{split}$$

Next, we observe that

$$|1 - e^{-\tau}| = \sqrt{1 - 2e^{-x}\cos(2\pi y) + e^{-2x}}.$$
(10.4.1)

Since $\pi/4 \leq |\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \leq \pi/2$ and $|y| \leq 1/2$, it follows that $x \leq |2\pi y| \leq \pi$. Hence for fixed x, the right-hand side of (10.4.1) is minimized when $2\pi y = \pm x$. That is,

$$|1 - e^{-\tau}| \ge \sqrt{1 - 2e^{-x}\cos(x) + e^{-2x}}.$$
(10.4.2)

Now we show that when 0 < x < 1/2,

$$1 - 2e^{-x}\cos(x) + e^{-2x} > 1.21(1 - e^{-x})^2.$$
(10.4.3)

This is equivalent to

$$0.21(e^{-2x}+1) - 2.42e^{-x} + 2e^{-x}\cos(x) < 0.$$
(10.4.4)

It suffices to show that the left-hand side of (10.4.4) is a decreasing function for $x \in (0, 1/2)$. Differentiating the left-hand side of (10.4.4), one has

$$2e^{-x} \left(1.21 - \sqrt{2}\sin(x + \pi/4) \right) - 0.42e^{-2x}$$

To show the above function is < 0, it suffices to check

$$0.21e^{-x} + \sqrt{2}\sin(x + \pi/4) > 1.21.$$
(10.4.5)

Noting that $e^{-x} > 1 - x$, we have

$$0.21e^{-x} + \sqrt{2}\sin(x + \pi/4) > 0.21(1 - x) + \sqrt{2}\sin(x + \pi/4) > 1.21.$$

The last inequality is true since $0.21(1-x) + \sqrt{2}\sin(x+\pi/4)$ is increasing for $x \in (0, 1/2)$.

It follows from (10.4.2) and (10.4.3) that, when 0 < x < 1/2,

$$|1 - e^{-\tau}| > 1.1(1 - e^{-x}).$$

It turns out that

$$\log \frac{|f(\tau)|}{f(x)} < -\frac{1}{11} \frac{e^{-x}}{1 - e^{-x}}.$$

It is not hard to verify that when 0 < x < 1/2,

$$\frac{e^{-x}}{1-e^{-x}} > \frac{1}{2x}.$$

Hence,

$$\log \frac{|f(\tau)|}{f(x)} < -\frac{1}{22x},$$

so that

$$|f(\tau)| < f(x)e^{-\frac{1}{22x}}$$

10.5 Expansion of X^{-1}

In this section, we give the expansion of X^{-1} . Recall from (10.2.5) that

$$aX^{-3} + bX^{-2} - n = 0, (10.5.1)$$

where

$$a = 3\zeta(3)$$
 and $b = \frac{\zeta(2)}{2}$.

Let us write

$$\mu = n^{-\frac{1}{3}}$$
 and $X^{-1} = a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\mu^{-1} + \xi.$

Then (10.5.1) becomes

$$a\left(a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\mu^{-1} + \xi\right)^3 + b\left(a^{-\frac{1}{3}}\mu^{-1} + \xi\right)^2 - \mu^{-3} = 0,$$

so that by multiplying by $a^{\frac{2}{3}}\mu^2$ on both sides, one has

$$a\xi \cdot \left(\left(1 + a^{\frac{1}{3}}\mu\xi \right)^2 + \left(1 + a^{\frac{1}{3}}\mu\xi \right) + 1 \right) + b\left(1 + a^{\frac{1}{3}}\mu\xi \right)^2 = 0.$$
 (10.5.2)

Now we may treat $\xi := \xi(\mu)$ as an implicit function of μ defined by (10.5.2). Note that

$$\xi(0) = -\frac{b}{3a} = -\frac{\zeta(2)}{18\zeta(3)}.$$

The implicit function theorem ensures that we may write $\xi(\mu)$ as a power series in μ in a neighborhood of $\mu = 0$. We compute that

$$\xi'(0) = \frac{b^2}{9a^{5/3}} = \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{36(3\zeta(3))^{5/3}}.$$

Hence,

$$\xi(\mu) = -\frac{\zeta(2)}{18\zeta(3)} + \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{36(3\zeta(3))^{5/3}}\mu + O(\mu^2)$$

so that as $n \to \infty$,

$$X^{-1} = \frac{1}{(3\zeta(3))^{1/3}} n^{\frac{1}{3}} - \frac{\zeta(2)}{18\zeta(3)} + \frac{\zeta(2)^2}{36(3\zeta(3))^{5/3}} n^{-\frac{1}{3}} + O(n^{-\frac{2}{3}}).$$

10.6 References

- [12] G. E. Andrews, *The theory of partitions*, Reprint of the 1976 original. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1998. xvi+255 pp.
- [33] R. Balasubramanian and F. Luca, On the number of factorizations of an integer, *Integers* 11 (2011), A12, 5 pp.
- [55] S. Chern, Note on the square-root partition into distinct parts, Ramanujan J. 54 (2021), no. 2, 449–461.
- [88] B. L. Granovsky and D. Stark, A Meinardus theorem with multiple singularities, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **314** (2012), no. 2, 329–350.
- [131] F. Luca and D. Ralaivaosaona, An explicit bound for the number of partitions into roots, J. Number Theory 169 (2016), 250–264.
- [134] G. Meinardus, Asymptotische aussagen über partitionen, Math. Z. 59 (1954), 388–398.

Chapter 11 The Method of Rademacher: Background and Preliminaries

This chapter comes from

- S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Number Theory 199 (2019), 168–191. (Ref. [53])
- S. Chern, S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, to appear in *Ramanujan J.* (Ref. [57])

In this series of three chapters, Rademacher's method on asymptotics will be investigated. We will utilize this method to deduce two general results, one of which concerns infinite products involving the Dedekind eta function and the other of which concerns infinite products involving the Jacobi theta function.

11.1 Introduction

It is, more or less, reasonable to say that the prospering circle method was born when Hardy and Ramanujan decided to study the asymptotics of the partition function p(n). By focusing on the asymptotics of the generating function $1/(q;q)_{\infty}$ near q = 1 inside the unit disc $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{C}$, Hardy and Ramanujan [96] showed that

$$p(n) \sim \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} n^{-1} e^{\frac{2\pi\sqrt{n}}{\sqrt{6}}}.$$
 (11.1.1)

A couple of decades later, Rademacher [143] stepped further and proved an exact series for p(n):

$$p(n) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}\pi} \sum_{k \ge 1} A_k(n)\sqrt{k} \ \frac{d}{dn} \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{n - \frac{1}{24}}} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{k}\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}\left(n - \frac{1}{24}\right)}\right)\right), \tag{11.1.2}$$

where

$$A_k(n) = \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{\pi i (s(h,k) - 2nh/k)}$$

with s(h,k) being the Dedekind sum defined by

$$s(d,c) := \sum_{n \bmod c} \left(\left(\frac{dn}{c} \right) \right) \left(\left(\frac{n}{c} \right) \right)$$
(11.1.3)

where

$$((x)) := \begin{cases} x - \lfloor x \rfloor - 1/2 & \text{if } x \notin \mathbb{Z}, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{Z}. \end{cases}$$

Rademacher's approach is straightforward in essence, however delicate in detail. The basic idea is merely Cauchy's integral formula, but we need various techniques including Ford circles, Farey sequences, modular symmetry and the Dedekind eta-function.

One natural generalization that would come up to one's mind is the following general family of holomorphic functions on the open unit disk \mathbb{D} :

$$G(q) = \sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \prod_{j=1}^{J} (q^{m_j}; q^{m_j})_{\infty}^{\delta_j}, \qquad (11.1.4)$$

where $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_J)$ is a sequence of J distinct positive integers and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_J)$ is a sequence of J non-zero integers. For some specific G(q), the interested readers may refer to the work of Grosswald [89], Iseki [102, 103], Hagis Jr. [92–94], O-Y. Chan [46] and many others. For general G(q) with $\sum_{r=1}^{R} \delta_r < 0$, the recent work of Sussman [166] presented a Rademacher-type formula. Sussman's result can in some sense be treated as a special case of the work of Bringmann and Ono [44], in which the coefficients of harmonic Maass forms are studied. On the other hand, Sills [162] provided an automatic algorithm when $\sum_{r=1}^{R} \delta_r = 0$. When $\sum_{r=1}^{R} \delta_r = 1$, a subclass of such G(q) was studied by B. Kim [112].

Another direction that might be of one's interest is about infinite products under symmetric congruence conditions:

$$G(q) = \sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \prod_{j=1}^J (q^{r_j}, q^{m_j - r_j}; q^{m_j})_{\infty}^{\delta_j},$$
(11.1.5)

where $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_J)$ and $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_J)$ are two sequences of J positive integers satisfying $1 \leq r_j < m_j$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, J$, and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_J)$ is a sequence of J nonzero integers. Regarding such infinite products, the most famous examples arise from the Rogers–Ramanujan identities (Rogers [156], Ramanujan [145]). Recall that the first Rogers–Ramanujan identity states that (cf. Corollary 7.67 in [12])

$$\frac{1}{(q,q^4;q^5)_{\infty}} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{q^{n^2}}{(q;q)_n}.$$

On the left-hand side, we have the generating function for partitions such that each part is congruent to ± 1 modulo 5. Let $p_{5,\pm 1}(n)$ be the number of such partitions of n. Its asymptotic formula was shown by Lehner [118]:

$$p_{5,\pm 1}(n) \sim \frac{\csc(\pi/5)}{4 \cdot 3^{1/4} \cdot 5^{1/4}} n^{-3/4} \exp\left(2\pi\sqrt{\frac{n}{15}}\right).$$
 (11.1.6)

The interested reader may also refer to Niven [136], Livingood [130], Petersson [140, 141], Subrahmanyasastri [165] and so forth for the asymptotic behaviors of other partition functions under symmetric congruence conditions. Next, the infinite product (11.1.5) may also be of number-theoretic interest. One example is the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction. Recall that the Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction has an infinite product form

$$\frac{q^{1/5}}{1} + \frac{q}{1} + \frac{q^2}{1} + \frac{q^3}{1} + \cdots = \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4 \\ q^2, q^3 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}.$$

Let us focus on the infinite product part and write

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} C(n)q^n = \begin{pmatrix} q, q^4\\ q^2, q^3 \end{pmatrix}_{\infty}.$$

It is known from Richmond and Szekeres [152] that

$$C(n) \sim \frac{2^{1/2}}{5^{3/4}} \cos\left(\frac{4\pi}{5}\left(n + \frac{3}{20}\right)\right) n^{-3/4} \exp\left(\frac{4\pi}{5}\sqrt{\frac{n}{5}}\right).$$
 (11.1.7)

Hence for sufficiently large n, C(5n + 0, 2) > 0 and C(5n + 1, 3, 4) < 0. We also remark that in [152], Richmond and Szekeres indeed studied the asymptotic behavior of the Taylor coefficients of the general infinite product

$$\prod_{j=1}^{m-1} (q^j; q^m)^{-\zeta\chi(j)}$$

where *m* is a positive fundamental discriminant, $\chi(j) = (m|j)$ is the Kronecker symbol and ζ is either 1 or -1. Finally, in recent years, there are a number of papers [4,21,99,133,167] studying vanishing Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products. For instance, Tang [167] showed that the Taylor coefficients of

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} B(n)q^n = (-q^2, -q^3; q^5)^2_{\infty}(q^2, q^8; q^{10})_{\infty} = \frac{(q^2, q^8; q^{10})_{\infty}(q^4; q^6; q^{10})^2_{\infty}}{(q^2, q^3; q^5)^2_{\infty}}$$

satisfy B(5n+1) = 0 for all $n \ge 0$. At the end of Tang's paper, he also provided numerical evidence of the inequalities B(5n+0,2,3) > 0 and B(5n+4) < 0 for sufficiently large n. Similar numerical evidences are also provided for inequalities of Taylor coefficients of other infinite products.

The aim of this series is to study the asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients in the infinite products (11.1.4) and (11.1.5). In this chapter, we will provide necessary preliminaries.

11.2 Dedekind Eta Function and Jacobi Theta Function

In this section, we introduce the Dedekind eta function and Jacobi theta function. All results here are standard, which can be found in, for example, [25] or [176].

Let $\tau \in \mathbb{H}$ and $\varsigma \in \mathbb{C}$. The Dedekind eta function is defined by

$$\eta(\tau) := q^{1/24}(q;q)_{\infty} \tag{11.2.1}$$

with $q := e^{2\pi i \tau}$. Further, the Jacobi theta function reads

$$\vartheta(\varsigma;\tau) := \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i \nu (\varsigma + \frac{1}{2}) + \pi i \nu^2 \tau}.$$
(11.2.2)

Notice that if we put $\zeta := e^{2\pi i \zeta}$, then the Jacobi triple product identity indicates that

$$\vartheta(\varsigma;\tau) = -iq^{1/8}\zeta^{-1/2}(\zeta,\zeta^{-1}q,q;q)_{\infty}.$$
(11.2.3)

The Dedekind eta function and Jacobi theta function are of broad interest due to their transformation properties. Let $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ where we assume that c > 0.

Recall that the Möbius transformation for $\tau \in \mathbb{H}$ is defined by

$$\gamma(\tau) := \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}.$$

Further, for the γ given above, we write for convenience

$$\gamma^*(\tau) := \frac{1}{c\tau + d}$$

If

$$\chi(\gamma) = \exp\left(\pi i \left(\frac{a+d}{12c} - s(d,c) - \frac{1}{4}\right)\right),\,$$

where, again, s(d, c) is the Dedekind sum, then

$$\eta(\gamma(\tau)) = \chi(\gamma)(c\tau + d)^{1/2}\eta(\tau)$$
(11.2.4)

and

$$\vartheta(\varsigma\gamma^*(\tau);\gamma(\tau)) = \chi(\gamma)^3 (c\tau + d)^{1/2} e^{\frac{\pi i c\varsigma^2}{c\tau + d}} \vartheta(\varsigma;\tau).$$
(11.2.5)

Further, let α and β be integers. The Jacobi theta function also satisfies

$$\vartheta(\varsigma + \alpha\tau + \beta; \tau) = (-1)^{\alpha + \beta} e^{-\pi i \alpha^2 \tau} e^{-2\pi i \alpha\varsigma} \vartheta(\varsigma; \tau).$$
(11.2.6)

11.3 Cauchy's Integral Formula and Farey Arcs

To study the asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of a holomorphic function G(q) inside the unit disk, we turn to the celebrated circle method due to Rademacher [143,144] whose idea originates from Hardy and Ramanujan [96]. We directly apply Cauchy's integral formula to deduce

$$g(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\mathcal{C}:|q|=r} \frac{G(q)}{q^{n+1}} dq,$$

where the contour integral is taken counter-clockwise. Now one puts $r = e^{-2\pi\varrho}$ with $\rho = 1/N^2$ where N is a sufficiently large positive integer.

The next task is to study the asymptotics of G(q) when q is close to a rational point $\exp(2\pi i h/k)$ on the unit circle. To do so, we dissect the circle \mathcal{C} by Farey arcs. Let h/k

with gcd(h, k) = 1 be a Farey fraction of order N.¹ If we denote by $\xi_{h,k}$ the interval $[-\theta'_{h,k}, \theta''_{h,k}]$ with $\theta'_{h,k}$ and $\theta''_{h,k}$ being the positive distances from h/k to its neighboring mediants, then \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} can be covered by intervals $\bigcup_{h,k} \xi_{h,k}$ where $0 \leq h < k \leq N$ and gcd(h, k) = 1. For each q on the circle C, we may find a Farey fraction h/k such that $\arg(q) = 2\pi(h/k + \phi)$ with $\phi \in \xi_{h,k}$. Thus, we have $q = e^{2\pi i (h/k + i\varrho + \phi)}$ and hence,

$$g(n) = \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} G\left(e^{2\pi i (h/k + i\varrho + \phi)}\right) e^{-2\pi i n\phi} e^{2\pi n\varrho} \, d\phi.$$

Let $z = k(\rho - i\phi)$. Making the change of variables $\tau = (h + iz)/k$ yields

$$g(n) = \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} G(e^{2\pi i \tau}) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi.$$
(11.3.1)

11.4 Choosing a Suitable Matrix in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$

Another task we should finish is to construct a suitable matrix in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ so that the infinite products (11.1.4) and (11.1.5) can be nicely reformulated around the Farey arc with respect to h/k through the transformation properties of the Dedekind eta function and Jacobi theta function.

Below we assume that $0 \le h < k$ are integers such that gcd(h, k) = 1. Let m be a positive integer.

Let $d = \gcd(m, k)$. For convenience, we write m = dm' and k = dk'. We put $\hbar_m(h, k)$ an integer such that

$$\hbar_m(h,k) \frac{mh}{\gcd(m,k)} \equiv -1 \pmod{\frac{k}{\gcd(m,k)}}.$$

Notice that one may always find such an integer since gcd(h,k) = 1. Let us put $b_{m'} = (\hbar_m(h,k)m'h+1)/k'$. It is straightforward to verify that the following matrix is in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$:

$$\gamma_{(m,h,k)} = \begin{pmatrix} \hbar_m(h,k) & -b_{m'} \\ k' & -m'h \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.1)

¹The *Farey sequence* of order N is the increasing sequence of irreducible fractions between 0 and 1 whose denominator is at most N. For example, $\{\frac{0}{1}, \frac{1}{6}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{5}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{5}, \frac{2}{3}, \frac{3}{4}, \frac{4}{5}, \frac{5}{6}, \frac{1}{1}\}$ is the Farey sequence of order 6.

Since $\tau = (h + iz)/k = (h + iz)/dk'$, one may compute

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) \\ &= \frac{\hbar_m(h,k) \cdot m\frac{h+iz}{dk'} - b_{m'}}{k' \cdot m\frac{h+iz}{dk'} - m'h} = \frac{\hbar_m(h,k)m'h + i\hbar_m(h,k)m'z - (\hbar_m(h,k)m'h + 1)}{m'hk' + ik'm'z - m'hk'} \\ &= \frac{\hbar_m(h,k)}{k'} + \frac{1}{m'k'z}i. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) = \frac{\hbar_m(h,k)\gcd(m,k)}{k} + \frac{\gcd^2(m,k)}{mkz}i.$$
 (11.4.2)

On the other hand, we have

$$\gamma^*_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) = \frac{1}{k' \cdot m\frac{h+iz}{dk'} - m'h} = -\frac{\gcd(m,k)}{mz}i$$

and hence for r < m,

$$r\tau\gamma^*_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) = \frac{r\gcd(m,k)}{mk} - \frac{rh\gcd(m,k)}{mkz}i.$$
 (11.4.3)

Further, if we put

$$\lambda_{m,r}(h,k) := \left[\frac{rh}{\gcd(m,k)} \right]$$

and

$$\lambda_{m,r}^*(h,k) := \lambda_{m,r}(h,k) - \frac{rh}{\gcd(m,k)},$$

then,

$$r\tau\gamma^*_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) = \frac{r\gcd(m,k)}{mk} + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\frac{\hbar_m(h,k)\gcd(m,k)}{k} + \lambda^*_{m,r}(h,k)\frac{\gcd^2(m,k)}{mkz}i.$$
 (11.4.4)

11.5 Some Auxiliary Results

11.5.1 Necessary Bounds

Now we are going to present some useful bounds.

First, it is well known (cf. Chapter 3 in [97]) that for a Farey fraction h/k of order

N, one has

$$\frac{1}{2kN} \le \theta'_{h,k}, \theta''_{h,k} \le \frac{1}{kN}.$$
(11.5.1)

Let $|\xi_{h,k}|$ be the length of the interval $\xi_{h,k}$. By noticing that $|\xi_{h,k}| = \theta'_{h,k} + \theta''_{h,k}$, one has

$$\frac{1}{kN} \le |\xi_{h,k}| \le \frac{2}{kN}.$$
(11.5.2)

Next, since $z = k(\rho - i\phi)$, it follows that

$$\Re(z) = k\varrho = \frac{k}{N^2}.$$
(11.5.3)

This implies that

$$|z| \ge \frac{k}{N^2}.\tag{11.5.4}$$

Further, one has

$$\Re\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) \ge \frac{k}{2} \tag{11.5.5}$$

since

$$\Re\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) = \frac{1}{k} \frac{\varrho}{\varrho^2 + \phi^2} \ge \frac{1}{k} \frac{N^{-2}}{N^{-4} + k^{-2}N^{-2}} = \frac{k}{k^2 N^{-2} + 1} \ge \frac{k}{1+1} = \frac{k}{2},$$

where we use the fact $k \leq N$ in the last inequality.

11.5.2 Some Partition-theoretic Results

In this section, η is a positive integer and δ is a nonzero integer. Let q be such that |q| < 1.

Let $p_{\eta}(n)$ denote the number of partition η -tuples of n. Then

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_{\eta}(n)q^n = \left(\frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}}\right)^{\eta}.$$

Further, if we write

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} d_{\eta}(n)q^n := (q;q)^{\eta}_{\infty},$$

an easy partition-theoretic argument indicates that $|d_{\eta}(n)| \leq p_{\eta}(n)$ for all $n \geq 0$. Also,

we have $d_{\eta}(0) = p_{\eta}(0) = 1$. In general, if we write

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} a_{\delta}(n)q^n := (q;q)_{\infty}^{\delta},$$

then

$$a_{\delta}(n) = \begin{cases} p_{|\delta|}(n) & \text{if } \delta < 0, \\ d_{|\delta|}(n) & \text{if } \delta > 0, \end{cases}$$

and hence $|a_{\delta}(n)| \leq p_{|\delta|}(n)$ for all $n \geq 0$. Trivially, we also have

$$\left| (q;q)_{\infty}^{\delta} \right| = \left| \sum_{n \ge 0} a_{\delta}(n) q^{n} \right|$$
$$\leq \sum_{n \ge 0} p_{|\delta|}(n) |q|^{n}.$$

Further, for real $0 \le x < 1$, we have

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} p_1(n)x^n = \frac{1}{(x;x)_{\infty}}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\sum_{k\geq 1}\log(1-x^k)\right)$$
$$\leq \exp\left(\frac{x}{(1-x)^2}\right).$$
(11.5.6)

Likewise, let $p_{\eta}^*(s, t; n)$ denote the number of 2-colored (say, red and blue) partition η -tuples of n with s parts in total colored by red and t parts in total colored by blue. Here we allow 0 as a part. Let ζ and ξ be such that $|\zeta| < 1$ and $|\xi| < 1$. The following infinite triple summation

$$\sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{\eta}^*(s,t;n) \zeta^s \xi^t q^n = \left(\frac{1}{(\zeta,\xi;q)_{\infty}}\right)^{\eta}$$

is absolutely convergent. Further, considering another absolutely convergent infinite triple summation

$$\sum_{n\geq 0}\sum_{s\geq 0}\sum_{t\geq 0}d^*_{\eta}(s,t;n)\zeta^s\xi^tq^n:=(\zeta,\xi;q)^{\eta}_{\infty},$$

we have that $(-1)^{s+t}d_{\eta}^*(s,t;n)$ denotes the number of 2-colored (again, red and blue) distinct partition (in which 0 is still allowed as a part) η -tuples of n with s parts in

total colored by red and t parts in total colored by blue. An easy partition-theoretic argument indicates that $|d_{\eta}^*(s,t;n)| \leq p_{\eta}^*(s,t;n)$ for all $s,t,n \geq 0$. Also, we have $d_{\eta}^*(0,0;0) = p_{\eta}^*(0,0;0) = 1$. In general, if we write

$$\sum_{n\geq 0}\sum_{s\geq 0}\sum_{t\geq 0}a_{\delta}(s,t;n)\zeta^{s}\xi^{t}q^{n}:=(\zeta,\xi;q)_{\infty}^{\delta},$$

then

$$a_{\delta}(s,t;n) = \begin{cases} p^*_{|\delta|}(s,t;n) & \text{if } \delta < 0, \\ d^*_{|\delta|}(s,t;n) & \text{if } \delta > 0, \end{cases}$$

and hence $|a_{\delta}(s,t;n)| \leq p^*_{|\delta|}(s,t;n)$ for all $s,t,n \geq 0$. We also have

$$\left| (\zeta,\xi;q)_{\infty}^{\delta} \right| = \left| \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{s\geq 0} \sum_{t\geq 0} a_{\delta}(s,t;n) \zeta^{s} \xi^{t} q^{n} \right|$$
$$\leq \sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{s\geq 0} \sum_{t\geq 0} p_{|\delta|}^{*}(s,t;n) |\zeta|^{s} |\xi|^{t} |q|^{n}.$$

Further, for real $0 \le \alpha, \beta, x < 1$, we have

$$\sum_{n\geq 0} \sum_{s\geq 0} \sum_{t\geq 0} p_1^*(s,t;n) \alpha^s \beta^t x^n = \frac{1}{(\alpha,\beta;x)_{\infty}}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\sum_{k\geq 0} \log(1-\alpha x^k) - \sum_{\ell\geq 0} \log(1-\beta x^\ell)\right)$$
$$\leq \exp\left(\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} + \frac{\alpha x}{(1-x)^2} + \frac{\beta}{1-\beta} + \frac{\beta x}{(1-x)^2}\right). \quad (11.5.7)$$

11.5.3 Evaluating an Integral

The last task in this chapter is to evaluate a useful integral.

Lemma 11.5.1. Let $a \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, $b \in \mathbb{R}$ and $c \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$. Let gcd(h, k) = 1. Define

$$I := \int_{\xi_{h,k}} e^{\frac{\pi}{12k} \left(\frac{a}{z} + bz\right)} z^c e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi.$$
(11.5.8)

Then, for those positive integers n with n > -b/24, we have

$$I = \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n+b}{a}\right)^{-\frac{c+1}{2}} I_{-c-1}\left(\frac{\pi}{6k}\sqrt{a(24n+b)}\right) + E(I), \qquad (11.5.9)$$

where

$$|E(I)| \le \frac{2^{-c} \pi^{-1} e^{\frac{\pi a}{3}} N^{-c}}{n + \frac{b}{24}} e^{2\pi \varrho \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)}.$$
(11.5.10)

Proof. We first put $w = z/k = \rho - i\phi$ and reverse the integral order to obtain

$$I = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\varrho - i\theta_{h,k}'}^{\varrho + i\theta_{h,k}'} 2\pi e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2w}} e^{2\pi w \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)} (kw)^c \ dw.$$

One may separate the integral into three parts

$$I = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{\Gamma} - \int_{-\infty - i\theta_{h,k}'}^{\varrho - i\theta_{h,k}'} + \int_{-\infty + i\theta_{h,k}}^{\varrho + i\theta_{h,k}'} \right) 2\pi e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2w}} e^{2\pi w \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)} (kw)^c \ dw$$

=: $J_1 - J_2 + J_3$,

where

$$\Gamma := (-\infty - i\theta_{h,k}'') \to (\varrho - i\theta_{h,k}'') \to (\varrho + i\theta_{h,k}') \to (-\infty + i\theta_{h,k}')$$

is a Hankel contour.

To compute the main term J_1 , we make the following change of variables $t = wk\sqrt{(24n+b)/a}$ to obtain

$$J_1 = \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n+b}{a}\right)^{-\frac{c+1}{2}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{\Gamma}} e^{\frac{\pi}{12k}\sqrt{a(24n+b)}\left(t+\frac{1}{t}\right)} t^c dt.$$

Note that the new contour $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is still a Hankel contour. Recalling the contour integral representation of $I_s(x)$:

$$I_s(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma} t^{-s-1} e^{\frac{x}{2}\left(t+\frac{1}{t}\right)} dt \quad (\Gamma \text{ is a Hankel contour}),$$

we conclude

$$J_{1} = \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n+b}{a}\right)^{-\frac{c+1}{2}} I_{-c-1}\left(\frac{\pi}{6k}\sqrt{a(24n+b)}\right).$$

For the error term E(I), which comes from J_2 and J_3 , we put $w = x + i\theta$ with $-\infty \leq x \leq \rho$ and $\theta \in \{\theta'_{h,k}, -\theta''_{h,k}\}$. We know that

$$\left|e^{2\pi w\left(n+\frac{b}{24}\right)}\right| = e^{2\pi x\left(n+\frac{b}{24}\right)},$$

$$\left|e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2w}}\right| = e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2}\Re\left(\frac{1}{w}\right)} = e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2}\frac{x}{x^2+\theta^2}} \le e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2}\frac{x}{\theta^2}} \le e^{\frac{\pi a}{12k^2}\varrho(2kN)^2} = e^{\frac{\pi a}{3}}$$

and

$$|(kw)^{c}| = \left(|kw|^{-1}\right)^{-c} \le \left(\frac{1}{k\sqrt{x^{2} + \theta^{2}}}\right)^{-c} \le \left(\frac{1}{k|\theta|}\right)^{-c} \le (2N)^{-c},$$

where we use the bound $\frac{1}{2kN} \leq |\theta| \leq \frac{1}{kN}$. Hence for j = 2 and 3, we have

$$|J_j| \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\varrho} 2\pi e^{\frac{\pi a}{3}} e^{2\pi x \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)} (2N)^{-c} dx$$
$$= \frac{2^{-c-1} \pi^{-1} e^{\frac{\pi a}{3}} N^{-c}}{n + \frac{b}{24}} e^{2\pi \varrho \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)}.$$

This implies that

$$|E(I)| = |-J_2 + J_3| \le |J_2| + |J_3| \le \frac{2^{-c} \pi^{-1} e^{\frac{\pi a}{3}} N^{-c}}{n + \frac{b}{24}} e^{2\pi \varrho \left(n + \frac{b}{24}\right)},$$

which gives (11.5.10).

11.6 References

- [4] K. Alladi and B. Gordon, Vanishing coefficients in the expansion of products of Rogers–Ramanujan type, in *Proc. Rademacher Centenary Conf.*, eds. G. E. Andrews and D. Bressoud, Contemporary Mathematics, Vol. 166 (American Mathematical Society, 1994), pp. 129–139.
- [21] G. E. Andrews and D. M. Bressoud, Vanishing coefficients in infinite product expansions, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 27 (1979), no. 2, 199–202.
- [25] T. M. Apostol, Modular functions and Dirichlet series in number theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 41, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. x+198 pp.
- [42] K. Bringmann, F. G. Garvan, and K. Mahlburg, Partition statistics and quasiharmonic Maass forms, *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* (2009), no. 1, Art. ID rnn124, 63–97.
- [44] K. Bringmann and K. Ono, Coefficients of harmonic Maass forms, in: Partitions, q-series, and modular forms, 23–38, Dev. Math., 23, Springer, New York, 2012.

- [46] O-Y. Chan, Some asymptotics for cranks, Acta Arith. **120** (2005), no. 2, 107–143.
- [53] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Number Theory 199 (2019), 168–191.
- [57] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, to appear in *Ramanujan J*.
- [89] E. Grosswald, Some theorems concerning partitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1958), 113–128.
- [92] P. Hagis Jr., Partitions into odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 85 (1963), 213–222.
- [93] P. Hagis Jr., On the partitions of an integer into distinct odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 87 (1965), 867–873.
- [94] P. Hagis Jr., Some theorems concerning partitions into odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966), 664–681.
- [96] G. H. Hardy and S. Ramanujan, Asymptotic formulae in combinatory analysis, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 17 (1918), 75–115.
- [97] G. H. Hardy and E. M. Wright, An introduction to the theory of numbers. Fifth edition, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1979. xvi+426 pp.
- [99] M. D. Hirschhorn, Two remarkable q-series expansions, Ramanujan J. 49 (2019), no. 2, 451–463.
- [102] S. Iseki, On some partition functions, J. Math. Soc. Japan 12 (1960), 81–88.
- [103] S. Iseki, Partitions in certain arithmetic progressions, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 243–264.
- [112] B. Kim, Periodicity of signs of Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 385 (2012), no. 2, 998–1004.
- [118] J. Lehner, A partition function connected with the modulus five, Duke Math. J. 8 (1941), 631–655.
- [130] J. Livingood, A partition function with the prime modulus P > 3, Amer. J. Math. 67 (1945), 194–208.

- [133] J. Mc Laughlin, Further results on vanishing coefficients in infinite product expansions, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 98 (2015), no. 1, 69–77.
- [136] I. Niven, On a certain partition function, Amer. J. Math. 62 (1940), 353–364.
- [140] H. Petersson, Über Modulfunktionen und Partitionenprobleme, Abh. Deutsch. Akad. VViss. Berlin. Kl. Math. Phys. Tech. Heft 2. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1954. 59 pp.
- [141] H. Petersson, Über die arithmetischen Eigenschaften eines Systems multiplikativer Modulfunktionen von Primzahlstufe, Acta Math. 95 (1956), 57–110.
- [143] H. Rademacher, On the partition function p(n), Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 43 (1937), no. 4, 241–254.
- [144] H. Rademacher, On the expansion of the partition function in a series, Ann. of Math. (2) 44 (1943), 416–422.
- [145] S. Ramanujan, Proof of certain identities in combinatory analysis [*Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.* 19 (1919), 214–216]. Collected papers of Srinivasa Ramanujan, 214–215, AMS Chelsea Publ., Providence, RI, 2000.
- [152] B. Richmond and G. Szekeres, The Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 40 (1978), no. 3-4, 347–369.
- [156] L. J. Rogers, Third memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 26 (1894/95), 15–32.
- [162] A. V. Sills, Towards an automation of the circle method, in: Gems in experimental mathematics, 321–338, Contemp. Math., 517, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010.
- [165] V. V. Subrahmanyasastri, Partitions with congruence conditions, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 36 (1972), 177–194.
- [166] E. Sussman, Rademacher series for η -quotients, *Preprint* (2017). Available at arXiv:1710.03415.
- [167] D. Tang, Vanishing coefficients in some q-series expansions, Int. J. Number Theory 15 (2019), no. 4, 763–773.
- [176] S. P. Zwegers, Mock theta functions, PhD thesis, Universiteit Utrecht, 2002.

Chapter 12 The Method of Rademacher: Dedekind Eta Products

This chapter comes from

- S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Number Theory 199 (2019), 168–191. (Ref. [53])
- S. Chern, D. Tang, and L. Wang, Some inequalities for Garvan's bicrank function of 2-colored partitions, *Acta Arith.* 190 (2019), no. 2, 171–191. (Ref. [67])

12.1 Main Result

We will study the asymptotics for

$$G(q) = \sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \prod_{j=1}^J (q^{m_j}; q^{m_j})_{\infty}^{\delta_j}, \qquad (12.1.1)$$

where $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_J)$ is a sequence of J distinct positive integers and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_J)$ is a sequence of J non-zero integers.

Let k and h be positive integers such that gcd(h, k) = 1. We define

$$\Sigma := -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j,$$
$$\Omega := \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j m_j,$$
$$\Pi_k := \prod_{j=1}^{J} \left(\frac{m_j}{\gcd(m_j, k)} \right)^{-\frac{\delta_j}{2}},$$

$$\Delta(k) := -\sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\delta_j \operatorname{gcd}^2(m_j, k)}{m_j}$$

and

$$\omega_{h,k} := \exp\left(-\pi i \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \cdot s\left(\frac{m_j h}{\gcd(m_j, k)}, \frac{k}{\gcd(m_j, k)}\right)\right), \qquad (12.1.2)$$

where s(d, c) is the Dedekind sum.

Let $L = \text{lcm}(m_1, \ldots, m_R)$. We divide the set $\{1, 2, \ldots, L\}$ into two disjoint subsets:

$$\mathcal{L}_{>0} := \{ 1 \le \ell \le L : \Delta(\ell) > 0 \}, \mathcal{L}_{\le 0} := \{ 1 \le \ell \le L : \Delta(\ell) \le 0 \}.$$

Our main result states as follows.

Theorem 12.1.1. If $\Sigma \leq 0$ and the inequality

$$\min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge \frac{\Delta(\ell)}{24}$$
(12.1.3)

holds for all $1 \leq \ell \leq L$, then for positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$g(n) = E(n) + 2\pi \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}}} \prod_{\ell} \left(\frac{24n + \Omega}{\Delta(\ell)} \right)^{-\frac{\Sigma+1}{2}} \times \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N^* \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \frac{1}{k} I_{-\Sigma-1} \left(\frac{\pi}{6k} \sqrt{\Delta(\ell)(24n + \Omega)} \right) \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k},$$
(12.1.4)

where

$$N^{\star} = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24} \right)} \right\rfloor, \qquad (12.1.5)$$

 $I_s(x)$ is the modified Bessel function of the first kind, and

$$E(n) \ll_{\mathbf{m},\delta} \Xi_{\Sigma}(n) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \Sigma = 0, \\ \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)^{1/4} & \text{if } \Sigma = -\frac{1}{2}, \\ \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)^{1/2} \log\left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right) & \text{if } \Sigma = -1, \\ \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)^{-\Sigma - 1/2} & \text{if } \Sigma \leq -\frac{3}{2}. \end{cases}$$
(12.1.6)

Remark 12.1.1. To better understand the asymptotic behavior of g(n), one may apply the asymptotic expansion of $I_s(x)$ (cf. [2, p. 377, (9.7.1)]): for fixed s, when $|\arg x| < \frac{\pi}{2}$,

$$I_s(x) \sim \frac{e^x}{\sqrt{2\pi x}} \left(1 - \frac{4s^2 - 1}{8x} + \frac{(4s^2 - 1)(4s^2 - 9)}{2!(8x)^2} - \cdots \right).$$
(12.1.7)

12.2 A Transformation Formula

Let us define

$$P(\tau) := \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}} = e^{\frac{\pi i \tau}{12}} \frac{1}{\eta(\tau)},$$
(12.2.1)

where $q := e^{2\pi i \tau}$. Let *m* be a positive integer. Hence,

$$P(m\tau) = e^{\frac{\pi i m \tau}{12}} \frac{1}{\eta(m\tau)}.$$

Recall that $d = \gcd(m, k)$, m = dm' and k = dk'. Recall also that $\tau = (h + iz)/k$. One has, from (11.2.4) with $\gamma = \gamma_{(m,h,k)}$ as in (11.4.1) and the fact s(-m'h, k') = -s(m'h, k'), that

$$P(m\tau) = e^{\frac{\pi i m\tau}{12}} \chi(\gamma_{(m,h,k)}) (\gamma_{(m,h,k)}^*(m\tau))^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{\eta(\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau))} = \sqrt{\frac{mz}{d}} e^{\pi i s(m'h,k')} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} \left(-mz + \frac{d^2}{m}\frac{1}{z}\right)\right) P(\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau)).$$

Consequently, we deduce the following transformation formula.

Lemma 12.2.1. We have

$$G(e^{2\pi i\tau}) = \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j}(m_j\tau)$$

= $z^{\Sigma} \omega_{h,k} \Pi_k \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}(\Omega z + \Delta(k)z^{-1})\right) \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j}(\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau)).$ (12.2.2)

12.3 Outline of the Proof

We know from (11.3.1) and (13.2.3) that

$$g(n) = \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} G\left(e^{2\pi i \tau}\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi$$

$$= \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k)=1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k} \Pi_k$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(k) z^{-1})\right) \prod_{j=1}^J P^{-\delta_j} (\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi.$$

Let us fix a Farey fraction h/k. We first find the integer $1 \le \ell \le L$ such that $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$. For convenience, we write $\rho(k) := \ell$. It is not hard to observe that for all $j = 1, 2, \ldots, J$,

$$gcd(m_j, k) = gcd(m_j, \ell).$$

It turns out that $\Delta(k) = \Delta(\ell)$ and $\Pi_k = \Pi_\ell$. We now split g(n) as follows.

$$g(n) = \sum_{1 \le \ell \le L} \prod_{\substack{\ell \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \text{ mod } L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\ell) z^{-1})\right) \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j} (\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi$$
$$=: \sum_{1 \le \ell \le L} S_{\ell}.$$

Define

$$\Xi_{\Sigma}^{*}(N) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \Sigma = 0, \\ N^{1/2} & \text{if } \Sigma = -\frac{1}{2}, \\ N \log N & \text{if } \Sigma = -1, \\ N^{-2\Sigma - 1} & \text{if } \Sigma \leq -\frac{3}{2}. \end{cases}$$
(12.3.1)

The minor arcs are those with respect to h/k with $\rho(k) \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$. We have the following bound.

Theorem 12.3.1. Let $\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$. If $\Sigma \leq 0$, then for positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$S_{\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} \Xi_{\Sigma}^{*}(N) \exp\left(\frac{2\pi}{N^{2}}\left(n+\frac{\Omega}{24}\right)\right).$$

In particular, if we take $N = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)} \right\rfloor$, then $S_{\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} \Xi_{\Sigma}(n)$.

The arcs with respect to h/k with $\rho(k) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$ give us the main contribution.

Theorem 12.3.2. Let $\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$. If $\Sigma \leq 0$ and the inequality

$$\min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge \frac{\Delta(\ell)}{24}$$
(12.3.2)

holds, then for positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$S_{\ell} = E_{\ell} + \prod_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \text{ mod } L \text{ gcd}(h,k) = 1}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k} \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n + \Omega}{\Delta(\ell)}\right)^{-\frac{\Sigma + 1}{2}} \times I_{-\Sigma - 1} \left(\frac{\pi}{6k} \sqrt{\Delta(\ell)(24n + \Omega)}\right),$$

where

$$E_{\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} \Xi_{\Sigma}^{*}(N) e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^{2}}(n+\frac{\Omega}{24})} + \frac{N^{-\Sigma+2} e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^{2}}\left(n+\frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n+\frac{\Omega}{24}}.$$

In particular, if we take $N = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)} \right\rfloor$, then $E_{\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} \Xi_{\Sigma}(n)$.

Theorems 12.3.1 and 12.3.2 immediately imply the main result.

12.4 Minor Arcs

Let $\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$, namely, $\Delta(\ell) \leq 0$. Notice that

$$\begin{aligned} |S_{\ell}| &\leq \Pi_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ g \neq d(h,k) = 1}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} |z|^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega \Re(z) + \Delta(\ell) \Re(z^{-1}))\right) \\ &\times \left| \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j} \left(\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau)\right) \right| e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi. \end{aligned}$$

We now consider the Farey arcs with respect to h/k with $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$. Since $\Delta(\ell) \leq 0$, it follows from (11.5.3) and (11.5.5) that

$$\begin{split} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}(\Omega\Re(z) + \Delta(\ell)\Re(z^{-1}))\right) &\leq \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}\left(\Omega\frac{k}{N^2} + \Delta(\ell)\frac{k}{2}\right)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\frac{\pi\varrho}{12}\right)\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\ell)}{24}\right). \end{split}$$

Also, it follows from (11.5.4) with the assumption $\Sigma \leq 0$ that

$$|z|^{\Sigma} \le k^{\Sigma} N^{-2\Sigma}.$$

Now we write for short $\tilde{\tau}_j = \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau)$. It follows from (11.4.2) that

$$\Im(\tilde{\tau}_j) = \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, k)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}) = \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}).$$

Then,

$$\prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j} \Big(\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) \Big) = \prod_{j=1}^{J} \frac{1}{(e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_j}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_j})_{\infty}^{-\delta_j}}.$$

As we have seen in §11.5.2,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{1}{\left(e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_j}; e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_j}\right)_{\infty}^{-\delta_j}} \right| &\leq \sum_{n\geq 0} p_{|\delta_j|}(n) |e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_j}|^n \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 0} p_{|\delta_j|}(n) e^{-2\pi \mathfrak{V}(\tilde{\tau}_j)n} \\ &= \sum_{n\geq 0} p_{|\delta_j|}(n) \exp\left(-2\pi \frac{\gcd^2(m_j,\ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1})n\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{n\geq 0} p_{|\delta_j|}(n) \exp\left(-\pi \frac{\gcd^2(m_j,\ell)}{m_j}n\right), \end{aligned}$$

where we use $\Re(z^{-1}) \ge k/2$. It follows from (11.5.7) that

$$\left|\frac{1}{\left(e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_{j}};e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_{j}}\right)_{\infty}^{-\delta_{j}}}\right| \ll 1.$$

Putting the above arguments together yields

$$S_{\ell} \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} k^{\Sigma} N^{-2\Sigma} e^{\frac{\pi \varrho \,\Omega}{12}} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi$$
$$\ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} k^{\Sigma - 1} N^{-2\Sigma - 1}$$
$$\ll \Xi_{\Sigma}^{*}(N) e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} = \Xi_{\Sigma}^{*}(N) e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^{2}} (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})}.$$

12.5 Major Arcs

Let $\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$, namely, $\Delta(\ell) > 0$. For convenience, we write $\tilde{\tau}_j(h, k) = \gamma_{(m_j, h, k)}(m_j \tau)$. Recall that

$$S_{\ell} = \prod_{\substack{l \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\ell) z^{-1})\right) \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j} (\tilde{\tau}_j(h,k)) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi.$$

We split $S_{\varkappa,\ell}$ into two parts Σ_1 and Σ_2 where

$$\Sigma_{1} := \Pi_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\ell) z^{-1})\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_2 &:= \Pi_\ell \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ g \operatorname{cd}(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k} \\ &\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\ell) z^{-1})\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^J P^{-\delta_j} (\tilde{\tau}_j(h,k)) - 1\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi. \end{split}$$

We first show that Σ_2 is negligible. Let us fix h and k and write $\tilde{\tau}_j = \tilde{\tau}_j(h, k)$. Then,

$$\begin{split} |\Sigma_{2}| &\leq \Pi_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} |z|^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega \Re(z) + \Delta(\ell) \Re(z^{-1}))\right) \\ &\times \left| \prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_{j}}(\tilde{\tau}_{j}) - 1 \right| e^{2\pi n\varrho} \, d\phi. \end{split}$$

As we have seen in \$11.5.2,

$$\left|\prod_{j=1}^{J} P^{-\delta_j}(\tilde{\tau}_j) - 1\right| = \left|\prod_{j=1}^{J} \frac{1}{\left(e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_j}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_j}\right)_{\infty}^{-\delta_j}} - 1\right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\mathbf{n}:=(n_{1},...,n_{J})\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j}) |e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_{j}}|^{n_{j}} - 1$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}\setminus(0,...,0)} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j}) |e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_{j}}|^{n_{j}}$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}\setminus(0,...,0)} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j}) e^{-2\pi \Im(\tilde{\tau}_{j})n_{j}}$$

$$= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}\setminus(0,...,0)} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j})\right) \exp\left(-2\pi \frac{\Re(z^{-1})}{k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j},\ell)}{m_{j}}n_{j}\right).$$

Hence,

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\ell)}{12k}z^{-1}\right)\left|P^{-\delta_{j}}\left(\tilde{\tau}_{j}\right)-1\right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq0}^{J}\setminus\{0,\dots,0\}}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{J}p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j})\right)\exp\left(-2\pi\frac{\Re(z^{-1})}{k}\left(-\frac{\Delta(\ell)}{24}+\sum_{j=1}^{J}\frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j},\ell)}{m_{j}}n_{j}\right)\right).$$

Since at least one coordinate of $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \dots, n_J)$ is nonzero, under the condition (12.3.2), we know that

$$-\frac{\Delta(\ell)}{24} + \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} n_j \ge -\frac{\Delta(\ell)}{24} + \min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge 0$$

for all $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J} \setminus (0, \dots, 0)$. Recalling that $\Re(z^{-1}) \geq k/2$, it follows that

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\ell)}{12k}z^{-1}\right)\left|P^{-\delta_j}\left(\tilde{\tau}_j\right) - 1\right|$$

is maximized when $\Re(z^{-1}) = k/2$. Namely,

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\ell)}{12k}z^{-1}\right)\left|P^{-\delta_{j}}\left(\tilde{\tau}_{j}\right)-1\right| \leq \exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\ell)}{12k}z^{-1}\right)\sum_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq0}^{J}\setminus\{0,\dots,0\}}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{J}p_{|\delta_{j}|}(n_{j})\right)\exp\left(-\pi\sum_{j=1}^{J}\frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j},\ell)}{m_{j}}n_{j}\right)\ll 1.$$

We conclude that

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_2 \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ p \gcd(h,k) = 1}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} k^{\Sigma} N^{-2\Sigma} e^{\frac{\pi \varrho \,\Omega}{12}} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi \\ \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ p \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} k^{\Sigma - 1} N^{-2\Sigma - 1} \\ \ll \Xi_{\Sigma}^*(N) e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} = \Xi_{\Sigma}^*(N) e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2} (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})}. \end{split}$$

Finally, we estimate the main contribution Σ_1 . Recall that

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_1 &:= \Pi_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k} \\ &\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} z^{\Sigma} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\ell) z^{-1})\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi \end{split}$$

We simply apply Lemma 11.5.1. The main contribution to Σ_1 is

$$\Pi_{\ell} \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L \gcd(h,k) = 1}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \omega_{h,k} \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n + \Omega}{\Delta(\ell)}\right)^{-\frac{\Sigma+1}{2}} I_{-\Sigma-1}\left(\frac{\pi}{6k} \sqrt{\Delta(\ell)(24n + \Omega)}\right).$$

The error term in Σ_1 is bounded by

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} \frac{N^{-\Sigma} e^{2\pi \varrho \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n + \frac{\Omega}{24}} \ll \frac{N^{-\Sigma + 2} e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2} \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n + \frac{\Omega}{24}}$$

12.6 An Application

As an application of Theorem 12.1.1, we show some inequalities for Garvan's bicrank function of 2-colored partitions.

A partition is called 2-colored if each part is receiving a color from the set of two prescribed colors. Let $p_{-2}(n)$ count the number of 2-colored partitions of n. Then,

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p_{-2}(n)q^n = \frac{1}{(q;q)_{\infty}^2}.$$

It is notable that $p_{-2}(n)$ also satisfies nice arithmetic properties. For example, Hammond

and Lewis [95] proved that

$$p_{-2}(5n+2) \equiv p_{-2}(5n+3) \equiv p_{-2}(5n+4) \equiv 0 \pmod{5}.$$
 (12.6.1)

To give a unified combinatorial proof of all three congruences in (12.6.1), in 2010, Garvan [81] introduced a bicrank function for 2-colored partitions (see [81] for the lengthy definition). Let $M^*(m, n)$ count the number of 2-colored partitions of n with bicrank m. Garvan showed that $M^*(m, n)$ has the following generating function (cf. [81, (6.17)]):

$$\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} M^*(m,n) z^m q^n = \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^2}{(zq, z^{-1}q, z^2q, z^{-2}q;q)_{\infty}},$$
(12.6.2)

from which he proved that, for any integer $n \ge 0$,

$$M^*(0,5,5n+2) = M^*(1,5,5n+2) = \dots = M^*(4,5,5n+2) = \frac{p_{-2}(5n+2)}{5},$$

$$M^*(0,5,5n+4) = M^*(1,5,5n+4) = \dots = M^*(4,5,5n+4) = \frac{p_{-2}(5n+4)}{5},$$

$$M^*(0,5,5n+3) \equiv M^*(1,5,5n+3) \equiv \dots \equiv M^*(4,5,5n+3) \pmod{5},$$

where $M^*(j, k, n) := \sum_{m \equiv j \pmod{k}} M^*(m, n)$ is the number of 2-colored partitions of n with bicrank congruent to j modulo k.

On the other hand, the following inequalities were shown by Andrews and Lewis [24].

Theorem 12.6.1 (Andrews–Lewis). For $n \ge 0$,

$$M(0,2,2n) > M(1,2,2n),$$
 $M(0,2,2n+1) < M(0,2,2n+1),$

where M(r, m, n) counts the number of partitions of n with crank congruent to r modulo m.

Along this line, it would be interesting to study sign patterns for the bicrank function. First, taking $z = \zeta_3 = e^{2\pi i/3}$ in (12.6.2) yields

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(M^*(0,3,n) - M^*(1,3,n) \right) q^n = \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^2}{(\zeta_3 q, \zeta_3^{-1} q, \zeta_3^2 q, \zeta_3^{-2} q;q)_{\infty}} = \frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^4}{(q^3;q^3)_{\infty}^2}.$$
(12.6.3)

For the infinite product in (12.6.3), we have, in the setting of (12.1.1), $\mathbf{m} = \{1, 3\}$

and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = \{4, -2\}$. Hence, L = 3 and $\mathcal{L}_{>0} = \{3\}$. Applying Theorem 12.1.1 yields an asymptotic formula as follows.

Theorem 12.6.2. *For* $n \ge 1$ *,*

$$M^*(0,3,n) - M^*(1,3,n) \sim c(n) I_0\left(\frac{2\pi\sqrt{n-1/12}}{3\sqrt{3}}\right),$$
 (12.6.4)

where

$$c(n) = \begin{cases} \frac{4\pi}{3} \cos \frac{2\pi}{9} & \text{if } n \equiv 0 \pmod{3}, \\ -\frac{4\pi}{3} \cos \frac{\pi}{9} & \text{if } n \equiv 1 \pmod{3}, \\ \frac{4\pi}{3} \sin \frac{\pi}{18} & \text{if } n \equiv 2 \pmod{3}. \end{cases}$$

Remark 12.6.1. If one treats the error term E(n) more carefully, it can be shown that E(n) is able to be bounded explicitly:

$$\begin{split} |E(n)| &\leq 173.1 \, \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} \, \left(\log \sqrt{2\pi \left(n - \frac{1}{12}\right)} + 1 \right) + 74.3 \, \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} \\ &+ 2.8 \, \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} \, \exp \left(\frac{\pi \sqrt{n - 1/12}}{3\sqrt{3}} \right). \end{split}$$

See [67] for details. It turns out through a short computation that the sign of $M^*(0,3,n) - M^*(1,3,n)$ is determined by the main term (and hence by c(n)) when $n \ge 114$. We therefor deduce the following inequalities.

Theorem 12.6.3. For $n \ge 0$,

$$M^*(0,3,n) > M^*(1,3,n) \qquad if \ n \equiv 0, \ 2 \pmod{3},$$
$$M^*(0,3,n) < M^*(1,3,n) \qquad if \ n \equiv 1 \pmod{3},$$

except for n = 5.

Likewise, taking z = i in (12.6.2) yields

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(M^*(0,4,n) - M^*(2,4,n) \right) q^n$$

$$=\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^{2}}{(iq,-iq,-q,-q;q)_{\infty}}=\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^{2}}{(-q^{2};q^{2})_{\infty}(-q;q)_{\infty}^{2}}=\frac{(q;q)_{\infty}^{4}}{(q^{2};q^{2})_{\infty}(q^{4};q^{4})_{\infty}}.$$
 (12.6.5)

Analogously, we deduce an asymptotic formula for $M^*(0,4,n) - M^*(2,4,n)$.

Theorem 12.6.4. *For* $n \ge 1$ *,*

$$M^{*}(0,4,n) - M^{*}(2,4,n) = c_{1}(n) I_{0}\left(\frac{\pi\sqrt{n-1/12}}{2\sqrt{3}}\right) + c_{2}(n) I_{0}\left(\frac{\pi\sqrt{n-1/12}}{4\sqrt{3}}\right) + E(n), \qquad (12.6.6)$$

where

$$c_{1}(n) = \begin{cases} -\pi & if \ n \equiv 1 \pmod{4}, \\ \pi & if \ n \equiv 3 \pmod{4}, \\ 0 & otherwise, \end{cases} \quad c_{2}(n) = \begin{cases} \pi \sin \frac{\pi}{8} & if \ n \equiv 0 \pmod{8}, \\ \pi \cos \frac{\pi}{8} & if \ n \equiv 2 \pmod{8}, \\ -\pi \sin \frac{\pi}{8} & if \ n \equiv 4 \pmod{8}, \\ -\pi \cos \frac{\pi}{8} & if \ n \equiv 6 \pmod{8}, \\ 0 & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

and

$$|E(n)| \le 224.2 \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} \left(\log \sqrt{2\pi \left(n - \frac{1}{12}\right)} + 1 \right) + 55.6 \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} + 2.4 \sqrt{n - \frac{1}{12}} \exp \left(\frac{\pi \sqrt{n - 1/12}}{6\sqrt{3}}\right).$$

We also deduce from a short computation that the sign of $M^*(0, 4, n) - M^*(2, 4, n)$ is determined by the main term when $n \ge 2160$. The following inequalities therefore hold.

Theorem 12.6.5. *For* $n \ge 0$ *,*

$$M^*(0,4,n) > M^*(2,4,n) \qquad if \ n \equiv 0, \ 2, \ 3, \ 7 \pmod{8},$$
$$M^*(0,4,n) < M^*(2,4,n) \qquad if \ n \equiv 1, \ 4, \ 5, \ 6 \pmod{8},$$

except for n = 4 and 20.

12.7 References

- [2] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun (eds.), Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, United States Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, 10th printing, 1972.
- [24] G. E. Andrews and R. Lewis, The ranks and cranks of partitions moduli 2, 3, and 4, J. Number Theory 85 (2000), no. 1, 74–84.
- [53] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Number Theory 199 (2019), 168–191.
- [67] S. Chern, D. Tang, and L. Wang, Some inequalities for Garvan's bicrank function of 2-colored partitions, Acta Arith. 190 (2019), no. 2, 171–191.
- [81] F. G. Garvan, Biranks for partitions into 2 colors, Ramanujan rediscovered, 87–111, Ramanujan Math. Soc. Lect. Notes Ser., 14, Ramanujan Math. Soc., Mysore, 2010.
- [95] P. Hammond and R. Lewis, Congruences in ordered pairs of partitions, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 45-48 (2004), 2509–2512.

Chapter 13 The Method of Rademacher: Jacobi Theta Products

This chapter comes from

• S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, to appear in *Ramanujan J.* (Ref. [57])

13.1 Main Result

We will study the asymptotics for

$$G(q) = \sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \prod_{j=1}^J (q^{r_j}, q^{m_j - r_j}; q^{m_j})_{\infty}^{\delta_j},$$
(13.1.1)

where $\mathbf{m} = (m_1, \ldots, m_J)$ and $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_J)$ are two sequences of J positive integers satisfying $1 \leq r_j < m_j$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, J$, and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = (\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_J)$ is a sequence of Jnonzero integers.

Recall that we have defined in §11.4 that for $0 \le h < k$ with gcd(h, k) = 1,

$$\lambda_{m,r}(h,k) := \left\lceil \frac{rh}{\gcd(m,k)} \right\rceil$$

and

$$\lambda_{m,r}^*(h,k) := \lambda_{m,r}(h,k) - \frac{rh}{\gcd(m,k)}.$$

Also, $\hbar_m(h,k)$ is an integer such that

$$\hbar_m(h,k) \frac{mh}{\operatorname{gcd}(m,k)} \equiv -1 \pmod{\frac{k}{\operatorname{gcd}(m,k)}}.$$
Next, we define

Next, we define

$$\Omega := \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \left(2m_j - 12r_j + \frac{12r_j^2}{m_j} \right),$$

$$\Delta(h,k) := -\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \left(\frac{2 \gcd^2(m_j,k)}{m_j} + \frac{12 \gcd^2(m_j,k)}{m_j} (\lambda_{m_j,r_j}^{*2}(h,k) - \lambda_{m_j,r_j}^{*}(h,k)) \right)$$

and

$$\omega_{h,k} := \exp\left(-\pi i \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \cdot s\left(\frac{m_j h}{\gcd(m_j, k)}, \frac{k}{\gcd(m_j, k)}\right)\right), \qquad (13.1.2)$$

where s(d, c) is the Dedekind sum. We also define

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{A}_{h,k} &:= \exp\left(\pi i \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \left(\frac{r_j h}{k} - \frac{r_j \operatorname{gcd}(m_j, k)}{m_j k} + \frac{2r_j \operatorname{gcd}(m_j, k) \lambda_{m_j, r_j}^*(h, k)}{m_j k} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\hbar_{m_j}(h, k) \operatorname{gcd}(m_j, k)}{k} (\lambda_{m_j, r_j}^2(h, k) - \lambda_{m_j, r_j}(h, k)) \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

One readily verifies that the choice of $\hbar_m(h,k)$ does not affect the value of $\square_{h,k}$. At last, we define

$$\Pi_{h,k} := \begin{cases} \prod_{j:\lambda_{m_j,r_j}^*(h,k)=0} \left(1 - \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_j \operatorname{gcd}(m_j,k) + r_j \hbar_{m_j}(h,k)m_j h}{m_j k}\right)\right)^{\delta_j} \\ & \text{if there exists } j \text{ such that } \lambda_{m_j,r_j}^*(h,k) = 0, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Remark 13.3.1 tells us that the choice of $\hbar_m(h,k)$ also does not affect the value of $\Pi_{h,k}$. Also, Proposition 13.3.3 indicates that for any j with $\lambda^*_{m_j,r_j}(h,k) = 0$, we have

$$1 - \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_j \operatorname{gcd}(m_j, k) + r_j \hbar_{m_j}(h, k) m_j h}{m_j k}\right) \neq 0.$$

Hence the value $\Pi_{h,k}$ is well-defined and $\Pi_{h,k} \neq 0$.

Given a real $0 \le x < 1$, we define

$$\Upsilon(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0, \\ x & \text{if } 0 < x \le 1/2, \\ 1 - x & \text{if } 1/2 < x < 1. \end{cases}$$

Let $L = \text{lcm}(m_1, \ldots, m_R)$. We define two disjoint sets:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{>0} &:= \{ (\varkappa, \ell) \ : \ 1 \leq \ell \leq L, \ 0 \leq \varkappa < \ell, \ \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) > 0 \}, \\ \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0} &:= \{ (\varkappa, \ell) \ : \ 1 \leq \ell \leq L, \ 0 \leq \varkappa < \ell, \ \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) \leq 0 \}. \end{split}$$

Our main result states as follows.

Theorem 13.1.1. If the inequality

$$\min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\Upsilon \left(\lambda_{m_j, r_j}^*(\varkappa, \ell) \right) \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge \frac{\Delta(\varkappa, \ell)}{24}$$
(13.1.3)

holds for all $1 \leq \ell \leq L$ and $0 \leq \varkappa < \ell$, then for positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$g(n) = E(n) + 2\pi i^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \ell \le L \ 0 \le \varkappa < \ell \\ (\varkappa,\ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N^* \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \left(\frac{24n + \Omega}{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \times \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N^* \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} \frac{1}{k} I_{-1} \left(\frac{\pi}{6k} \sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)(24n + \Omega)} \right) \times \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N^* \\ k \equiv \ell \bmod L}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k}, \quad (13.1.4)$$

where

$$N^{\star} = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)} \right\rfloor, \tag{13.1.5}$$

 $I_s(x)$ is the modified Bessel function of the first kind, and

$$E(n) \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} 1. \tag{13.1.6}$$

Remark 13.1.1. To better understand the asymptotic behavior of g(n), one may again apply the asymptotic expansion of $I_s(x)$ (cf. [2, p. 377, (9.7.1)]): for fixed s, when $|\arg x| < \frac{\pi}{2},$

$$I_s(x) \sim \frac{e^x}{\sqrt{2\pi x}} \left(1 - \frac{4s^2 - 1}{8x} + \frac{(4s^2 - 1)(4s^2 - 9)}{2!(8x)^2} - \cdots \right).$$
(13.1.7)

13.2 A Transformation Formula

Let us define

$$\mathcal{K}(\varsigma;\tau) := (\zeta, \zeta^{-1}q; q)_{\infty}, \qquad (13.2.1)$$

where $q := e^{2\pi i \tau}$ and $\zeta := e^{2\pi i \varsigma}$. It follows from (11.2.3) that

$$\mathcal{K}(\varsigma;\tau) = i e^{-\frac{\pi i \tau}{6}} e^{\pi i \varsigma} \frac{\vartheta(\varsigma;\tau)}{\eta(\tau)}.$$
(13.2.2)

Let r < m be positive integers. Hence,

$$\mathcal{K}(r\tau;m\tau) = ie^{-\frac{\pi im\tau}{6}}e^{\pi ir\tau}\frac{\vartheta(r\tau;m\tau)}{\eta(m\tau)}.$$

Recall that $d = \gcd(m, k)$, m = dm' and k = dk'. Recall also that $\tau = (h + iz)/k$. One has, from (11.2.4), (11.2.5), (11.2.6) with $\gamma = \gamma_{(m,h,k)}$ as in (11.4.1) and the fact s(-m'h,k') = -s(m'h,k'), that

$$\times \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}\left(\left(2m-12r+\frac{12r^2}{m}\right)z\right) - \left(\frac{2d^2}{m} + \frac{12d^2}{m}(\lambda_{m,r}^{*2}(h,k) - \lambda_{m,r}^{*}(h,k))\right)\frac{1}{z}\right) \right)$$
$$\times \operatorname{K}\left(r\tau\gamma_{(m,h,k)}^{*}(m\tau) + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau);\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau)\right).$$

Consequently, we deduce the following transformation formula.

Lemma 13.2.1. We have

$$G(e^{2\pi i\tau}) = \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_j}(r_j\tau; m_j\tau)$$

= $i^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j, r_j}(h, k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \ \mathcal{I}_{h,k}$
 $\times \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(h, k) z^{-1})\right)$
 $\times \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_j} \left(r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau) + \lambda_{m_j, r_j}(h, k) \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau); \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j\tau)\right).$ (13.2.3)

Remark 13.2.1. It follows from (11.4.4) that for all $j = 1, 2, \ldots, J$,

$$0 \leq \Im \Big(r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k) \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) \Big) < \Im \Big(\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) \Big).$$

13.3 Outline of the Proof

We know from (11.3.1) and (13.2.3) that

$$\begin{split} g(n) &= \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} G\left(e^{2\pi i \tau}\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi \\ &= i^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j} \sum_{1 \le k \le N} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \, \mathcal{I}_{h,k} \\ &\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(h,k) z^{-1})\right) \\ &\times \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{M}^{\delta_j} \left(r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k) \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau); \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)\right) \\ &\times e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi. \end{split}$$

Let us fix a Farey fraction h/k. We first find integers $1 \le \ell \le L$ and $0 \le \varkappa < \ell$ such that $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$ and $h \equiv \varkappa \pmod{\ell}$. For convenience, we write $\rho(h, k) := (\varkappa, \ell)$. It is not hard to observe that for all j = 1, 2, ..., J,

$$gcd(m_j, k) = gcd(m_j, \ell)$$
 and $\lambda^*_{m_j, r_j}(h, k) = \lambda^*_{m_j, r_j}(\varkappa, \ell)$

It turns out that $\Delta(h,k) = \Delta(\varkappa,\ell)$. We now split g(n) as follows.

$$g(n) = i^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j} \sum_{1 \le \ell \le L} \sum_{\substack{0 \le \varkappa < \ell \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}}$$

$$\times (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \prod_{h,k}$$

$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) z^{-1})\right)$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{M}^{\delta_j} \left(r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k) \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau); \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)\right)$$

$$\times e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi$$

$$=: i^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j} \sum_{1 \le \ell \le L} \sum_{0 \le \varkappa < \ell} S_{\varkappa,\ell}.$$

The minor arcs are those with respect to h/k with $\rho(h,k) \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$. We have the following bound.

Theorem 13.3.1. Let $(\varkappa, \ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$. For positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$S_{\varkappa,\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} \exp\left(\frac{2\pi}{N^2}\left(n+\frac{\Omega}{24}\right)\right).$$

In particular, if we take $N = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)} \right\rfloor$, then $S_{\varkappa,\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} 1$.

The arcs with respect to h/k with $\rho(h,k) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$ give us the main contribution.

Theorem 13.3.2. Let $(\varkappa, \ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$. If the inequality

$$\min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\Upsilon \left(\lambda_{m_j, r_j}^*(\varkappa, \ell) \right) \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge \frac{\Delta(\varkappa, \ell)}{24}$$
(13.3.1)

holds, then for positive integers $n > -\Omega/24$, we have

$$S_{\varkappa,\ell} = E_{\varkappa,\ell} + \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \square_{h,k} \Pi_{h,k}$$
$$\times \frac{2\pi}{k} \left(\frac{24n + \Omega}{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} I_{-1} \left(\frac{\pi}{6k} \sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)(24n + \Omega)}\right),$$

where

$$E_{\varkappa,\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\boldsymbol{\delta}} e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2}(n+\frac{\Omega}{24})} + \frac{N^2 e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2}\left(n+\frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n+\frac{\Omega}{24}}$$

In particular, if we take $N = \left\lfloor \sqrt{2\pi \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)} \right\rfloor$, then $E_{\varkappa,\ell} \ll_{\mathbf{m},\mathbf{r},\mathbf{\delta}} 1$.

Theorems 13.3.1 and 13.3.2 immediately imply the main result. Before presenting proofs of the two results respectively in §§13.4 and 13.5, we make the following preparations.

For fixed \varkappa and ℓ with $1 \leq \ell \leq L$ and $0 \leq \varkappa < \ell$, one may split the indices $\{1, 2, \ldots, J\}$ into two disjoint parts:

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varkappa,\ell}^* = \{j_1^*, \dots, j_{\alpha}^*\} \text{ and } \mathcal{J}_{\varkappa,\ell}^{**} = \{j_1^{**}, \dots, j_{\beta}^{**}\},\$$

so that for $j^* \in \mathcal{J}^*_{\varkappa,\ell}$ we have $\lambda^*_{m_{j^*},r_{j^*}}(\varkappa,\ell) = 0$ and for $j^{**} \in \mathcal{J}^{**}_{\varkappa,\ell}$ we have $\lambda^*_{m_{j^{**}},r_{j^{**}}}(\varkappa,\ell) \neq 0$.

Proposition 13.3.3. Let $j^* \in \mathcal{J}^*_{\varkappa,\ell}$. For any Farey fraction h/k such that $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$ and $h \equiv \varkappa \pmod{\ell}$, we have that

$$r_{j^{*}}\tau\gamma_{(m_{j^{*}},h,k)}^{*}(m_{j^{*}}\tau) + \lambda_{m_{j^{*}},r_{j^{*}}}(h,k)\gamma_{(m_{j^{*}},h,k)}(m_{j^{*}}\tau)$$

$$= \frac{r_{j^{*}}\gcd(m_{j^{*}},k) + r_{j^{*}}\hbar_{m_{j^{*}}}(h,k)m_{j^{*}}h}{m_{j^{*}}k}$$
(13.3.2)

is a real noninteger. Further,

$$\left|1 - e^{\frac{2\pi i}{m_{j^*}}}\right| \le \left|1 - e^{2\pi i \left(r_{j^*} \tau \gamma^*_{(m_{j^*},h,k)}(m_{j^*} \tau) + \lambda_{m_{j^*},r_{j^*}}(h,k)\gamma_{(m_{j^*},h,k)}(m_{j^*} \tau)\right)}\right| \le 2.$$
(13.3.3)

Proof. In this proof, we write for short $m = m_{j^*}$ and $r = r_{j^*}$. We also write $d = \gcd(m, k)$, m = dm' and k = dk'. Since $j^* \in \mathcal{J}^*_{\varkappa,\ell}$, we have $\lambda^*_{m,r}(h,k) = \lambda^*_{m,r}(\varkappa,\ell) = 0$. Hence d

divides rh and $\lambda_{m,r}(h,k) = rh/d$. We know from (11.4.4) that

$$\begin{aligned} r\tau\gamma^*_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) &+ \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) \\ &= \frac{rd}{mk} + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\frac{\hbar_m(h,k)d}{k} + \lambda^*_{m,r}(h,k)\frac{d^2}{mkz}i \\ &= \frac{rd}{mk} + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\frac{\hbar_m(h,k)d}{k} \\ &= \frac{rd}{mk} + \frac{rh}{d}\frac{\hbar_m(h,k)d}{k} \\ &= \frac{r(1+\hbar_m(h,k)m'h)}{m'k} \\ &= \frac{b_{m'}r}{m} = \frac{b_{m'}}{m'}\frac{r}{d}, \end{aligned}$$

where as in §11.4, we have put $b_{m'} = (\hbar_m(h,k)m'h+1)/k'$. Hence it is a real number.

Notice that $d = \gcd(m, k)$. Since $\gcd(h, k) = 1$, $d \mid rh$ implies that $d \mid r$. Further, $b_{m'} = (\hbar_m(h, k)m'h + 1)/k'$ implies that $\gcd(m', b_{m'}) = 1$. Hence, if $\frac{b_{m'}}{m'} \frac{r}{d}$ is an integer, then $m' \mid \frac{r}{d}$ so that $m = dm' \mid r$. This violates the assumption that $1 \leq r \leq m - 1$. Hence $r\tau\gamma^*_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau) + \lambda_{m,r}(h,k)\gamma_{(m,h,k)}(m\tau)$ is not an integer and (13.3.3) follows immediately.

Remark 13.3.1. Recall that $\hbar_m(h,k)$ is defined to be an integer such that

$$\hbar_m(h,k) \frac{mh}{\operatorname{gcd}(m,k)} \equiv -1 \pmod{\frac{k}{\operatorname{gcd}(m,k)}}.$$

Let n be an integer. It turns out that

$$\exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_{j^*} \operatorname{gcd}(m_{j^*}, k) + r_{j^*} \left(\hbar_{m_{j^*}}(h, k) + n \frac{k}{\operatorname{gcd}(m_{j^*}, k)}\right) m_{j^*} h}{m_{j^*} k}\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_{j^*} \operatorname{gcd}(m_{j^*}, k) + r_{j^*} \hbar_{m_{j^*}}(h, k) m_{j^*} h}{m_{j^*} k} + 2n\pi i \frac{r_{j^*} h}{\operatorname{gcd}(m_{j^*}, k)}\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_{j^*} \operatorname{gcd}(m_{j^*}, k) + r_{j^*} \hbar_{m_{j^*}}(h, k) m_{j^*} h}{m_{j^*} k}\right),$$

since from the above proof we have $gcd(m_{j^*}, k) | r_{j^*}$. Hence the choice of $\hbar_{m_{j^*}}(h, k)$ does

not affect the value of

$$\exp\left(2\pi i \left(r_{j^{*}}\tau \gamma_{(m_{j^{*}},h,k)}^{*}(m_{j^{*}}\tau) + \lambda_{m_{j^{*}},r_{j^{*}}}(h,k)\gamma_{(m_{j^{*}},h,k)}(m_{j^{*}}\tau)\right)\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(2\pi i \frac{r_{j^{*}}\gcd(m_{j^{*}},k) + r_{j^{*}}\hbar_{m_{j^{*}}}(h,k)m_{j^{*}}h}{m_{j^{*}}k}\right).$$

13.4 Minor Arcs

Let $(\varkappa, \ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{\leq 0}$, namely, $\Delta(\varkappa, \ell) \leq 0$. We write $\mathcal{J}^* = \mathcal{J}^*_{\varkappa, \ell}$ and $\mathcal{J}^{**} = \mathcal{J}^{**}_{\varkappa, \ell}$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} |S_{\varkappa,\ell}| &\leq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega\Re(z) + \Delta(\varkappa,\ell)\Re(z^{-1}))\right) \right) \\ &\times \left| \prod_{j=1}^{J} \operatorname{K}^{\delta_j} \left(r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau); \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) \right) \right| \\ &\times e^{2\pi n\varrho} d\phi. \end{split}$$

We now consider the Farey arcs with respect to h/k with $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$ and $h \equiv \varkappa \pmod{\ell}$. (mod ℓ). Since $\Delta(\varkappa, \ell) \leq 0$, it follows from (11.5.3) and (11.5.5) that

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}(\Omega\Re(z) + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell)\Re(z^{-1}))\right) \le \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k}\left(\Omega\frac{k}{N^2} + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell)\frac{k}{2}\right)\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{\pi\varrho\,\Omega}{12}\right)\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\varkappa, \ell)}{24}\right).$$

For convenience, now we write $\lambda_j = \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)$ and $\lambda_j^* = \lambda_{m_j,r_j}^*(h,k)$. We also write for short $\tilde{\varsigma}_j = r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)\gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)$ and $\tilde{\tau}_j = \gamma_{(m_j,h,k)}(m_j \tau)$. We know from (11.4.2) and (11.4.4) that

$$\Im(\tilde{\tau}_j) = \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, k)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}) = \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1})$$

and

$$\Im(\tilde{\varsigma}_j) = \lambda_j^* \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, k)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}) = \lambda_j^* \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}).$$

Notice that

$$0 \le \Im(\tilde{\varsigma}_j) < \Im(\tilde{\tau}_j).$$

We write

$$\prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_{j}}(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j};\tilde{\tau}_{j}) = \prod_{j^{*}\in\mathcal{J}^{*}} (1 - e^{2\pi i \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}}})^{\delta_{j^{*}}}$$
$$\times \prod_{j^{*}\in\mathcal{J}^{*}} (e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}+\tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}-\tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{*}}}$$
$$\times \prod_{j^{**}\in\mathcal{J}^{**}} (e^{2\pi i \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{**}}}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}}-\tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{**}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{**}}}$$

•

First, it follows from Proposition 13.3.3 that

$$\prod_{j^* \in \mathcal{J}^*} (1 - e^{2\pi i \tilde{\zeta}_{j^*}})^{\delta_{j^*}} \ll 1.$$

Further, as we have seen in §11.5.2, for $j^* \in \mathcal{J}^*$ (hence $\lambda_{j^*}^* = 0$),

$$\begin{split} \left| (e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} + \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} - \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{*}}} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{|\delta_{j^{*}}|}^{*}(s, t; n) |e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} + \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}|^{s} |e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} - \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}|^{t} |e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}}|^{n} \\ &= \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{|\delta_{j^{*}}|}^{*}(s, t; n) e^{-2\pi \Im (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} + \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})s} e^{-2\pi \Im (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} - \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})t} e^{-2\pi \Im (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}})n} \\ &= \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{|\delta_{j^{*}}|}^{*}(s, t; n) \exp \left(-2\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}k} \Re(z^{-1})s\right) \\ &\times \exp \left(-2\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}k} \Re(z^{-1})t\right) \exp \left(-2\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}k} \Re(z^{-1})n\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{|\delta_{j^{*}}|}^{*}(s, t; n) \exp \left(-\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}}s\right) \\ &\times \exp \left(-\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}}t\right) \exp \left(-\pi \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j^{*}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{*}}}n\right), \end{split}$$

where we use $\Re(z^{-1}) \ge k/2$. It follows from (11.5.7) that

$$(e^{2\pi i(\tilde{\tau}_{j^*}+\tilde{\varsigma}_{j^*})}, e^{2\pi i(\tilde{\tau}_{j^*}-\tilde{\varsigma}_{j^*})}; e^{2\pi i\tilde{\tau}_{j^*}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^*}} \ll 1.$$

Likewise, for $j^{**} \in \mathcal{J}^{**}$,

$$\begin{split} \left| (e^{2\pi i \tilde{\zeta}_{j^{**}}}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}} - \tilde{\zeta}_{j^{**}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{**}}} \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{n \geq 0} \sum_{s \geq 0} \sum_{t \geq 0} p_{|\delta_{j^{**}}|}^*(s, t; n) \exp\left(-\pi \lambda_{j^{**}}^* \frac{\gcd^2(m_{j^{**}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{**}}}s\right) \\ &\times \exp\left(-\pi (1 - \lambda_{j^{**}}^*) \frac{\gcd^2(m_{j^{**}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{**}}}t\right) \exp\left(-\pi \frac{\gcd^2(m_{j^{**}}, \ell)}{m_{j^{**}}}n\right) \\ &\ll 1. \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$S_{\varkappa,\ell} \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} e^{\frac{\pi \varrho \,\Omega}{12}} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \, d\phi$$
$$\ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} \frac{1}{kN}$$
$$\ll e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} = e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2} (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})}.$$

13.5 Major Arcs

Let $(\varkappa, \ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$, namely, $\Delta(\varkappa, \ell) > 0$. Again, we write $\mathcal{J}^* = \mathcal{J}^*_{\varkappa, \ell}$ and $\mathcal{J}^{**} = \mathcal{J}^{**}_{\varkappa, \ell}$. Let us consider the Farey arcs with respect to h/k with $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$ and $h \equiv \varkappa \pmod{\ell}$. For convenience, we write $\tilde{\varsigma}_j(h, k) = r_j \tau \gamma^*_{(m_j, h, k)}(m_j \tau) + \lambda_{m_j, r_j}(h, k) \gamma_{(m_j, h, k)}(m_j \tau)$ and $\tilde{\tau}_j(h, k) = \gamma_{(m_j, h, k)}(m_j \tau)$.

Recall that

$$S_{\varkappa,\ell} = \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_j \lambda_{m_j,r_j}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^2 \square_{h,k}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) z^{-1})\right) \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_j} (\tilde{\varsigma}_j(h,k); \tilde{\tau}_j(h,k))$$
$$\times e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi.$$

We split $S_{\varkappa,\ell}$ into two parts Σ_1 and Σ_2 where

$$\Sigma_{1} := \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \square_{h,k}}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) z^{-1})\right) \Pi_{h,k} e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \rho} d\phi$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{2} &:= \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)}} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \ \mathcal{I}_{h,k} \\ &\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) z^{-1})\right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{M}^{\delta_{j}} (\tilde{\varsigma}_{j}(h,k); \tilde{\tau}_{j}(h,k)) - \Pi_{h,k}\right) \\ &\times e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} \ d\phi. \end{split}$$

We first show that Σ_2 is negligible. Notice that by (11.5.3)

$$\begin{split} |\Sigma_{2}| &\leq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq k \leq N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \leq h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} |\Pi_{h,k}| \\ &\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi \Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{12k} \Re(z^{-1})\right) \left| \frac{1}{\Pi_{h,k}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_{j}}(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j}(h,k);\tilde{\tau}_{j}(h,k)) - 1 \right| d\phi. \end{split}$$

Let us fix h and k and write $\tilde{\varsigma}_j = \tilde{\varsigma}_j(h, k)$ and $\tilde{\tau}_j = \tilde{\tau}_j(h, k)$. We also write $\lambda_j^* = \lambda_{m_j, r_j}^*(h, k)$. Recalling the definition of $\Pi_{h,k}$ and Proposition 13.3.3, we have

$$\frac{1}{\Pi_{h,k}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_{j}}(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j};\tilde{\tau}_{j}) - 1 = \prod_{j^{*} \in \mathcal{J}^{*}} (e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} + \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}} - \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{*}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{*}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{*}}} \times \prod_{j^{**} \in \mathcal{J}^{**}} (e^{2\pi i \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{**}}}, e^{2\pi i (\tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}} - \tilde{\varsigma}_{j^{**}})}; e^{2\pi i \tilde{\tau}_{j^{**}}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j^{**}}} - 1.$$

Let us write for short

$$\tilde{\varsigma}_{j}^{\text{New}} = \begin{cases} \tilde{\tau}_{j} + \tilde{\varsigma}_{j} & \text{if } j \in \mathcal{J}^{*}, \\ \tilde{\varsigma}_{j} & \text{if } j \in \mathcal{J}^{**}. \end{cases}$$

It follows again from (11.4.2) and (11.4.4) that

$$\Im(\tilde{\tau}_j) = \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}),$$
$$\Im(\tilde{\varsigma}_j) = \lambda_j^* \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1})$$

and

$$\Im(\tilde{\varsigma}_j^{\text{New}}) = \Phi(\lambda_j^*) \frac{\gcd^2(m_j, \ell)}{m_j k} \Re(z^{-1}),$$

where for real $0 \le x < 1$,

$$\Phi(x) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x = 0, \\ x & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{1}{\Pi_{h,k}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}^{\delta_{j}}(\hat{\varsigma}_{j};\hat{\tau}_{j}) - 1 \right| \\ &= \left| \prod_{j=1}^{J} (e^{2\pi i \hat{\varsigma}_{j}^{\mathrm{New}}}, e^{2\pi i (\hat{\tau}_{j} - \hat{\varsigma}_{j})}; e^{2\pi i \hat{\tau}_{j}})_{\infty}^{\delta_{j}} - 1 \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{n}:=(n_{1},...,n_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{s}:=(s_{1},...,s_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{t}:=(t_{1},...,t_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}:=(n_{1},...,n_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{s}:=(s_{1},...,s_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{t}:=(t_{1},...,t_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}:=(t_{1},...,t_{J}) \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j}, t_{j}; n_{j}) |e^{2\pi i \hat{\tau}_{j}}|^{n_{j}} - 1 \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\times\mathbf{s}\times\mathbf{t}\in(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J})^{3}\setminus(0,...,0)^{3}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j}, t_{j}; n_{j}) |e^{2\pi i \hat{\varsigma}_{j}^{\mathrm{New}}}|^{s_{j}} |e^{2\pi i (\hat{\tau}_{j} - \hat{\varsigma}_{j})}|^{t_{j}} |e^{2\pi i \hat{\tau}_{j}}|^{n_{j}} \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\times\mathbf{s}\times\mathbf{t}\in(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J})^{3}\setminus(0,...,0)^{3}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j}, t_{j}; n_{j}) e^{-2\pi \Im(\hat{\varsigma}_{j}^{\mathrm{New}})s_{j}} e^{-2\pi \Im(\hat{\tau}_{j} - \hat{\varsigma}_{j})t_{j}} e^{-2\pi \Im(\hat{\tau}_{j})n_{j}} \\ &= \sum_{\mathbf{n}\times\mathbf{s}\times\mathbf{t}\in(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J})^{3}\setminus(0,...,0)^{3}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j}, t_{j}; n_{j})\right) \\ &\times \exp\left(-2\pi \frac{\Re(z^{-1})}{k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j}, \ell)}{m_{j}} \left(\Phi(\lambda_{j}^{*})s_{j} + (1 - \lambda_{j}^{*})t_{j} + n_{j}\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{12k}\Re(z^{-1})\right) \left|\frac{1}{\Pi_{h,k}}\prod_{j=1}^{J}\mathsf{K}^{\delta_{j}}\left(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j};\tilde{\tau}_{j}\right)-1\right| \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{n}\times\mathbf{s}\times\mathbf{t}\in(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq0}^{J})^{3}\backslash(0,\ldots,0)^{3}}\left(\prod_{j=1}^{J}p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j},t_{j};n_{j})\right) \\ &\times \exp\left(-2\pi\frac{\Re(z^{-1})}{k}\left(-\frac{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{24}+\sum_{j=1}^{J}\frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j},\ell)}{m_{j}}\left(\Phi(\lambda_{j}^{*})s_{j}+(1-\lambda_{j}^{*})t_{j}+n_{j}\right)\right)\right). \end{split}$$

Since at least one coordinate of $\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{s} \times \mathbf{t}$ is nonzero, under the condition (13.3.1), we know that

$$-\frac{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{24} + \sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\gcd^2(m_j,\ell)}{m_j} \Big(\Phi(\lambda_j^*) s_j + (1-\lambda_j^*) t_j + n_j \Big)$$
$$\geq -\frac{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{24} + \min_{1 \le j \le J} \left(\Upsilon(\lambda_j^*) \frac{\gcd^2(m_j,\ell)}{m_j} \right) \ge 0$$

for all $\mathbf{n} \times \mathbf{s} \times \mathbf{t} \in (\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^J)^3 \setminus (0, \dots, 0)^3$. Recalling that $\Re(z^{-1}) \geq k/2$, it follows that

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{12k}\Re(z^{-1})\right)\left|\frac{1}{\Pi_{h,k}}\prod_{j=1}^{J}\mathcal{K}^{\delta_{j}}\left(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j};\tilde{\tau}_{j}\right)-1\right|$$

is maximized when $\Re(z^{-1}) = k/2$. Namely,

$$\exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{12k}\Re(z^{-1})\right) \left| \frac{1}{\prod_{h,k}} \prod_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{M}^{\delta_{j}}\left(\tilde{\varsigma}_{j};\tilde{\tau}_{j}\right) - 1 \right| \\
\leq \exp\left(\frac{\pi\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}{24}\right) \sum_{\mathbf{n}\times\mathbf{s}\times\mathbf{t}\in(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}^{J})^{3}\setminus(0,\dots,0)^{3}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^{J} p_{|\delta_{j}|}^{*}(s_{j},t_{j};n_{j})\right) \\
\times \exp\left(-\pi\sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{\gcd^{2}(m_{j},\ell)}{m_{j}} \left(\Phi(\lambda_{j}^{*})s_{j} + (1-\lambda_{j}^{*})t_{j} + n_{j}\right)\right) \\
\ll 1.$$

Together with the fact $\prod_{h,k} \ll 1$ which follows from (13.3.3), we conclude that

$$\Sigma_2 \ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} \int_{\xi_{h,k}} 1 \ d\phi$$

$$\ll \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv x \mod \ell}} e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} \frac{1}{kN}$$
$$\ll e^{2\pi \varrho (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})} = e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2} (n + \frac{\Omega}{24})}.$$

Finally, we estimate the main contribution Σ_1 . Recall that

$$\Sigma_{1} = \sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ L \gcd(h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \square_{h,k} \Pi_{h,k}$$
$$\times \int_{\xi_{h,k}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{12k} (\Omega z + \Delta(\varkappa, \ell) z^{-1})\right) e^{-2\pi i n \phi} e^{2\pi n \varrho} d\phi.$$

We simply apply Lemma 11.5.1. The main contribution to Σ_1 is

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ p \not \subset (h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k \not \subset (h,k) = 1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k \not \subset (h,k) = 1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k \not \subset (h,k) = 1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{k \not \subset (h,k) = 1} e^{-\frac{2\pi i n h}{k}} (-1)^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{j} \lambda_{m_{j},r_{j}}(h,k)} \omega_{h,k}^{2} \prod_{h,k} \prod_{h,k} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_$$

The error term in Σ_1 is bounded by

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le k \le N \\ k \equiv \ell \mod L}} \sum_{\substack{0 \le h < k \\ g \neq (h,k) = 1 \\ h \equiv \varkappa \mod \ell}} \frac{e^{2\pi \varrho \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n + \frac{\Omega}{24}} \ll \frac{N^2 e^{\frac{2\pi}{N^2} \left(n + \frac{\Omega}{24}\right)}}{n + \frac{\Omega}{24}}.$$

13.6 An Application

As an application, we confirm Tang's inequalities in [167] in the asymptotic sense. Here we will expand the infinite product as $\sum_{n\geq 0} g(n)q^n$.

In general, to obtain an explicit asymptotic formula of g(n), we first compute $\mathcal{L}_{>0}$. Next, we find the largest number among $\{\sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}/k\}$ with $(\varkappa,\ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$ and $k \equiv \ell$ (mod L). Now one needs to check if the corresponding *I*-Bessel function vanishes for this choice. If it is nonvanishing, then the asymptotic formula shall be obtained from the *I*-Bessel term. Otherwise, we move to find the second largest number among $\{\sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}/k\}$ and carry out the same program. Notice that if there are multiple choices of \varkappa, ℓ and k giving the same value of $\sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}/k$, one should sum up all such *I*-Bessel terms and check if the summation vanishes or not.

Let

$$\sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \frac{(q^2, q^8; q^{10})_{\infty}(q^4; q^6; q^{10})_{\infty}^2}{(q^2, q^3; q^5)_{\infty}^2}$$

Then $\mathbf{m} = \{5, 10, 10\}$, $\mathbf{r} = \{2, 2, 4\}$ and $\boldsymbol{\delta} = \{-2, 1, 2\}$. Hence L = 10 and $\Omega = -8$. We compute that

$$\mathcal{L}_{>0} = \{(0,1), (0,3), (1,3), (2,3), (0,5), (2,5), (3,5), (0,7), (1,7), (2,7), (3,7), (4,7), (5,7), (6,7), (0,9), (1,9), (2,9), (3,9), (4,9), (5,9), (6,9), (7,9), (8,9), (1,10), (2,10), (3,10), (4,10), (6,10), (7,10), (8,10), (9,10)\}.$$

First, the assumption (13.1.3) is satisfied. We next find that the largest number among $\{\sqrt{\Delta(\varkappa,\ell)}/k\}$ with $(\varkappa,\ell) \in \mathcal{L}_{>0}$ and $k \equiv \ell \pmod{L}$ is $\frac{1}{\sqrt{5}}$. Here we have four choices:

$$(\varkappa, \ell, k) = (0, 1, 1), \ (0, 5, 5), \ (2, 5, 5), \ (3, 5, 5)$$

When k = 1, the admissible (h, k) is (0, 1). We compute that the *I*-Bessel term is

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}\pi}{\sqrt{15}}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right)\left(n-\frac{1}{3}\right)^{-1/2}I_{-1}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}\pi}{\sqrt{15}}\sqrt{n-\frac{1}{3}}\right).$$

When k = 5, the admissible (h, k) are (2, 5) and (3, 5). We compute that, in total, the *I*-Bessel term is

$$\frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\sqrt{15}}\sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}(2n+1)\right)\left(n-\frac{1}{3}\right)^{-1/2}I_{-1}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\sqrt{15}}\sqrt{n-\frac{1}{3}}\right).$$

In total, we therefore have

$$\frac{\sqrt{2}\pi}{\sqrt{15}}\left(\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}\left(2n+1\right)\right)\right)\left(n-\frac{1}{3}\right)^{-1/2}I_{-1}\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}\pi}{\sqrt{15}}\sqrt{n-\frac{1}{3}}\right).$$

Notice that $\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}(2n+1)\right)$ vanishes only if $n \equiv 1 \pmod{5}$. Hence, we have the following asymptotic formula.

Theorem 13.6.1. For $n \not\equiv 1 \pmod{5}$,

$$g(n) \sim \frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\sqrt{15}} \left(\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}(2n+1)\right) \right) \left(n - \frac{1}{3}\right)^{-1/2} I_{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\sqrt{15}}\sqrt{n - \frac{1}{3}}\right) \\ \sim \frac{1}{30^{1/4}} \left(\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{5}\right) + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi}{5}(2n+1)\right) \right) n^{-3/4} \exp\left(\frac{\sqrt{2\pi}}{\sqrt{15}}\sqrt{n}\right).$$

It follows that g(5n + 0, 2, 3) > 0 and g(5n + 4) < 0 for sufficiently large n. If we further compute a number of lower *I*-Bessel terms, we still encounter the same vanishment for $n \equiv 1 \pmod{5}$. This highly suggests that g(5n + 1) = 0, which is, indeed, proved by Tang using elementary techniques in [167].

All other inequalities conjectured by Tang can be proved in the same manner. We omit the details here.

13.7 References

- [2] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun (eds.), Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, United States Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, 10th printing, 1972.
- [57] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, to appear in *Ramanujan J.*
- [167] D. Tang, Vanishing coefficients in some q-series expansions, Int. J. Number Theory 15 (2019), no. 4, 763–773.

Chapter 14 Nonmodular Infinite Products and a Conjecture of Seo and Yee

This chapter comes from

• S. Chern, Nonmodular infinite products and a Conjecture of Seo and Yee, submitted. Available at arXiv:1912.10341. (Ref. [61])

14.1 Introduction

In the previous three chapters, we have discussed the asymptotics for coefficients in infinite products G(q) that are modular. Let $q = e^{2\pi i\tau}$ with τ in the upper half complex plane. If τ is replaced by $T(\tau)$ where T is a transformation belonging to some subgroup of finite index of the modular group, then the resulting function remains essentially invariant according to the modularity. This allows us to study the asymptotics of G(q)when q is close to rational points on the unit circle. However, the story is different if the infinite product is no longer modular.

The motivation of this chapter is a recent conjecture of Seo and Yee [161] in their study of seaweed algebras. They proved that an earlier conjecture of Coll, A. Mayers and N. Mayers [70] is equivalent to the following nonnegativity conjecture.

Conjecture 14.1.1. The series expansion of

$$\frac{1}{(q, -q^3; q^4)_{\infty}} \tag{14.1.1}$$

has nonnegative coefficients.

Notice that the above infinite product is no more modular. Hence, a Rademacher-type

proof fails. Also, if we rewrite this product as

$$\frac{(q^3; q^4)_{\infty}}{(q; q^4)_{\infty} (q^6; q^8)_{\infty}},$$

then the numerator $(q^3; q^4)_{\infty}$ causes the expiration of Meinardus' powerful approach [134]. One of the few works about asymptotics of nonmodular infinite products is due to Grosswald [89], who absorbed ideas from Lehner [118] and Livingood [130]. In his paper, the infinite product

$$\frac{1}{(q^a; q^M)_{\infty}}$$
 (14.1.2)

with a prime modulus M is considered. However, a closer examination of Grosswald's paper reveals several mistakes, among which at least the calculation of the residue R_3 on page 119 of [89] is not robust. Also, a natural question is about the case where the modulus is composite.

Let M be a positive integer and a be any of $1, 2, \ldots, M$. The first goal of this chapter is to investigate the asymptotic behavior of

$$\Phi_{a,M}(q) := \log\left(\frac{1}{(q^a; q^M)_{\infty}}\right) \tag{14.1.3}$$

when the complex variable q with |q| < 1 approaches the unit circle.

Theorem 14.1.1. Let X be a sufficiently large positive number. Let

$$q = e^{-\tau + 2\pi i h/k} \tag{14.1.4}$$

where $1 \leq h \leq k \leq \lfloor \sqrt{2\pi X} \rfloor =: N$ with (h, k) = 1 (throughout, (m, n) denotes the greatest common divisor of integers m and n) and $\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y$ with $|Y| \leq 1/(kN)$. Let M be a positive integer and a be any of $1, 2, \ldots, M$. If we denote by b the unique integer between 1 and (k, M) such that $b \equiv -ha \pmod{(k, M)}$ and write

$$b^* = \begin{cases} (k, M) - b & \text{if } b \neq (k, M), \\ (k, M) & \text{if } b = (k, M), \end{cases}$$

then

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{(q^{a};q^{M})_{\infty}}\right) = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{(k,M)^{2}}{k^{2}M} \left(\pi^{2}\left(\frac{b^{2}}{(k,M)^{2}} - \frac{b}{(k,M)} + \frac{1}{6}\right) + 2\pi i \left(-\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{b}{(k,M)}\right) + \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{b^{*}}{(k,M)}\right)\right)\right) + E \qquad (14.1.5)$$

where

$$|\Re(E)| \ll_{a,M} X^{1/2} \log X.$$
(14.1.6)

Remark 14.1.1. Let $\mathcal{Q}_{h/k}$ be the set of q with respect to h/k defined in Theorem 14.1.1. For any q with $|q| = e^{-1/X}$, we are always able to find an h/k such that $q \in \mathcal{Q}_{h/k}$. This is a direct consequence of the theory of Farey fractions. In fact, if h/k is a Farey fraction of order N and ξ_+ (resp. ξ_-) denotes the distance from h/k to its right (resp. left) neighboring mediant, then

$$\frac{1}{2kN} \le \xi_{\pm} \le \frac{1}{kN}.$$

Hence, \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} can be covered by intervals

$$\bigcup_{\substack{1 \le h \le k \le N \\ (h,k)=1}} \left[\frac{h}{k} - \frac{1}{kN}, \frac{h}{k} + \frac{1}{kN}\right].$$

Equipped with Theorem 14.1.1, we almost arrive at a proof of Conjecture 14.1.1.

Theorem 14.1.2. *Let*

$$G(q) := \sum_{n \ge 0} g(n)q^n = \frac{1}{(q, -q^3; q^4)_{\infty}}.$$
(14.1.7)

We have, as $n \to \infty$,

$$g(n) \sim \frac{\pi^{1/4} \Gamma(1/4)}{2^{9/4} 3^{3/8} n^{3/8}} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + (-1)^n \frac{\pi^{3/4} \Gamma(3/4)}{2^{11/4} 3^{5/8} n^{5/8}} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right)$$
(14.1.8)

where $I_s(x)$ is the modified Bessel function of the first kind. Further, when $n \ge 2.4 \times 10^{14}$, we have g(n) > 0.

Unfortunately, my personal laptop did not support me to verify the coefficients g(n) up to $n = 2.4 \times 10^{14}$. But I deeply believe the validity of their nonnegativity after computing the first 10,000 terms.

Throughout, $\zeta(s)$ and $\zeta(s, a)$ are respectively Riemann zeta function and Hurwitz zeta function. We denote by $\zeta'(s, a)$ the partial derivative of Hurwitz zeta function with respect to s, namely,

$$\zeta'(s,a) = \frac{\partial}{\partial s}\zeta(s,a).$$

Finally, $\Gamma(s)$ is the gamma function and γ is the Euler–Mascheroni constant.

14.2 Theorem 14.1.1: Preparation

Recall that

$$\Phi_{a,M}(q) = \log\left(\frac{1}{(q^a; q^M)_{\infty}}\right) = \sum_{\substack{m \ge 1 \\ m \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \frac{q^{\ell m}}{\ell}.$$
 (14.2.1)

Throughout, let us assume $X \ge 16$ and $N = \lfloor \sqrt{2\pi X} \rfloor$. As in Theorem 14.1.1, we put

$$q = e^{-\tau} e^{2\pi i h/k} \tag{14.2.2}$$

where $1 \le h \le k \le N$ with (h, k) = 1 and

$$\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y \tag{14.2.3}$$

with the restriction

$$|Y| \le \frac{1}{kN}.\tag{14.2.4}$$

Now we are going to collect some bounds that will be frequently used in the sequel. First, the assumptions of X and N imply that

$$0.9\sqrt{2\pi X} \le N \le \sqrt{2\pi X}.\tag{14.2.5}$$

Further, $N \leq \sqrt{2\pi X}$ implies that

$$\frac{1}{X} \le \frac{2\pi}{N^2} \le \frac{2\pi}{kN}.$$

Hence,

$$|\tau| \le \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi}{kN}.\tag{14.2.6}$$

Finally,

$$\Re\left(\frac{1}{\tau}\right) \ge 0.07k^2. \tag{14.2.7}$$

This is because

$$\Re\left(\frac{1}{k^{2}\tau}\right) = \frac{X^{-1}}{k^{2}(X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}Y^{2})}$$

$$\geq \frac{X^{-1}}{k^{2}(X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}k^{-2}N^{-2})}$$

$$= \frac{X^{-1}}{k^{2}X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}N^{-2}}$$

$$\geq \frac{X^{-1}}{N^{2}X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}N^{-2}}$$

$$\geq \frac{X^{-1}}{(0.9\sqrt{2\pi X})^{2}X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}(0.9\sqrt{2\pi X})^{-2}}$$

$$\geq 0.07.$$

-1

Given any positive integer k, we write

$$K = k \frac{M}{(k,M)}.$$
(14.2.8)

Notice that $M \mid K$. Write in (14.2.1)

$$\ell = bk + \mu \qquad (1 \le \mu \le k)$$

and

$$m = cK + \lambda$$
 $(1 \le \lambda \le K, \ \lambda \equiv a \mod M).$

Then

$$\Phi_{a,M}(q) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{1 \le \mu \le k} e^{\frac{2\pi i h \mu \lambda}{k}} \sum_{b,c \ge 0} \frac{1}{bk + \mu} e^{-(bk + \mu)(cK + \lambda)\tau}$$

Applying the Mellin transform further gives

$$\Phi_{a,M}(q) = \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{1 \le \mu \le k} e^{\frac{2\pi i h \mu \lambda}{k}} \sum_{b,c \ge 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\Gamma(s)}{bk + \mu} \frac{ds}{(bk + \mu)^s (cK + \lambda)^s \tau^s}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{1 \le \mu \le k} e^{\frac{2\pi i h \mu \lambda}{k}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\Gamma(s)}{\tau^s k^{s+1} K^s} \zeta\left(s, \frac{\lambda}{K}\right) \zeta\left(1 + s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) ds$$

Here the path of integration (α) is from $\alpha - i\infty$ to $\alpha + i\infty$.

Recall the functional equation of Hurwitz zeta function:

$$\zeta\left(s,\frac{\lambda}{k}\right) = 2\Gamma(1-s)(2\pi k)^{s-1} \left(\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}\sum_{1\le\nu\le k}\cos\frac{2\pi\lambda\nu}{k}\,\zeta\left(1-s,\frac{\nu}{k}\right) + \cos\frac{\pi s}{2}\sum_{1\le\nu\le k}\sin\frac{2\pi\lambda\nu}{k}\,\zeta\left(1-s,\frac{\nu}{k}\right)\right). \tag{14.2.9}$$

(14.2.10)

(14.2.11)

 $z = \frac{\tau k}{2\pi},$

If we further put

then

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{a,M}(q) &= \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi h \mu \lambda}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta \left(1 + s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \zeta \left(1 - s, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^s \cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi h \mu \lambda}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta \left(1 + s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \zeta \left(1 - s, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^s \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi h \mu \lambda}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta \left(1 + s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \zeta \left(1 - s, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^s \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi h \mu \lambda}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta \left(1 + s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \zeta \left(1 - s, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^s \cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds. \end{split}$$

Notice that $1 \leq \lambda \leq K$. If $h\lambda_1 \equiv h\lambda_2 \pmod{k}$, then by recalling $h_1 \equiv h_2 \equiv a \pmod{M}$ and the fact that (h, k) = 1, we conclude that $\lambda_1 \equiv \lambda_2 \pmod{K}$. Hence, the $h\lambda$'s give

$$\frac{K}{M} = \frac{k}{(k,M)}$$

residue classes modulo k. For each λ , we denote by $\rho = \rho(\lambda)$ the unique integer between 1 and k such that

$$\rho \equiv -h\lambda \pmod{k}. \tag{14.2.12}$$

Then the ρ 's are pairwise distinct. Further, if we put

$$M^* = (k, M),$$

then for all ρ ,

$$\rho \equiv -ha \pmod{M^*}.\tag{14.2.13}$$

Let us choose h' so that

$$hh' \equiv -1 \pmod{k}$$

This is always possible since (h, k) = 1. Notice that $\lambda \equiv a \pmod{M}$. Hence, we have the system

$$\begin{cases} \lambda \equiv h'\rho \quad \pmod{k} \\ \lambda \equiv a \quad \pmod{M} \end{cases}.$$
(14.2.14)

This system is solvable whenever $h'\rho \equiv a \pmod{M^*}$. But this can be ensured by (14.2.13) and the fact that $hh' \equiv -1 \pmod{M^*}$. We next find, using Euclid's algorithm, integers α and β such that

$$\alpha k + \beta M = M^*. \tag{14.2.15}$$

We therefore have (notice that lcm(k, M) = K)

$$\lambda \equiv a + \beta M \frac{h'\rho - a}{M^*} = \beta h' \frac{M}{M^*}\rho + \alpha a \frac{k}{M^*} \pmod{K}.$$
 (14.2.16)

In (14.2.11), replacing s by -s, reversing the direction of integration path and shifting the path back to (3/2), one has, with $h\lambda$ replaced by $-\rho$,

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{a,M}(q) &= \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi \mu \rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}) \zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s} \cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &- \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi \mu \rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}) \zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s} \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi \mu \rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}) \zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s} \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &- \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi \mu \rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}) \zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s} \cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &- \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi \mu \rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi \nu \lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}) \zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s} \cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &- 2\pi i (R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4) \\ &=: \Upsilon_1 + \Upsilon_2 + \Upsilon_3 + \Upsilon_4 - 2\pi i (R_1 + R_2 + R_3 + R_4) \end{split}$$
(14.2.17)

where R_* comes from the sum of residues of the corresponding integrand inside the stripe $-3/2 < \Re(s) < 3/2$.

In the next two sections, we shall evaluate the integrals Υ_* and the residues R_* , respectively. One may conclude Theorem 14.1.1 directly from (14.2.17) and the estimations (14.3.15), (14.4.11), (14.4.13), (14.4.15), (14.4.17), (14.4.22) and (14.4.24).

14.3 Theorem 14.1.1: The Integrals

14.3.1 An Auxiliary Function

Let us define an auxiliary function

$$\Psi_{a,M}(q) := \log \left(\prod_{\substack{m \ge 1 \\ m \equiv -ha \bmod M^*}} \frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi i \alpha a/M} q^m} \right).$$
(14.3.1)

where α is defined in (14.2.15). We further write

$$m = bk + \rho$$
 $(1 \le \rho \le k, \ \rho \equiv -ha \mod M^*).$

Also, we put

$$q^* := \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\beta h'}{k} - \frac{2\pi}{Kz}\right) \tag{14.3.2}$$

where β is again defined in (14.2.15). Then

$$\Psi_{a,M}(q^*) = -\sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k\\ \rho \equiv -ha \bmod M^*}} \sum_{b \ge 0} \log\left(1 - \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\beta h'}{k}\rho - \frac{2\pi}{Kz}(bk+\rho) + \frac{2\pi i\alpha a}{M}\right)\right)$$

It follows from (14.2.16) that

$$\exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\lambda}{K}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\beta h'M}{KM^*}\rho + \frac{2\pi i\alpha ak}{KM^*}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\beta h'}{k}\rho + \frac{2\pi i\alpha a}{M}\right).$$

Hence,

$$\Psi_{a,M}(q^*) = -\sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k \\ \rho \equiv -ha \mod M^*}} \sum_{b \ge 0} \log \left(1 - \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi}{Kz}(bk+\rho) + \frac{2\pi i\lambda}{K}\right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k \\ \rho \equiv -ha \mod M^*}} \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \sum_{b,c \ge 0} \frac{1}{cK+\nu}$$
$$\times \exp\left((cK+\nu)\left(-\frac{2\pi}{Kz}(bk+\rho) + \frac{2\pi i\lambda}{K}\right)\right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k \\ \rho \equiv -ha \mod M^*}} \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} e^{\frac{2\pi i\nu\lambda}{K}} \sum_{b,c \ge 0} \frac{1}{cK+\nu} e^{-(bk+\rho)(cK+\nu)\frac{2\pi}{Kz}}.$$

If we substitute ρ back to λ and apply Mellin transform and the functional equation of Hurwitz zeta function to $\Psi_{a,M}(q^*)$, then

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{a,M}(q^*) &= \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k})\,\zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s}\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k})\,\zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s}\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k})\,\zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s}\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{4\pi k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \int_{(3/2)} \frac{\zeta(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k})\,\zeta(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K})}{z^{-s}\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} ds \\ &=: J_1 + J_2 + J_3 + J_4. \end{split}$$
(14.3.3)

Notice that

$$\Upsilon_1 = J_1$$
 and $\Upsilon_3 = J_3$

Further,

$$2(J_1 + J_3) = \Psi_{a,M}(q^*) + \Psi_{M-a,M}(q^*).$$
(14.3.4)

14.3.2 Estimations Concerning Hurwitz Zeta Function

Recall (see, for instance, [27, (25.11.9)]) that for $\Re(s) > 1$ and $0 < \alpha \le 1$,

$$\zeta(1-s,\alpha) = \frac{2\Gamma(s)}{(2\pi)^s} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} \cos\left(\frac{1}{2}\pi s - 2n\pi\alpha\right).$$

This implies that for $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, we have a uniform bound

$$|\zeta(-0.5+it,\alpha)| \le \frac{2\Gamma(3/2)\zeta(3/2)\cosh(\pi|t|/2)}{(2\pi)^{3/2}}.$$
(14.3.5)

It also follows from [26, Theorem 12.23] with some simple calculations that, uniformly for $|t| \ge 3$ and $0 < \alpha \le 1$,

$$|\zeta(-0.5+it,\alpha)| \le 11|t|^{3/2}.$$
(14.3.6)

Finally, we have, for $0 < \alpha \leq 1$,

$$|\zeta(2.5+it,\alpha)| \le \alpha^{-5/2} + \zeta(5/2). \tag{14.3.7}$$

Lemma 14.3.1. Let z be a complex number with $\Re(z) > 0$. Let $0 < \alpha, \beta \le 1$. Define integrals

$$\mathcal{I}_{+}(z) := \int_{(3/2)} z^{s} \zeta(1+s,\alpha) \,\zeta(1-s,\beta) \left(\frac{1}{\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} + \frac{1}{i\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}}\right) ds \tag{14.3.8}$$

and

$$\mathcal{I}_{-}(z) := \int_{(3/2)} z^{s} \zeta(1+s,\alpha) \,\zeta(1-s,\beta) \left(\frac{1}{\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} - \frac{1}{i\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}}\right) ds. \tag{14.3.9}$$

Then if $\Im(z) \leq 0$, we have

$$|\mathcal{I}_{+}(z)| \le 7.23|z|^{3/2} \left(\alpha^{5/2} + \zeta(5/2)\right), \tag{14.3.10}$$

while if $\Im(z) \ge 0$, we have

$$|\mathcal{I}_{-}(z)| \le 7.23 |z|^{3/2} \left(\alpha^{5/2} + \zeta(5/2) \right).$$
(14.3.11)

Proof. Let us write s = 3/2 + it as the path of integration is the vertical line $\Re(s) = 3/2$. We have

$$|z^s| = |z|^{3/2} e^{-\operatorname{Arg}(z)t}.$$

Also,

$$\left|\frac{1}{\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} + \frac{1}{i\sin\frac{\pi s}{2}}\right| = \frac{2e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}t}}{|\sin(\pi s)|}$$

Hence, for z with $\Im(z) \leq 0$ (recall that $\Re(z) > 0$ so that $-\pi/2 < \operatorname{Arg}(z) \leq 0$), we have

$$|z^{s}| \left| \frac{1}{\cos \frac{\pi s}{2}} + \frac{1}{i \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} \right| \le 2|z|^{3/2} \frac{e^{\frac{\pi}{2}|t|}}{|\sin(\pi s)|}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{I}_{+}(z)| &\leq 2|z|^{3/2} \Big((\alpha^{5/2} + \zeta(5/2)) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |\zeta(-0.5 - it, \beta)| \, \frac{e^{\frac{\pi}{2}|t|}}{|\sin(\pi(1.5 + it))|} dt \\ &\leq 7.23 |z|^{3/2} \Big(\alpha^{5/2} + \zeta(5/2) \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Similar arguments also apply to $\mathcal{I}_{-}(z)$ if $\Im(z) \geq 0$.

14.3.3 Bounding the Integrals

Recall that

$$z = \frac{\tau k}{2\pi}.$$

For Υ_2 and Υ_4 , we define

$$\Upsilon_* \pm J_* := \begin{cases} \Upsilon_* + J_* & \text{if } \Im(z) \ge 0, \\ \Upsilon_* - J_* & \text{if } \Im(z) < 0. \end{cases}$$
(14.3.12)

It follows from Lemma 14.3.1 that

$$\begin{aligned} |\Upsilon_* \pm J_*| &\leq \frac{1}{4\pi kK} \frac{kK}{M} \sum_{1 \leq \nu \leq K} 7.23 |z|^{3/2} \left(\left(\frac{K}{\nu}\right)^{5/2} + \zeta\left(\frac{5}{2}\right) \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{4\pi M} \cdot 7.23 |z|^{3/2} \cdot 2\zeta(5/2) K^{5/2} \\ &\leq \frac{7.23 \zeta(5/2)}{2\pi M} \left| \frac{\tau k}{2\pi} \right|^{3/2} \left(k \frac{M}{(k,M)} \right)^{5/2} \\ &\leq \frac{7.23 \zeta(5/2)}{2\pi M} \left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{N} \right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{M}{(k,M)} \right)^{5/2} N^{5/2} \qquad (by (14.2.6)) \\ &\leq \frac{7.23 \zeta(5/2) 2^{3/4}}{2\pi M} \left(\frac{M}{(k,M)} \right)^{5/2} \sqrt{2\pi X} \\ &\leq 6.51 \frac{M^{3/2}}{(k,M)^{5/2}} X^{1/2} \\ &\ll X^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, we bound

$$\begin{split} |\Re(\Upsilon_{1}+\Upsilon_{2}+\Upsilon_{3}+\Upsilon_{4})| &\leq |\Re(\Upsilon_{1}+\Upsilon_{3})| + |\Re(\Upsilon_{2}+\Upsilon_{4})| \\ &\leq |\Re(J_{1}+J_{3})| + |\Re(J_{2}+J_{4})| + |\Upsilon_{2}\pm J_{2}| + |\Upsilon_{4}\pm J_{4}| \\ &\leq |\Re(\Psi_{a,M}(q^{*}))| + 2|\Re(J_{1}+J_{3})| + |\Upsilon_{2}\pm J_{2}| + |\Upsilon_{4}\pm J_{4}| \\ &\leq 2|\Re(\Psi_{a,M}(q^{*}))| + |\Re(\Psi_{M-a,M}(q^{*}))| \\ &+ |\Upsilon_{2}\pm J_{2}| + |\Upsilon_{4}\pm J_{4}|. \end{split}$$

Recall from (14.3.2) that

$$q^* = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i\beta h'}{k} - \frac{2\pi}{Kz}\right).$$

Hence,

$$|q^*| = \exp\left(\Re\left(-\frac{2\pi}{Kz}\right)\right) = \exp\left(-4\pi^2\frac{(k,M)}{M}\Re\left(\frac{1}{k^2\tau}\right)\right).$$

By (14.2.7), we have

$$|q^*| \le \exp\left(-4\pi^2 \frac{(k,M)}{M} \cdot 0.07\right) \ll 1.$$
 (14.3.14)

We further have, by some simple partition-theoretic arguments that, for any $a = 1, 2, \ldots, M$,

$$e^{|\Re(\Psi_{a,M}(q^*))|} \leq \prod_{\substack{m \ge 1 \\ m \equiv -ha \mod M^*}} \frac{1}{1 - |q^*|^m} \leq \frac{1}{(|q^*|; |q^*|)_{\infty}}$$
$$= \exp\left(-\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \log(1 - |q^*|^\ell)\right) = \exp\left(\sum_{\ell \ge 1} \sum_{m \ge 1} \frac{|q^*|^{\ell m}}{m}\right)$$
$$\leq \exp\left(\sum_{n \ge 1} n |q^*|^n\right) = \exp\left(\frac{|q^*|}{(1 - |q^*|)^2}\right).$$

In consequence,

$$|\Re(\Psi_{a,M}(q^*))| \le \frac{e^{-0.28\pi^2 \frac{(k,M)}{M}}}{\left(1 - e^{-0.28\pi^2 \frac{(k,M)}{M}}\right)^2} \ll 1.$$

It turns out that

$$\begin{aligned} |\Re(\Upsilon_{1}+\Upsilon_{2}+\Upsilon_{3}+\Upsilon_{4})| &\leq 3 \cdot \frac{e^{-0.28\pi^{2}\frac{(k,M)}{M}}}{\left(1-e^{-0.28\pi^{2}\frac{(k,M)}{M}}\right)^{2}} + 2 \cdot 6.51 \frac{M^{3/2}}{(k,M)^{5/2}} X^{1/2} \\ &\leq \frac{3e^{-0.28\pi^{2}\frac{(k,M)}{M}}}{\left(1-e^{-0.28\pi^{2}\frac{(k,M)}{M}}\right)^{2}} + 13.02 \frac{M^{3/2}}{(k,M)^{5/2}} X^{1/2} \\ &\ll X^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(14.3.15)

14.4 Theorem 14.1.1: The Residues

14.4.1 Some Lemmas

We first require some finite summation formulas of Hurwitz zeta function, which follow from the first two aligned formulas on page 587 of [38].

Lemma 14.4.1. For any $\theta = 1, 2, ..., k$,

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \cos \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \zeta\left(0, \frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}$$
(14.4.1)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \cos \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \zeta\left(2, \frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = \frac{\pi^2}{6} (6\theta^2 - 6k\theta + k^2). \tag{14.4.2}$$

For any $\theta = 1, 2, ..., k - 1$,

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \sin \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \zeta \left(0, \frac{\alpha}{k} \right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(1 - \frac{\theta}{k} \right) - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\theta}{k} \right) \right) = \frac{1}{2} \cot \frac{\pi \theta}{k}$$
(14.4.3)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \sin \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \zeta\left(2, \frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = 2\pi k^2 \left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{\theta}{k}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, 1 - \frac{\theta}{k}\right)\right).$$
(14.4.4)

We also need three finite summation formulas of the digamma function due to Gauß (cf. [164]).

Lemma 14.4.2. For any $\theta = 1, 2, ..., k - 1$,

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \cos \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = k \log \left(2 \sin \frac{\pi \theta}{k}\right)$$
(14.4.5)

and

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \sin \frac{2\pi \alpha \theta}{k} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = \frac{\pi}{2} (2\theta - k).$$
(14.4.6)

Further,

$$\sum_{1 \le \alpha \le k} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\alpha}{k}\right) = -k(\gamma + \log k).$$
(14.4.7)

Next, it is easy to compute that

$$\sum_{|\Re(s)| \le 3/2} \operatorname{Res}_{s} \frac{\zeta\left(1-s,\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(1+s,\frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^{-s}\cos\frac{\pi s}{2}} = \operatorname{Res}_{s=0}(*) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=-1}(*) + \operatorname{Res}_{s=1}(*)$$
$$= -\log z - \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}\left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) + \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma}\left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right) + \frac{2\zeta\left(2,\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(0,\frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi z} - \frac{2z\zeta\left(0,\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(2,\frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi}$$

and

$$\sum_{|\Re(s)| \le 3/2} \operatorname{Res}_{s} \frac{\zeta \left(1 - s, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \zeta \left(1 + s, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{z^{-s} \sin \frac{\pi s}{2}} = \operatorname{Res}_{s=0}(*)$$
$$= -\frac{\pi}{12} - \frac{(\log z)^{2}}{\pi} - \frac{2 \log z}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) + \frac{2 \log z}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$+ \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right) + \frac{2}{\pi} \gamma_{1} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) + \frac{2}{\pi} \gamma_{1} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$

where $\gamma_1(\alpha)$ is the generalized Stieltjes constant.

Finally, recall from (14.2.12) that ρ is the unique integer between 1 and k such that $\rho \equiv -h\lambda \pmod{k}$. Hence,

$$\lambda = K \iff \rho = k. \tag{14.4.8}$$

Further, (14.2.13) says $\rho \equiv -ha \pmod{M^*}$. Recall also that b is the unique integer between 1 and M^* such that

$$b \equiv -ha \pmod{M^*}.\tag{14.4.9}$$

Then the following two summations represent the same thing:

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} (*) \equiv \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k \\ \rho \equiv b \bmod M^*}} (*).$$

14.4.2 Evaluation of R_1

We have

$$R_{1} = \frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \\ \times \left(\frac{2\zeta\left(2, \frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(0, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi z} - \frac{2z\zeta\left(0, \frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(2, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi} \right).$$

First,

$$R_{11} := \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \zeta\left(2, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \zeta\left(0, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho \le k \\ \rho \equiv b \bmod M^*}} \frac{\pi^2}{6} (6\rho^2 - 6k\rho + k^2) \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \cdot \frac{\pi^2}{6} \frac{k}{M^*} (6b^2 - 6bM^* + (M^*)^2) \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{2\pi}{\tau k} \frac{1}{24iKM^*} (6b^2 - 6bM^* + (M^*)^2)$$
$$= -\frac{2\pi}{\tau k} \frac{1}{24ikM} (6b^2 - 6bM^* + (M^*)^2).$$
(14.4.10)

Hence,

$$-2\pi i R_{11} = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\pi^2}{6k^2 M} (6b^2 - 6b(k, M) + (k, M)^2).$$
(14.4.11)

Also,

$$R_{12} := -z \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{1 \le \mu \le k} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \zeta\left(0, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \zeta\left(2, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$

$$= -z \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) \cdot \frac{\pi^2}{6} (6\lambda^2 - 6k\lambda + k^2)$$

$$= -z \frac{1}{2i\pi^2 kK} \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right) \cdot \frac{\pi^2}{6} \frac{K}{M} (6a^2 - 6aM + M^2)$$

$$= \frac{\pi k}{2\pi} \frac{1}{24ikM} (6a^2 - 6aM + M^2)$$

$$= \tau \frac{1}{48i\pi M} (6a^2 - 6aM + M^2). \qquad (14.4.12)$$

Hence, recalling that $a = 1, 2, \ldots, M$, we have

$$|-2\pi i R_{12}| = |\tau| \frac{|6a^2 - 6aM + M^2|}{24M}$$

$$\leq \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi}{kN} \cdot \frac{M^2}{24M}$$

$$\leq \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi}{k \cdot 0.9\sqrt{2\pi X}} \cdot \frac{M}{24}.$$

In consequence,

$$|-2\pi i R_{12}| \le 0.17 \frac{M}{k} X^{-1/2} \ll X^{-1/2}.$$
(14.4.13)

14.4.3 Evaluation of R_2

We have

$$R_2 = -\frac{1}{4\pi i k K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \cdot \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right).$$

Hence, with (14.4.8),

$$R_{2} = -\frac{1}{2i\pi^{2}kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda < K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \cos \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2i\pi^{2}kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^{*}}} k \log\left(2\sin\frac{\pi\rho}{k}\right) \cdot \frac{\pi}{2}(2\lambda - K)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4i\pi K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^{*}}} (2\lambda - K) \log\left(2\sin\frac{\pi\rho}{k}\right).$$
(14.4.14)

Notice that for $0 \le x \le \pi/2$, we have

$$\left|\log(2\sin x)\right| \le \frac{\pi\log 2}{2x}.$$

Hence,

$$|-2\pi i R_2| \le \frac{1}{2K} \cdot 2\sum_{1\le \rho < k} K \cdot \frac{\pi \log 2}{2} \frac{k}{\pi \rho}$$
$$= \frac{\log 2}{2} k \sum_{1\le \rho < k} \frac{1}{\rho}$$

$$\leq \frac{\log 2}{2} k (\log k + \gamma)$$

$$\leq \frac{\log 2}{2} N (\log N + \gamma)$$

$$\leq \frac{\log 2}{2} \sqrt{2\pi X} (\log \sqrt{2\pi X} + \gamma).$$

In consequence,

$$|-2\pi i R_2| \le 1.3 X^{1/2} + 0.44 X^{1/2} \log X \ll X^{1/2} \log X.$$
 (14.4.15)

14.4.4 Evaluation of R_3

We have

$$R_3 = \frac{1}{4\pi kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \bmod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \cdot \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right).$$

Hence, with (14.4.8),

$$R_{3} = \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda < K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \sin \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \frac{\Gamma'}{\Gamma} \left(\frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi^{2}kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^{*}}} \frac{\pi}{2} (2\rho - k) \cdot \frac{\pi}{2} (2\lambda - K)$$
$$= \frac{1}{8kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^{*}}} (2\rho - k) (2\lambda - K).$$
(14.4.16)

In consequence,

$$|-2\pi i R_3| \le 2\pi \cdot \frac{1}{8kK} \cdot \frac{k}{M^*} kK = \frac{\pi k}{4M^*} \le \frac{\pi N}{4M^*} \le \frac{\pi \sqrt{2\pi X}}{4M^*}.$$

Namely,

$$|-2\pi i R_3| \le \frac{1.97}{(k,M)} X^{1/2} \ll X^{1/2}.$$
(14.4.17)

14.4.5 Evaluation of R_4

We have

$$R_{4} = -\frac{1}{4\pi kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K}$$
$$\times \left(\frac{2\zeta\left(2,\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(0,\frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi z} - \frac{2z\zeta\left(0,\frac{\mu}{k}\right)\zeta\left(2,\frac{\nu}{K}\right)}{\pi}\right).$$

First,

$$R_{41} := -\frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \zeta\left(2, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{1 \le \nu \le K} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \zeta\left(0, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{2\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^*}} 2\pi k^2 \left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{\rho}{k}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, 1 - \frac{\rho}{k}\right)\right) \cdot \left(-\frac{1}{2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{z} \frac{k}{2\pi K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^*}} \left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{\rho}{k}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, 1 - \frac{\rho}{k}\right)\right).$$

If $b = M^*$, then both ρ and $k - \rho$ run through all multiples of M^* within the range [1, k), and hence

$$R_{41} = 0. (14.4.18)$$

We further notice that if $d \mid k$ and $1 \leq c \leq d$, then for any $s \neq 1$,

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le \ell \le k \\ \ell \equiv c \bmod d}} \zeta\left(s, \frac{\ell}{k}\right) = \left(\frac{k}{d}\right)^s \zeta\left(s, \frac{c}{d}\right)$$
(14.4.19)

Hence,

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le \ell < k \\ \ell \equiv c \mod d}} \zeta'\left(s, \frac{\ell}{k}\right) = \left(\frac{k}{d}\right)^s \zeta\left(s, \frac{c}{d}\right) \log(k/d) + \left(\frac{k}{d}\right)^s \zeta'\left(s, \frac{c}{d}\right).$$
(14.4.20)

Since $M^* = (k, M)$ divides k, it follows that if $b \neq M^*$ (and hence $\rho \neq k$), then

$$R_{41} = \frac{1}{z} \frac{k}{2\pi K} \left(\left(\frac{M^*}{k} \right) \zeta \left(-1, \frac{b}{M^*} \right) \log \frac{k}{M^*} + \left(\frac{M^*}{k} \right) \zeta' \left(-1, \frac{b}{M^*} \right) \right)$$

$$-\left(\frac{M^{*}}{k}\right)\zeta\left(-1,\frac{M^{*}-b}{M^{*}}\right)\log\frac{k}{M^{*}}-\left(\frac{M^{*}}{k}\right)\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{M^{*}-b}{M^{*}}\right)\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{z}\frac{(k,M)^{2}}{M}\frac{1}{2\pi k}\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{b}{M^{*}}\right)-\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{M^{*}-b}{M^{*}}\right)\right)$$
$$=\frac{1}{\tau}\frac{(k,M)^{2}}{M}\frac{1}{k^{2}}\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{b}{(k,M)}\right)-\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{(k,M)-b}{(k,M)}\right)\right).$$
(14.4.21)

It turns out that

$$-2\pi i R_{41} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } b = (k, M), \\ -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{(k, M)^2}{M} \frac{2\pi i}{k^2} \left(\zeta' \left(-1, \frac{b}{(k, M)} \right) - \zeta' \left(-1, \frac{(k, M) - b}{(k, M)} \right) \right) & \text{if } b \neq (k, M). \end{cases}$$

$$(14.4.22)$$

Also,

$$R_{42} := z \frac{1}{2\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda \le K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \mu \le k \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \sin \frac{2\pi\mu\rho}{k} \zeta \left(0, \frac{\mu}{k}\right) \sum_{\substack{1 \le \nu \le K \\ 1 \le \nu \le K}} \cos \frac{2\pi\nu\lambda}{K} \zeta \left(2, \frac{\nu}{K}\right)$$
$$= z \frac{1}{2\pi^2 kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \lambda < K \\ \lambda \equiv a \mod M}} \frac{1}{2} \cot \frac{\pi\rho}{k} \cdot \frac{\pi^2}{6} (6\lambda^2 - 6K\lambda + K^2)$$
$$= z \frac{1}{24kK} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^*}} (6\lambda^2 - 6K\lambda + K^2) \cot \frac{\pi\rho}{k}$$
$$= \tau \frac{1}{48\pi K} \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \mod M^*}} (6\lambda^2 - 6K\lambda + K^2) \cot \frac{\pi\rho}{k}.$$
(14.4.23)

Notice that for $1 \leq \lambda \leq K$,

$$|6\lambda^2 - 6K\lambda + K^2| \le K^2$$

and for $0 < x \le \pi/2$,

$$|\cot x| \le \frac{1}{x}.$$

Hence,

$$|-2\pi i R_{42}| = |\tau| \frac{1}{24K} \left| \sum_{\substack{1 \le \rho < k \\ \rho \equiv b \bmod M^*}} (6\lambda^2 - 6K\lambda + K^2) \cot \frac{\pi\rho}{k} \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{2\sqrt{2}\pi}{kN} \frac{1}{24K} \cdot 2K^2 \sum_{1 \leq \ell < k} \frac{k}{\pi\ell}$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{2}}{6N} \frac{kM}{(k,M)} (\log k + \gamma)$$
$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{6N} \frac{NM}{(k,M)} (\log N + \gamma)$$
$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{6} \frac{M}{(k,M)} (\log \sqrt{2\pi X} + \gamma)$$

In consequence,

$$-2\pi i R_{42} \le 0.12 \frac{M}{(k,M)} \log X + 0.36 \frac{M}{(k,M)} \ll \log X.$$
(14.4.24)

14.5 Explicit Bounds of G(q)

Recall that

$$G(q) = \frac{(q^3; q^4)_{\infty}}{(q; q^4)_{\infty} (q^6; q^8)_{\infty}}.$$

The goal of this section is the following uniform bound of |G(q)| when q is away from ± 1 .

Theorem 14.5.1. Let $\mathcal{Q}_{h/k}$ be as in Remark 14.1.1. For any q (with $|q| = e^{-1/X}$) not in $\mathcal{Q}_{1/1}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{1/2}$, we have, if $X \ge 3.4 \times 10^7$, then

$$|G(q)| \le \exp\left(\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48} - \frac{1}{100}\right)X\right).$$
 (14.5.1)

Further, if $q = e^{-\tau + 2\pi i h/k}$ with $\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y$ is in $\mathcal{Q}_{1/1}$ or $\mathcal{Q}_{1/2}$, then (14.5.1) still holds under the assumption $X \ge 3.4 \times 10^7$ provided that $|Y| \ge 1/(2\pi X)$.

Notice that $\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y$. Hence,

$$\tau^{-1} = \frac{X^{-1}}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^2 Y^2} - i\frac{2\pi Y}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^2 Y^2}.$$
(14.5.2)

In the sequel, we write b as b(h, a, k, M) to avoid confusion. We also write for convenience

$$\mathfrak{M}_{a,M} := \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{(k,M)^2}{k^2 M} \left(\pi^2 \left(\frac{b^2}{(k,M)^2} - \frac{b}{(k,M)} + \frac{1}{6} \right) \right)$$
$$+ 2\pi i \left(-\zeta' \left(-1, \frac{b}{(k, M)} \right) + \zeta' \left(-1, \frac{b^*}{(k, M)} \right) \right) \right), \qquad (14.5.3)$$

which is the main term in (14.1.5). Further,

$$\mathfrak{M}_G := \mathfrak{M}_{1,4} - \mathfrak{M}_{3,4} + \mathfrak{M}_{6,8} \tag{14.5.4}$$

denotes the main term of $\log G(q)$ whereas

$$E_G := \log G(q) - \mathfrak{M}_G \tag{14.5.5}$$

denotes the error term.

14.5.1 Case 1: $k \in 2\mathbb{Z} + 1$

Notice that (k, 4) = 1. Hence, we always have b(h, 1, k, 4) = b(h, 3, k, 4) = 1. Also, (k, 8) = 1. Then b(h, 6, k, 8) = 1. It is not hard to compute that

$$\mathfrak{M}_G = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\pi^2}{48k^2}.$$
 (14.5.6)

It follows from (14.5.2) that

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) \le \frac{\pi^2}{48k^2} X. \tag{14.5.7}$$

We may also compute from the bounds (14.3.15), (14.4.13), (14.4.15), (14.4.17) and (14.4.24) that

$$|\Re(E_G)| \le 1.32X^{1/2} \log X + 512.74X^{1/2} + 1.92 \log X + 42.74 + 2.72X^{-1/2}.$$
 (14.5.8)

14.5.2 Case 2: $k \in 4\mathbb{Z} + 2$

Notice that (k, 4) = 2. Since (h, k) = 1, so h is odd. Hence, we always have b(h, 1, k, 4) = b(h, 3, k, 4) = 1. Also, (k, 8) = 1. We have b(h, 6, k, 8) = 2. It is not hard to compute that

$$\mathfrak{M}_G = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\pi^2}{12k^2}.$$
(14.5.9)

It follows from (14.5.2) that

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) \le \frac{\pi^2}{12k^2} X. \tag{14.5.10}$$

For the error term E_G , we have

$$|\Re(E_G)| \le 1.32X^{1/2} \log X + 95.77X^{1/2} + 0.96 \log X + 11.61 + 2.72X^{-1/2}.$$
 (14.5.11)

14.5.3 Case 3: $k \in 8\mathbb{Z} + 4$

Notice that (k, 4) = 4. If $h \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, then b(h, 1, k, 4) = 3 and b(h, 3, k, 4) = 1. If $h \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$, then b(h, 1, k, 4) = 1 and b(h, 3, k, 4) = 3. Hence,

$$\mathfrak{M}_{1,4} - \mathfrak{M}_{3,4} = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{16\pi i \chi(h)}{k^2} \left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{3}{4}\right) \right)$$

where

$$\chi(h) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } h \equiv 1 \pmod{4}, \\ -1 & \text{if } h \equiv 3 \pmod{4}. \end{cases}$$

Also, (k, 8) = 4. Since (h, k) = 1, so h is odd. Hence, we have b(h, 6, k, 8) = 2. It follows that

$$\mathfrak{M}_{6,8} = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\pi^2}{6k^2}.$$

Hence,

$$\mathfrak{M}_{G} = \frac{1}{\tau} \left(-\frac{\pi^{2}}{6k^{2}} + \frac{16\pi i\chi(h)}{k^{2}} \left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{3}{4}\right) \right) \right).$$
(14.5.12)

It follows from (14.5.2) that

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_{G}) = -\frac{\pi^{2}}{6k^{2}} \frac{X^{-1}}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}Y^{2}} + \frac{16\pi\chi(h)}{k^{2}} \left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right) \frac{2\pi Y}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}Y^{2}} \leq \frac{1}{k^{2}} \cdot \frac{-\frac{\pi^{2}}{6}X^{-1} + 16\pi\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right)2\pi|Y|}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}|Y|^{2}} = \frac{\pi^{2}}{6k^{2}} \cdot \frac{-X^{-1} + 192\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right)|Y|}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^{2}|Y|^{2}}.$$

We next show that

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) \le \frac{2.94}{k^2} X. \tag{14.5.13}$$

It suffices to prove that

$$\frac{\pi^2}{6k^2} \cdot \frac{-X^{-1} + 192\left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{3}{4}\right)\right)|Y|}{X^{-2} + 4\pi^2|Y|^2} \le \frac{2.94}{k^2}X.$$

Namely,

$$70.56X|Y|^2 - 192\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right)|Y| + \left(\frac{17.64}{\pi^2} + 1\right)X^{-1} \ge 0.$$

Notice that on the left-hand side if we replace |Y| by t and treat it as a quadratic function of real t, then it reaches the minimum when

$$t = \frac{192\left(\zeta'\left(-1, \frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1, \frac{3}{4}\right)\right)}{2 \times 70.56X}.$$

Further, the minimum is

$$-70.56X \times \left(\frac{192\left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right)-\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right)}{2\times70.56X}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{17.64}{\pi^2}+1\right)X^{-1} \ge 0.01X^{-1} \ge 0.$$

Hence, (14.5.13) holds.

For the error term E_G , we have

$$|\Re(E_G)| \le 1.32X^{1/2}\log X + 21.1X^{1/2} + 0.48\log X + 3.22 + 2.72X^{-1/2}.$$
(14.5.14)

14.5.4 Case 4: $k \in 8\mathbb{Z}$

As in *Case 3*, we still have

$$\mathfrak{M}_{1,4} - \mathfrak{M}_{3,4} = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{16\pi i\chi(h)}{k^2} \left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right)\right).$$

Also, (k, 8) = 8. If $h \equiv 1 \pmod{4}$, then b(h, 6, k, 8) = 2. If $h \equiv 3 \pmod{4}$, then b(h, 6, k, 8) = 6. Hence,

$$\mathfrak{M}_{6,8} = \frac{1}{\tau} \left(-\frac{\pi^2}{6k^2} - \frac{16\pi i\chi(h)}{k^2} \left(\zeta'\left(-1,\frac{1}{4}\right) - \zeta'\left(-1,\frac{3}{4}\right) \right) \right).$$

In consequence,

$$\mathfrak{M}_G = -\frac{1}{\tau} \frac{\pi^2}{6k^2}.$$
(14.5.15)

Further,

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) < 0. \tag{14.5.16}$$

For the error term E_G , we have

$$|\Re(E_G)| \le 1.32X^{1/2} \log X + 13.27X^{1/2} + 0.36 \log X + 1.73 + 2.72X^{-1/2}.$$
(14.5.17)

Proof of Theorem 14.5.1. We have

$$\log |G(q)| = \Re(\log G(q)) \le \Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) + |\Re(E_G)|.$$

The first part simply follows from some direct computation by taking into account of the bounds for $\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G)$ and $|\Re(E_G)|$. For the second part, we notice by (14.5.2) that, when $|Y| \ge 1/(2\pi X)$,

$$\Re(\tau^{-1}) \le \frac{X}{2}$$

Whenever q is in $\mathcal{Q}_{1/1}$ or $\mathcal{Q}_{1/2}$, we apply (14.5.6) and (14.5.9) to obtain the bound

$$\Re(\mathfrak{M}_G) \leq \frac{\pi^2}{48} \frac{X}{2}$$

Hence, (14.5.1) follows by inserting the contribution of the error term and carrying on the routine computation.

14.6 Precise Approximations of G(q) Near the Dominant Poles

Recall that

$$G(q) = \frac{1}{(q, -q^3; q^4)_{\infty}}.$$
(14.6.1)

From the analysis in the previous section, we know that G(q) indeed has dominant poles at $q = \pm 1$. In fact, if $q = e^{-\tau + 2\pi i h/k}$ is in $\mathcal{Q}_{1/1}$ or $\mathcal{Q}_{1/2}$, then (14.5.6) and (14.5.9) tell us that $\log G(q)$ is dominated by $\pi^2/(48\tau)$ while the coefficient $\pi^2/48$ is the largest comparing with that for other $\mathcal{Q}_{h/k}$. Now we want to give some more precise approximations of $\log G(q)$ near the dominant poles.

Theorem 14.6.1. Let $\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y$ with $|Y| \le 1/(2\pi X)$. Then

$$\log G(e^{-\tau}) = \frac{\pi^2}{48} \frac{1}{\tau} - \frac{1}{4} \log \tau - \frac{3}{4} \log 2 - \frac{1}{2} \log \pi + \log \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + E_+$$
(14.6.2)

where

$$|E_+| \le 0.66 X^{-3/4}. \tag{14.6.3}$$

Further,

$$\log G(-e^{-\tau}) = \frac{\pi^2}{48} \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{1}{4} \log \tau - \frac{1}{4} \log 2 - \frac{1}{2} \log \pi + \log \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right) + E_{-}$$
(14.6.4)

where

$$|E_{-}| \le 0.82 X^{-3/4}. \tag{14.6.5}$$

Proof. We deduce from (14.6.1) with the help of Mellin transform that

$$\begin{split} \log G(e^{-\tau}) &= \sum_{m \ge 0} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \left(\frac{e^{-(4m+1)\ell\tau}}{\ell} + \frac{(-1)^{\ell} e^{-(4m+3)\ell\tau}}{\ell} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} \tau^{-s} \Gamma(s) \sum_{m \ge 0} \sum_{\ell \ge 1} \ell^{-s-1} \left(\frac{1}{(4m+1)^s} + \frac{(-1)^{\ell}}{(4m+3)^s} \right) ds \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} (4\tau)^{-s} \Gamma(s) \zeta(s+1) \left(\zeta\left(s, \frac{1}{4}\right) - (1-2^{-s}) \zeta\left(s, \frac{3}{4}\right) \right) ds \\ &=: \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} \Theta_+(s) ds. \end{split}$$

Now one may shift the path of integration to (-3/4) by taking into consideration of the residues of $\Theta_+(s)$ inside the stripe $-3/4 < \Re(s) < 3/2$. Hence,

$$\log G(e^{-\tau}) = \sum_{-3/4 < \Re(s) < 3/2} \operatorname{Res}_{s} \Theta_{+}(s) + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(-3/4)} \Theta_{+}(s) ds.$$

Notice that $\Theta_+(s)$ has two singularities respectively at s = 0 and 1 when $-3/4 < \Re(s) < 3/2$. We compute that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{s=1}\Theta_+(s) = \frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau}$$

and

$$\operatorname{Res}_{s=0} \Theta_{+}(s) = -\frac{1}{4} \log(4\tau) + \zeta'\left(0, \frac{1}{4}\right) - (\log 2)\zeta\left(0, \frac{3}{4}\right)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4} \log(4\tau) + \log\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \log(2\pi) + \frac{1}{4} \log 2$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4} \log\tau - \frac{3}{4} \log 2 - \frac{1}{2} \log\pi + \log\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right).$$

Further, recalling that $\tau = X^{-1} + 2\pi i Y$ where $|Y| \le 1/(2\pi X)$, we have $|\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)| \le \pi/4$. Since for $\Re(s) = -3/4$,

$$|\tau^{-s}| = \exp\left(\frac{3}{4}\log|\tau| + \Im(s)\operatorname{Arg}(\tau)\right) \le |\tau|^{3/4}e^{|\Im(s)|\pi/4},$$

it follows that

$$\begin{split} |E_{+}| &= \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(-3/4)} \Theta_{+}(s) ds \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(-3/4)} (4\tau)^{-s} \Gamma(s) \zeta(s+1) \left(\zeta\left(s,\frac{1}{4}\right) - (1-2^{-s}) \zeta\left(s,\frac{3}{4}\right) \right) ds \right| \\ &\leq |\tau|^{3/4} \cdot \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} 4^{3/4} e^{|t|\pi/4} \left| \Gamma\left(-\frac{3}{4} + it\right) \right| \left| \zeta\left(\frac{1}{4} + it\right) \right| \\ &\times \left(\left| \zeta\left(-\frac{3}{4} + it,\frac{1}{4}\right) \right| + (1+2^{3/4}) \left| \zeta\left(-\frac{3}{4} + it,\frac{3}{4}\right) \right| \right) dt \\ &\leq 0.507 |\tau|^{3/4}. \end{split}$$

We also have

$$|\tau| = \sqrt{X^{-2} + 4\pi^2 Y^2} \le \sqrt{2} X^{-1}.$$

Hence,

$$|E_+| \le 0.66 X^{-3/4}$$

For $\log G(-e^{-\tau})$, we simply notice that

$$\log G(-e^{-\tau}) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(3/2)} (4\tau)^{-s} \Gamma(s) \zeta(s+1) \left(\zeta\left(s,\frac{3}{4}\right) - (1-2^{-s}) \zeta\left(s,\frac{1}{4}\right) \right) ds.$$

The rest follows from similar calculations.

14.7 Applying the Circle Method

The proof of Theorem 14.1.2 is simply an exercise of the circle method. We first put

$$X = \sqrt{\frac{48n}{\pi^2}}.$$
 (14.7.1)

Since it is assumed that $X \ge 3.4 \times 10^7$ as in Theorem 14.5.1, one has

$$n \ge 2.4 \times 10^{14}.\tag{14.7.2}$$

Recall that Cauchy's integral formula indicates that

$$g(n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{|q|=e^{-1/X}} \frac{G(q)}{q^{n+1}} dq$$

= $e^{n/X} \int_{-\frac{1}{2\pi X}}^{1-\frac{1}{2\pi X}} G\left(e^{-(X^{-1}+2\pi it)}\right) e^{2\pi int} dt.$ (14.7.3)

Now we separate the interval $\left[-\frac{1}{2\pi X}, 1-\frac{1}{2\pi X}\right]$ into three (disjoint) subintervals:

$$I_1 := \left[-\frac{1}{2\pi X}, \frac{1}{2\pi X} \right],$$

$$I_2 := \left[\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2\pi X}, \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\pi X} \right]$$

and

$$I_3 := \left[-\frac{1}{2\pi X}, \ 1 - \frac{1}{2\pi X}\right] - I_1 - I_2.$$

Before evaluating (14.7.3) for each subinterval, we fix the notation that $\mathfrak{O}(x)$ means an expression E such that $|E| \leq x$. We also write for j = 1, 2, 3,

$$g_j(n) := e^{n/X} \int_{I_j} G\left(e^{-(X^{-1} + 2\pi i t)}\right) e^{2\pi i n t} dt.$$

First,

$$g_1(n) = e^{n/X} \int_{-\frac{1}{2\pi X}}^{\frac{1}{2\pi X}} G\left(e^{-(X^{-1} + 2\pi it)}\right) e^{2\pi int} dt$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} e^{n\tau} G(e^{-\tau}) d\tau.$$

Notice that for $|x| \leq 1$,

$$e^x = 1 + \mathfrak{O}(2|x|).$$

Applying (14.6.2) yields

$$g_1(n) = \frac{\left(1 + \mathfrak{O}(1.32X^{-3/4})\right)\Gamma(1/4)}{2^{3/4}\pi^{1/2}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \tau^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau. \quad (14.7.4)$$

We then separate the integral as

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \tau^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{\Gamma} -\int_{-\infty - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}} + \int_{-\infty + i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \right) \tau^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau$$
$$=: J_{11} + J_{12} + J_{13}$$

where

$$\Gamma := (-\infty - iX^{-1}) \to (X^{-1} - iX^{-1}) \to (X^{-1} + iX^{-1}) \to (-\infty + iX^{-1})$$
(14.7.5)

is a Hankel contour. To evaluate J_{11} , we make the change of variables

$$\tau = \sqrt{\frac{\pi^2}{48n}}w.$$

Then

$$J_{11} = \left(\frac{\pi^2}{48n}\right)^{3/8} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{\Gamma}} w^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\sqrt{\frac{\pi^2 n}{48}} \left(\frac{1}{w} + w\right)\right) dw$$

where $\tilde{\Gamma}$ is the new contour. Recalling the contour integral representation of $I_s(x)$:

$$I_{s}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{\Gamma}} w^{-s-1} e^{\frac{x}{2} \left(w + \frac{1}{w}\right)} dw,$$

we conclude

$$J_{11} = \frac{\pi^{3/4}}{2^{3/2} 3^{3/8} n^{3/8}} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right).$$

To bound J_{12} , we put $\tau = x - iX^{-1}$. Then

$$J_{12} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{X^{-1}} \tau^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48\tau} + n\tau\right) dx.$$

Since $|\tau| \ge X^{-1}$, we have

$$|\tau|^{-1/4} \le X^{1/4}.$$

Also,

$$|e^{n\tau}| = e^{nx}.$$

Further,

$$\left| e^{\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau}} \right| = e^{\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{x}{x^2 + X^{-2}}} \le e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X}.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} |J_{12}| &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot X^{1/4} e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X} \int_{-\infty}^{X^{-1}} e^{nx} \, dx \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot X^{1/4} e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X} \cdot \frac{1}{n} e^{n/X} \\ &= \frac{3^{1/8}}{2^{1/2} \pi^{5/4} n^{7/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

One may carry out a similar argument to obtain

$$|J_{13}| \le \frac{3^{1/8}}{2^{1/2} \pi^{5/4} n^{7/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right).$$

In consequence,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \tau^{-\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau = \frac{\pi^{3/4}}{2^{3/2}3^{3/8}n^{3/8}} I_{-3/4}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + \mathfrak{O}\left(\frac{2^{1/2}3^{1/8}}{\pi^{5/4}n^{7/8}}\exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right)\right).$$

Recalling (14.7.4), we have

$$g_1(n) = \frac{\pi^{1/4} \Gamma(1/4)}{2^{9/4} 3^{3/8} n^{3/8}} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + E_{g_1}$$
(14.7.6)

where

$$|E_{g_1}| \leq \frac{\Gamma(1/4)}{2^{3/4}\pi^{1/2}} \left(\frac{1.32\pi^{3/2}}{2^{3}3^{3/4}n^{3/4}} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right) + \left(1 + \frac{1.32\pi^{3/4}}{2^{3/2}3^{3/8}n^{3/8}} \right) \frac{2^{1/2}3^{1/8}}{\pi^{5/4}n^{7/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right) \right) \\ \ll n^{-3/4} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right).$$
(14.7.7)

On the other hand,

$$g_2(n) = (-1)^n e^{n/X} \int_{-\frac{1}{2\pi X}}^{\frac{1}{2\pi X}} G\left(-e^{-(X^{-1}+2\pi it)}\right) e^{2\pi int} dt$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^n}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} e^{n\tau} G(-e^{-\tau}) d\tau.$$

It follows from (14.6.4) that

$$g_2(n) = (-1)^n \frac{\left(1 + \mathfrak{O}(1.64X^{-3/4})\right) \Gamma(3/4)}{2^{1/4} \pi^{1/2}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \tau^{\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau.$$
(14.7.8)

Similarly, we separate the integral as

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}} \tau^{\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{\Gamma} -\int_{-\infty - i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} - i\frac{1}{X}} + \int_{-\infty + i\frac{1}{X}}^{\frac{1}{X} + i\frac{1}{X}}\right) \tau^{\frac{1}{4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48}\frac{1}{\tau} + n\tau\right) d\tau$$
$$=: J_{21} + J_{22} + J_{23}$$

where the Hankel contour Γ is as in (14.7.5). One may compute by the same argument that

$$J_{21} = \frac{\pi^{5/4}}{2^{5/2} 3^{5/8} n^{5/8}} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right).$$

To bound J_{22} , we still put $\tau = x - iX^{-1}$. Noticing that

$$|\tau|^{1/4} = (x^2 + X^{-2})^{1/8} \le |x|^{1/4} + X^{-1/4},$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} |J_{22}| &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X} \int_{-\infty}^{X^{-1}} e^{nx} \left(|x|^{1/4} + X^{-1/4} \right) dx \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X} \int_{-\infty}^{0} e^{nx} (-x)^{1/4} dx + \frac{1}{2\pi} \cdot e^{\frac{\pi^2}{96}X} \int_{-\infty}^{X^{-1}} e^{nx} \cdot 2X^{-1/4} dx \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(5/4)}{2\pi n^{5/4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + \frac{1}{2^{1/2}3^{1/8}\pi^{3/4}n^{9/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Likewise,

$$|J_{23}| \le \frac{\Gamma(5/4)}{2\pi n^{5/4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + \frac{1}{2^{1/2} 3^{1/8} \pi^{3/4} n^{9/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right).$$

In consequence,

$$g_2(n) = (-1)^n \frac{\pi^{3/4} \Gamma(3/4)}{2^{11/4} 3^{5/8} n^{5/8}} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right) + E_{g_2}$$
(14.7.9)

where

$$|E_{g_2}| \leq \frac{\Gamma(3/4)}{2^{1/4}\pi^{1/2}} \left(\frac{1.64\pi^2}{2^4 3^1 n} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right) + \left(1 + \frac{1.64\pi^{3/4}}{2^{3/2} 3^{3/8} n^{3/8}} \right) \right) \\ \times 2 \left(\frac{\Gamma(5/4)}{2\pi n^{5/4}} \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{8} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right) + \frac{1}{2^{1/2} 3^{1/8} \pi^{3/4} n^{9/8}} \exp\left(\frac{3\pi}{8} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right) \right) \right) \\ \ll n^{-1} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} \right).$$
(14.7.10)

Remark 14.7.1. It is necessary to point out that $g_2(n)$ has an absolute size of

constant
$$\times n^{-5/8} I_{-5/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right)$$

while from (14.7.7),

$$E_{g_1} \ll n^{-3/4} I_{-3/4} \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right).$$

Since the two *I*-Bessel functions have the same order, we conclude that E_{g_1} is negligible comparing with $g_2(n)$.

Finally,

$$g_3(n) := e^{n/X} \int_{I_3} G\left(e^{-(X^{-1} + 2\pi it)}\right) e^{2\pi int} dt.$$

Hence, by Theorem 14.5.1,

$$|g_3(n)| \le e^{n/X} \int_{I_3} \exp\left(\left(\frac{\pi^2}{48} - \frac{1}{100}\right)X\right) dt$$
$$\le \exp\left(\frac{n}{X} + \left(\frac{\pi^2}{48} - \frac{1}{100}\right)X\right).$$

Namely,

$$|g_3(n)| \le \exp\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}} - \frac{\sqrt{3n}}{25\pi}\right).$$
 (14.7.11)

The asymptotic formula (14.1.8) follows from (14.7.6), (14.7.9) and (14.7.11). Further, a simple calculation reveals that when $n \ge 2.4 \times 10^{14}$, the sign of g(n) depends only on the leading term

$$\frac{\pi^{1/4}\Gamma(1/4)}{2^{9/4}3^{3/8}n^{3/8}}I_{-3/4}\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\sqrt{\frac{n}{3}}\right),$$

which is of course positive.

14.8 References

- [26] T. M. Apostol, Introduction to analytic number theory, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. xii+338 pp.
- [27] T. M. Apostol, Zeta and related functions, NIST handbook of mathematical functions, 601–616, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [38] I. V. Blagouchine, A theorem for the closed-form evaluation of the first generalized Stieltjes constant at rational arguments and some related summations, J. Number Theory 148 (2015), 537–592.
- [61] S. Chern, Nonmodular infinite products and a Conjecture of Seo and Yee, submitted. Available at arXiv:1912.10341.
- [70] V. Coll, A. Mayers, and N. Mayers, Statistics on partitions arising from seaweed algebras, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.1, 13 pp.
- [89] E. Grosswald, Some theorems concerning partitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1958), 113–128.
- [118] J. Lehner, A partition function connected with the modulus five, Duke Math. J. 8 (1941), 631–655.
- [130] J. Livingood, A partition function with the prime modulus P > 3, Amer. J. Math. 67 (1945), 194–208.
- [134] G. Meinardus, Asymptotische aussagen über partitionen, Math. Z. 59 (1954), 388–398.

- [161] S. Seo and A. J. Yee, Index of seaweed algebras and integer partitions, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 1.47, 10 pp.
- [164] H. M. Srivastava and J. Choi, Series associated with the zeta and related functions, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2001. x+388 pp.

Part IV | The World of *p*atterns

Outline

- Chapter 15 is devoted to Lin and Ma's conjecture on 0012-avoiding inversion sequences.
- Chapter 16 is devoted to Lin's conjecture on the avoidance of triples of binary relations with the ascent statistic considered.

Chapter 15 Lin and Ma's Conjecture on 0012-Avoiding Inversion Sequences

This chapter comes from

• S. Chern, On 0012-avoiding inversion sequences and a Conjecture of Lin and Ma, submitted. Available at arXiv:2006.04318. (Ref. [62])

15.1 Introduction

Our starting point is a recent paper of Yan and Lin [174], in which they proved a conjecture due to Martinez and Savage [132] that claims

$$|\mathbf{I}_n(021, 120)| = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \binom{2i}{i-1}.$$
(15.1.1)

This sequence is registered as A279561 in OEIS [163]. Lin and Yan also showed that this sequence as well enumerates $|\mathbf{I}_n(102, 110)|$ and $|\mathbf{I}_n(102, 120)|$. This therefore establishes the Wilf-equivalences

$$\mathbf{I}_n(021, 120) \sim \mathbf{I}_n(102, 110) \sim \mathbf{I}_n(102, 120).$$
 (15.1.2)

At the end of [174], a conjecture of Zhicong Lin and Jun Ma discovered in 2019 is recorded.

Conjecture 15.1.1 (Lin and Ma). For $n \ge 1$,

$$|\mathbf{I}_n(0012)| = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \binom{2i}{i-1}.$$
(15.1.3)

In other words, one may extend the balanced Wilf-equivalences (15.1.2) as the following

unbalanced ones:

$$\mathbf{I}_n(0012) \sim \mathbf{I}_n(021, 120) \sim \mathbf{I}_n(102, 110) \sim \mathbf{I}_n(102, 120).$$

It is also worth pointing out that the consideration of length-four pattern avoidance in inversion sequences appears novel in the literature.

The object of this chapter is to confirm the above conjecture of Lin and Ma.

Theorem 15.1.1. Conjecture 15.1.1 is true.

Let us fix some notation. Given $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$, we define

$$\mathcal{R}(e) := \{ m : \exists i \neq j \text{ such that } e_i = e_j = m \}.$$

In other words, $\mathcal{R}(e)$ is the set of letters that appear more than once in e. We further define

$$\operatorname{srpt}(e) := \min \mathcal{R}(e),$$

that is, the smallest number in $\mathcal{R}(e)$ — here srpt stands for "smallest repeated." Notice that there is only one sequence $01 \cdots (n-1)$ in which none of the letters repeat. For this sequence, we assign that

$$\operatorname{srpt}(01\cdots(n-1)) := n-1.$$

Finally, we define

$$\operatorname{last}(e) := e_n,$$

the last entry of e.

15.2 Combinatorial Observations

We collect some combinatorial observations about inversion sequences in $I_n(0012)$.

Lemma 15.2.1. For $n \ge 1$ and $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$, if $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = k$, then for $1 \le i \le k+1$, we have $e_i = i - 1$.

Proof. If $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = n - 1$, then $e = 01 \cdots (n - 1)$ and hence the lemma is true. Let $\operatorname{srpt}(e) \neq n - 1$. If in this case the lemma is not true, then since $0 \leq e_i \leq i - 1$ for each i, there must exist some $k_1 < k = \operatorname{srpt}(e)$ that appears more than once among $e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_{k+1}$. This violates the assumption that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = k$.

Lemma 15.2.2. For $n \ge 2$ and $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$, let $\gamma(e) = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-1}$. We further assume that $e \ne 01 \cdots (n-1)$. Then

(a). if $last(e) > srpt(\gamma(e))$, then

$$\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e));$$

(b). if $last(e) \leq srpt(\gamma(e))$, then

$$\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{last}(e).$$

Proof. A simple observation is that $\gamma(e) \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(0012)$. Below let us assume that $\operatorname{last}(e) = \ell$, $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = k$ and $\operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e)) = k'$.

First, if $\mathcal{R}(\gamma(e)) = \emptyset$, then for each $0 \le i \le n-1$, $e_i = i-1$. Since $e \ne 01 \cdots (n-1)$, we have $\operatorname{last}(e) = \ell \le n-2 = \operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e))$. This fits into Case (b). Further, we find that $\mathcal{R}(e) = \{\ell\}$ and hence $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \ell$. This implies that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{last}(e)$.

Now we assume that $\mathcal{R}(\gamma(e)) \neq \emptyset$. Notice that Case (a) is trivial. For Case (b), we first deduce from $\mathcal{R}(\gamma(e)) \neq \emptyset$ that $k' \leq n-3$. By Lemma 15.2.1, we find that for $1 \leq i \leq k'+1, e_i = i-1$. If $\text{last}(e) = \ell \leq k'$, then we know that $e_{\ell+1} = \ell = e_n$. Also, we notice that the indices satisfy $\ell + 1 \leq k' + 1 \leq n-2 < n$. Hence, $\ell \in \mathcal{R}(e)$. Therefore, $\text{srpt}(e) = \min\{\ell, k'\} = \ell = \text{last}(e)$.

Corollary 15.2.3. For $e \in I_n(0012)$,

$$0 \le \operatorname{srpt}(e) \le \operatorname{last}(e) \le n - 1.$$

Proof. If $e = 01 \cdots (n-1)$, the above inequalities are trivial since $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{last}(e) = n-1$. If $e \neq 01 \cdots (n-1)$, the inequalities are direct consequences of Lemma 15.2.2 and the fact that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) \ge 0$ and $\operatorname{last}(e) \le n-1$.

Lemma 15.2.4. For $n \ge 2$ and $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$, let e be such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{last}(e) = k$ with $0 \le k \le n-2$. Then

(a). for $1 \le i \le k+1$,

$$e_i = i - 1;$$

(b). if we denote $e' = e'_1 e'_2 \cdots e'_{n-k}$ by the sequence obtained via $e'_i = e_{k+i} - k$ for each $1 \le i \le n-k$, then $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-k}(0012)$ such that

$$\operatorname{srpt}(e') = \operatorname{last}(e') = 0.$$

Proof. Part (a) simply comes from Lemma 15.2.1. Also, we know from Part (a) that for $k + 1 \leq i \leq n$, it holds that $e_i \geq k$. On the other hand, $e_i \leq i - 1$. Hence, e' is still an inversion sequence. Further, it is trivial to see that e' still avoids the pattern 0012. Finally, we have $e'_1 = e_{k+1} - k = k - k = 0$ and $last(e') = e'_{n-k} = e_n - k = k - k = 0$. Since $n - k \geq 2 > 1$, we have $0 \in \mathcal{R}(e')$ and hence srpt(e') = 0.

15.3 Recurrences

Let

$$f_n(k,\ell) := \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{the number of sequences } e \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012) \text{ with} \\ \text{srpt}(e) = k \text{ and } \text{last}(e) = \ell \end{array} \right\}$$

We will establish the following recurrences.

Lemma 15.3.1. We have

(a). for $n \geq 1$,

$$f_n(n-1, n-1) = 1;$$

(b). for $n \geq 2$,

$$f_n(n-2, n-1) = 0$$

(c). for $n \ge 2$ and $0 \le k \le n-3$,

$$f_n(k, n-1) = \sum_{k'=k}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(k', n-2);$$

(d). for $n \ge 2$ and $0 \le \ell \le n - 2$,

$$f_n(\ell, \ell) = \sum_{\ell'=\ell}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=\ell}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k', \ell');$$

(e). for $n \ge 2$ and $0 \le k < \ell \le n - 2$,

$$f_n(k,\ell) = \sum_{k'=k}^{\ell} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) + \sum_{\ell'=\ell}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(k,\ell').$$

Proof. Cases (a) and (b) are trivial. In particular, Case (a) enumerates the only inversion sequence $01 \cdots (n-1)$ in which none of the letters repeat. Below we always assume that $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$. Let $\gamma(e)$ be as in Lemma 15.2.2.

For Case (c), let e be such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = k \leq n-3$ and $\operatorname{last}(e) = n-1$. We first notice that $e_{n-1} = \operatorname{last}(\gamma(e)) \geq \operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e))$ by Corollary 15.2.3. Also, it is easy to see that $\operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e)) = \operatorname{srpt}(e) = k$ since $\operatorname{last}(e) = n-1 > k$. Now we claim that $e_{n-1} = k$. Otherwise, namely, if $e_{n-1} > k$, we may find i < j < n-1 such that $e_i = e_j = k$. Hence, $e_i e_j e_{n-1} e_n$ has the reduction 0012, which contradicts the assumption that $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$. We therefore have a bijection

$$e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-2}(k)(n-1) \longleftrightarrow e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-2}(n-2) = e'.$$

Notice that e' is still an inversion sequence avoiding the pattern 0012. Also, $\operatorname{srpt}(e') \geq k$. Otherwise, there exists some k' < k that appears more than once among $e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_{n-2}$ and therefore $\operatorname{srpt}(e) < k$, which leads to a contradiction. Finally, to prove Case (c), it suffices to show that e' could be any inversion sequence in $\mathbf{I}_{n-1}(0012)$ with $\operatorname{last}(e') = n-2$ (which is of course true) and $\operatorname{srpt}(e') \geq k$. Let e' be such a sequence and assume that $\operatorname{srpt}(e') = k' \geq k$. By Lemma 15.2.1, we have $e_{k+1} = k$. Pulling back to e, we have $e_{k+1} = e_{n-1} = k$ with the indices $k + 1 \leq n - 2 < n - 1$. Therefore, for this e, we have $k \in \mathcal{R}(e)$ and hence $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \min\{k', k\} = k$.

For Case (d), let e be such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = \operatorname{last}(e) = \ell$ with $0 \leq \ell \leq n-2$. We first find that $\operatorname{srpt}(\gamma(e)) \geq \operatorname{srpt}(e) = \ell$. On the other hand, let $e' = e'_1 e'_2 \cdots e'_{n-1} \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(0012)$ be such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e') \geq \ell$. By Lemma 15.2.1, $e'_{\ell+1} = \ell$. Hence, by appending ℓ to the end of e', we obtain a sequence with both srpt and last equal to ℓ . We therefore arrive at a bijection between e and e',

$$e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-1}(\ell) \longleftrightarrow e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-1} = e',$$

and the desired relation follows.

For Case (e), let e be such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e) = k$ and $\operatorname{last}(e) = \ell$ with $0 \le k < \ell \le n-2$. Notice that $e_{n-1} \ge k$. Otherwise, we assume that $e_{n-1} = k' < k$. Then by Lemma 15.2.1, $e_{k'+1} = k' = e_{n-1}$. However, k' + 1 < k + 1 < n - 1 and hence $k' \in \mathcal{R}(e)$. But this violates the fact that $k = \min \mathcal{R}(e)$. Now we have two cases.

▶ $e_{n-1} < e_n$. We claim that $e_{n-1} = k$. Otherwise, we may find i < j < n-1 such that $e_i = e_j = k$. Hence, $e_i e_j e_{n-1} e_n$ has the reduction 0012, which violates the assumption that $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012)$. Now we have a bijection between e and $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(0012)$ such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e') \ge k$ and $\operatorname{last}(e') = \ell$ by

$$e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-2}(k)(\ell) \longleftrightarrow e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-2}(\ell) = e'.$$

The argument is similar to that for Case (c). This bijection leads to the first term in the right-hand side of the recurrence relation in Case (e).

• $e_{n-1} \ge e_n$. We have a bijection between e and $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(0012)$ such that $\operatorname{srpt}(e') = k$ and $\operatorname{last}(e') \ge \ell$ by

$$e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-1}(\ell) \longleftrightarrow e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-1} = e'.$$

The argument is similar to that for Case (d). This bijection leads to the second term in the right-hand side of the recurrence relation in Case (e).

The proof of the lemma is therefore complete.

We may therefore determine the support of $f_n(k, \ell)$.

Corollary 15.3.2. For $n \ge 1$, $f_n(k, \ell)$ is supported on

$$\{(k,\ell) \in \mathbb{N}^2 : 0 \le k \le \ell \le n-1\} \setminus \{(n-2, n-1)\}.$$

Proof. By Corollary 15.2.3, $f_n(k, \ell) = 0$ if

$$(k,\ell) \notin \{(k,\ell) \in \mathbb{N}^2 : 0 \le k \le \ell \le n-1\}.$$

Also, $f_n(n-2, n-1) = 0$ by Lemma 15.3.1(b). Finally, for the remaining (k, ℓ) , we have $f_n(k, \ell) \neq 0$ with the help of the recurrences in Lemma 15.3.1.

Finally, we have another recurrence.

Lemma 15.3.3. We have, for $n \ge 2$ and $0 \le k \le n-2$,

$$f_n(k,k) = f_{n-k}(0,0).$$

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of Lemma 15.2.4.

In the sequel, we require three auxiliary functions with q within a sufficiently small neighborhood of 0:

$$\mathcal{L}(x;q) = \sum_{n \ge 1} L_n(x)q^n := \sum_{n \ge 1} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_n(k,n-1)x^k \right) q^n,$$
$$\mathcal{D}(x;q) = \sum_{n \ge 1} D_n(x)q^n := \sum_{n \ge 1} \left(\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_n(\ell,\ell)x^\ell \right) q^n,$$

$$\mathcal{F}(x,y;q) = \sum_{n \ge 1} F_n(x,y) q^n := \sum_{n \ge 1} \left(\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell} f_n(k,\ell) x^k y^\ell \right) q^n$$

Notice that $L_1(x) = 1$, $D_1(x) = 0$ and $F_1(x, y) = 1$. Also, since $f_n(n-1, n-1) = 1$, we have

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} f_n(\ell,\ell) x^{\ell} = D_n(x) + x^{n-1}.$$

15.4 001-Avoidance and a Result of Corteel et al.

The following result on 001-avoidance was shown by Corteel et al. [73].

Theorem 15.4.1 (Corteel et al.). For $n \ge 1$,

$$|\mathbf{I}_n(001)| = 2^{n-1}.\tag{15.4.1}$$

One readily observes that, for $n \ge 2$, there is a natural bijection between 001-avoiding inversion sequences of length n - 1 and 0012-avoiding inversion sequences of length nin which the last entry equals n - 1. Such a bijection could be simply constructed by appending n - 1 to the end of the 001-avoiding inversion sequences. Therefore, we have an enumeration result as follows.

Corollary 15.4.2. For $n \ge 1$,

$$|\{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(0012) : \operatorname{last}(e) = n - 1\}| = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n = 1, \\ 2^{n-2} & \text{if } n \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(15.4.2)

Notice that Corollary 15.4.2 is equivalent to

$$\mathcal{L}(1;q) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_n(k, n-1) \right) q^n$$

= $q + q^2 + 2q^3 + 4q^4 + 8q^5 + 16q^6 + \cdots$
= $\frac{q(1-q)}{1-2q}$.

Now we prove a bivariate strengthening of the above that will be utilized in our proof of Theorem 15.1.1.

Theorem 15.4.3. We have

$$\mathcal{L}(x;q) = \frac{q(1-q)^2}{(1-2q)(1-xq)}.$$
(15.4.3)

Proof. For $n \ge 2$, it follows from (a), (b) and (c) of Lemma 15.3.1 that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_n(k, n-1)x^k = x^{n-1} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-3} \sum_{k'=k}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(k', n-2)x^k$$
$$= x^{n-1} + \sum_{k'=0}^{n-3} f_{n-1}(k', n-2) \sum_{k=0}^{k'} x^k + f_{n-1}(n-2, n-2) \sum_{k=0}^{n-3} x^k$$
$$= x^{n-1} + \sum_{k'=0}^{n-3} f_{n-1}(k', n-2) \frac{1-x^{k'+1}}{1-x} + \frac{1-x^{n-2}}{1-x}.$$

Therefore,

$$L_n(x) = x^{n-1} + \frac{1}{1-x} \left(L_{n-1}(1) - xL_{n-1}(x) \right) - \frac{1-x^{n-1}}{1-x} + \frac{1-x^{n-2}}{1-x}.$$

Multiplying the above by q^n and summing over $n \ge 2$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(x;q) - q = \frac{q}{1-x}\mathcal{L}(1;q) - \frac{xq}{1-x}\mathcal{L}(x;q) - \frac{q^2(1-x)}{1-xq},$$

or

$$(1 - xq)(1 - x + xq)\mathcal{L}(x;q) = q(1 - xq)\mathcal{L}(1;q) + q(1 - q)(1 - x).$$
(15.4.4)

Applying the kernel method yields

$$\begin{cases} 1 - x + xq = 0, \\ q(1 - xq)\mathcal{L}(1;q) + q(1 - q)(1 - x) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Solving the first equation of the system for x gives

$$x = \frac{1}{1-q}.$$

Substituting the above into the second equation of the system, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(1;q) = \frac{q(1-q)}{1-2q}.$$

Substituting the above back to (15.4.4), we arrive at (15.4.3).

15.5 Proof of Theorem 15.1.1

We first establish two relations concerning $\mathcal{D}(x;q)$.

Lemma 15.5.1. We have

$$\mathcal{D}(x;q) = \frac{1}{1-xq}\mathcal{D}(0;q) \tag{15.5.1}$$

$$= \frac{q}{1 - xq} \mathcal{F}(1, 1; q).$$
(15.5.2)

Proof. We know from Lemma 15.3.3 that

$$\sum_{n\geq 2} \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} f_n(k,k) x^k q^n = \sum_{n\geq 2} \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} f_{n-k}(0,0) x^k q^n$$

$$(\text{with } n' = n-k) = \sum_{n'\geq 2} \sum_{n\geq n'} f_{n'}(0,0) x^{n-n'} q^n$$

$$= \sum_{n'\geq 2} f_{n'}(0,0) x^{-n'} \sum_{n\geq n'} (xq)^n$$

$$= \frac{1}{1-xq} \sum_{n'>2} f_{n'}(0,0) q^{n'}.$$

Noticing that $D_1(x) = 0$, we have

$$\mathcal{D}(x;q) = \frac{1}{1-xq}\mathcal{D}(0;q),$$

which is the first part of the lemma. For the second part, we deduce from Lemma 15.3.1(d) that

$$\mathcal{D}(0;q) = \sum_{n \ge 2} f_n(0,0)q^n$$

= $\sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\ell'=0}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k',\ell')q^n$
= $q\mathcal{F}(1,1;q).$

Therefore, (15.5.2) follows.

Next, we show a relation between $\mathcal{F}(x, 1; q)$ and $\mathcal{F}(1, 1; q)$.

Lemma 15.5.2. We have

$$\mathcal{F}(x,1;q) = \frac{1-q}{1-xq} \mathcal{F}(1,1;q).$$
(15.5.3)

Proof. For $n \ge 2$, it follows from Lemma 15.3.1(d) that

$$D_n(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_n(\ell, \ell) x^{\ell}$$

= $\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} \sum_{\ell'=\ell}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=\ell}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k', \ell') x^{\ell}$
= $\sum_{\ell'=0}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k', \ell') \sum_{k=0}^{k'} x^{\ell}$
= $\sum_{\ell'=0}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k', \ell') \frac{1-x^{k'+1}}{1-x}$
= $\frac{1}{1-x} \Big(F_{n-1}(1, 1) - xF_{n-1}(x, 1) \Big).$

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{D}(x;q) = \frac{q}{1-x} \Big(\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) - x \mathcal{F}(x,1;q) \Big).$$

Substituting (15.5.2) into the above yields

$$\frac{q}{1-xq}\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) = \frac{q}{1-x}\Big(\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) - x\mathcal{F}(x,1;q)\Big),$$

from which (15.5.3) follows.

We then construct a functional equation for $\mathcal{F}(x, y; q)$.

Lemma 15.5.3. We have

$$\left(1 + \frac{xq}{1-x} + \frac{yq}{1-y}\right) \mathcal{F}(x,y;q)$$

$$= \frac{q}{1-x} \mathcal{F}(1,y;q) + \frac{q(1-q)}{(1-y)(1-xyq)} \mathcal{F}(1,1;q) + \frac{q(1-q-2yq+2yq^2+y^2q^2)}{(1-2yq)(1-xyq)}.$$
(15.5.4)

Proof. We first observe that

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_n(\ell,\ell) x^\ell y^\ell + \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} f_n(k,\ell) x^k y^\ell = F_n(x,y) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f_n(k,n-1) x^k y^{n-1}$$

$$= F_n(x,y) - y^{n-1}L_n(x).$$
(15.5.5)

Notice also that

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_n(\ell,\ell) x^{\ell} y^{\ell} = D_n(xy).$$
(15.5.6)

Now, by Lemma 15.3.1(e), we may separate

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} f_n(k,\ell) x^k y^\ell = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{k'=k}^{\ell} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) x^k y^\ell + \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{\ell'=\ell}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(k,\ell') x^k y^\ell$$

We further notice that the first term on the right-hand side can be separated as

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{k'=k}^{\ell} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) x^k y^\ell = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{k'=k}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) x^k y^\ell + \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(\ell,\ell) x^k y^\ell.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{k'=k}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) x^k y^\ell \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) y^\ell \sum_{k=0}^{k'} x^k \\ &= \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) y^\ell \frac{1-x^{k'+1}}{1-x} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} \sum_{k'=0}^{\ell} f_{n-1}(k',\ell) y^\ell \frac{1-x^{k'+1}}{1-x} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(\ell,\ell) y^\ell \frac{1-x^{\ell+1}}{1-x} \\ &= \frac{1}{1-x} \Big(F_{n-1}(1,y) - xF_{n-1}(x,y) \Big) \\ &- \frac{1}{1-x} \Big(D_{n-1}(y) + y^{n-2} - xD_{n-1}(xy) - x^{n-1}y^{n-2} \Big). \end{split}$$

Also,

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} f_{n-1}(\ell,\ell) x^k y^\ell = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(\ell,\ell) y^\ell \frac{1-x^\ell}{1-x}$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(\ell,\ell) y^\ell \frac{1-x^\ell}{1-x}$$

$$= \frac{1}{1-x} \Big(D_{n-1}(y) + y^{n-2} - D_{n-1}(xy) - x^{n-2}y^{n-2} \Big).$$

On the other hand,

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} \sum_{\ell'=\ell}^{n-2} f_{n-1}(k,\ell') x^k y^\ell = \sum_{\ell'=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell'-1} f_{n-1}(k,\ell') x^k \sum_{\ell=k+1}^{\ell'} y^\ell$$
$$= \sum_{\ell'=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell'-1} f_{n-1}(k,\ell') x^k \frac{y^{k+1} - y^{\ell'+1}}{1 - y}$$
$$= \sum_{\ell'=0}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell'} f_{n-1}(k,\ell') x^k \frac{y^{k+1} - y^{\ell'+1}}{1 - y}$$
$$= \frac{y}{1 - y} \Big(F_{n-1}(xy,1) - F_{n-1}(x,y) \Big).$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{\ell=1}^{n-2} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell-1} f_n(k,\ell) x^k y^\ell$$

= $\frac{1}{1-x} \Big(F_{n-1}(1,y) - x F_{n-1}(x,y) \Big) + \frac{y}{1-y} \Big(F_{n-1}(xy,1) - F_{n-1}(x,y) \Big)$
- $D_{n-1}(xy) - x^{n-2} y^{n-2}.$ (15.5.7)

It follows from (15.5.5), (15.5.6) and (15.5.7) that

$$F_n(x,y) - y^{n-1}L_n(x)$$

= $D_n(xy) + \frac{1}{1-x} (F_{n-1}(1,y) - xF_{n-1}(x,y))$
+ $\frac{y}{1-y} (F_{n-1}(xy,1) - F_{n-1}(x,y)) - D_{n-1}(xy) - x^{n-2}y^{n-2}.$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}(x,y;q) &- y^{-1}\mathcal{L}(x;yq) \\ &= \mathcal{D}(xy;q) + \frac{q}{1-x} \Big(\mathcal{F}(1,y;q) - x\mathcal{F}(x,y;q) \Big) \\ &+ \frac{yq}{1-y} \Big(\mathcal{F}(xy,1;q) - \mathcal{F}(x,y;q) \Big) - q\mathcal{D}(xy;q) - \frac{q^2}{1-xyq}. \end{aligned}$$

Applying (15.4.3), (15.5.2) and (15.5.3) gives the desired result.

With the assistance of the kernel method, we may deduce a functional equation

satisfied by $\mathcal{F}(1, y; q)$.

Lemma 15.5.4. We have

$$\mathcal{F}(1,y;q) = \frac{q}{1-y+y^2q} \mathcal{F}(1,1;q) + \frac{q(1-y)(1-q-2yq+2yq^2+y^2q^2)}{(1-q)(1-2yq)(1-y+y^2q)}.$$
 (15.5.8)

Proof. We multiply both sides of (15.5.4) by (1-x)(1-y). Then

$$\begin{aligned} & \left((1 - y + yq) - x(1 - y - q + 2yq) \right) \mathcal{F}(x, y; q) \\ &= q(1 - y)\mathcal{F}(1, y; q) + \frac{q(1 - q)(1 - x)}{1 - xyq} \mathcal{F}(1, 1; q) \\ &\quad + \frac{q(1 - x)(1 - y)(1 - q - 2yq + 2yq^2 + y^2q^2)}{(1 - 2yq)(1 - xyq)}. \end{aligned}$$

We treat the kernel polynomial as a function in x and solve

$$(1 - y + yq) - x(1 - y - q + 2yq) = 0$$

so that

$$x = \frac{1 - y + yq}{1 - y - q + 2yq}.$$

Substituting the above into

$$0 = q(1-y)\mathcal{F}(1,y;q) + \frac{q(1-q)(1-x)}{1-xyq}\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) + \frac{q(1-x)(1-y)(1-q-2yq+2yq^2+y^2q^2)}{(1-2yq)(1-xyq)},$$

we arrive at (15.5.8) after simplification.

Finally, we are ready to complete the proof of Theorem 15.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 15.1.1. It is known that (cf. [163, A279561])

$$1 + \sum_{n \ge 1} \left(1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \binom{2i}{i-1} \right) q^n = \frac{1 - 4q + (1 - 2q)\sqrt{1 - 4q}}{2(1-q)(1-4q)}.$$
 (15.5.9)

We then rewrite (15.5.8) as

$$(1 - y + y^2 q)\mathcal{F}(1, y; q) = q\mathcal{F}(1, 1; q) + \frac{q(1 - y)(1 - q - 2yq + 2yq^2 + y^2q^2)}{(1 - q)(1 - 2yq)}.$$

We treat the kernel polynomial as a function in y and solve

$$1 - y + y^2 q = 0.$$

Then

$$y_{1,2} = \frac{1 \mp \sqrt{1 - 4q}}{2q}.$$

We choose the solution

$$y_1 = \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - 4q}}{2q}$$

since $y_1 = 1 + q + O(q^2)$ as $q \to 0$. Substituting $y = y_1$ into

$$0 = q\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) + \frac{q(1-y)(1-q-2yq+2yq^2+y^2q^2)}{(1-q)(1-2yq)},$$

we find that

$$\mathcal{F}(1,1;q) = \frac{-(1-2q)(1-4q) + (1-2q)\sqrt{1-4q}}{2(1-q)(1-4q)}$$
$$= \frac{1-4q + (1-2q)\sqrt{1-4q}}{2(1-q)(1-4q)} - 1.$$
(15.5.10)

This implies that for $n \ge 1$,

$$1 + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \binom{2i}{i-1} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\ell} f_n(k,\ell) = |\mathbf{I}_n(0012)|.$$

Therefore, Conjecture 15.1.1 is true.

15.6 References

- [62] S. Chern, On 0012-avoiding inversion sequences and a Conjecture of Lin and Ma, submitted. Available at arXiv:2006.04318.
- [73] S. Corteel, M. Martinez, C. D. Savage, and M. Weselcouch, Patterns in inversion sequences I, *Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci.* 18 (2016), no. 2, Paper No. 2, 21 pp.
- [132] M. Martinez and C. D. Savage, Patterns in inversion sequences II: inversion sequences avoiding triples of relations, J. Integer Seq. 21 (2018), no. 2, Art. 18.2.2, 44 pp.

- [163] N. J. A. Sloane, On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences. http://oeis.org.
- [174] C. Yan and Z. Lin, Inversion sequences avoiding pairs of patterns, Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci. 22 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 23, 35 pp.

Chapter 16 Lin's Conjecture on Inversion Sequences Avoiding Patterns of Relation Triples

This chapter comes from

• G. E. Andrews and S. Chern, A proof of Lin's conjecture on inversion sequences avoiding patterns of relation triples, *J. Combin. Theory Ser. A* **179** (2021), 105388, 20 pp. (Ref. [22])

16.1 Introduction

Apart from the usual pattern avoidance with fixed patterns, Martinez and Savage [132] also considered the following variation.

Definition 16.1.1 (Martinez and Savage [132]). We denote by $\mathbf{I}_n(\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3)$ where $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho_3 \in \{<, >, \leq, \geq, =, \neq, -\}$ the set of inversion sequences $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n$ such that there are no indices $1 \leq i < j < k \leq n$ with

$$e_i \rho_1 e_j, e_j \rho_2 e_k$$
 and $e_i \rho_3 e_k.$

Here the binary relation "-" stands for "no restriction", that is, if $e_i - e_j$, then we assume that there is no restriction on the order of e_i and e_j .

Since the work of Martinez and Savage, the enumerations of such sequences have been investigated extensively. In particular, a handful of Wilf equivalences among the 343 possible sets of inversion sequences avoiding patterns of relation triples were conjectured in [132] and proved later in [37, 39, 45, 90, 113, 126, 127, 175].

A further direction for the study of pattern avoidance is to take account of various statistics and investigate their distribution over pattern avoiding sequences; see, for instance, [45, 113, 127, 132]. Along this road, in [127], Lin conjectured a curious identity concerning the ascent statistic over $\mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,\geq)$ and $\mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq)$.

We first recall that the *ascent* statistic is defined as follows.

Definition 16.1.2. Let $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n$. We define, $\operatorname{asc}(e) := \#\{i \in [n-1] : e_i < e_{i+1}\}$, that is, the number of *ascents* of *e*.

Conjecture 16.1.1 (Lin [127, Conjecture 2.4]). For $n \ge 1$,

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)} z^{\operatorname{asc}(e)} = \sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq)} z^{n-1-\operatorname{asc}(e)}.$$
 (16.1.1)

Below are the expressions of (16.1.1) for $1 \le n \le 6$:

$$1, \\ 1 + z, \\ 1 + 4z + z^{2}, \\ 1 + 10z + 11z^{2} + z^{3}, \\ 1 + 20z + 55z^{2} + 25z^{3} + z^{4}, \\ 1 + 35z + 188z^{2} + 220z^{3} + 50z^{4} + z^{5}$$

It is notable that the Wilf equivalence of $\mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)$ and $\mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq)$ was first conjectured by Martinez and Savage [132] and later proved bijectively by Lin [127]. However, Lin's bijection, although preserves other statistics, does not imply his conjecture.

Our objective of this chapter is to confirm Conjecture 16.1.1. More precisely, what we are going to show is the following equivalent form.

Theorem 16.1.1. *For* $n \ge 1$ *,*

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq)} z^{\operatorname{asc}(e)} = \sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)} z^{n-1-\operatorname{asc}(e)}.$$
 (16.1.2)

One will see that by replacing z with z^{-1} in (16.1.2) and then multiplying z^{n-1} on both sides, the identity (16.1.1) follows.

Our proof of Theorem 16.1.1 is algebraic with the application of the kernel method. But as commented in [127], a bijective proof of Conjecture 16.1.1 would be more intriguing. Such a proof still remains mysterious.

16.2 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $I_n(\geq, \neq, >)$

In this section, we prove some combinatorial properties of sequences in $\mathbf{I}_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ and $\mathbf{I}_n(\geq, \neq, >)$. In particular, we are interested in the behavior of the subsequence from the left-most appearance of the largest entry to the last entry. The study of such subsequences will lead to useful recurrences concerning these inversion sequences which will be presented in the next section.

Definition 16.2.1. Let $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n$ be a sequence of natural numbers in which e_ℓ is the left-most appearance of the largest entry. We call the subsequence $e_\ell e_{\ell+1} \cdots e_n$ the *tail* of e, denoted by $\tau(e)$. For example,

$$\tau(0, 1, 0, 3, 1, 3, 5, 3, 3, 3, 6, 5, 7, 8, 8, 6, 8, 6, 8) = (8, 8, 6, 8, 6, 8).$$

Definition 16.2.2. We use $a_{\geq k}$ to denote a sequence of consecutive *a*'s appearing at least *k* times, that is,

$$\underbrace{aa\cdots a}_{\geq k \text{ times}}$$

16.2.1 Sequences in $I_n(>, \neq, \geq)$

Lemma 16.2.1. Let $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>, \neq, \geq)$. Then the tail of e has the form

$$a_{>1}b_{>0} \qquad (with \ a > b),$$

that is, a sequence of at least one a followed by several b's while the subsequence of b might be empty.

Proof. Recall that for any $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>, \neq, \geq)$, we cannot find indices i < j < k such that

$$e_i > e_j, \quad e_j \neq e_k \quad \text{and} \quad e_i \ge e_k.$$
 (16.2.1)

Let $e_{\ell} = a$ be the left-most appearance of the largest entry in e. We first claim that among $e_{\ell+1}, \ldots, e_n$, there do not exist two distinct entries both of which are smaller than a. Otherwise, if we have such two entries e_j and e_k (with $\ell + 1 \leq j < k \leq n$), then $e_{\ell}e_je_k$ satisfies (16.2.1), which is not allowed. The above indicates that $e_{\ell+1}, \ldots, e_n \in \{a, b\}$ for some b < a.

Further, if we have $e_{\ell'} = a$ for some $\ell + 1 \leq \ell' \leq n$, then we must have $e_j = a$ for all $\ell + 1 \leq j \leq \ell'$. Otherwise, if there exists one such index j with $e_j = b$, then $e_\ell e_j e_{\ell'} = aba$ satisfies (16.2.1).

The desired lemma therefore follows.

Equipped with Lemma 16.2.1, we may categorize $\mathbf{I}_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ into four disjoint types. (Below we always assume that a > b.)

► TYPE I.

The tail of $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>, \neq, \geq)$ is of the form

$$a_{\geq 2}$$
 or $a_{\geq 1} b_{\geq 2}$;

► TYPE II. The tail of *e* is of the form

a;

► TYPE III. The tail of *e* is of the form

 $a_{\geq 2}b;$

► TYPE IV. The tail of *e* is of the form

a b.

16.2.2 Sequences in $I_n(\geq,\neq,>)$

Lemma 16.2.2. Let $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)$. Then the tail of e has the form

 $a b_{\geq 0} a_{\geq 0} \qquad (with \ a > b),$

that is, a sequence of one a followed by several b's and then by several a's while the subsequence of b and the second subsequence of a might be empty.

Proof. Recall that for any $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq, \neq, >)$, we cannot find indices i < j < k such that

$$e_i \ge e_j, \quad e_j \ne e_k \quad \text{and} \quad e_i > e_k.$$
 (16.2.2)

Let $e_{\ell} = a$ be the left-most appearance of the largest entry in e. We first claim that among $e_{\ell+1}, \ldots, e_n$, there do not exist two distinct entries both of which are smaller than a. Otherwise, if we have such two entries e_j and e_k (with $\ell + 1 \leq j < k \leq n$), then $e_\ell e_j e_k$ satisfies (16.2.1), which is not allowed. The above indicates that $e_{\ell+1}, \ldots, e_n \in \{a, b\}$ for some b < a.

Further, if we have $e_{\ell'} = b$ for some $\ell + 1 \leq \ell' \leq n$, then we must have $e_j = b$ for all $\ell + 1 \leq j \leq \ell'$. Otherwise, if there exists one such index j with $e_j = a$, then $e_\ell e_j e_{\ell'} = aab$ satisfies (16.2.1).

Also, if we have $e_{\ell''} = a$ for some $\ell + 1 \leq \ell'' \leq n$, then we must have $e_k = a$ for all $\ell'' \leq k \leq n$. Otherwise, if there exists one such index k with $e_k = b$, then $e_{\ell}e_{\ell''}e_k = aab$ satisfies (16.2.1).

The desired lemma therefore follows.

Analogously, we categorize $\mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)$ into four disjoint types. (Below we also assume that a > b.)

► TYPE I.

The tail of $e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq, \neq, >)$ is of the form

$$a_{\geq 2}$$
 or $a b_{\geq 2}$ or $a b_{\geq 1} a_{\geq 2}$;

- ► TYPE II. The tail of *e* is of the form
- a;
- ► TYPE III. The tail of *e* is of the form

 $a b_{\geq 1} a;$

- ► TYPE IV. The tail of *e* is of the form
- a b.

16.3 Recurrences and Generating Functions

16.3.1 Recurrences

For $1 \leq i \leq 4$, let

$$\mathbf{I}_{n,i}(>,\neq,\geq) := \{ e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq) : e \text{ is of Type } i \}$$

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{n,i}^{(\Lambda)}(>,\neq,\geq) := \{ e \in \mathbf{I}_{n,i}(>,\neq,\geq) : \text{the largest entry of } e \text{ is } \Lambda \}.$$

We further write

$$f_i(n,\Lambda) := \sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_{n,i}^{(\Lambda)}(>,\neq,\geq)} z^{\operatorname{asc}(e)}.$$
 (16.3.1)

Notice that the initial values of the $f_i\space{}\sp$

$$f_1(1,\Lambda) = f_3(1,\Lambda) = f_4(1,\Lambda) = 0$$
 for all $\Lambda \ge 0$, (16.3.2)

$$f_2(1,\Lambda) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \Lambda = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(16.3.3)

and

$$f_3(2,\Lambda) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \Lambda \ge 0. \tag{16.3.4}$$

Lemma 16.3.1. For $n \ge 2$, we have

(a). for $\Lambda \geq 0$,

$$f_1(n,\Lambda) = f_1(n-1,\Lambda) + f_2(n-1,\Lambda) + f_3(n-1,\Lambda) + f_4(n-1,\Lambda);$$

(b). for $\Lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda \ge n$,

$$f_2(n,\Lambda) = 0,$$
and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$f_2(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \left(zf_1(n-1,\Lambda') + zf_2(n-1,\Lambda') + zf_3(n-1,\Lambda') + zf_4(n-1,\Lambda') \right);$$

(c). for $\Lambda \geq 0$,

$$f_3(n,\Lambda) = f_3(n-1,\Lambda) + f_4(n-1,\Lambda);$$

(d). for $\Lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda \ge n - 1$,

$$f_4(n,\Lambda) = 0,$$

and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$f_4(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \left(z f_1(n-1,\Lambda') + f_2(n-1,\Lambda') + z f_3(n-1,\Lambda') + z f_4(n-1,\Lambda') \right).$$

Further,

(b). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$f_2(n,\Lambda) - f_2(n,\Lambda-1) = zf_1(n,\Lambda-1);$$

(d'). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$f_4(n,\Lambda) - f_4(n,\Lambda-1) = f_2(n-1,\Lambda) + zf_3(n,\Lambda-1).$$

Proof. To prove (a), (b), (c) and (d) of the lemma, we need to bijectively construct sequences in the desired subset of $\mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$ for each type of sequences in $\mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(>, \neq, \geq)$. Such constructions will be presented explicitly below by deleting one paticular element from each sequence in $\mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(>, \neq, \geq)$ of a fixed type. The inverse constructions from the desired subset of $\mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$ to each type of sequences in $\mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(>, \neq, \geq)$ will not be explicitly given but they are simply done by adding the paticular element to where it is deleted. In the sequel, we always write $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(>, \neq, \geq)$.

Case 1. If e is of Type I, then we observe that $e_{n-1} = e_n$. By deleting the last entry e_n , we obtain an inversion sequence e' of length n-1. Apparently, $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$. Also, we claim that e' can be any of the four types. For example, if $\tau(e) = \Lambda \Lambda$, then $\tau(e') = \Lambda$ and hence e' is of Type II. For other cases, we may carry on similar arguments. Further, the largest entry in e' is still Λ . Finally, we observe that $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$.

Case 2. If e is of Type II, then by deleting the last entry $e_n = \Lambda$, we obtain an inversion sequence e' of length n - 1. Again, we notice that $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$ can be any of the four types. However, in this case, the largest entry in e' is smaller than Λ . This is because $e_n = \Lambda$ is the only largest entry in e, but it is deleted. Finally, we observe that $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e') + 1$.

Case 3. If e is of Type III, then $\tau(e)$ is of the form $\Lambda_{\geq 2} b$ for some $b < \Lambda$. By deleting one of the Λ 's, the resulting sequence e' is in $\mathbf{I}_{n-1}^{(\Lambda)}(>, \neq, \geq)$ with largest entry still equal to Λ . Also, $\tau(e')$ is either of the form $\Lambda_{\geq 2} b$ or of the form Λb . Therefore, e' is of either Type III or Type IV. Finally, we observe that $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$.

Case 4. If e is of Type IV, then $\tau(e) = \Lambda b$ for some $b < \Lambda$. We delete Λ from e to get e'. It is not hard to verify that $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$ with largest entry smaller than Λ . We have three subcases as follows.

- $b = e_n = e_{n-2}$. Then e' is of Type I and in this case $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e') + 1$.
- $b = e_n > e_{n-2}$. Then $b > \max\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{n-2}\}$. Otherwise, there exists some e_i in $e_1e_2\cdots e_{n-3}$ such that $e_i \ge b = e_n$. Now the subsequence $e_ie_{n-2}e_n$ satisfies $e_i \ge e_n > e_{n-2}$, which is not allowed. It is then obvious that e' is of Type II and $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$.
- b = e_n < e_{n-2}. Then τ(e₁e₂ ··· e_{n-2}) must be of the form a_{≥1}. Otherwise, there exists some e_i > e_{n-2} with i < n-2. Hence, the subsequence e_ie_{n-2}e_n satisfies e_i > e_{n-2} > e_n and thus satisfies (16.2.1). But this is not allowed. Now if τ(e₁e₂ ··· e_{n-2}) is of the form a_{≥2}, then e' is of Type III and asc(e) = asc(e') + 1; if τ(e₁e₂ ··· e_{n-2}) is of the form a, then e' is of Type IV and as well asc(e) = asc(e') + 1.

Now (a), (b), (c) and (d) of the lemma are proved. Next, we show (b') and (d'). For (b'), we simply notice that

$$f_2(n,\Lambda) - f_2(n,\Lambda - 1)$$

= $zf_1(n-1,\Lambda - 1) + zf_2(n-1,\Lambda - 1) + zf_3(n-1,\Lambda - 1) + zf_4(n-1,\Lambda - 1)$
= $zf_1(n,\Lambda - 1)$,

where we make use of (a) in the last equality. For (d'),

$$f_4(n,\Lambda) - f_4(n,\Lambda-1)$$

$$= zf_1(n-1,\Lambda-1) + f_2(n-1,\Lambda-1) + zf_3(n-1,\Lambda-1) + zf_4(n-1,\Lambda-1)$$

= $(zf_1(n-1,\Lambda-1) + f_2(n-1,\Lambda-1)) + z(f_3(n-1,\Lambda-1) + f_4(n-1,\Lambda-1))$
= $f_2(n-1,\Lambda) + zf_3(n,\Lambda-1),$

where we utilize (b') and (c) in the last equality.

Proposition 16.3.2. For $n \ge 1$,

$$\begin{cases} f_1(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-2, \\ f_2(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-1, \\ f_3(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-3, \\ f_4(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-2. \end{cases}$$

Proof. The equalities for f_2 and f_4 come from Lemma 16.3.1(b) and (d). The equalities for f_1 and f_3 can be proved jointly by a simple induction on n.

On the other hand, for $1 \leq i \leq 4$, let

$$\mathbf{I}_{n,i}(\geq,\neq,>) := \{ e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>) : e \text{ is of Type } i \}$$

and

$$\mathbf{I}_{n,i}^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>) := \{ e \in \mathbf{I}_{n,i}(\geq,\neq,>) : \text{the largest entry of } e \text{ is } \Lambda \}.$$

We further write

$$h_i(n,\Lambda) := \sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_{n,i}^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>)} z^{\operatorname{asc}(e)}.$$
(16.3.5)

Notice that the initial values of the h_i 's are

$$h_1(1,\Lambda) = h_3(1,\Lambda) = h_4(1,\Lambda) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \Lambda \ge 0,$$
$$h_2(1,\Lambda) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \Lambda = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$h_3(2,\Lambda) = 0$$
 for all $\Lambda \ge 0$.

Lemma 16.3.3. For $n \ge 2$, we have

(a). for $\Lambda \geq 0$,

$$h_1(n,\Lambda) = h_1(n-1,\Lambda) + h_2(n-1,\Lambda) + h_3(n-1,\Lambda) + h_4(n-1,\Lambda);$$

(b). for $\Lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda \ge n$,

$$h_2(n,\Lambda) = 0,$$

and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$h_{2}(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \left(zh_{1}(n-1,\Lambda') + zh_{2}(n-1,\Lambda') + zh_{3}(n-1,\Lambda') + zh_{4}(n-1,\Lambda') \right);$$

(c). for $\Lambda \ge 0$, $h_3(n,\Lambda) = h_3(n-1,\Lambda) + zh_4(n-1,\Lambda);$

(d). for
$$\Lambda = 0$$
 and $\Lambda \ge n - 1$,

$$h_4(n,\Lambda) = 0,$$

and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$h_4(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \Big(zh_1(n-1,\Lambda') + h_2(n-1,\Lambda') \\ + h_3(n-1,\Lambda') + zh_4(n-1,\Lambda') \Big).$$

Further,

(b'). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$h_2(n,\Lambda) - h_2(n,\Lambda-1) = zh_1(n,\Lambda-1);$$

(d'). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$h_4(n,\Lambda) - h_4(n,\Lambda-1) = h_2(n-1,\Lambda) + h_3(n,\Lambda-1).$$

Proof. In analogy to the proof of Lemma 16.3.1, we construct bijective maps between each type of sequences in $\mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>)$ and the desired subset of $\mathbf{I}_{n-1}(\geq,\neq,>)$ while still only one side of the maps will be explicitly stated. For (a) and (b), we use the same way as that for Lemma 16.3.1(a) and (b) to reduce $e \in \mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>)$ to $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(\geq,\neq,>)$ and hence the details are omitted. Now let us treat the rest two cases. We as well write $e = e_1 e_2 \cdots e_n \in \mathbf{I}_n^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>)$.

Case 3. If e is of Type III, then $\tau(e)$ is of the form $\Lambda b_{\geq 1} \Lambda$ for some $b < \Lambda$. We distinguish it into two subcases. It should be pointed out in advance that the largest entry of the resulting sequence e' in both cases is still Λ .

- $\tau(e) = \Lambda b \Lambda$. Then we delete the last Λ to get e'. We see that $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}^{(\Lambda)}(\geq, \neq, >)$ is of Type IV. Also $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e') + 1$.
- τ is of the form $\Lambda b_{\geq 2} \Lambda$. Then we delete one of the *b*'s to get some $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}^{(\Lambda)}(\geq,\neq,>)$. This time e' is of Type III and $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$.

Case 4. If e is of Type IV, then $\tau(e) = \Lambda b$ for some $b < \Lambda$. We as well delete Λ from e to get e'. Notice that we also have $e' \in \mathbf{I}_{n-1}(>, \neq, \geq)$ with largest entry smaller than Λ . We have three subcases as follows.

- $b = e_n = e_{n-2}$. Then e' is of Type I and in this case $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e') + 1$.
- $b = e_n > e_{n-2}$. Then $b \ge \max\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{n-2}\}$. Otherwise, there exists some e_i in $e_1e_2\cdots e_{n-3}$ such that $e_i > b = e_n$. Now the subsequence $e_ie_{n-2}e_n$ satisfies $e_i > e_n > e_{n-2}$, which is not allowed. If $b > \max\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{n-2}\}$, then e' is of Type II and $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$; if $b = \max\{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{n-2}\}$, then $\tau(e_1e_2\cdots e_{n-2})$ must be of the form $bc_{\ge 1}$ where $c = e_{n-2} < b$ and hence e' is of Type III and $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e')$.
- $b = e_n < e_{n-2}$. Then $\tau(e_1 e_2 \cdots e_{n-2})$ must be of the form a. Otherwise, there exists some $e_i \ge e_{n-2}$ with i < n-2. Hence, the subsequence $e_i e_{n-2} e_n$ satisfies $e_i \ge e_{n-2} > e_n$ and thus satisfies (16.2.2). But this is not allowed. Thus, e' is of Type IV and $\operatorname{asc}(e) = \operatorname{asc}(e') + 1$.

The proofs of (b') and (d') are also similar to those for Lemma 16.3.1. \Box Finally, we define, for $1 \le i \le 4$,

$$g_i(n,\Lambda) := \sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_{n,i}^{(\Lambda)}(\ge,\neq,>)} z^{n-1-\operatorname{asc}(e)}.$$
(16.3.6)

Then in view of (16.3.5),

$$g_i(n,\Lambda) = z^{n-1} \left[h_i(n,\Lambda) \right]_{z \mapsto z^{-1}}$$

and conversely,

$$h_i(n,\Lambda) = z^{n-1} \Big[g_i(n,\Lambda) \Big]_{z \mapsto z^{-1}}.$$

Thus, the initial values of the $g_i\sp{i}$ are

$$g_1(1,\Lambda) = g_3(1,\Lambda) = g_4(1,\Lambda) = 0 \quad \text{for all } \Lambda \ge 0,$$
$$g_2(1,\Lambda) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \Lambda = 0, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$g_3(2,\Lambda) = 0$$
 for all $\Lambda \ge 0$.

Also, the recurrences for the g_i 's can be translated with no difficulty from those for the h_i 's.

Lemma 16.3.4. For $n \ge 2$, we have

(a). for $\Lambda \geq 0$,

$$g_1(n,\Lambda) = zg_1(n-1,\Lambda) + zg_2(n-1,\Lambda) + zg_3(n-1,\Lambda) + zg_4(n-1,\Lambda);$$

(b). for $\Lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda \ge n$,

$$g_2(n,\Lambda)=0,$$

and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$g_2(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \left(g_1(n-1,\Lambda') + g_2(n-1,\Lambda') + g_3(n-1,\Lambda') + g_4(n-1,\Lambda') \right);$$

(c). for $\Lambda \geq 0$,

$$g_3(n,\Lambda) = zg_3(n-1,\Lambda) + g_4(n-1,\Lambda);$$

(d). for $\Lambda = 0$ and $\Lambda \ge n - 1$,

$$g_4(n,\Lambda)=0,$$

and for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$g_4(n,\Lambda) = \sum_{0 \le \Lambda' < \Lambda} \left(g_1(n-1,\Lambda') + zg_2(n-1,\Lambda') + zg_3(n-1,\Lambda') + g_4(n-1,\Lambda') \right).$$

Further,

(b'). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-1$,

$$g_2(n,\Lambda) - g_2(n,\Lambda-1) = z^{-1}g_1(n,\Lambda-1)$$

(d'). for $1 \leq \Lambda \leq n-2$,

$$g_4(n,\Lambda) - g_4(n,\Lambda-1) = zg_2(n-1,\Lambda) + g_3(n,\Lambda-1).$$

Similar to Proposition 16.3.2, we have the following equalities.

Proposition 16.3.5. For $n \ge 1$,

$$\begin{cases} g_1(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-2, \\ g_2(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-1, \\ g_3(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-3, \\ g_4(n,\Lambda) = 0, & \text{if } \Lambda > n-2. \end{cases}$$

16.3.2 Generating Functions

Let

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{1}(t) &= \mathcal{F}_{1}(t;q) := \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_{1}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{2}(t) &= \mathcal{F}_{2}(t;q) := \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} f_{2}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n}, \\ \mathcal{F}_{3}(t) &= \mathcal{F}_{3}(t;q) := \sum_{n \geq 3} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-3} f_{3}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-3-\Lambda} q^{n}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_4(t) = \mathcal{F}_4(t;q) := \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_4(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^n.$$

It is easy to translate the recurrences of the f_i 's in Lemma 16.3.1 to functional equations of $\mathcal{F}_1(t)$, $\mathcal{F}_2(t)$, $\mathcal{F}_3(t)$ and $\mathcal{F}_4(t)$.

Lemma 16.3.6. We have

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_{1}(t) - q^{2} = tq\mathcal{F}_{1}(t) + q\mathcal{F}_{2}(t) + t^{2}q\mathcal{F}_{3}(t) + tq\mathcal{F}_{4}(t), \\ t\mathcal{F}_{2}(t) - \left(\mathcal{F}_{2}(t) - \mathcal{F}_{2}(0)\right) = zt\mathcal{F}_{1}(t), \\ \mathcal{F}_{3}(t) = tq\mathcal{F}_{3}(t) + q\mathcal{F}_{4}(t), \\ t\mathcal{F}_{4}(t) - \left(\mathcal{F}_{4}(t) - \mathcal{F}_{4}(0)\right) = tq\mathcal{F}_{2}(t) + zt\mathcal{F}_{3}(t). \end{cases}$$
(16.3.7)

Proof. We show the first and second equations as instances. The proof of the third one is similar to the first and the proof of the fourth one resembles the second.

First, by Lemma 16.3.1(a) and Proposition 16.3.2, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{1}(t) &= \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_{1}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n} \\ &= \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} \left(f_{1}(n-1,\Lambda) + f_{2}(n-1,\Lambda) + f_{3}(n-1,\Lambda) + f_{4}(n-1,\Lambda) \right) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n} \\ &= \sum_{n \geq 1} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} \left(f_{1}(n,\Lambda) + f_{2}(n,\Lambda) + f_{3}(n,\Lambda) + f_{4}(n,\Lambda) \right) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n+1} \\ &= tq \sum_{n \geq 1} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_{1}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n} + q \sum_{n \geq 1} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} f_{2}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n} \\ &+ t^{2}q \sum_{n \geq 1} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-3} f_{3}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-3-\Lambda} q^{n} + tq \sum_{n \geq 1} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_{4}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n}. \end{aligned}$$

The first equation follows by recalling the initial values (16.3.2), (16.3.3) and (16.3.4).

For the second equation, we apply Lemma 16.3.1(b') and Proposition 16.3.2. Then

$$\mathcal{F}_{2}(t) = \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} f_{2}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n}$$
$$= \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=1}^{n-1} f_{2}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n} \quad \text{(since } f_{2}(n,0) = 0 \text{ for } n \ge 2 \text{ by Lemma 16.3.1(b))}$$

$$= \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=1}^{n-1} \left(zf_1(n, \Lambda - 1) + f_2(n, \Lambda - 1) \right) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^n$$

$$= \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} \left(zf_1(n, \Lambda) + f_2(n, \Lambda) \right) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^n$$

$$= z \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_1(n, \Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^n + t^{-1} \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} f_2(n, \Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^n$$

$$= z \mathcal{F}_1(t) + t^{-1} \left(\mathcal{F}_2(t) - \mathcal{F}_2(0) \right),$$

which is essentially the second equation.

We treat $\mathcal{F}_1(t)$, $\mathcal{F}_2(t)$, $\mathcal{F}_3(t)$ and $\mathcal{F}_4(t)$ as unknowns and solve the above system so that they are expressed in terms of $\mathcal{F}_2(0)$, $\mathcal{F}_4(0)$, z, q and t. In particular, we have the following expression for $\mathcal{F}_4(t)$.

Lemma 16.3.7. We have

$$K_f(t)\mathcal{F}_4(t) = (1 - qt)P_f(t),$$
 (16.3.8)

where

$$P_f(t) = \mathcal{F}_4(0) - \left(q\mathcal{F}_2(0) + \mathcal{F}_4(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0) - zq\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)t + \left(zq^3 + q^2\mathcal{F}_2(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)t^2$$
(16.3.9)

and

$$K_f(t) = 1 - (2 + 2q - 2zq)t + (1 + 4q - 2zq + q^2 - 2zq^2 + z^2q^2)t^2 - (2q + 2q^2 - zq^2)t^3 + q^2t^4.$$
(16.3.10)

Analogously, we define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{1}(t) &= \mathcal{G}_{1}(t;q) := \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} g_{1}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^{n}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{2}(t) &= \mathcal{G}_{2}(t;q) := z \sum_{n \geq 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} g_{2}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-1-\Lambda} q^{n}, \\ \mathcal{G}_{3}(t) &= \mathcal{G}_{3}(t;q) := \sum_{n \geq 3} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-3} g_{3}(n,\Lambda) t^{n-3-\Lambda} q^{n}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\mathcal{G}_4(t) = \mathcal{G}_4(t;q) := \sum_{n \ge 2} \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-2} g_4(n,\Lambda) t^{n-2-\Lambda} q^n$$

By the recurrences of the g_i 's in Lemma 16.3.4, the following system holds true.

Lemma 16.3.8. We have

$$\begin{cases}
\mathcal{G}_{1}(t) - zq^{2} = ztq\mathcal{G}_{1}(t) + q\mathcal{G}_{2}(t) + zt^{2}q\mathcal{G}_{3}(t) + ztq\mathcal{G}_{4}(t), \\
t\mathcal{G}_{2}(t) - (\mathcal{G}_{2}(t) - \mathcal{G}_{2}(0)) = t\mathcal{G}_{1}(t), \\
\mathcal{G}_{3}(t) = ztq\mathcal{G}_{3}(t) + q\mathcal{G}_{4}(t), \\
t\mathcal{G}_{4}(t) - (\mathcal{G}_{4}(t) - \mathcal{G}_{4}(0)) = tq\mathcal{G}_{2}(t) + t\mathcal{G}_{3}(t).
\end{cases}$$
(16.3.11)

We may also solve the above system for $\mathcal{G}_1(t)$, $\mathcal{G}_2(t)$, $\mathcal{G}_3(t)$ and $\mathcal{G}_4(t)$. In particular, we have the following expression for $\mathcal{G}_4(t)$.

Lemma 16.3.9. We have

$$K_g(t)\mathcal{G}_4(t) = (1 - zqt)P_g(t),$$
 (16.3.12)

where

$$P_{g}(t) = \mathcal{G}_{4}(0) - \left(q\mathcal{G}_{2}(0) + \mathcal{G}_{4}(0) - q\mathcal{G}_{4}(0) + zq\mathcal{G}_{4}(0)\right)t + \left(zq^{3} + zq^{2}\mathcal{G}_{2}(0) + zq\mathcal{G}_{4}(0)\right)t^{2}$$
(16.3.13)

and

$$K_g(t) = 1 - (2 - 2q + 2zq)t + (1 - 2q + 4zq + q^2 - 2zq^2 + z^2q^2)t^2 - (2zq - zq^2 + 2z^2q^2)t^3 + (z^2q^2 - zq^3 + z^2q^3)t^4.$$
(16.3.14)

Remark 16.3.1. We could, of course, derive kernel equations for $\mathcal{F}_2(t)$ and $\mathcal{G}_2(t)$ instead of $\mathcal{F}_4(t)$ and $\mathcal{G}_4(t)$. But such changes will not make any essential difference after the application of the kernel method; we are still led to Theorem 16.4.1.

16.4 Proof of Theorem 16.1.1

The objective of this section is to apply the kernel method to establish the following surprising relations, one of which will lead to a proof of Theorem 16.1.1.

Theorem 16.4.1. We have

$$\begin{cases} f_1(n, n-2) = g_1(n, n-2) & \text{for } n \ge 3, \\ f_2(n, n-1) = zg_2(n, n-1) & \text{for } n \ge 2, \\ f_3(n, n-3) = g_3(n, n-3) & \text{for } n \ge 3, \\ f_4(n, n-2) = g_4(n, n-2) & \text{for } n \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

16.4.1 Roots of the Kernel Polynomials

Before applying the kernel method to $\mathcal{F}_4(t)$ and $\mathcal{G}_4(t)$, let us first investigate properties of the roots of the two kernel polynomials $K_f(t)$ and $K_g(t)$.

Lemma 16.4.2. Let r_1 , r_2 , r_3 and r_4 be the four roots of the quartic polynomial $K_f(t)$. Then the quartic polynomial $K_g(t)$ has roots s_1 , s_2 , s_3 and s_4 such that for $1 \le i \le 4$,

$$s_i = \frac{r_i}{1 - (1 - z)qr_i}.$$
(16.4.1)

Proof. We have

$$K_f(t) = q^2(t - r_1)(t - r_2)(t - r_3)(t - r_4).$$

Since $K_f(t)$ has constant term 1, we know that the quartic polynomial $K_f^*(t) := t^4 K_f(t^{-1})$ is monic. Further,

$$K_f^{\star}(t) = (t - r_1^{-1})(t - r_2^{-1})(t - r_3^{-1})(t - r_4^{-1}).$$

Similarly, if $K_g^{\star}(t) := t^4 K_g(t^{-1})$, then

$$K_g^{\star}(t) = (t - s_1^{-1})(t - s_2^{-1})(t - s_3^{-1})(t - s_4^{-1}).$$

Therefore, to obtain the desired relations, it suffices to show

$$K_g^{\star}(t) = K_f^{\star} \left(t + (1-z)q \right),$$

which is easy to verify.

For the sake of simplicity when utilizing the general formula for roots of quartic equations, we assume that 0 < q < 1 and z > 0. It can be computed that as $q \to 0^+$,

 $K_f(t)$ has four roots

$$r_{1} = 1 + (z + \sqrt{z})q + O_{z}(q^{2}),$$

$$r_{2} = 1 + (z - \sqrt{z})q + O_{z}(q^{2}),$$

$$r_{3} = q^{-1} + \sqrt{z}q^{-1/2} - \frac{z}{2} + O_{z}(q^{1/2}),$$

$$r_{4} = q^{-1} - \sqrt{z}q^{-1/2} - \frac{z}{2} + O_{z}(q^{1/2}).$$

Let s_i be as in Lemma 16.4.2 so that they are roots of $K_g(t)$. Then

$$s_{1} = 1 + (1 + \sqrt{z})q + O_{z}(q^{2}),$$

$$s_{2} = 1 + (1 - \sqrt{z})q + O_{z}(q^{2}),$$

$$s_{3} = \frac{1}{z}q^{-1} + \frac{1}{z^{3/2}}q^{-1/2} + \frac{2 - 3z}{2z^{2}} + O_{z}(q^{1/2}),$$

$$s_{4} = \frac{1}{z}q^{-1} - \frac{1}{z^{3/2}}q^{-1/2} + \frac{2 - 3z}{2z^{2}} + O_{z}(q^{1/2}).$$

16.4.2 Applying the Kernel Method

To apply the kernel method, we need to choose roots of $K_f(t)$ and $K_g(t)$ that can be expanded as a formal power series in q. So only r_1 , r_2 and s_1 , s_2 are admissible, respectively. Recall (16.3.8):

$$K_f(t)\mathcal{F}_4(t) = (1-qt)P_f(t).$$

We substitute the roots $t = r_1$ and r_2 into the above and arrive at $P_f(t) = 0$. Then recalling (16.3.9) yields the system

$$\begin{cases} 0 = \mathcal{F}_4(0) - \left(q\mathcal{F}_2(0) + \mathcal{F}_4(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0) - zq\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)r_1 \\ + \left(zq^3 + q^2\mathcal{F}_2(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)r_1^2, \\ 0 = \mathcal{F}_4(0) - \left(q\mathcal{F}_2(0) + \mathcal{F}_4(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0) - zq\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)r_2 \\ + \left(zq^3 + q^2\mathcal{F}_2(0) + q\mathcal{F}_4(0)\right)r_2^2. \end{cases}$$

Solving the above system for $\mathcal{F}_2(0)$ and $\mathcal{F}_4(0)$ gives

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_2(0) = \frac{zq^2\left(r_1 + r_2 - (1 + (1 - z)q)r_1r_2\right)}{1 - q(r_1 + r_2) + (1 - z)q^2r_1r_2}, \\ \mathcal{F}_4(0) = \frac{zq^3r_1r_2}{1 - q(r_1 + r_2) + (1 - z)q^2r_1r_2}. \end{cases}$$

Likewise, we substitute the roots $t = s_1$ and s_2 into $P_g(t) = 0$ and use (16.3.13) to obtain a similar system, which leads to the solution

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{G}_2(0) = \frac{zq^2\left(s_1 + s_2 - (1 - (1 - z)q)s_1s_2\right)}{1 - zq(s_1 + s_2) - z(1 - z)q^2s_1s_2}, \\ \mathcal{G}_4(0) = \frac{zq^3s_1s_2}{1 - zq(s_1 + s_2) - z(1 - z)q^2s_1s_2}. \end{cases}$$

Finally, making use of the relations

$$\begin{cases} s_1 = \frac{r_1}{1 - (1 - z)qr_1}, \\ s_2 = \frac{r_2}{1 - (1 - z)qr_2}, \end{cases}$$

we find that

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_2(0) = \mathcal{G}_2(0), \\ \mathcal{F}_4(0) = \mathcal{G}_4(0). \end{cases}$$

Further, by (16.3.7) and (16.3.11), we have

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_1(0) = q\mathcal{F}_2(0) + q^2, \\ \mathcal{G}_1(0) = q\mathcal{G}_2(0) + zq^2, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_3(0) = q\mathcal{F}_4(0), \\ \mathcal{G}_3(0) = q\mathcal{G}_4(0). \end{cases}$$

Theorem 16.4.1 therefore follows.

16.4.3 **Proof of Theorem 16.1.1**

Recalling the definition of the f_i 's, we find that, for $n \ge 1$,

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(>,\neq,\geq)} z^{\operatorname{asc}(e)} = \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} \left(f_1(n,\Lambda) + f_2(n,\Lambda) + f_3(n,\Lambda) + f_4(n,\Lambda) \right)$$
$$= z^{-1} f_2(n+1,n),$$

where we make use of Lemma 16.3.1(b). Similarly, we have, for $n \ge 1$,

$$\sum_{e \in \mathbf{I}_n(\geq,\neq,>)} z^{n-1-\operatorname{asc}(e)} = \sum_{\Lambda=0}^{n-1} \left(g_1(n,\Lambda) + g_2(n,\Lambda) + g_3(n,\Lambda) + g_4(n,\Lambda) \right)$$
$$= g_2(n+1,n),$$

where Lemma 16.3.4(b) is utilized. By the second relation in Theorem 16.4.1, we find that for $n \ge 1$,

$$z^{-1}f_2(n+1,n) = g_2(n+1,n),$$

and therefore complete the proof of (16.1.2).

16.5 References

- [22] G. E. Andrews and S. Chern, A proof of Lin's conjecture on inversion sequences avoiding patterns of relation triples, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 179 (2021), 105388, 20 pp.
- [37] N. R. Beaton, M. Bouvel, V. Guerrini, and S. Rinaldi, Enumerating five families of pattern-avoiding inversion sequences; and introducing the powered Catalan numbers, *Theoret. Comput. Sci.* 777 (2019), 69–92.
- [39] M. Bouvel, V. Guerrini, A. Rechnitzer, and S. Rinaldi, Semi-Baxter and strong-Baxter: two relatives of the Baxter sequence, SIAM J. Discrete Math. 32 (2018), no. 4, 2795–2819.
- [45] W. Cao, E. Y. Jin, and Z. Lin, Enumeration of inversion sequences avoiding triples of relations, *Discrete Appl. Math.* 260 (2019), 86–97.

- [90] V. Guerrini, On enumeration sequences generalising Catalan and Baxter numbers, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Università di Siena (2017).
- [113] D. Kim and Z. Lin, Refined restricted inversion sequences, Sém. Lothar. Combin.
 78B (2017), Art. 52, 12 pp.
- [126] Z. Lin, Restricted inversion sequences and enhanced 3-noncrossing partitions, European J. Combin. 70 (2018), 202–211.
- [127] Z. Lin, Patterns of relation triples in inversion and ascent sequences, *Theoret. Comput. Sci.* 804 (2020), 115–125.
- [175] S. H. F. Yan, Bijections for inversion sequences, ascent sequences and 3-nonnesting set partitions, Appl. Math. Comput. 325 (2018), 24–30.
- [132] M. Martinez and C. D. Savage, Patterns in inversion sequences II: inversion sequences avoiding triples of relations, J. Integer Seq. 21 (2018), no. 2, Art. 18.2.2, 44 pp.

Bibliography

- [1] J. Ablinger and A. K. Uncu, qFunctions A Mathematica package for q-series and partition theory applications, J. Symbolic Comput. 107 (2021), 145–166.
- [2] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun (eds.), Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, United States Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, 10th printing, 1972.
- [3] K. Alladi and B. Gordon, Generalizations of Schur's partition theorem, Manuscripta Math. 79 (1993), no. 2, 113–126.
- [4] K. Alladi and B. Gordon, Vanishing coefficients in the expansion of products of Rogers-Ramanujan type, in *Proc. Rademacher Centenary Conf.*, eds. G. E. Andrews and D. Bressoud, Contemporary Mathematics, Vol. 166 (American Mathematical Society, 1994), pp. 129–139.
- [5] G. E. Andrews, Enumerative proofs of certain q-identities, Glasgow Math. J. 8 (1967), 33–40.
- [6] G. E. Andrews, On Schur's second partition theorem, *Glasgow Math. J.* 8 (1967), 127–132.
- [7] G. E. Andrews, A generalization of the classical partition theorems, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (1969), 205–221.
- [8] G. E. Andrews, Partition identities, Advances in Math. 9 (1972), 10–51.
- [9] G. E. Andrews, Applications of basic hypergeometric functions, SIAM Rev. 16 (1974), 441–484.
- [10] G. E. Andrews, A general theory of identities of the Rogers-Ramanujan type, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 80 (1974), 1033–1052.
- [11] G. E. Andrews, Problems and prospects for basic hypergeometric functions, Theory and application of special functions (Proc. Advanced Sem., Math. Res. Center, Univ. Wisconsin, Madison, Wis., 1975), pp. 191–224. Math. Res. Center, Univ. Wisconsin, Publ. No. 35, Academic Press, New York, 1975.

- [12] G. E. Andrews, *The theory of partitions*, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 2. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass.-London-Amsterdam, 1976. xiv+255 pp.
- [13] G. E. Andrews, Connection coefficient problems and partitions, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 34 (1979), 1–24.
- [14] G. E. Andrews, Partitions, Durfee symbols, and the Atkin–Garvan moments of ranks, *Invent. Math.* 169 (2007), no. 1, 37–73.
- [15] G. E. Andrews, The number of smallest parts in the partitions of n, J. Reine Angew. Math. 624 (2008), 133–142.
- [16] G. E. Andrews, q-Hypergeometric and related functions, NIST handbook of mathematical functions, 419–433, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [17] G. E. Andrews, The Bhargava–Adiga summation and partitions, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 84 (2017), no. 3-4, 151–160.
- [18] G. E. Andrews, The Ramanujan–Dyson identities and George Beck's congruence conjectures, to appear in *Int. J. Number Theory*.
- [19] G. E. Andrews, M. Beck, and N. Robbins, Partitions with fixed differences between largest and smallest parts, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 143 (2015), no. 10, 4283–4289.
- [20] G. E. Andrews, B. C. Berndt, L. Jacobsen, and R. L. Lamphere, The continued fractions found in the unorganized portions of Ramanujan's notebooks, *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* **99** (1992), no. 477, vi+71 pp.
- [21] G. E. Andrews and D. M. Bressoud, Vanishing coefficients in infinite product expansions, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 27 (1979), no. 2, 199–202.
- [22] G. E. Andrews and S. Chern, A proof of Lin's conjecture on inversion sequences avoiding patterns of relation triples, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 179 (2021), 105388, 20 pp.
- [23] G. E. Andrews and F. G. Garvan, Dyson's crank of a partition, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 18 (1988), no. 2, 167–171.
- [24] G. E. Andrews and R. Lewis, The ranks and cranks of partitions moduli 2, 3, and 4, J. Number Theory 85 (2000), no. 1, 74–84.
- [25] T. M. Apostol, Modular functions and Dirichlet series in number theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 41, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. x+198 pp.
- [26] T. M. Apostol, Introduction to analytic number theory, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976. xii+338 pp.

- [27] T. M. Apostol, Zeta and related functions, NIST handbook of mathematical functions, 601–616, U.S. Dept. Commerce, Washington, DC, 2010.
- [28] A. O. L. Atkin, Proof of a conjecture of Ramanujan, Glasgow Math. J. 8 (1967), 14–32.
- [29] A. O. L. Atkin and F. G. Garvan, Relations between the ranks and cranks of partitions, *Ramanujan J.* 7 (2003), no. 1-3, 343–366.
- [30] A. O. L. Atkin and P. Swinnerton-Dyer, Some properties of partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 4 (1954), 84–106.
- [31] P. Bachmann, *Die Analytische Zahlentheorie* (in German), Leipzig, Teubner, 1894.
- [32] W. N. Bailey, *Generalized hypergeometric series*, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics and Mathematical Physics, No. 32 Stechert-Hafner, Inc., New York 1964 v+108 pp.
- [33] R. Balasubramanian and F. Luca, On the number of factorizations of an integer, Integers 11 (2011), A12, 5 pp.
- [34] C. Banderier, M. Bousquet-Mélou, A. Denise, P. Flajolet, D. Gardy, and D. Gouyou-Beauchamps, Generating functions of generating trees, *Discrete Math.* 246 (2002), no. 1-3, 29–55.
- [35] N. D. Baruah and N. M. Begum, Exact generating functions for the number of partitions into distinct parts, Int. J. Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 7, 1995–2011.
- [36] R. J. Baxter, Hard hexagons: exact solution, J. Phys. A 13 (1980), no. 3, L61–L70.
- [37] N. R. Beaton, M. Bouvel, V. Guerrini, and S. Rinaldi, Enumerating five families of pattern-avoiding inversion sequences; and introducing the powered Catalan numbers, *Theoret. Comput. Sci.* 777 (2019), 69–92.
- [38] I. V. Blagouchine, A theorem for the closed-form evaluation of the first generalized Stieltjes constant at rational arguments and some related summations, J. Number Theory 148 (2015), 537–592.
- [39] M. Bouvel, V. Guerrini, A. Rechnitzer, and S. Rinaldi, Semi-Baxter and strong-Baxter: two relatives of the Baxter sequence, SIAM J. Discrete Math. 32 (2018), no. 4, 2795–2819.
- [40] D. M. Bressoud, A combinatorial proof of Schur's 1926 partition theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 79 (1980), no. 2, 338–340.
- [41] F. Breuer and B. Kronholm, A polyhedral model of partitions with bounded differences and a bijective proof of a theorem of Andrews, Beck, and Robbins, *Res. Number Theory* 2 (2016), Art. 2, 15 pp.

- [42] K. Bringmann, F. G. Garvan, and K. Mahlburg, Partition statistics and quasiharmonic Maass forms, *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN* (2009), no. 1, Art. ID rnn124, 63–97.
- [43] K. Bringmann, C. Jennings-Shaffer, and K. Mahlburg, Proofs and reductions of various conjectured partition identities of Kanade and Russell, to appear in J. *Reine Angew. Math.* Available at arXiv:1809.06089.
- [44] K. Bringmann and K. Ono, Coefficients of harmonic Maass forms, in: Partitions, q-series, and modular forms, 23–38, Dev. Math., 23, Springer, New York, 2012.
- [45] W. Cao, E. Y. Jin, and Z. Lin, Enumeration of inversion sequences avoiding triples of relations, *Discrete Appl. Math.* 260 (2019), 86–97.
- [46] O-Y. Chan, Some asymptotics for cranks, Acta Arith. **120** (2005), no. 2, 107–143.
- [47] S. H. Chan, R. Mao, and R. Osburn, Variations of Andrews–Beck type congruences, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 495 (2021), no. 2, 124771, 14 pp.
- [48] R. Chapman, Partitions with bounded differences between largest and smallest parts, Australas. J. Combin. 64 (2016), 376–378.
- [49] S. Chern, A curious identity and its applications to partitions with bounded part differences, New Zealand J. Math. 47 (2017), 23–26.
- [50] S. Chern, An overpartition analogue of partitions with bounded differences between largest and smallest parts, *Discrete Math.* **340** (2017), no. 12, 2834–2839.
- [51] S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck, Int. J. Number Theory 14 (2018), no. 3, 647–651.
- [52] S. Chern, On a conjecture of George Beck. II, Math. Student 88 (2019), no. 1-2, 159–164.
- [53] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Number Theory 199 (2019), 168–191.
- [54] S. Chern, Linked partition ideals, directed graphs and q-multi-summations, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.33, 29 pp.
- [55] S. Chern, Note on the square-root partition into distinct parts, Ramanujan J. 54 (2021), no. 2, 449–461.
- [56] S. Chern, 1-Shell totally symmetric plane partitions (TSPPs) modulo powers of 5, Ramanujan J. 55 (2021), no. 2, 713–731.
- [57] S. Chern, Asymptotics for the Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, to appear in *Ramanujan J.*

- [58] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. I. Andrews–Beck type congruences, to appear in *Proceedings of the Conference in Honor of Bruce Berndt*.
- [59] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. II. Odd-order moments, to appear in *Ramanujan J*.
- [60] S. Chern, Weighted partition rank and crank moments. III. A list of Andrews–Beck type congruences modulo 5, 7, 11 and 13, to appear in *Int. J. Number Theory*.
- [61] S. Chern, Nonmodular infinite products and a Conjecture of Seo and Yee, submitted. Available at arXiv:1912.10341.
- [62] S. Chern, On 0012-avoiding inversion sequences and a Conjecture of Lin and Ma, submitted. Available at arXiv:2006.04318.
- [63] S. Chern, On a Rogers–Ramanujan type identity of Gleißberg, preprint.
- [64] S. Chern and M. D. Hirschhorn, Partitions into distinct parts modulo powers of 5, Ann. Comb. 23 (2019), no. 3-4, 659–682. Also in: George E. Andrews—80 Years of Combinatory Analysis, 305–328, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2021.
- [65] S. Chern and Z. Li, Linked partition ideals and Kanade–Russell conjectures, *Discrete Math.* 343 (2020), no. 7, 111876, 24 pp.
- [66] S. Chern and D. Tang, The Rogers–Ramanujan continued fraction and related eta-quotient representations, *Bull. Aust. Math. Soc.* **103** (2021), no. 2, 248–259.
- [67] S. Chern, D. Tang, and L. Wang, Some inequalities for Garvan's bicrank function of 2-colored partitions, Acta Arith. 190 (2019), no. 2, 171–191.
- [68] S. Chern and A. J. Yee, Overpartitions with bounded part differences, European J. Combin. 70 (2018), 317–324.
- [69] W. C. Chu, The Saalschütz chain reactions and multiple q-series transformations, Theory and applications of special functions, 99–121, Dev. Math., 13, Springer, New York, 2005.
- [70] V. Coll, A. Mayers, and N. Mayers, Statistics on partitions arising from seaweed algebras, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 3.1, 13 pp.
- [71] S. Corteel, Particle seas and basic hypergeometric series, Adv. in Appl. Math. 31 (2003), no. 1, 199–214.
- [72] S. Corteel and J. Lovejoy, Overpartitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356 (2004), no. 4, 1623–1635.
- [73] S. Corteel, M. Martinez, C. D. Savage, and M. Weselcouch, Patterns in inversion sequences I, *Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci.* 18 (2016), no. 2, Paper No. 2, 21 pp.

- [74] B. Coulson, S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, R. McRae, F. Qi, M. C. Russell, and C. Sadowski, A motivated proof of the Göllnitz–Gordon–Andrews identities, *Ramanujan J.* 42 (2017), no. 1, 97–129.
- [75] J. Dousse and B. Kim, An overpartition analogue of the q-binomial coefficients, Ramanujan J. 42 (2017), no. 2, 267–283.
- [76] F. J. Dyson, Some guesses in the theory of partitions, Eureka 8 (1944), 10–15.
- [77] F. J. Dyson, Mappings and symmetries of partitions, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 51 (1989), no. 2, 169–180.
- [78] L. Euler, Introductio in Analysin Infinitorum, Marcun-Michaelem Bousquet, Lausanne, 1748. English translation: Introduction to Analysis of the Infinite, trad. J. Blanton, Springer, New York, 2005.
- [79] F. G. Garvan, A simple proof of Watson's partition congruences for powers of 7, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 36 (1984), no. 3, 316–334.
- [80] F. G. Garvan, New combinatorial interpretations of Ramanujan's partition congruences mod 5, 7 and 11, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **305** (1988), no. 1, 47–77.
- [81] F. G. Garvan, Biranks for partitions into 2 colors, Ramanujan rediscovered, 87–111, Ramanujan Math. Soc. Lect. Notes Ser., 14, Ramanujan Math. Soc., Mysore, 2010.
- [82] F. G. Garvan, Higher order spt-functions, Adv. Math. 228 (2011), no. 1, 241–265.
- [83] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic hypergeometric series. Second edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, 96. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. xxvi+428 pp.
- [84] W. Gleißberg, Über einen Satz von Herrn I. Schur, Math. Z. 28 (1928), no. 1, 372–382.
- [85] H. Göllnitz, Partitionen mit Differenzenbedingungen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 225 (1967), 154–190.
- [86] B. Gordon, A combinatorial generalization of the Rogers-Ramanujan identities, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 393–399.
- [87] B. Gordon and K. Hughes, Ramanujan congruences for q(n), Analytic number theory (Philadelphia, Pa., 1980), pp. 333–359, Lecture Notes in Math., 899, Springer, Berlin-New York, 1981.
- [88] B. L. Granovsky and D. Stark, A Meinardus theorem with multiple singularities, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **314** (2012), no. 2, 329–350.
- [89] E. Grosswald, Some theorems concerning partitions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1958), 113–128.

- [90] V. Guerrini, On enumeration sequences generalising Catalan and Baxter numbers, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Università di Siena (2017).
- [91] C. Gugg, Modular equations for cubes of the Rogers-Ramanujan and Ramanujan-Göllnitz-Gordon functions and their associated continued fractions, J. Number Theory 132 (2012), no. 7, 1519–1553.
- [92] P. Hagis Jr., Partitions into odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 85 (1963), 213–222.
- [93] P. Hagis Jr., On the partitions of an integer into distinct odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 87 (1965), 867–873.
- [94] P. Hagis Jr., Some theorems concerning partitions into odd summands, Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966), 664–681.
- [95] P. Hammond and R. Lewis, Congruences in ordered pairs of partitions, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 45-48 (2004), 2509–2512.
- [96] G. H. Hardy and S. Ramanujan, Asymptotic formulae in combinatory analysis, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 17 (1918), 75–115.
- [97] G. H. Hardy and E. M. Wright, An introduction to the theory of numbers. Fifth edition, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1979. xvi+426 pp.
- [98] M. D. Hirschhorn, The power of q. A personal journey, Developments in Mathematics, 49. Springer, Cham, 2017. xxii+415 pp.
- [99] M. D. Hirschhorn, Two remarkable q-series expansions, Ramanujan J. 49 (2019), no. 2, 451–463.
- [100] M. D. Hirschhorn and D. C. Hunt, A simple proof of the Ramanujan conjecture for powers of 5, J. Reine Angew. Math. 326 (1981), 1–17.
- [101] A. E. Ingham, A Tauberian theorem for partitions, Ann. of Math. (2) 42 (1941), 1075–1090.
- [102] S. Iseki, On some partition functions, J. Math. Soc. Japan 12 (1960), 81–88.
- [103] S. Iseki, Partitions in certain arithmetic progressions, Amer. J. Math. 83 (1961), 243–264.
- [104] F. Johansson, Efficient implementation of the Hardy–Ramanujan–Rademacher formula, LMS J. Comput. Math. 15 (2012), 341–359.
- [105] J. T. Joichi and D. Stanton, Bijective proofs of basic hypergeometric series identities, *Pacific J. Math.* **127** (1987), no. 1, 103–120.

- [106] S. Kanade, Some results on the representation theory of vertex operator algebras and integer partition identities, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick. 2015. 114 pp.
- [107] S. Kanade, J. Lepowsky, M. C. Russell, and A. V. Sills, Ghost series and a motivated proof of the Andrews–Bressoud identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 146 (2017), 33–62.
- [108] S. Kanade and M. C. Russell, IdentityFinder and some new identities of Rogers-Ramanujan type, Exp. Math. 24 (2015), no. 4, 419–423.
- [109] S. Kanade and M. C. Russell, Staircases to analytic sum-sides for many new integer partition identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type, *Electron. J. Combin.* 26 (2019), no. 1, Paper 1.6, 33 pp.
- [110] M. Kauers and C. Koutschan, A Mathematica package for q-holonomic sequences and power series, *Ramanujan J.* 19 (2009), no. 2, 137–150.
- [111] I. Kessler and M. Livingston, The expected number of parts in a partition of n, Monatsh. Math. 81 (1976), no. 3, 203–212.
- [112] B. Kim, Periodicity of signs of Fourier coefficients of eta-quotients, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 385 (2012), no. 2, 998–1004.
- [113] D. Kim and Z. Lin, Refined restricted inversion sequences, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 78B (2017), Art. 52, 12 pp.
- [114] S. Kitaev, Patterns in Permutations and Words, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [115] D. E. Knuth, The Art of Computer Programming, Vol. 1: Fundamental Algorithms, Addison-Wesley, 1973, Third edition, 1997.
- [116] K. Kurşungöz, Andrews–Gordon type series for Kanade–Russell conjectures, Ann. Comb. 23 (2019), no. 3-4, 835–888.
- [117] K. Kurşungöz, Andrews–Gordon type series for Capparelli's and Göllnitz-Gordon identities, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 165 (2019), 117–138.
- [118] J. Lehner, A partition function connected with the modulus five, Duke Math. J. 8 (1941), 631–655.
- [119] G. W. Leibniz, Specimen de divulsionibus aequationum ad problemata indefinita in numeris rationalibus solvenda, 2, September 1674. In G. W. Leibniz, Sämtliche Schriften und Briefe. Siebente Reihe: Mathematische Schriften, Bd. 1:1672-1676. Geometrie – Zahlentheorie – Algebra (1. Teil), pp. 740–755, Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [120] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, Construction of the affine Lie algebra $A_1^{(1)}$, Comm. Math. Phys. **62** (1978), no. 1, 43–53.

- [121] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, A new family of algebras underlying the Rogers– Ramanujan identities and generalizations, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 78 (1981), no. 12, part 1, 7254–7258.
- [122] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The structure of standard modules. I. Universal algebras and the Rogers–Ramanujan identities, *Invent. Math.* 77 (1984), no. 2, 199–290.
- [123] J. Lepowsky and R. L. Wilson, The structure of standard modules. II. The case $A_1^{(1)}$, principal gradation, *Invent. Math.* **79** (1985), no. 3, 417–442.
- [124] J. Lepowsky and M. Zhu, A motivated proof of Gordon's identities, *Ramanujan J.* 29 (2012), no. 1-3, 199–211.
- [125] Bernard L. S. Lin, Refinements of the results on partitions and overpartitions with bounded part differences, *Discrete Math.* 343 (2020), no. 1, 111676, 5 pp.
- [126] Z. Lin, Restricted inversion sequences and enhanced 3-noncrossing partitions, European J. Combin. 70 (2018), 202–211.
- [127] Z. Lin, Patterns of relation triples in inversion and ascent sequences, Theoret. Comput. Sci. 804 (2020), 115–125.
- [128] H. Liu, C. Jia, and T. Wang, Further bibasic hypergeometric transformations and their applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 323 (2006), no. 2, 1025–1037.
- [129] Z.-G. Liu, On the q-partial differential equations and q-series, The legacy of Srinivasa Ramanujan, 213–250, Ramanujan Math. Soc. Lect. Notes Ser., 20, Ramanujan Math. Soc., Mysore, 2013.
- [130] J. Livingood, A partition function with the prime modulus P > 3, Amer. J. Math. 67 (1945), 194–208.
- [131] F. Luca and D. Ralaivaosaona, An explicit bound for the number of partitions into roots, J. Number Theory 169 (2016), 250–264.
- [132] M. Martinez and C. D. Savage, Patterns in inversion sequences II: inversion sequences avoiding triples of relations, J. Integer Seq. 21 (2018), no. 2, Art. 18.2.2, 44 pp.
- [133] J. Mc Laughlin, Further results on vanishing coefficients in infinite product expansions, J. Aust. Math. Soc. 98 (2015), no. 1, 69–77.
- [134] G. Meinardus, Asymptotische aussagen über partitionen, Math. Z. 59 (1954), 388–398.
- [135] M. Newman, Construction and application of a class of modular functions. II, Proc. London Math. Soc. 9 (1959), no. 3, 373–387.

- [136] I. Niven, On a certain partition function, Amer. J. Math. 62 (1940), 353–364.
- [137] K. Ono, Distribution of the partition function modulo m, Ann. of Math. (2) **151** (2000), no. 1, 293–307.
- [138] P. Paule and A. Riese, A Mathematica q-analogue of Zeilberger's algorithm based on an algebraically motivated approach to q-hypergeometric telescoping, in: Special functions, q-series and related topics (Toronto, ON, 1995), 179–210, Fields Inst. Commun., 14, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [139] M. Penn, C. Sadowski, and G. Webb, Principal subspaces of twisted modules for certain lattice vertex operator algebras, *Internat. J. Math.* **30** (2019), no. 10, 1950048, 47 pp.
- [140] H. Petersson, Über Modulfunktionen und Partitionenprobleme, Abh. Deutsch. Akad. VViss. Berlin. Kl. Math. Phys. Tech. Heft 2. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1954. 59 pp.
- [141] H. Petersson, Über die arithmetischen Eigenschaften eines Systems multiplikativer Modulfunktionen von Primzahlstufe, Acta Math. 95 (1956), 57–110.
- [142] H. Prodinger, The kernel method: a collection of examples, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 50 (2003/04), Art. B50f, 19 pp.
- [143] H. Rademacher, On the partition function p(n), Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 43 (1937), no. 4, 241–254.
- [144] H. Rademacher, On the expansion of the partition function in a series, Ann. of Math. (2) 44 (1943), 416–422.
- [145] S. Ramanujan, Proof of certain identities in combinatory analysis, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 19 (1919), 214–216.
- [146] S. Ramanujan, Some properties of p(n), the number of partitions of n, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **19** (1919), 207–210.
- [147] S. Ramanujan, Congruence properties of partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 18 (1920), Records for 13 March 1919.
- [148] S. Ramanujan, Congruence properties of partitions, Math. Z. 9 (1921), no. 1-2, 147–153.
- [149] S. Ramanujan, Notebooks, Vol. II, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay 1957. Reprinted by Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [150] S. Ramanujan, *The lost notebook and other unpublished papers*, Narosa Publishing House, New Delhi, 1988.
- [151] S. Ramanujan, Collected papers of Srinivasa Ramanujan, AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2000. xxxviii+426 pp.

- [152] B. Richmond and G. Szekeres, The Taylor coefficients of certain infinite products, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 40 (1978), no. 3-4, 347–369.
- [153] A. Riese, qMultiSum—a package for proving q-hypergeometric multiple summation identities, J. Symbolic Comput. 35 (2003), no. 3, 349–376.
- [154] Ø. Rødseth, Congruence properties of the partition functions q(n) and $q_0(n)$, Arbok Univ. Bergen Mat.-Natur. Ser. (1969), no. 13, 27 pp.
- [155] L. J. Rogers, Second memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 25 (1894), 318–343.
- [156] L. J. Rogers, Third memoir on the expansion of certain infinite products, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. 26 (1894), 15–32.
- [157] L. J. Rogers, On a type of modular relation, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 19 (1921), no. 5, 387–397.
- [158] M. C. Russell, Using experimental mathematics to conjecture and prove theorems in the theory of partitions and commutative and non-commutative recurrences, Thesis (Ph.D.)–Rutgers The State University of New Jersey - New Brunswick. 2016. 74 pp.
- [159] I. J. Schur, Ein Beitrag zur additiven Zahlentheorie und zur Theorie der Kettenbrüche, Berliner Sitzungsberichte 23 (1917), 301–321.
- [160] I. J. Schur, Zur additiven Zahlentheorie, S.-B. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Phys.-Math. Kl. (1926), 488–495.
- [161] S. Seo and A. J. Yee, Index of seaweed algebras and integer partitions, *Electron. J. Combin.* 27 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 1.47, 10 pp.
- [162] A. V. Sills, Towards an automation of the circle method, in: Gems in experimental mathematics, 321–338, Contemp. Math., 517, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010.
- [163] N. J. A. Sloane, On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences. http://oeis.org.
- [164] H. M. Srivastava and J. Choi, Series associated with the zeta and related functions, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2001. x+388 pp.
- [165] V. V. Subrahmanyasastri, Partitions with congruence conditions, J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.) 36 (1972), 177–194.
- [166] E. Sussman, Rademacher series for η -quotients, *Preprint* (2017). Available at arXiv:1710.03415.
- [167] D. Tang, Vanishing coefficients in some q-series expansions, Int. J. Number Theory 15 (2019), no. 4, 763–773.

- [168] A. Verma and V. K. Jain, Transformations between basic hypergeometric series on different bases and identities of Rogers–Ramanujan type, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 76 (1980), no. 1, 230–269.
- [169] C. Wang and S. Chern, Some basic hypergeometric transformations and Rogers– Ramanujan type identities, *Integral Transforms Spec. Funct.* **31** (2020), no. 11, 873–890.
- [170] G. N. Watson, Theorems stated by Ramanujan (VII): theorems on continued fractions, J. London Math. Soc. 4 (1929), no. 1, 39–48.
- [171] G. N. Watson, Ramanujans Vermutung über Zerfällungszahlen, J. Reine Angew. Math. 179 (1938), 97–128.
- [172] R. L. Weaver, New congruences for the partition function, Ramanujan J. 5 (2001), no. 1, 53–63.
- [173] E. M. Wright, Asymptotic partition formulae II. Weighted partitions, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 36 (1934), 117–141.
- [174] C. Yan and Z. Lin, Inversion sequences avoiding pairs of patterns, Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci. 22 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 23, 35 pp.
- [175] S. H. F. Yan, Bijections for inversion sequences, ascent sequences and 3-nonnesting set partitions, Appl. Math. Comput. 325 (2018), 24–30.
- [176] S. P. Zwegers, Mock theta functions, PhD thesis, Universiteit Utrecht, 2002.

Vita

Xiaohang Chen

Xiaohang Chen, with an English name Shane Chern in most of his publications, was born in 1992 in Xinghua, Jiangsu, China. After completing high school at Jiangyan High School in Jiangyan, China in 2009, he went to the School of Software Engineering at Xiamen University in Xiamen, China and received a Bachelor of Engineering degree in 2013. He then went to study Mathematics at Zhejiang University in Hangzhou, China until 2016. In the fall of 2016, He began graduate work at the Pennsylvania State University in State College, PA with a Mathematics major under the supervision of Professor George Andrews. He was a teaching assistant at Penn State from 2016 until 2021. He will join Dalhousie University in Halifax, Canada as a Killam Postdoctoral Fellow after receiving a Ph.D. degree in Mathematics from Penn State in August 2021.